Supplemental Materials

Appendices of the report of the **Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music**

- Liturgical Resources 1:
 I Will Bless You and You Will Be a Blessing (revised and expanded)
- Revised Collects for Commemorations
- A Great Cloud of Witnesses
- Weekday Eucharistic Propers 2015
- Liturgical Materials Honoring God in Creation

Liturgical Resources 1

"I Will Bless You, and You Will Be a Blessing"

Resources for The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant in a Same-Sex Relationship

Revised and Expanded Edition

Table of Contents

- I. Introduction to the Revised and Expanded Edition
- II. Introduction to the First Edition (2012)
- III. Faith, Hope, and Love: Theological Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships

Preface

Overview: Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships

- 1. The Church's Call: A Focus on Mission
- 2. The Church's Joy: A Theology of Blessing
- 3. The Church's Life: Covenantal Relationship
- 4. The Church's Challenge: Christian Unity and Biblical Interpretation

Responses to "Faith, Hope, and Love"

- a. Thomas E. Breidenthal
- b. John E. Goldingay
- c. Deirdre Good
- d. Dora Rudo Mbuwayesango
- e. George R. Sumner
- f. Fredrica Harris Thompsett
- IV. Hearing, Seeing, and Declaring New Things:

Pastoral Resources for Preparing Couples for a Liturgy of Blessing or Marriage

Overview: Pastoral Care for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples

- 1. Available Resources: Materials for Pastoral Preparation
- 2. Particular Issues Affecting Gender and Sexual Minority Couples
- 3. Presenters
- 4. Outline of Pre-Blessing/Marriage Preparation for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples

Handouts

- 1. Theological Reflection on Covenantal Relationship: Spiritual Practice for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples
- 2. Declaration of Intention for Lifelong Covenant
- 3. About Presenters—For the Couple
- 4. Information for Presenters
- 5. Model Congregational Guidelines
- V. Liturgical Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships
 - 1. The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant (revised)
 - 2. The Witnessing and Blessing of a Marriage
 - 3. The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage (2)
 - a. The Blessing of a Civil Marriage
 - b. An Order for Marriage
 - 4. The Form of Solemnization of Matrimony

VI. Discussion Guide to "I Will Bless You, and You Will Be a Blessing": Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships (revised and expanded edition)

Introduction to the Discussion Guide

- 1. Study Area One: History
- 2. Study Area Two: Theology and the Bible
- 3. Study Area Three: Liturgy
- 4. Study Area Four: Civil and Canon Law
- 5. Study Area Five: Mission

Handouts

- A. Covenant for Discussion
- B. Understanding the History
- C. An Introduction to General Convention
- D. Relationships and Blessing: Reflection Questions
- E. Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships: A Summary of "Faith, Hope, and Love"
- F. Principles for Evaluating Liturgical Materials

VII. Appendices

- 1. A History of the Marriage Canon
- 2. A Review of General Convention Legislation
- 3. Consultation on Same-Sex Marriage: Executive Summary of Evaluations
- 4. Glossary of Legal and Canonical Terms

I. Introduction to the Revised and Expanded Edition

In 2012, the General Convention of The Episcopal Church commended "Liturgical Resources 1: I Will Bless You, and You Will Be a Blessing" for study and use throughout The Episcopal Church. In the two years since then, the materials have been widely used in a number of dioceses, and the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music (SCLM) has invited responses through several avenues. This new volume is the result of this process.

Responses to Liturgical Resources 1

In January 2013, the SCLM asked bishops of The Episcopal Church to report whether they had authorized the liturgy "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant," and if so, whether they had authorized any modifications to meet the needs of members of The Episcopal Church. The SCLM received responses from half (55) of the dioceses, and of these, 38 had authorized use of the resource. In many dioceses in jurisdictions where civil marriage is legal for same-sex couples, the bishop authorized revisions of the liturgy to allow clergy to officiate at a civil marriage of a same-sex couple.

In fall 2013, almost 1,000 people accessed an online survey distributed with the assistance of diocesan contact people and through social media. Responses were overwhelmingly positive to all sections of Liturgical Resources 1. However, a number of respondents expressed frustration or confusion that the liturgy appeared to be a "separate but equal" rite, which therefore was not equivalent to marriage.

The Commission heard similar comments at an international, ecumenical, indaba-style conversation on same-sex marriage that it hosted at Grace and Holy Trinity Cathedral, Kansas City, Missouri, June 3-5 2014. The SCLM had invited participation from every diocese of The Episcopal Church and from every province of the Anglican Communion where civil marriage is legal for same-sex couples, and from ecumenical partner churches in the United States. Participants at the consultation included 57 people representing 24 dioceses of The Episcopal Church, six other churches of the Anglican Communion, and five ecumenical partners, along with the President of the House of Deputies, the Presiding Bishop, and the Secretary of General Convention. Two dioceses of The Episcopal Church and two provinces of the Anglican Communion declined to send representatives. While none of the participants in the consultation was opposed to same-sex marriage, the conversation enabled the Commission to understand more deeply the issues facing clergy and same-sex couples in contexts where civil marriage is legal.

To evaluate the Kansas City consultation, the SCLM asked The Rev. Dr. Paula Nesbitt, a sociologist who has worked extensively in evaluation of the continuing *indaba* process in the Anglican Communion, to interview a selected cross-section of participants. We have included her executive summary of her report as an appendix to this volume.

Faith, Hope, and Love: Theological Resources

In Resolution A049, the 2012 General Convention directed the SCLM to develop the theological resource "with specific attention to further engagement with scripture and the relevant categories and sources of systematic theology (e.g., creation, sin, grace, salvation, redemption, human nature)." The Commission invited responses from theologians representing different disciplines (Scripture, ethics, church history, systematic theology, missiology) and diverse theological perspectives. These essays are included in this revised and expanded edition; they represent the viewpoint of the individual authors rather than the consensus of the SCLM.

The Church's Canon Law and Laws of the States

Liturgical Resources 1 included a study of the complexities of civil and canon law regarding marriage and civil unions. It offered a number of scenarios, taking into account differences in both civil law and diocesan policy.

Since 2012, dramatic changes in civil law in the United States have reshaped the context. When Liturgical Resources 1 was first published as part of the 2012 Blue Book Report to the 77th General Convention, seven states and the District of Columbia allowed same-sex civil marriage. As of November 15, 2014, 33 states plus the District of Columbia now have same-sex marriage. Five states have same-sex marriage bans that have been overturned and where appeals are in process. The other states remain in some form of limbo awaiting the outcome of appellate rulings or lawsuits. It is expected that the United States Supreme Court will hear one of the appeals on their 2014–2015 docket calendar. As of late 2014, 64 percent of Americans live in states where same-sex couples may marry. According to the Office for Congregational Development, 64.3 percent of Episcopalians (1,200,622) in 64 U.S. dioceses live in states or jurisdictions where same-sex marriage is legal, although that should not be construed to suggest that all Episcopalians living in those states support same-sex marriage.

Because the Commission is proposing liturgies for marriage of same-sex couples, and recognizing that resolutions to amend the marriage canon are likely to come before General Convention, the SCLM determined that the original section on canon law might no longer be relevant or provide useful guidance. Instead, an appendix to this revised and expanded edition of Liturgical Resources 1 provides a history of the marriage canon prepared by the Task Force on the Study of Marriage for its 2015 Blue Book report. In addition, the definitions of "civil union," "Defense of Marriage Act," and "same-sex marriage" have been revised in the Glossary.

Hearing, Seeing, and Declaring New Things: Pastoral Resources

Several participants in the June 2014 consultation on same-sex marriage expressed concern that the pastoral resource portrayed gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender people in a negative and stereotypical manner. The SCLM formed an *ad hoc* task group to recommend revisions. The first half of the resource has been revised accordingly.

The five-session process for preparing couples for a blessing of their covenantal relationship has not been revised. Though the SCLM received some suggestions for a different order of the sessions and for other changes, no clear consensus emerged. The content and structure of the sessions is recommended but not required, and the SCLM believes that clergy and lay people trained for preparing couples can adapt the resource to suit their particular approach.

Liturgical Resources

In response to comments by those who have used the rite, the SCLM made some revisions to the original liturgical resource, "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant." In addition, heeding the concern that "separate but equal" rites are inherently unequal, the SCLM has also developed and recommended to the 2015 General Convention an adaptation of the liturgy that can be used for marriage for any couple, as well as two gender-neutral adaptations of marriage rites – one from the 1979 Book of Common Prayer and the other from the 1928 Book of Common Prayer.

Discussion Guide

Some respondents to the survey expressed appreciation for the materials in the discussion guide, while a significant minority indicated that they had not used the materials because they had already done this work. Given the rapidly changing context, the SCLM believes that the material will continue to be of use in some places. Since the Commission did not receive any strong recommendations for revision of the discussion

guide, the only change to this section of the resource is the addition of an option to present two of the four liturgies in this resource.

Terminology

Since 2009, as the SCLM has gone about its work on these resources, terminology has been debated. Should we refer to "same-gender" or "same-sex" couples? As indicated in the Introduction to the first edition, the 2012 General Convention directed that the resource use "same-sex" rather than "same-gender," and the SCLM then determined that "opposite-sex" rather than "different-gender" would be more in keeping with the spirit of the Resolution 2012-A049. The task group that reviewed the pastoral resource recommended that the resource refer to LGBT (lesbian, gay, bisexual, and transgender) people. The terms reflect growing awareness of the complexity of sexual orientation and gender identity.

The Commission consulted with scholars working in the area of gender studies and learned that the term "gender and sexual minorities" (GSM) is increasingly preferred as an all-encompassing term. We have introduced that term in the section, "Hearing, Seeing, and Declaring New Things: Pastoral Resources for Preparing Couples for a Liturgy of Blessing or Marriage" and included a discussion of sexual orientation and gender identity. In addition, recognizing the complexity of gender and sexuality, we have used the term "different-sex" rather "opposite-sex" throughout this revised and expanded edition.

Conclusion

We offer this revised and expanded edition with gratitude for all who have offered their feedback, and in the hope that these resources will continue to strengthen our shared witness to the gospel.

The Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music November 2014

II. Introduction to the First Edition (2012)

As members of the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music (SCLM) of The Episcopal Church, we give thanks for the many and various ways that the grace of God in Christ is made manifest in our Church and throughout the world. Whenever the Church pronounces God's blessing, it does so with such gratitude always in mind.

For more than 30 years, The Episcopal Church has been responding to the call to seek and serve Christ in its members who are gay and lesbian. In 1976, a resolution of General Convention affirmed that "homosexual persons are children of God who have a full and equal claim with all other persons upon the love, acceptance, and pastoral concern and care of the Church." Since then, we have been in a church-wide discernment process about how we live out that resolution. Some congregations and their clergy have welcomed same-sex couples and offered liturgical blessings of their relationships, and some dioceses have developed guidelines for such blessings. Resolution Co51 of the 2003 General Convention recognized "that local faith communities are operating within the bounds of our common life as they explore and experience liturgies celebrating and blessing same-sex unions." Six years later, General Convention called for the collection and development of resources for those blessings. The materials presented here respond to that call.

Resolution Co56 of the 2009 General Convention of The Episcopal Church directed the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music to "collect and develop theological and liturgical resources" for the blessing of same-sex relationships. This resolution instructed the Commission to work in consultation with the House of Bishops and to "devise an open process for the conduct of its work, inviting participation from provinces, dioceses, congregations, and individuals who are engaged in such theological work, and inviting theological reflection from throughout the Anglican Communion." We have understood the process for our work to be as important as the resources themselves.

The Scope of Our Work

Because Resolution 2009-Co56 directed us to "collect and develop" resources, we have not debated whether the Church should bless same-sex relationships. Nonetheless, we recognize that Episcopalians and Christians throughout the Anglican Communion have disagreed about whether such blessings are a legitimate development within Christian tradition or an unacceptable departure from biblical teaching. Resolution 2009-Co56 acknowledged this dispute in the resolve "that this Convention honor the theological diversity of this Church in regard to matters of human sexuality," and previous General Convention resolutions have also recognized this disagreement. In the theological essay, "Faith, Hope, and Love" we acknowledge these differences and offer an approach to blessing same-sex relationships that reflects the centrality of Scripture in Anglican tradition, interpreted in concert with the historical traditions of the Church and in the light of reason. The discussion guide included in these resources is intended to enable all congregations and dioceses to explore the materials, whether or not they believe the Church should bless same-sex relationships.

As we developed the resources, many people asked whether we were actually preparing a rite for same-sex marriage. In accord with Resolution 2009-Co56, the Commission has understood our charge to be the development of a liturgy of blessing, not marriage. Nonetheless, there are a number of parallels to opposite-

¹ The text of Resolution 1976-A069 and other General Convention legislation concerning same-sex relationships is included in an appendix to these resources.

sex marriage, as General Convention Resolution 2000-Do39 suggested when it acknowledged that "there are currently couples in the Body of Christ and in this Church who are living in marriage and couples in the Body of Christ and in this Church who are living in other life-long committed relationships." That 2000 resolution then set forth the expectation that "such relationships will be characterized by fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest communication, and the holy love which enables those in such relationships to see in each other the image of God," and denounced "promiscuity, exploitation, and abusiveness in the relationships of any of our members." These expectations have defined the Commission's understanding of the same-sex relationships for which we have developed resources. While the liturgy we have developed is not called "marriage," we recognize significant parallels: two people publicly make a lifelong, monogamous commitment to one another with the exchange of solemn vows in a ritual that pronounces God's blessing on their life together.

The question of marriage is complicated by ongoing changes in American civil law. As of August 2011, six states and the District of Columbia issue marriage licenses to same-sex couples, five states allow civil unions, and seven recognize some form of domestic partnership; on the other hand, thirty states have adopted constitutional language defining marriage as between one man and one woman, and thirty-nine states have statutes defining marriage in this way.² Civil law in other countries where The Episcopal Church is located adds further complexity. Both the *Book of Common Prayer* and the Canons of The Episcopal Church require clergy to conform to the laws of the state regarding marriage and describe marriage as being between a man and a woman. To address this complexity, these resources include an essay on canon law that discusses scenarios likely to arise as same-sex couples request an authorized liturgy for blessing of their relationship and/or civil marriage (or union) in the Church.

In addition to questions about the term "marriage," we received many comments about the terms "gender" and "sex." Following the wording of Resolution 2009-Co56, in the resource presented to the 2012 General Convention, the Commission used the term "same-gender" to describe these relationships and "different-gender" as the comparable term. However, the 2012 General Convention directed that the term "same-sex" be used rather than "same-gender," and that the published resource makes this change.

In addition, as the Commission reviewed the resource for publication, it determined that the use of term "opposite-sex" rather than "different-gender" was in keeping with the spirit of the 2012 General Convention resolution, and so the published resource makes this change as well. This is more than a linguistic question. As the Commission worked on these resources, we acknowledged but did not address the complexity of contemporary social and academic conversations about the categories of "sex" and "gender." The pastoral resources for preparation of couples prior to a liturgy of blessing offer ways to work with individuals who identify themselves as bisexual or transgender. The resources expect that a bisexual or transgender couple who seeks the Church's blessing of their relationship will commit to monogamy and lifelong faithfulness – the same commitment asked of every other same-sex and opposite-sex couple.

Collecting Resources

The Commission has gathered a vast amount of materials, including official studies, service leaflets from liturgies of blessing, and diocesan and provincial guidelines for these blessings. The Archives of the Episcopal Church established a digital archive for the project, http://www.episcopalarchives.org/SCLM/, where anyone may review the materials we have gathered.

Resolution 2009-Co56 allows bishops to "provide generous pastoral response" to meet the needs of the Church's members, so in December 2009, the chair of the Commission asked all diocesan bishops to report what provisions they were making and what resources they were commending to their dioceses. Twenty-seven bishops responded to this request, and a number of these bishops included theological, pastoral,

² This information is from the website of the National Conference of State Legislatures, http://www.ncsl.org.

teaching, and/or liturgical resources. Seven other dioceses subsequently submitted materials. All diocesan materials that we received are available for review in the digital archive for Resolution 2009-C056.

We gathered liturgical resources from many places. Clayton Morris, who served as Liturgical Officer for The Episcopal Church until 2009, had accumulated numerous materials over the course of almost two decades. The Commission received resources from lay and ordained Episcopalians throughout the Church, including some of our own members. Commission members reviewed all of these as we began the process of developing liturgies. A representative sampling of the resources is posted on the digital archive, and all of the resources will be permanently housed at the Archives of the Episcopal Church.

Developing Resources

At our March 2010 meeting, the Commission began our work in response to this resolution with a day of theological reflection. That conversation resulted in a brief outline of the resources to be developed:

- one or more essays setting forth scriptural and theological foundations for blessing same-sex relationships;
- one or more rites for blessing same-sex relationships;
- pastoral and teaching resources to assist clergy and congregations as they consider these blessings; and
- resources designed to help communities understand and address canonical and legal matters.

This proposed outline became the basis for four task groups formed to develop materials. These groups were advisory to the Commission, which made the final decision about the resources to be reported to the 77th General Convention in 2012.

In forming the task groups, the Commission sought the wisdom and experience of lay people and clergy from both academic and congregational contexts. Members of the task groups reflected the diversity of The Episcopal Church in terms of age, gender, race/ethnicity, geography, and sexual orientation. The task groups met four times in 2010 and 2011, and the chairs of the task groups met monthly by telephone or video conference. The Commission discussed the work at each of its five meetings during the triennium.

An Open Process ... Inviting Participation

Consultation with the House of Bishops

In September 2010, the chair of the Commission and four of the task-group chairs presented to the House of Bishops a draft of theological and liturgical principles that would guide this work. Responses from the bishops helped refine those principles. At the March and September 2011 House of Bishops meetings, bishops serving on the Commission and/or the task groups updated their colleagues. At the September 2011 meeting, bishops had an informal opportunity to discuss the final draft of the theological essay and the liturgy with the bishops who are members of the Commission.

Province I Hearing

In October 2010, the Commission meeting in New Hampshire included a hearing with bishops, other clergy, and same-sex couples from each of the seven dioceses in Province I, which is composed of the six New England states. The evolving legal status of civil unions and marriage equality in those states has meant that many of the dioceses have been addressing questions of blessing same-sex relationships for many years. Province I is the only province of The Episcopal Church to develop a resource for clergy ministering to same-sex couples, and a majority of the dioceses in this province have guidelines for blessing these relationships. Thus, our meeting in one of the dioceses of Province I offered a good opportunity to consult with those engaged in this work, as directed in Resolution 2009-Co56.

At the hearing, 33 people, lay and ordained, testified about their experiences. Many told the Commission that congregations were transformed when they joined in the celebration of a blessing. For some congregations and couples, the blessing of a civil union as part of the regular Sunday liturgy was an especially powerful expression of the Church's acceptance and care for the couple. Clergy and couples alike were surprised at how jubilant congregations were. We also heard about the cost of secrecy in places where relationships had to be hidden and blessings could not be openly celebrated. Couples and clergy spoke of the joy that came when relationships could be openly acknowledged. A few couples told powerful stories of reconciliation that happened within their families when their relationship was celebrated and blessed in a Church liturgy.

Church-Wide Survey Regarding Pastoral and Teaching Materials

In October 2010, the Task Group on Pastoral and Teaching Resources created a web-based survey asking what resources congregations were using to prepare same-sex couples who came to the Church seeking a blessing, and what teaching materials and resources were used or would be needed to help congregations in a discernment process about welcoming the blessing of same-sex relationships. The Commission used both official and unofficial channels to invite responses to the survey: a press release sent to diocesan communicators, a letter to all members of the 2009 House of Deputies and the House of Bishops, invitations on the unofficial Listserv for bishops and deputies, and networking by members of the Commission and the task groups.

Between October 2010 and January 6, 2011, we received 1,131 responses to the survey from 111 dioceses and all nine provinces of the Episcopal Church. Twenty-three percent of the respondents stated that the blessing of same-sex relationships already occurs in their congregations, and of these, 55 percent confirmed that their congregations had engaged in an educational or discernment process before the blessing of same-sex relationships began. With regard to preparing same-sex couples, 32 percent of respondents said that their preparation differed from that provided for opposite-sex couples, and 43 percent expressed a need for additional resources. The data from this survey helped guide the development of the pastoral and teaching resources.

Church-Wide Consultation

The Commission invited every diocese in The Episcopal Church to send two General Convention deputies – one lay and one clergy – to an overnight consultation at the conclusion of its March 2011 meeting in Atlanta, Georgia. Three goals were set forth:

- to inform the deputies about the work of the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music in response to Resolution 2009-C056;
- to engage the deputies in theological reflection in response to the Commission's work, and to solicit feedback that would inform the Commission and its task groups as they continued their work;
- to equip the deputies to report to the rest of their deputations and engage them in ongoing theological reflection about the blessing of same-sex relationships.

Materials distributed to participants at the consultation are available for review in the SCLM digital archive, which also includes a link to the webcast of the entire consultation.

One hundred ninety-five deputies from 98 dioceses registered for the gathering. Most responded enthusiastically to the process. A significant majority stated on the evaluation form that they felt either "completely equipped" or "somewhat equipped" to discuss this work in their dioceses and at the 2012 General Convention. When asked what they valued most, one responded, "the thoughtful and prayerful way that people with differing opinions were able to discuss this important work." Another deputy noted "the opportunity to speak and listen to other people and the broader perspective I gained from those interactions; the opportunity to engage the process, principles, and issues that are in play as we do this work

together; the real and abiding sense that we are doing this work 'together.'" A few deputies commented on the absence of opposing viewpoints in the plenary sessions. One wrote, "The only thing lacking for me was an opportunity for those who are new to engaging this conversation or who are opposed to have enough space to express their reservations, be heard, and maybe to hear constructive, respectful responses."

Review of Draft Resources

After the task groups presented a complete first draft of the resources to the Commission in June 2011, we made the drafts available to a group of consultant reviewers. During July 2011, 133 people – lay and ordained, and representing all nine provinces of the Episcopal Church – offered thousands of comments on the draft resources. In August, the task groups' extensive revisions led to final drafts for the Commission.

Inviting Reflection from throughout the Anglican Communion

In addition to the direction of Resolution 2009-Co56, the Commission was mindful that the 2004 Windsor Report urged "all provinces that are engaged in processes of discernment regarding the blessing of same-sex unions to engage the Communion in continuing study of biblical and theological rationale for and against such unions" (par. 145).

Knowing that the Anglican Church of Canada has been addressing this subject for many years, we requested and received liturgies from several of the Canadian dioceses. The digital archive includes, under "Church-Wide Resources," an issue of *Liturgy Canada* that gives an overview of the history and summarizes the guidelines and rites available on diocesan websites in the Anglican Church of Canada.

International Anglican Liturgical Consultation (IALC)

The IALC, a biennial gathering, includes liturgical scholars, representatives nominated and sent by provinces of the Anglican Communion, and members of liturgical commissions of Anglican provinces. Since provinces may refer matters to the Consultation, the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music requested time on the agenda of the August 2011 meeting. The IALC Steering Committee not only granted a half-day for this discussion, but also met in March 2011 with representatives of the Commission to learn more about the work and to prepare for the discussion in the full Consultation.

The IALC meeting included 55 people from 19 provinces of the Anglican Communion. The official representatives of The Episcopal Church – Ruth Meyers (Chair of the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music) and Thomas Ely (Bishop of Vermont and a member of the Commission) – presented a summary of the theological rationale and liturgical principles guiding the development of resources, along with a draft of the liturgy. Not all participants in the IALC meeting supported The Episcopal Church's decision to develop these resources, but all joined in respectful conversation in a small-group format. In the written notes submitted from the small groups, some stated that the work of The Episcopal Church would be helpful for their own province, while others indicated that blessing same-sex relationships is not on the agenda for them.

Participants in the IALC conversation asked for development of the scriptural foundations for blessing samesex relationships and clarification of the concepts of blessing and covenant. They urged that the theological and liturgical resources make clear that The Episcopal Church is envisioning these relationships as monogamous and lifelong. Many found the liturgy to be strikingly similar to marriage. They encouraged greater clarity in the liturgy about the nature of the covenant and a more robust form of blessing.

The task groups received a detailed report of the comments from the IALC meeting and took account of them as they prepared the final draft of the resources.

Conclusion

"I will bless you," God declared to Abraham, "so that you will be a blessing" (Genesis 12:2). The Commission and its task groups have been reminded, at every step in this process, of the many blessings God has

bestowed on our Church. The unprecedented opportunities we have had to engage with our sister and brother Episcopalians in every province of The Episcopal Church and with Anglicans from the wider Anglican Communion have illustrated for us the rich diversity of our life together in the Body of Christ. This work has been a divine gift and a blessing to us, which we are eager to share.

We offer these resources with the hope that they will strengthen our shared witness in The Episcopal Church to the love and grace of God in Christ. As in every other aspect of our life together as God's people, we offer these resources, not relying on ourselves alone, but on God, who "is able to accomplish abundantly far more than all we can ask or imagine," and always for the sake of God's glory in Christ Jesus (Ephesians 3:20–21).

The Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music
November 2012

III. FAITH, HOPE, AND LOVE

Theological Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships

Contents

III. Faith, Hope, and Love:

Theological Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships

Preface

Overview: Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships

- 1. The Church's Call: A Focus on Mission
- 2. The Church's Joy: A Theology of Blessing
- 3. The Church's Life: Covenantal Relationship
- 4. The Church's Challenge: Christian Unity and Biblical Interpretation

Responses to "Faith, Hope, and Love"

- a. Thomas E. Breidenthal
- b. John E. Goldingay
- c. Deirdre Good
- d. Dora Rudo Mbuwayesango
- e. George R. Sumner
- f. Fredrica Harris Thompsett

III. Faith, Hope, and Love

Theological Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships

Preface

The Episcopal Church has been seeking, in various ways and over the last 30 years, to celebrate the goodness of God, the grace of Christ, and the gifts of the Holy Spirit in the lives of our brothers and sisters who are gay and lesbian. A series of General Convention resolutions during that time (1976-Ao69; 1985-Do82; 1991-A104; 1994-Co20; 1994-Co42; 1997-Co03; 2000-Do39; 2003-Co51) has now led the Church to ask the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music to "collect and develop theological and liturgical resources" for the blessing of same-sex relationships (Resolution 2009-Co56). In response to that call, we offer this essay as a theological resource and invite the wider Church to reflect with us on how God is working today in the committed relationships of same-sex couples.

For generations the Church has celebrated and blessed the faithful, committed, lifelong, monogamous relationships of men and women united in the bonds of Holy Matrimony. In The Episcopal Church, the marriage relationship is held in high regard, included as a "sacramental rite" by some, and as one of the seven sacraments by others. The Commission has discovered in its work in response to Resolution 2009-Co56 that any consideration of the blessing of faithful, committed, lifelong, monogamous relationships of same-sex couples cannot ignore the parallels to marriage, whether from practical, theological, or liturgical perspectives. While this reality may well be inviting the Church to deeper conversation regarding marriage, the similarities between marriage and the blessing of same-sex unions also illuminate our discussions in this resource.

For some Episcopalians, this material will resonate well with their long-standing experience and theological reflection; for others, the call from the 2009 General Convention represents a new and perhaps perplexing moment in the life of our Church. We take that difference seriously. To the best of our ability, given the mandate of Resolution 2009-Co56 to "collect and develop theological and liturgical resources" for the blessing of same-sex relationships, we address those who are eager to receive this theological resource while also acknowledging that others have deep reservations about proceeding in this direction. All of us belong equally to The Episcopal Church and to the worldwide Anglican Communion and, most of all, to the universal Body of Christ. This theological resource honors the centrality of Scripture among Anglicans, interpreted in concert with the historical traditions of the Church and in the light of reason.

An overview introduces and summarizes questions and major theological themes. Four sections follow the overview, each expanding on the themes. While readers may engage with this material in a number of ways, the order of the four sections, which we recommend following, reflects a particular theological approach to this work. Section one affirms the understanding that everything we do as Christians is meant to express the

¹ "An Outline of the Faith," The Book of Common Prayer (New York: Church Hymnal Corporation, 1979), 860. Hereafter this edition of the Prayer Book is cited as BCP.

Church's call to participate in God's own mission in the world. The second section offers theological reflections on blessing. The third considers blessing same-sex couples within the broader sacramental life of the Church, especially in light of the theological significance of covenantal relationship. The fourth section reflects on the challenge of living into our baptismal bond with each other in the midst of disagreements over biblical interpretation.

In researching and preparing this essay, we discovered and recalled an abundance of resources in Scripture and the traditions of the Church that have informed our response to Resolution 2009-C056. We now invite the wider Church to further study and conversation, mindful that the apostle Paul described our shared life in Christ as one marked by faith, hope, and love, the greatest of these being love (1 Corinthians 13:13).

Overview: Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships

I give thanks to my God always for you because of the grace of God that has been given you in Christ Jesus, for in every way you have been enriched in him, in speech and knowledge of every kind — just as the testimony of Christ has been strengthened among you — so that you are not lacking in any spiritual gift as you wait for the revealing of our Lord Jesus Christ.

— 1 Corinthians 1:4–7

In 2009, the General Convention of The Episcopal Church asked for theological and liturgical resources for the blessing of same-gender relationships (Resolution Co56). In response to that call, we invite the Church to reflect on the theological material collected and developed here for that purpose. In our theological reflection, we have kept in view more than 30 years of deliberation at General Convention on these matters, especially Resolution 2000-Do39, which identified certain characteristics the Church expects of couples living in marriage and other lifelong, committed relationships: "fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest communication, and the holy love which enables those in such relationships to see in each other the image of God." We understand couples who manifest this manner of life, with God's grace, to have entered into a covenant with each other, which presents a rich opportunity for theological reflection.³

The theological themes in this resource, rooted in baptism, eucharist, and the paschal mystery of Christ's death and resurrection, offer ways to consider how the Church may appropriately bless lifelong, committed covenantal relationships of same-sex couples. Such covenantal relationships can reflect God's own gracious covenant with us in Christ, manifest the fruits of the Spirit in holiness of life, and model for the whole community the love of neighbor in the practice of forgiveness and reconciliation.

As the Commission responded to the charge to collect and develop theological resources, we focused our attention on four areas of consideration. The first is *mission*: what does the Church believe these blessings will contribute to God's own work of redeeming and reconciling love in the world? Second, what does the Church believe is happening when it pronounces God's *blessing*? Third, what does the Church believe are the distinguishing marks of a holy *covenant*? And, finally, what is the relationship between *Christian unity* and our differing approaches to *biblical interpretation* regarding same-sex relationships? This overview introduces and summarizes these areas, and the subsequent sections expand on each of them in turn.

² Texts of these resolutions are included in the appendix to these resources. For a fuller discussion of the history of General Convention resolutions and reports on these issues, see the appendix in To Set Our Hope on Christ: A Response to the Invitation of Windsor Report ¶135 (New York: The Office of Communication, The Episcopal Church Center, 2005), 63–121.

³ As Paul Marshall points out, the marriage rite of the 1979 Book of Common Prayer uses the language of "covenant" (423). Marshall notes that covenant-making is a key biblical motif, which makes it useful in our theological reflection on the committed relationships of all couples (Same-Sex Unions: Stories and Rites [New York: Church Publishing, 2004], 40).

A Focus on Mission

Our starting point is Holy Baptism, which incorporates us into the Body of Christ and commissions us to participate in God's mission of reconciliation in the world (2 Corinthians 5:17–19). The purpose of this reconciling mission is nothing less than the restoration of all people to "unity with God and with each other in Christ." One of the ways Christians participate in this mission is by witnessing to Christ in how we live in our closest relationships. "By this everyone will know that you are my disciples," Jesus said, "if you have love for one another" (John 13:35).

As Christians, then, our closest relationships are not solely private. The Church has always affirmed the public and communal dimension of our covenantal relationships. The character of our love, both its fruitfulness and its failures, affects others around us. The Church, therefore, commissions a couple bound by sacred vows in Holy Matrimony to participate in God's mission of reconciliation. Such relationships are set apart for precisely that divine purpose: to bear witness to and participate in the creating, redeeming, and sustaining love of God.

This missional character of covenantal blessing, reflected in both Scripture and the historical traditions of the Church, deserves renewed attention today. The 2000 General Convention contributed to this renewal when it passed Resolution Do39, which identified monogamy, fidelity, holy love, and other characteristics of lifelong, committed relationships. Significantly, that resolution was framed as a way to enable the Church to engage more effectively in its mission. Many in The Episcopal Church have witnessed these characteristics in the committed relationships of same-sex couples. That recognition can, and in many places already has, broadened the understanding of the Church's mission of participating in God's reconciling work in the world.

A Theology of Blessing

We understand the celebration and blessing of committed, monogamous, lifelong, faithful same-sex relationships as part of the Church's work of offering outward and visible signs of God's grace among us. "Blessing" exhibits a multifaceted character, yet the Church has always affirmed that blessing originates in God, the giver of every good gift. The Church participates in God's blessing of committed, covenantal couples in three intertwined aspects: first, we thank God for the grace already discerned in the lives of the couple; second, we ask God's continual favor so that the couple may manifest more fully the fruits of the Spirit in their lives; and third, we seek the empowerment of the Holy Spirit as the Church commissions the couple to bear witness to the gospel in the world.

This threefold character of blessing, therefore, acknowledges what is already present — God's goodness. The Church's blessing also sets the relationship apart for God's purposes and prays for the divine grace the couple will need to fulfill those purposes. Just as the blessing of bread and wine at the eucharist sets them apart from ordinary usage and designates them for a particular, sacred purpose, so the public affirmation of divine blessing in a covenantal relationship sets that relationship apart from other types of relationship.

The Church expects the blessing of a covenantal relationship to bear the fruits of divine grace in particular ways — and always with God's continual help and favor. This makes the couple accountable to the community of faith as well as to God and to one another. The community, in turn, is held accountable for encouraging, supporting, and nurturing a blessed relationship as the couple seeks to grow together in holiness of life. Through its participation in the blessing of covenantal relationships, the Church is blessed by the goodness of God, who continues to offer blessings in abundance, regardless of merit or circumstance. As we live more fully into our call to discern, pronounce, seek, and return blessing wherever it may be found, we find that we ourselves are blessed with joy.

⁴ "An Outline of the Faith," BCP, 855.

Covenantal Relationship

Reflecting theologically on same-sex relationships can become an occasion for the Church to reflect more broadly on the significance of covenantal commitment in the life of faith. Both Scripture and our theological traditions invite us to consider, first, the *sacramental character* of covenantal relationships; by this we mean the potential of such relationships to become outward and visible signs of God's grace. And second, covenantal relationships can both reflect and inspire the *eschatological vision* of Christian life. The covenantal commitments we make with each other, in other words, can evoke our desire for union with God, which is our final hope in Christ.

Our understanding of covenant thus derives first and foremost from the gracious covenant God makes with us in Christ. The many types of relational commitments we make carry the potential to reflect and bear witness to that divine covenant. Here we have especially in mind the covenants made by intimate couples in the sacred vows they make to enter into a public, lifelong relationship of faithful monogamy.

Scripture and Christian tradition encourage us to see in these intimate relationships a reflection of God's own desire for us. The long tradition of commentary on the biblical Song of Songs, for example, illustrates this spiritual significance of sexual relationships. Hebrew prophets likewise turned frequently to the metaphor of marriage to describe God's commitment to Israel (Isaiah 62:5), an image the Pauline writer also used to describe the relationship of Christ and the Church (Ephesians 5:21–33).

Covenantal commitments are thus shaped by and can also reflect the paschal mystery of Christ's death and resurrection, which the Church celebrates in baptism and eucharist. Intimate couples who live in a sacred covenant find themselves swept up into a grand and risky endeavor: to see if they can find their life in God by giving it to another. This dynamic reflects the baptismal life all of us share as Christians. As we live out our baptismal vows throughout our lives, we are called to follow this pattern of God's self-giving desire and love.

In the eucharist, we recall Christ's willingness to give his life for the world: "This is my body, given for you." When two people give their lives, their bodies, to one another in a lifelong covenant, they can discover and show how in giving ourselves we find ourselves (Matthew 16:25). When the Church pronounces God's blessing on the vows of lifelong fidelity — for different-sex and same-sex couples alike — the Church makes a bold claim: the paschal mystery is the very root and source of life in the couple's relationship.

This sacramental framework in which to reflect on same-sex relationships has, in turn, led us to consider more carefully several other key theological themes: the *vocational* aspect of covenantal relationship; how such a vocation is lived in Christian *households*; the *fruitfulness* of covenantal relationships in lives of service, generosity, and hospitality; and *mutual blessing*, as God's blessing in covenantal relationship becomes a blessing to the wider community.

Christian Unity and Biblical Interpretation

Baptism binds us to God by binding us to one another. Salvation is inherently social and communal. This bond, furthermore, does not depend on our agreement with one another but instead relies on what God has done and is doing among us. In fact, our unity in God gives us room to disagree safely, ideally without threat of breaking our unity, which is God's own gift. This principle is the very foundation of all covenants, beginning with the covenant between God and God's people, exemplified in baptism, reflected in ordained ministry, lived in vowed religious life and marriage, and encompassing the life of the Church. Our common call as God's people is not to find unanimity in all matters of faith and morals, but to go out into all nations as witnesses to the good news of God in Christ.

Most Christians would, nonetheless, recognize limits to acceptable and legitimate differences. Beyond such limits, unity becomes untenable. Those limits then pose difficult questions: How far is too far? What kind of difference would constitute essential disunity? In the debate over same-sex relationships and biblical interpretation, Episcopalians and other Christians throughout the Anglican Communion have disagreed about the answers to these questions. Some Episcopalians have concluded that blessing such relationships

has gone too far and, acting on their conscience, have parted company with The Episcopal Church, while others who disagree have chosen to remain. As a Church, we continue to take different approaches to interpreting Scripture as we consider same-sex relationships.

We who differ profoundly and yet desire unity more profoundly recall that the Church has held this creative tension in the past. In Acts 15, we see that Paul differed from the community in Jerusalem over whether circumcision and the observation of dietary laws should be required of Gentiles in order for them to be baptized into Christ's Body. This difference was a matter of biblical interpretation. As Church members held the tension between their essential unity and their differences in how they understood Scripture, they found themselves guided by the Holy Spirit.⁵

Since then, the Church has faced many other similar times of wrestling over differing views of Scripture concerning a wide range of questions: whether vowed religious life takes priority over marriage, the prohibition on lending money at interest, polygamous households, divorce and remarriage, contraception, the institution of slavery, and the role of women in both Church and society, to name just a few. In all these times, the Church has sought to follow the apostolic process of prayerful deliberation, which respects the centrality of Scripture and attends carefully to the Spirit's work among us. This process will not resolve all of our disagreements, but we continue to trust in the unity that comes not from our own efforts but as God's gift to us and for which Christ himself prayed (John 17:11).

The following four sections expand on all of these theological themes and considerations, and we offer them to the wider Church for ongoing, shared discernment as the Body of Christ. No one perspective or community can fully capture the fullness of the truth into which the Spirit of God continually leads the Church. In this work, then, as in every other matter of concern for the Church's life and mission, we take to heart Paul's reminder that now "we know only in part" while awaiting that day when "the partial will come to an end" (1 Corinthians 13:9–10). In that spirit of humility, in which no one knows fully, we offer this theological resource on the blessing of same-sex relationships, trusting that it reflects a shared faith in the gospel of Jesus Christ, inspires hope for that union with God which Christ has promised, and, above all, expresses that love which shall not end (1 Corinthians 13:8).

1. The Church's Call: A Focus on Mission

If anyone is in Christ, there is a new creation: everything old has passed away; see, everything has become new! All this is from God, who reconciled us to himself through Christ, and has given us the ministry of reconciliation; that is, in Christ God was reconciling the world to himself, not counting their trespasses against them, and entrusting the message of reconciliation to us.

— 2 Corinthians 5:17–19

The meaning and character of blessing play an important role in our shared calling to participate in God's own mission of reconciling love in the world. Pronouncing divine blessing takes many forms covering a wide range of occasions. When the Church gathers to bless the exchanging of sacred vows in a covenantal relationship, the blessing reflects a threefold action. First, the Church gives thanks for the presence of the Spirit discerned in the lives of the couple. Second, the Church prays for the divine grace and favor the couple will need to live into their commitment to each other with love, fidelity, and holiness of life. And third, the Church commissions the couple to participate in God's own mission in the world. This missional character of

⁵ This process of discernment over scriptural interpretation guided by the Holy Spirit has shaped every era in Christian history, including Anglican approaches. See "An Outline of the Faith," BCP, 853–54.

covenantal blessing, reflected in both Scripture and the historical traditions of the Church, deserves renewed attention today. While the Church gives thanks for God's presence and blessing, the public affirmation of the blessing of a covenantal relationship also sets that relationship apart for a sacred purpose: to bear witness to the creating, redeeming, and sustaining love of God.

God's promise to Abraham sets the tone for this missional understanding of blessing: "I will bless you, and make your name great, so that you will be a blessing" (Genesis 12:2b). Through Moses, God's promise extends to the divine covenant with Israel, a people God chooses to receive divine gifts of protection, guidance, and fruitfulness. In this covenantal relationship, God makes the people of Israel the stewards of these gifts, not for their sake only, but to become a blessing for the world. As God declared to Jacob: "All the families of the earth shall be blessed in you and in your offspring" (Genesis 28:14b). And as God also declared through Isaiah: "It is too light a thing that you should be my servant to raise up the tribes of Jacob and to restore the survivors of Israel; I will give you as a light to the nations, that my salvation may reach to the end of the earth" (Isaiah 49:6).

The earliest Christians likewise adopted this missional understanding of covenantal blessing as they recognized that the grace they received in Christ was not for themselves alone but so that they could bear witness to that grace "in Jerusalem, in all Judea and Samaria, and to the ends of the earth" (Acts 1:8). Jesus urged this view of the life of faith by reminding his listeners that "no one after lighting a lamp puts it under the bushel basket, but on the lampstand, and it gives light to all in the house" (Matthew 5:15). In John's Gospel, Jesus models this divine mission by washing his disciples' feet. This act of intimate service provided the example his disciples were to follow in blessing others with the same life of service (John 13:14–15); the love God shows for us in Christ, in other words, becomes a blessing for mission and ministry. The covenant of grace God has made with us in Christ thus calls all of us to that life of service: "Like good stewards of the manifold grace of God, serve one another with whatever gift each of you has received" (1 Peter 4:10).

Worship and Mission: An Eschatological Vision

Whenever the people of God gather for worship, we return to this foundational view in Scripture: God continues to bless us through our covenantal relationship with Christ, and this blessing enables and empowers us to provide a blessing to others. In all of the Church's rites, from the Daily Office to the Holy Eucharist, we give thanks for God's blessings, and we pray for the grace we need to manifest that blessing in the world, to "do the work [God has] given us to do." This pattern appears in the marriage rite as well, which celebrates God's blessing on loving commitment, not for the sake of the couple alone, but for the world, which stands in need of such witness to love and faithfulness. In that rite, the assembly prays for the couple, that God will "make their life together a sign of Christ's love to this sinful and broken world, that unity may overcome estrangement, forgiveness heal guilt, and joy conquer despair." God's covenantal blessing empowers the couple as missionaries of grace.

Moreover, the Church blesses and sends in order to lay claim to our part in the fulfillment of salvation history; we collaborate with God as both proclaimers of and instruments for the new creation God is bringing about. "The redemption of the world is not finished, and so human history is not finished. History is going somewhere, and it is not there yet," one theologian reminds us. "The church exists to be the thing that God is doing, and to become the thing that God will be doing until the End." What God has done and will continue to do in the life of the Church manifests "not just the inherent goodness of creation but the possibility of new creation, of healing and justice and forgiveness." And so the Church blesses in order to fulfill its "eschatological project of becoming the kingdom."

⁶ Postcommunion Prayer, BCP, 366.

⁷ BCP, 429

⁸ Charles Hefling, "What Do We Bless and Why?" Anglican Theological Review 85:1 (Winter 2003): 91–93.

This eschatological vision of the Church's life of worship and mission carries the potential to deepen our shared reflection on the meaning of blessing itself. In blessing and being blessed, we join in the great work of redemption that God has always been doing, is doing now, and will do until the End. Indeed, this expansive view of blessing, rooted deeply in the covenant God has made with us in Christ, led Paul to declare that God's own mission of reconciliation has been entrusted to all those who have been blessed by this promise of a new creation (2 Corinthians 5:17–19).

Same-Sex Relationships and the Church's Mission

In responding to the call to participate in God's mission in the world, the Church must attend carefully to the particular cultural circumstances in which it proclaims the hope of the gospel. Over the last 60 years in the United States (among other places), social, psychological, and biomedical sciences have contributed to a gradual shift in cultural perspectives on the complexity of sexual orientation and gender identity. The American Psychiatric Association, for example, no longer considers homosexuality to be a pathological condition, which it did in the mid-20th century. Gay and lesbian people now participate openly in nearly every profession and aspect of life. Many openly form stable and enduring relationships and some also raise children in their families. Many churches, including The Episcopal Church, have also discerned in same-sex relationships the same possibility of holiness of life and the fruits of the Spirit that we pray for in those who seek the commitment of marriage and its blessings. 10

This cultural shift concerning human sexuality bears on the Church's pastoral care and also on its mission. The 2000 General Convention, for example, identified certain characteristics that the Church expects of all couples in lifelong, committed relationships: "fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest communication, and the holy love that enables those in such relationships to see in each other the image of God." Significantly, the Convention framed that resolution as a matter of mission. Witnessing the Spirit at work in same-sex relationships, just as we do in different-sex relationships, can and in many places already has broadened the Church's understanding of how it participates in God's own reconciling work in the world.

Many gay and lesbian people (among others) who see same-sex couples exchange vows and receive a blessing are moved, likewise, to seek the Church's support for deepening their own commitments and faithfulness. They, in turn, offer their gifts for ministry to the wider community, gifts that contribute to the Church's mission to "restore all people to unity with God and each other in Christ." When the Church pronounces God's blessing on same-sex couples who are also raising children, those children can understand better the sanctity of their own family, and the family itself can receive the same support and encouragement from the Church that different-sex couples receive for their families. The blessing of same-sex relationships in the community of faith can also become an occasion for reconciliation among estranged family members, including those who have not understood or have even rejected their lesbian and gay relatives.

Heterosexual people may also find their own vocations and ministries strengthened and empowered in those moments of blessing, as they may do at the celebration of a marriage, or at the public profession of commitment to a particular ministry or community. In other words, the gifts lesbians and gay men discern in

⁹ "All major professional mental health organizations have gone on record to affirm that homosexuality is not a mental disorder. In 1973, the American Psychiatric Association removed homosexuality from its official diagnostic manual, the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM)." From "Let's Talk Facts about Sexual Orientation," produced by the American Psychiatric Association, http://www.psychiatry.org/File%20Library/Mental%20Ilness/Lets%20Talk%20Facts/APA_Sexual-Orientation.pdf.

¹⁰ To Set Our Hope on Christ, 24–25. For a broader overview and analysis, see the collection of essays edited by Walter Wink, Homosexuality and Christian Faith: Questions of Conscience for the Churches (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1999).

¹¹ General Convention Resolution 2000–D039. Scripture reflects a similar approach to discerning evidence of divine grace and the Spirit's work when, for example, Jesus uses the analogy of assessing the goodness of a tree based on the kind of fruit it bears (Matthew 7:16–18 and Luke 6:43).

¹² "An Outline of the Faith," BCP, 855.

their own lives and committed relationships are not just for themselves alone. One Episcopal priest has observed, "Over and over again, we see lesbians and gay men, people who would have been hiding in the shadows of our church a generation ago, now coming forward to contribute their gifts, their strength and loyalty and wisdom, freely and openly to the whole community of faith. And heterosexual people who have seen this happening have also been freed to give more generously of themselves." ¹³

Friends of same-sex couples and many others in the general public also take note of these moments of blessing, encountering the expansive and generous reach of gospel welcome. As friends witness the grace of these covenantal commitments, and the generosity of the Church's embrace, many of them will be drawn to the community of faith, perhaps for the first time or after having left. Such has already been the case in many congregations and dioceses in The Episcopal Church.

The Challenge of God's Blessing for Mission

Scripture attests to significant moments in which biblical writers challenged their communities to expand their vision of God's saving work in the world or in which the writers were themselves challenged by that divine word to see past their present horizons. The ancient Israelites, for example, had to struggle with how far the blessing of their covenantal life would reach. Isaiah urged them to see all the nations — not just their own — streaming to God's holy mountain (Isaiah 2:1–4). The early Church was no exception to this struggle.

In the Acts of the Apostles, we read about Peter's hesitation to cross traditional boundaries between the clean and the unclean in his encounter with Cornelius, a Roman centurion (Acts 10). In a vision, Peter heard God urging him to eat certain unclean animals in direct disobedience to the injunctions found in Leviticus 11. This vision led Peter to consider anew whether God's saving work and blessing might be found in places and among particular people he had not before considered possible. When challenged about this expansive vision, Peter declared, "God has shown me that I should not call anyone profane or unclean" (Acts 10:28). To those who were startled and perhaps scandalized by the extension of the gospel to Gentiles, Peter asked, "Can anyone withhold the water for baptizing these people who have received the Holy Spirit just as we have?" (Acts 10:47). "

Time after time in the history of Israel and in the early Church, responding to the challenge of God's extravagant grace and the richness of divine blessing has expanded the mission of God's people in the world, even beyond where many had previously imagined. The loving faithfulness and covenantal commitment of lesbian and gay couples presents a similar challenge to the Church today. Many throughout The Episcopal Church and other Christian communions have recognized and discerned the Spirit's presence and work in these same-sex relationships, and are asking God's people to ponder why we would withhold a public affirmation and declaration of blessing from those who have received the Holy Spirit just as others have. More importantly, however, this moment in The Episcopal Church's life calls all of us to consider anew the rich blessings we receive by God's grace in Christ and through the Holy Spirit. These blessings, in turn, animate the ministry of reconciliation that God has given us as ambassadors of the new creation that is unfolding, even now, in our midst.

¹³ L. William Countryman, "The Big House of Classic Anglicanism," from a speech given at the Claiming the Blessing Conference in St. Louis, Missouri, in November 2002 and quoted in *Claiming the Blessing*, the theology statement of the Claiming the Blessing coalition, page 11; http://www.claimingtheblessing.org.

¹⁴ Paul describes his confrontation with Peter about these very issues in Galatians 2:1–21.

2. The Church's Joy: A Theology of Blessing

Whoever invokes a blessing in the land shall bless by the God of faithfulness.

— Isaiah 65:16

The disciples were continually in the temple blessing God.

— Luke 24:53

"Blessed are you, Lord God, ruler of the universe, who created everything for your glory!" This classic blessing in Jewish tradition sets the tone for any theological reflection on what it means to bless and to receive a blessing. Rather than ourselves, other people, animals, places, or things, God's people first and foremost bless God, the giver of life and creator of all. Discerning and giving thanks for the countless reasons that we can and should bless God are, therefore, at the heart of the Church's work in the world. Indeed, at the heart of Christian worship is the eucharist, or "thanksgiving," in which we lift up the "cup of blessing" (1 Corinthians 10:16).

In Anglican contexts, the Church's work in the world is shaped by common prayer and worship. In addition to reading the Scriptures and prayerful meditation, Anglicans have always relied on our shared liturgical life for discerning where God is present and how God is calling us to live in the world as witnesses to the gospel of Jesus Christ in the power of the Holy Spirit. While God is active always and everywhere, the community of faith gathers to discern God's activity and make it ever more visible.

Although ordained ministers are called to the Church's work in a particular way, they share the work with the whole community of the baptized. In their sacramental vocation, ordained ministers lead the community in offering outward and visible signs of the inward and spiritual grace that is present among God's people. Clergy do not, in other words, "create grace" where there was none to be found already; rather, the whole Body of Christ, in many and various ways, proclaims God's gracious activity in our midst. This proclamation offers the assurance of God's grace promised to us in Christ Jesus and offers support as we strive to manifest the fruits of the Spirit in our daily lives.

Many in The Episcopal Church and other Christian communions believe that the celebration and blessing of the covenantal commitment of a same-sex couple also belongs in the Church's work of offering outward and visible signs of God's grace. While "blessing" exhibits a multifaceted meaning, it always originates in God, which the Church rightly and daily acknowledges: "We bless you for our creation, preservation, and all the blessings of this life; but above all for your immeasurable love in the redemption of the world by our Lord Jesus Christ; for the means of grace, and for the hope of glory." ¹⁵

The Church participates in this fundamental, divine blessing in three related ways: thanking God for God's goodness and favor; seeking God's continued favor and grace so that we may manifest more fully that gratitude in our lives; and receiving power from the Holy Spirit to bear witness to that grace in the world. This threefold character of blessing acknowledges what is already present, God's grace, but it does something more as well: it establishes a new reality. Bread and wine, for example, when blessed at the eucharistic table, are set apart from their ordinary use and designated for a particular, sacred purpose. Similarly, the public affirmation of divine blessing in a covenantal relationship sets that relationship apart from other types. God's people expect such a blessing to bear the fruits of God's grace in particular ways, making a couple in such a blessed covenant accountable to the community of faith, as well as to God and to each other. The community, in turn, is held accountable for encouraging, supporting, and nurturing a blessed relationship as the couple seeks to grow together in holiness of life.

In short, the grace and blessing of God already discerned in a couple's relationship does not thereby render a liturgical rite of blessing redundant. To the contrary, the Church's blessing performs what it declares, thus

^{15 &}quot;The General Thanksgiving," BCP, 125.

changing the couple and the Church. The couple becomes more fully aware of God's favor and also receives a particular role, as a couple, in the Church's mission in the world; the Church is likewise changed, as holiness of life is made more visible and as it receives and accepts its commission to support the couple in their life and ministry.

Scripture guides us in this understanding of blessing by placing it in relation to both creation and covenant. In Genesis, God declares the whole creation good, a source of blessing for which we thank God, the giver of every good gift. This blessing is manifested in more particular ways in the covenant God makes with Noah and, by extension, the whole of the creation (Genesis 9:8–16), with Abraham (Genesis 12:2–3), and, through Moses, with the people of Israel (Deuteronomy 7:12–14). Likewise, the New Testament reflects God's blessing on all creation, as the Word of God becomes flesh in Jesus; it reflects the blessing of covenant as well, as the life, death, and resurrection of Jesus reconcile us with God and assure us of God's loving faithfulness toward us and the whole creation. In his final meal with his disciples, Jesus blessed God for the bread and cup as signs of the new covenant (Matthew 26:26–29). The blessing we receive by participating in that meal at the eucharistic table strengthens us to live out in all of our relationships the forgiveness and reconciliation to which that meal calls us.

Scripture bears witness to the relational character of blessing: being in relationship with God is not only a blessing for us, but becomes a blessing to others as well. God's covenant with Israel becomes a blessing not for Israel alone but for "all the nations." This is the very promise made to Abraham: "in you all the families of the earth shall be blessed" (Genesis 12:3b). The extent of this divine blessing unfolded in Israel's self-awareness over time and in various ways. "All the nations" referred, of course, to Gentiles, the very ones many in Israel had not expected to share in God's promises. God's blessing thus expands the reach of welcome and hospitality not only to the near and familiar neighbor, but also to the distant stranger, who is made neighbor because of God's own generosity. As Paul noted, through faith "in Christ Jesus the blessing of Abraham might come to the Gentiles, so that we might receive the promise of the Spirit through faith" (Galatians 3:14). The blessing of God's covenant with us in Christ empowers us, through the Spirit, to offer such expansive and generous blessing to the world, in thought, word, and deed. God's blessings inspire us in countless ways to live as emissaries of divine blessing in all that we do — in our work, our play, and our relationships. In all of this, God's goodness in our lives becomes a blessing to others, to neighbors both near and far.

As Christians, baptism and eucharist focus our attention on the particular blessings of the paschal mystery of Christ's death and resurrection. Those blessings, in turn, encourage us to discern the many other ways God's blessing is manifested in both creation and covenant. The goodness of God makes everything in creation a potential vehicle for blessing, including the love and faithfulness of covenantal relationship, in which we experience our call to manifest divine goodness. Thus, the Church is continually discerning where the goodness of God, the grace of Christ, and the gifts of the Holy Spirit are urging the Church to manifest God's blessing for others and, in response, to bless God with hearts and lives marked by gratitude and praise.

Another aspect of the biblical witness deserves attention as well: the emphasis on abundance. In the midst of desert wanderings, Moses struck a rock and "water came out abundantly" for the people of Israel (Numbers 20:11). "Like the vine," we read in Ecclesiasticus, "I bud forth delights, and my blossoms become glorious and abundant fruit" (Ecclesiasticus 24:17). "You prepare a table before me," declares the psalmist, and "my cup overflows" (Psalm 23:5). "Give," Jesus says, "and it will be given to you. A good measure, pressed down, shaken together, running over, will be put into your lap" (Luke 6:38). And to the Christians in Corinth, Paul declares, "God is able to provide you with every blessing in abundance, so that by always having enough of everything, you may share abundantly in every good work" (2 Corinthians 9:8). Scripture invites us, in other words, to see the blessing of God's goodness, not as a scarce commodity either to hoard or to protect, but rather as an unending font of deathless love and perpetual grace — a veritable embarrassment of divine riches. In sacred covenantal relationship, God's abundance is exhibited in many ways, including the companionship, friendship, and mutual joy of intimacy. By affirming and publicly acknowledging that blessing of abundance already present in vibrant covenantal relationships, including same-sex relationships,

the Church expects those relationships to manifest the grace of God, the gifts of the Spirit, and holiness of life.

Jesus' iconic parable about the prodigal son adds a further layer to this biblical witness to God's abundant love and grace. In this story, God pours out the abundance of divine blessing on all, regardless of merit or circumstance. When the prodigal son decides at last to return to his father's house, hoping to be granted, at best, the status of a slave, his father rushes to meet him and welcome him home, and even prepares a lavish feast in his honor. "While he was still far off," Jesus says, and thus well before the son could speak any words of repentance, "his father saw him and was filled with compassion; he ran and put his arms around him and kissed him" (Luke 15:20). In our lives, as in the parable, God showers us with blessings so that we may receive life abundantly, even though we have in no way earned these blessings.

This parable suggests that the abundance of this household is more than sufficient to open outward to receive the younger son. The abundance of this household is even more than sufficient for the resentful elder son, who begrudges such celebration for his wayward brother. The household brims with abundance, if only the elder son would open his heart to receive it (Luke 15:29–31). Both sons in Jesus' parable stand as potent reminders that the blessing of divine goodness does not automatically transform lives: we must be willing to receive such blessing. And yet even when we are not willing, God will continue to offer blessings in abundance. The teachings of Jesus return to this theme repeatedly, as in the parables of the sower (Mark 4:3–8) and the wedding banquet (Matthew 22:1–10), as well as the feeding of more than five thousand with just five loaves of bread and two fish (Luke 9:12–17).

The Church's participation in divine blessing can help each of us in various ways to be open to God's abundant goodness. The Church's liturgical life, that is, our practice of common prayer and worship, can create space for God's people to open their hearts and minds to receiving the blessing God offers. For those in a covenantal relationship, that intentional space (for both hearing the word of blessing in their lives and blessing God in return) marks a significant, even an essential deepening and strengthening of their lives with each other, with their community, and with God. In blessing covenantal relationships, just as in the eucharist, we give thanks for God's abundant goodness and pray for the continued presence of the Spirit to empower us to do the work God has given us to do in the world. The blessing of the eucharistic table sets us apart as the Body of Christ in the world, called and empowered to proclaim the gospel, just as the blessing of a covenantal relationship sets that relationship apart as "a sign of Christ's love to this sinful and broken world, that unity may overcome estrangement, forgiveness heal guilt, and joy conquer despair." ¹⁶

Discerning, pronouncing, seeking, and returning blessing describe well the Church's work. Even more, it is the Church's joy. Paul urged the Christians in Rome to "rejoice with those who rejoice, weep with those who weep" (Romans 12:15). The early Christians gave themselves to such rejoicing, as they were "continually in the temple blessing God" in their celebration of Christ's victory over death (Luke 24:53). Whenever and wherever the Church discerns particular instances of God's abundant goodness, the Church rightly thanks God for such a gift. We also ask God for the grace to live into that gift more fully, as we joyfully bear witness to that blessing in the world.

¹⁶ The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage, BCP, 429.

3. The Church's Life: Covenantal Relationship

Do you not know that all of us who have been baptized into Christ Jesus were baptized into his death? Therefore we have been buried with him by baptism into death, so that, just as Christ was raised from the dead by the glory of the Father, so we too might walk in newness of life.

— Romans 6:3-4

Creation, Baptism, and Eucharist

Covenants have taken many different forms across time and in diverse cultural contexts. Both Scripture and Christian history exhibit that diversity as well. The most familiar covenantal relationship is marriage, to which both the Hebrew prophets and New Testament writers turned as a way to describe God's desire and commitment to be in relationship with us (Isaiah 62:5, Ephesians 5:21–33). Marriage itself has exhibited a variety of forms over the centuries yet still provides a pattern for a number of significant covenantal relationships, such as the vowed religious life or ordained ministry.

In 2000, General Convention identified certain characteristics that the Church expects to see in lifelong, committed relationships: "fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest communication, and the holy love which enables those in such relationships to see in each other the image of God" (Resolution Do39). These characteristics describe well what we mean by "covenant" as we have reflected theologically on same-sex relationships. A couple enacts their decision to enter into a lifelong commitment of fidelity and accountability in the context of God's household, the Church, by exchanging vows, and the Church responds by pronouncing God's blessing. Covenantal relationship then carries the potential to reflect for the Church the gracious covenant God has made with us in the paschal mystery of Christ's death and resurrection, which the Church celebrates in baptism and eucharist.

Some will find this kind of theological reflection on same-sex relationships unfamiliar and perhaps unwarranted. Many different-sex couples would likewise find this to be a new way of thinking about their own marital vows. Thus, General Convention Resolution 2009-C056, which called for these theological resources, becomes an opportunity for reflecting more broadly on the role of covenantal relationship in the life of the Church. In doing so, the blessing of same-sex relationships can then be understood within the broader framework of the Church's sacramental life and its mission in the world.

The framework for covenantal relationship begins with God's own declaration of the goodness of creation (Genesis 1:31). That goodness inspires us to give thanks to God, the creator of all things. The heavens declare God's glory, the psalmist reminds us, and the earth proclaims God's handiwork (Psalm 19:1). Thus, even in creation's fragility, limitation, and affliction, the biblical writers discerned signs of God's providential power, sustaining love, and saving grace. The Church celebrates God's goodness in worship and with sacramental signs of God's blessing. These "outward and visible signs of inward and spiritual grace" manifest God's transforming presence and so are "sure and certain means by which we receive that grace." Chief among these signs are baptism and eucharist, which derive directly from the life and ministry of Jesus Christ. Reconciliation, confirmation, marriage, ordination, and unction also manifest the grace of God at key moments in Christian life, each in its own way, yet these are by no means the only occasions that do so. As disciples of Jesus, the incarnate Word of God, we are called to make God's creating, redeeming, and sustaining love known in all things, in all circumstances, and throughout our daily lives and relationships. The sacramental life of the Church focuses that calling in particular ways.

¹⁷ "An Outline of the Faith," BCP, 857.

¹⁸ "An Outline of the Faith," BCP, 857–58, 861.

Baptism and eucharist recapitulate the arc of salvation history in creation, sin, judgment, repentance, and redemption, or the fulfillment of the whole creation in the presence of God.¹⁹ In baptism, we are incorporated into the paschal mystery of Christ's death and resurrection, and we are empowered by the Holy Spirit to live more fully into the holiness of life to which God calls all of us. This sacramental act manifests the eternal covenant God has made with us, declaring that we are God's own beloved, inheritors of God's promises, and God's friends;²⁰ we are sealed by God's own Spirit and marked as Christ's own forever.²¹ This sign of God's covenant is irrevocable, not relying on our adherence to the covenant but rather on the grace and goodness of God in Christ Jesus. As members of the Body of Christ, we commit ourselves to live in the manner of life appropriate to the body to which we belong. This manner of life is summed up in the two great commandments: to love God with our whole being and to love our neighbors as ourselves.²² Even though we inevitably fall far short of this commitment, God's steadfast love maintains the covenant God has made, and God both seeks and graciously enables our return to fidelity.

In The Episcopal Church, the significance of baptism for Christian faith and life became even clearer with the ratification of the 1979 Book of Common Prayer. The Baptismal Covenant shapes the rite of Holy Baptism by beginning with an affirmation of faith (the Apostles' Creed), followed by five distinct promises made by (or on behalf of) those being baptized: to continue in the apostles' teaching and fellowship; to persevere in resisting evil; to proclaim the Good News of God in Christ; to seek and serve Christ in all persons; and to strive for justice and peace, respecting the dignity of all persons.²³ The rite begins, in other words, with God's own Trinitarian mission of creating, redeeming, and sustaining love in the world. The promises we make are in response to that divine mission and constitute our vowed commitment to participate in that mission — and always "with God's help." This approach to baptismal theology continues to guide and inform our prayerful discernment as Episcopalians, which is rooted first and foremost in the covenant God makes with us through the Word of God made flesh (John 1:14).²⁴

In the redemptive work of the Incarnation, God draws the whole creation back into union with God, lifting it up through the resurrection and ascension of Christ toward its perfection, when God will be all in all (1 Corinthians 15:28). In the eucharist we celebrate this transformative action, accomplished through Christ's self-giving of his own Body and Blood, which nourishes our bodies and souls, equipping us to participate in God's own mission of reconciliation in the world.

In the eucharist, our fragmented lives are gathered together into one offering to God, the giver of all good things. As a community gathered in prayer, we reaffirm our participation in God's covenant as we hear God's holy word, confess and receive forgiveness of our sins, and join with the whole company of saints in prayer for the Church and the world. God receives the gifts we bring, limited and flawed as they may be, blesses them, and then returns them to us as bread from heaven. As we are nourished by the Body and Blood of Christ, we are formed ever deeper in holiness of life, conforming to the likeness of Christ. At the table, we are given a foretaste of the heavenly banquet in which all are gathered to God – a foretaste that clarifies and strengthens our longing to witness to God's love. As we are blessed and sent out, we are empowered by the Holy Spirit to participate in God's work of bringing all things to that sanctification and fullness for which God created them. Moreover, as we celebrate eucharist together, we recall all the other tables that we gather around in our various households and come to see them as places where Christ is present. This eucharistic pattern — often described with the actions take, bless, break, and give — shapes all the relationships that we bring into our baptismal life with God. We take these relationships, bless God for their goodness, ask God to

¹⁹ See "Thanksgiving over the Water," BCP, 306–307; Romans 8:18–25; and 1 Corinthians 15:28.

²⁰ "I do not call you servants any longer, ... but I have called you friends" (John 15:15). See also Gregory of Nyssa, who understood our incorporation into the Body of Christ to make us God's own "friends" (*Orat. in 1 Cor. xv.28*).

²¹ Holy Baptism, BCP, 308.

²² See Deuteronomy 6:5, Leviticus 19:18, and Matthew 22:37–40.

²³ BCP, 304-305.

²⁴ See Louis Weil, A Theology of Worship, The New Church's Teaching Series, vol. 12 (Cambridge, MA: Cowley Publications, 2002), 11–22.

bless them and *break* them open further to divine grace, so that we may *give* them to the world as witnesses to the gospel of Jesus Christ.

Baptism and eucharist, as sacraments of God's covenant of creating, redeeming, and sustaining love, shape our lives as Christians in relation to God and to God's creation; this calls us to live with love, compassion, justice, and peace toward all creatures, friend or foe, neighbor or stranger. We are not only called to live in this way but also strengthened to do so by our participation in these sacramental acts. The sacramental life of the Church strengthens us to give ourselves and to receive others as we contribute to the coming of God's realm "on earth as it is in heaven" (Matthew 6:10) and proclaim Christ until he comes again (1 Corinthians 11:26).

Through baptism and eucharist we are brought into and sustained in all these many and various relationships. First and foremost among them is our relationship with the God who creates, redeems, and sustains us. We also participate in countless other relationships with the many diverse people, communities, and institutions that we encounter throughout the world. All of these relationships call us to bear witness to the gospel precisely because our lives as creatures of God are constituted in relation; we are created in the Trinitarian image of God, an image that is inherently relational and rooted and grounded in love.²⁵

Accordingly, same-sex relationships belong in that extensive network of relations in which we are called to bear witness to the gospel. In the next section, we consider the blessing of same-sex relationships in that broader context, beginning with the fundamental call all of us share to love our neighbors as ourselves. Since God calls us into particular forms of loving commitments with others, we turn in the following sections to three interrelated aspects of that calling: covenant-making, intentional Christian households, and faithful intimacy.

Loving Our Neighbors as Ourselves

Christians strive to model all of our relationships on the love, grace, and compassion of Christ, loving our neighbors, both near and distant, as we love ourselves. Loving others is possible only because of the grace of God, who first loved us (1 John 4:19). Baptism and eucharist continually send us out to all our neighbors, where we learn again and again the blessing of offering ourselves and receiving others in gospel hospitality.

Hospitality means more than good manners. Scripture regards hospitality toward both friend and stranger as evidence of covenantal obedience and fruitfulness.²⁶ The story of Sodom's destruction in Genesis 19, a particularly dramatic biblical reminder of the importance of hospitable relations, has been frequently cited by opponents of blessing same-sex relationships. However, such interpretations of this passage rely less on the biblical story itself than on the cultural reception of this story over many centuries of European history.²⁷

The narrative in this passage turns on whether certain visitors to Sodom will be received graciously and hospitably by the city's inhabitants or instead will be exploited and even raped. The sin of Sodom's citizens thus refers explicitly to the codes of hospitality in the ancient Near East rather than to same-sex sexual relations.²⁸ Other biblical writers who refer to Sodom never highlight sexuality — or mention it at all.

²⁵ "An Outline of the Faith," BCP, 845.

²⁶ See Exodus 22:21, Leviticus 19:34, Deuteronomy 24:19–21, Malachi 3:5, and Hebrews 13:2, among many others. For an overview and analysis of the centrality of hospitality in Scripture and in early Christianity, see Amos Yong, Hospitality and the Other: Pentecost, Christian Practices, and the Neighbor (Maryknoll, NY: Orbis Books, 2008).

²⁷ The term "sodomy," for example, does not appear in Scripture, and what it has come to mean (including within North Atlantic jurisprudence) is not supported by the biblical references to it. See Jay Emerson Johnson, "Sodomy and Gendered Love: Reading Genesis 19 in the Anglican Communion," in *The Oxford Handbook of the Reception History of the Bible*, ed. Michael Lieb, Emma Mason, and Jonathan Roberts (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2010), 413–34; and Michael Carden, *Sodomy: A History of a Christian Biblical Myth* (London: Equinox Publishing, 2004).

²⁸ The definition of "sodomy" varied widely throughout Christian history and coalesced exclusively around a particular sexual act between men only in the eleventh century; see Mark D. Jordan, *The Invention of Sodomy in Christian Theology* (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1997).

Ezekiel's interpretation, for example, is quite direct: "This was the guilt of your sister Sodom: she and her daughters had pride, excess of food, and prosperous ease, but did not aid the poor and needy" (Ezekiel 16:49). Jesus evokes the story of Sodom not to teach about sexual ethics but in the context of sending out his disciples to minister. Those who do not receive his disciples, he promises, will suffer a fate worse than the citizens of Sodom (Matthew 10:15). The threat underscores the centrality of hospitality in that ancient story. The story of the st

As early as the 1950s, biblical scholars attempted to place Genesis 19 in its original cultural context and to revive an interpretive approach to that story that resonated with the intrabiblical witness to it.³¹ In this interpretation, Genesis 19 applies to all people rather than only to some, and the lesson for all is the primacy of hospitality, or the love of neighbor, as Jesus himself commanded.³² We manifest this love of neighbor in countless ways, each instance shaped by the particular individual or community we encounter, whether in our own family, with coworkers, or with strangers.

Relationships, in other words, take many different forms. At times, we choose particular relationships based on our own preferences, needs, or desires; at other times, we are in relationships without a lot of choice, as with colleagues at work or fellow travelers. No matter which, the "neighbor" offers us an occasion for manifesting the love of God in Christ. The gospels proclaim not only the self-giving love Jesus showed to the disciples he chose, but also the love Jesus urged for the stranger encountered by chance, as in the parable of the good Samaritan (Luke 10:29–37). Christ sets the example for us to follow in all of our many and varied relationships, a model that respects the dignity of every person and that encourages giving oneself for the good of the other.³³ Relationships are "schools for virtue" and formation – that is, opportunities for us to form dispositions and habits that manifest Christ-like love.

As people joined with God and to each other by baptism and eucharist, we are called to embody in all of our relationships — those we may consider personal or private *and* those we consider corporate or public — a love that is both self-giving and other-receiving. As we endeavor to respond to this calling, we depend on God's grace as we are gradually brought by the Spirit into that union with God for which Christ himself prayed (John 17:11). We also serve as living proclamations of God's creative, redeeming, and sustaining love for the world. Given our limitations, that witness is inevitably imperfect and sometimes ambiguous, yet we continue to trust that all things are working together for good (Romans 8:28) as we shape our lives and relationships to the pattern of God's own love for us and for the world. That pattern may then lead into particular forms of commitment in which we discern a call to covenantal relationship.

²⁹ Ezekiel's description represents the approach most often taken by writers in the Hebrew Bible, in which the sin of Sodom is always associated with violence or injustice; see Robin Scroggs, *The New Testament and Homosexuality: Contextual Background for Contemporary Debate* (Philadelphia: Fortress Press, 1983). In the New Testament, Jude 7 is sometimes cited as well, yet that verse does not describe "sexual immorality" precisely (it could refer to rape, for example); the "unnatural lust" of Sodom's inhabitants could also mean that the strangers sent to Sodom were actually angels (see Genesis 6:4).

³⁰ Patristic writers viewed hospitality as central. See, for example, Origen, Homilia V in Genesim (PG 12:188–89): "Hear this, you who close your homes to guests! Hear this, you who shun the traveler as an enemy! Lot lived among the Sodomites. We do not read of any other good deeds of his ... [save] he opened his home to guests"; Ambrose of Milan, De Abrahamo 1:6:52 (PL 14:440): Lot "placed the hospitality of his house — sacred even among a barbarous people — above the modesty [of his daughters]." Cited by John Boswell, Christianity, Tolerance, and Homosexuality: Gay People in Western Europe from the Beginning of the Christian Era to the Fourteenth Century (Chicago: University of Chicago Press, 1980), 98.

³¹ One of the earliest examples of this approach was Derrick Sherwin Bailey, Homosexuality and the Western Christian Tradition (London: Longmans, Green, 1955).

³² Some biblical scholars continue to interpret the story as a condemnation of homosexual behavior. See, for example, Robert A. J. Gagnon, The Bible and Homosexual Practice: Texts and Hermeneutics (Nashville: Abingdon Press, 2001), 71–91.

³³ "The Baptismal Covenant," BCP, 305.

Called into Covenant

Some loving relationships with our neighbors exhibit a particular depth of commitment, which can lead to an intentional covenant with another person or with a community. Scripture bears witness to the significance of covenant-making in many ways but especially as an expression of God's blessing, such as the covenant God makes with the whole of creation through Noah (Genesis 9:9–13) and with the people of Israel through Abraham (Genesis 12:2–3). Christians celebrate the covenant that Jesus proclaimed and enacted at the final meal he shared with his disciples (Luke 22:20) and which we mark with the "cup of blessing" (1 Corinthians 10:16) at the eucharistic table.

Scripture invites us, in other words, to see our covenantal commitments with each other as particular expressions of the love of both God and neighbor as well as expressions of God's blessing. As we commit ourselves to the good of the other, we offer that commitment as a witness to God's covenantal love for the world. We discover God's blessing in these covenantal commitments as we are able, more and more, to manifest consistent regard and respect for the other, even as we struggle with our own limitations and flaws. We discover God's blessing even further as we realize, in ever newer ways, how a covenantal relationship can enhance and contribute to the well-being of others, of neighbors, strangers, the Church, and the world.

People who enter a covenant promise each other, a community, and God that their shared future will take a particular shape, one for which they intend to be held accountable, not only by their covenant partners but also by the wider community.³⁴ While the Canons of the Episcopal Church describe marriage as a union of a man and a woman, the patterns of marriage can help us understand other kinds of covenantal relationship, such as vowed religious life and the commitments of same-sex couples. In all of these covenantal relationships, the partners promise to be trustworthy, to remain faithful to one another despite other demands on their time and energy or possibilities for engagement with others. The partners promise to accompany and assist each other in faithfulness; they pledge their support for the well-being of the other. These relationships are directed toward vitality and fruitfulness as they contribute to human flourishing, within and beyond the relationship. The depth of this covenantal commitment means it is a *vocation*, a life of faithfulness to which some are called by God and which God blesses, so that, by God's grace, that blessing will be made manifest to the world.

Recognizing God's blessing and the work of the Spirit in relationships of lifelong commitment, the Church rightly celebrates these moments of covenantal vocation. This divine calling, discerned by a couple and their faith community, draws the Church deeper into God's own mission of redeeming and sanctifying love in the world. Christians express this calling in the ways we live our lives with others. Two of these ways deserve attention here: shaping households and deepening faithful intimacy.

The Vocation of Households

Households today are most often associated with marriage and child-rearing, yet this has not always been the case. The history of the Church offers a broader view of how households can bear witness to the gospel. Since it is finally God, and not another human being or anything else in creation, that fulfills and completes us, some people feel called to remain unmarried or single. A single life, which is not necessarily the same as a solitary life, can be lived in households of various types. Living in this way can allow individuals to be more available as friends and companions; this is often the case with vowed religious life, such as a monastic calling. Indeed, for the first half of its history (more than a thousand years), the Church understood vowed religious life as a calling higher than marriage, a view that changed decisively only during the Protestant Reformation. The diverse forms of an intentional single life may afford greater opportunity for contemplation, service, and mission, which some people understand as a particular vocational calling into

³⁴ See Margaret A. Farley, Personal Commitments: Beginning, Keeping, Changing (New York: HarperCollins, 1990).

deeper relationship with God and the world. This seems to be Paul's understanding of the spiritual significance of remaining unmarried (1 Corinthians 7:25–32).

Paul also discusses human sexuality in relation to God's gracious covenant with us in Christ in the first chapter of his letter to the Romans. This chapter, especially verses 26–27, has been used to support the Church's reluctance to embrace the loving faithfulness of same-sex couples and continues to influence conversation in Christian communities.

In interpreting this Pauline passage, it is difficult to know precisely what Paul meant by "unnatural" in those verses and to whom he was addressing these concerns.³⁵ Significantly, Paul's description of sexual behavior in the first chapter appears in direct relation to his condemnation of idolatry. For Paul, the consequence — not the cause — of worshiping false gods is a distorted understanding of sexuality, its purpose and goal (Romans 1:22–23). In the Greco-Roman world of the first century, those distortions of sexuality with which Paul was most likely familiar included a range of practices associated with cults devoted to fertility gods and goddesses. Some interpreters have claimed that these cultic rituals may have included self-castration, drunken orgies, and sex with young male and female temple prostitutes.³⁶ Christians rightly condemn all those behaviors as violations of the human body, the very temple of the Holy Spirit, Paul insisted (1 Corinthians 3:16–17). Moreover, some interpreters say, those alleged ancient cultic practices have nothing to do with today's same-sex Christian couples.³⁷

Paul's broader insight, however, still compels the Church to continual discernment and assessment of its common life: proper worship corresponds directly to proper sexual relations. This insight can shed even further light on Paul's recommendation to the Christians in Corinth that they remain unmarried.

In the end, human sexual relationships of any kind are not the purpose or goal of human life. Instead, union with God in Christ is the goal for all, including the whole created order, as the rest of Paul's letter to the Romans makes clear (Romans 8:18–25). At their best, human relationships can only point us toward that final fulfillment. People who make an intentional decision to remain unmarried place important signposts on that spiritual journey to which all of us are called and in which nothing, including marriage, should supplant our primary devotion to God and to God's household, the Church.

Other types of relationships teach us that to prepare us for life with God, God can bind us with another for life. Thus, some (though not all) covenantal commitments are enacted in households, those intimate spaces where people encounter each other as their nearest neighbors daily and continually.³⁸ Clearly, the character, shape, and form of a household have varied enormously over time, from the patriarchal and polygamous families of ancient Israel to the family Jesus created between his mother and his beloved disciple (John 19:26–27) and the economic reordering of familial relations among early believers (Acts 4:32–37, 5:1–7). What "household" means and how people may be called, as a vocation, into covenantal households matter not only in light of historical differences but also in the midst of the wide range of household customs and organizational patterns found throughout the world today.

Appreciating the significant cultural differences between the households of ancient Israel and today's Western, nuclear families can also inform our interpretation of two biblical passages cited as a scriptural

³⁵ See L. William Countryman, Dirt, Greed, and Sex: Sexual Ethics in the New Testament and Their Implications for Today, revised edition (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2007), 119–123. See also Dale B. Martin, "Heterosexism and the Interpretation of Romans 1:18–32," in Sex and the Single Savior: Gender and Sexuality in Biblical Interpretation (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2006), 51–64. Some interpreters have noted that Paul uses the phrase often translated as "contrary to nature" in Romans 1 again in Romans 11:24 to describe the love of God in saving those same Gentiles; see William Stacy Johnson, A Time to Embrace: Same-Gender Relationships in Religion, Law, and Politics (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans Publishing Company, 2006), 98–99.

³⁶ For the controversy over ancient fertility cults and the alleged sexual practices associated with them, see Robert A. Oden, Jr., The Bible Without Theology: The Theological Tradition and Alternatives to It (San Francisco: Harper and Row, 1987), especially chapter 5, "Religious Identity and the Sacred Prostitution Accusation," 131–153.

³⁷ See Martti Nissinen, Homoeroticism in the Biblical World: A Historical Perspective (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 1998), 103–113.

³⁸ Thomas E. Breidenthal, *Christian Households: The Sanctification of Nearness* (Eugene, Oregon: Wipf and Stock, 2004).

warrant for rejecting the loving faithfulness of same-sex couples: Leviticus 18:22 and its analogue, 20:13. These two verses belong to an extensive array of dietary restrictions, commandments, and ritual practices often referred to as the "Levitical holiness code." Two features of ancient Israelite society are important in interpreting these difficult passages: the process of constructing a religious identity for Israel distinct from its surrounding cultures, and the strict gender hierarchy of the ancient Mediterranean world.³⁹

Leviticus 18:22 condemns sex between men, and, more particularly, treating a man like a woman. The Hebrew word used for this condemnation, translated as "abomination," appears most often with reference to the cultic practices associated with the worship of foreign gods; similar condemnations of child sacrifice and bestiality in Leviticus 18 strengthen the connection to idolatrous rituals. ⁴⁰ Equally important, patriarchy placed a high premium on male privilege. Sexual practices reflected this gendered ordering as men were expected to take an active role and women a passive one, reflecting and perpetuating male dominance in all other spheres of cultural and religious life and reinforcing the treatment of women as property. Sexual relations in the ancient Near Eastern cultural context were defined by who had power over whom. So, according to this worldview, sex between men would violate male privilege and disrupt the patriarchal ordering of society. ⁴¹

Ancient Israelite culture, which the Levitical holiness code was meant to uphold, differs significantly from the egalitarian ideals toward which many Christian families strive in modern Western culture (and indeed in other locales as well). ⁴² Likewise, the distinctive concerns shared by both the ancient Israelites and Paul to reject the sexual practices associated with idolatrous cults are in no way applicable to the lives of faithful Christians today who identify themselves as gay or lesbian. These historical and cultural differences, however, do not render these biblical passages irrelevant: Scripture continues to bear witness to the primacy of covenantal relationship with the one true God of Israel, whom Christians believe and proclaim is revealed decisively in the life, death, and resurrection of Jesus Christ. Scripture would have us make that divine covenant primary in the ordering of our household relations in culturally appropriate ways.

In households formed by married different-sex couples and covenanted same-sex couples alike, the process of conforming to the likeness of Christ and striving toward holiness of life unfolds in deeply shared accountability. The couple continually attempts to place their desires within the vows and commitments they have made to each other. Living together in a household may provide the stability which makes possible the vulnerability necessary to self-giving and other-receiving. ⁴³ In a household, the members of the couple become one another's nearest neighbor so that they may grow together in the love of God. The household shelters the daily practice, which Jesus urged, of finding one's life by giving it to another.

For same-sex couples as for married different-sex couples, households provide the structure for the daily life of covenanted closeness: laboring to provide for one another and to support family, organizing a household

³⁹ Insights from Jewish commentators and scholars on these and other important aspects of biblical interpretation deserve renewed attention in Christian communities. See, for example, Steven Greenberg, Wrestling with God and Men: Homosexuality in the Jewish Tradition (Madison: University of Wisconsin Press, 2004); and Daniel Boyarin, Carnal Israel: Reading Sex in Talmudic Culture (Berkeley: University of California Press, 1995).

⁴⁰ See Nissinen, *Homoeroticism in the Biblical World*, 37–56. Paul would likely have known the connection between the Levitical holiness code and idolatrous cults as well, which lends further support to interpreting the first chapter of Romans with reference to temple prostitution.

⁴¹ Jack Rogers, Jesus, the Bible, and Homosexuality: Explode the Myths, Heal the Church, revised edition (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2009), 68–69.

⁴² The treatment not only of women but also of children as property, as well as the practice of keeping concubines and slaves in ancient Mediterranean households, mark these differences even further. See Carol L. Meyers, "Everyday Life: Women in the Period of the Hebrew Bible," in Women's Bible Commentary, ed. Carol A. Newsom and Sharon H. Ringe, expanded edition (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 1998), 251–59; Gale A. Yee, Poor Banished Children of Eve: Woman as Evil in the Hebrew Bible (Minneapolis: Fortress Press, 2003), 29–58; and Amy L. Wordelman, "Everyday Life: Women in the Period of the New Testament," in Women's Bible Commentary, 482–88.

⁴³ Rowan Williams, "The Body's Grace," in Our Selves, Our Souls and Bodies: Sexuality and the Household of God, ed. Charles Hefling (Cambridge, MA: Cowley Publications, 1996), 58–68.

and its daily table, maintaining and sharing property, caring for another in sickness and at death.⁴⁴ Households may be schools for virtue and for penance and reconciliation, as well as habitations of mutual support and joy, places for glimpsing and also deepening our experience of the presence of God. People living alone, who are single, bereaved, or divorced, are also called to live out their baptismal vocation by the love, service, hospitality, and accountability of their relationships within the Church and in the communities of which they are a part, as well as through their service of prayer to others.

A household formed by a couple in a covenantal relationship can remind all of us of our incorporation into the paschal mystery through baptism, in which we are received into the household of God and encouraged to "confess the faith of Christ crucified, proclaim his resurrection, and share ... in his eternal priesthood." In their household, a couple faces the many ways in which their faith forms their daily lives. They offer themselves daily to each other in order to become part of the other's life, dying to sin and rising to a new life directed toward love of neighbor and love of God. In this giving of self and receiving of another, we see the gracious pattern of God's own triune life into which we are, more and more, caught up and transformed for mission.

In households we also see an image of the eucharist. The household tables around which couples in covenantal relationship gather evoke the eucharistic table around which we gather as the community of believers. In the household, as at the eucharist, couples take what is given to them and offer it to God. They are nourished and blessed by what they receive, and the Spirit then empowers them to be a blessing to others and to God. In a household, as at the eucharistic table, what God has joined together may become one body, and the Spirit may distribute a household's gifts to many. In households, same-sex as well as different-sex couples in covenantal relationships strive to imitate Jesus, who gave himself bodily for those he loved.

To give one's self over to love, care, and commitment in solidarity with another person, for better for worse, in sickness and in health, till death do us part, is daily and bodily to partake in the reconciling work of God in Christ. In the lives of intimate couples, sexual desire for one another can be forged into covenantal witness to the gospel.

Faithful Intimacy

The movement from sexual desire into faithful intimacy and covenantal commitment marks a particular kind of vocational path, which for Christians shapes the passion of *eros* into the affection of *agape* for the good of the Church and the world. Theological reflection on this path begins by affirming the goodness of sexual desire itself. Indeed, sexual desire is a metaphor for God's desire to be in relationship with us and the whole creation. Scripture and Christian tradition draw on sexually intimate relationships to point to the God who is Love and who stands in relationships of love with all creation. The long tradition of commentary on the biblical Song of Songs, for example, illustrates the spiritual significance of sexual relationships and the fruitfulness of reflecting theologically on the commitment of sexually intimate couples. ⁴⁶ In such reflection, we can realize and appreciate that "the whole story of creation, incarnation, and our incorporation into the fellowship of Christ's body tells us that God desires us." The good news of God's desire for us can then shape our intimate commitments and the life of the wider Christian community so that all of us may see ourselves as desired, as "the occasion of joy."⁴⁷

⁴⁴ See Deirdre J. Good, Willis J. Jenkins, Cynthia B. Kittredge, and Eugene F. Rogers, Jr., "A Theology of Marriage including Same-Sex Couples: A View from the Liberals," *Anglican Theological Review* 93:1 (Winter 2011): 63–64.

⁴⁵ Holy Baptism, BCP, 308.

⁴⁶ David M. Carr, The Erotic Word: Sexuality, Spirituality, and the Bible (Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2003). See also Douglas Burton-Christie, "Into the Body of Another: Eros, Embodiment and Intimacy with the Natural World," Anglican Theological Review 81:1 (Winter 1999): 13–37.

⁴⁷ Williams, "The Body's Grace," in Our Selves, Our Souls and Bodies, 59.

The gift of human sexuality, established by God in creation, can be a source of sustaining joy, reminding us bodily of the abundance God intends for the whole creation. In the mutual self-offering of one to another in a sexual relationship of fidelity, we can catch a glimpse of the delight God exhibits for each of us. Yet sexual desire is also fraught with risk because it draws us into relationships of vulnerability, where not only the brightest and best dimensions of ourselves are offered to another but also where the painful aspects are exposed, the ones that we often prefer to keep hidden and that need healing. Sexual desire and intimacy make us vulnerable so that God can turn our limits to our good, showing us that we are not our own but belong to someone else.

Faithful relationships of sexual intimacy can also be an occasion to bear witness to God's love as they form the couples more fully in the image of Christ. In marriage, the Church blesses and celebrates these relationships as potential vehicles for God's grace. Many in The Episcopal Church today have come to believe that this is as true for same-sex couples as it is for different-sex couples. ⁴⁸ Others, however, understand the doctrine of creation differently and believe that God's gift of human sexuality is intended only for different-sex couples. Even the language of "same-sex" and "different-sex" raises many complex questions, not only biologically, socially, and culturally, but also and especially biblically.

Genesis 1 and 2, for example, are often cited to support two interrelated convictions: first, that "gender complementarity" describes God's creation of human beings as male and female; and second, that such complementarity is best expressed in the procreation of children within monogamous marriage. The extensive biblical scholarship available on these passages — in both Jewish and Christian traditions — nuances those two convictions in some important ways.

In the first of the two creation accounts (Genesis 1:26–27), gender differentiation is attributed to the whole human species rather than to individuals, just as both male and female alike apply to God, in whose image humanity is made. ⁴⁹ Similarly, the command to "be fruitful and multiply" (Genesis 1:28) is given to the human species, not to each individual. If this were not the case, people "who are single, celibate, or who for whatever reason do not have children — including Jesus of Nazareth" — would be viewed as "disobedient sinners." ⁵⁰ Moreover, the generative aspects of a loving and faithful commitment can be seen in many different ways, not only in bearing and raising children. For same-sex couples, as one Episcopal bishop has pointed out, "the care and nurture of those already in the world may be a mission more excellently fulfilled by those who do not have the concerns of child-rearing." ⁵¹

The second account in Genesis refers specifically to the creation of distinct individuals (Genesis 2:7–22), and introduces something that is not good in God's creation: "It is not good," God declares, "for the human being to be alone." Here the story turns on the importance of companionship and not, as in the first account, on the procreation of children. Significantly, the companion God provides for the solitary human is not defined by "otherness" but by suitable similarity. In this passage, "there is no emphasis ... on 'difference' or 'complementarity' at all — in fact, just the opposite. When Adam sees Eve, he does not celebrate her otherness but her sameness: what strikes him is that she is 'bone of my bones, flesh of my flesh." Reducing this story to the fitness of particular anatomical parts misses the poignancy of this story: "God sees the plight of this first human being and steps in and does whatever it takes to provide him with a

⁴⁸ To Set Our Hope on Christ, 8–9, 24–25.

⁴⁹ Some ancient Talmudic commentaries suggest, for example, that the original human shared with God all of the possible gender characteristics, which were later divided between "male" and "female." This text, in other words, raises a host of questions which the text itself does not address concerning gender and sexuality in both humanity and God. See Howard Eilberg-Schwartz, ed., People of the Body: Jews and Judaism from an Embodied Perspective (Albany: State University of New York Press, 1992).

⁵⁰ Johnson, A Time to Embrace, 115–16.

⁵¹ Marshall, Same-Sex Unions, 38.

⁵² Genesis 2:18 (for the significance of this translation of the verse, see Johnson, A Time to Embrace, 114–115, 117).

life-giving, life-sustaining companion."⁵³ Rather than focusing on marriage, these creation accounts affirm God as the creator of all things and "the priority of human companionship."⁵⁴

Genesis 1 and 2 can and should continue to shape, inform, and energize the Church's faithful witness to the God revealed in Scripture. These passages can do so as the Church proclaims God as the creator and affirms the goodness of God's creation, which includes the dignity of every human being as created in God's image. This affirmation remains vital, not least for the sake of embracing the full humanity of women. The unqualified dignity with which the biblical writer treated both men and women in the account of their creation stands out as quite remarkable in the patriarchal culture in which it was written.⁵⁵

Paul, furthermore, would urge Christians to read the Genesis accounts of creation through the lens of the new creation, which God has promised in Christ, the first fruits of which God has provided by raising Christ from the dead (1 Corinthians 15:20–25). Living into that promise and anticipating its fulfillment, Paul urged the Christians in Galatia to understand their baptism as erasing familiar social and cultural hierarchies: "As many of you as were baptized into Christ have clothed yourselves with Christ. There is no longer Jew or Greek, there is no longer slave or free, there is no longer male and female; for all of you are one in Christ Jesus" (Galatians 3:27–28). Rather than emphasizing the significance of gender, the faithfulness of sexually intimate couples can contribute to the Church's witness to the new life God offers in Christ and through the Spirit, which the Church celebrates in the "sacraments of the new creation." For both same-sex and different-sex couples, then, the theological and moral significance of their covenantal commitment is rooted in the paschal mystery.

As in baptism and eucharist, the covenantal commitments of sexually intimate couples sweep their bodies up into a grand and risky endeavor: to see if they can find their life in God by giving it to another. In these covenants, two people vow to give themselves bodily and wholeheartedly to each other. They do this, in part, to live out the promises of baptism while also living into the self-offering of Christ, as expressed at the eucharistic table: "This is my body, given for you." The lifelong commitment of covenanted couples can, by God's grace, testify to the love of God by signifying Christ and the Church. These commitments can thus evoke for the wider community the very promise of the paschal mystery enacted in baptism and eucharist: we are being drawn deeper into God's own life where we learn that God's love is stronger than death.

Sexually intimate couples can also testify to the love of neighbor by loving each other, a love that requires both time and the sustenance of God's grace. Covenantal couples can model this love, not as a static tableau but as an ongoing school for virtue in which the practices of neighbor-love are developed, reformed, and brought toward perfection. The moral significance of a covenantal relationship is its potential to bring each of the covenant partners up against their embodied limits as finite creatures and to become willing to be vulnerable to another. A covenantal commitment challenges and inspires each partner to self-offering as

⁵³ Johnson, A Time to Embrace, 120.

⁵⁴ Johnson, A Time to Embrace, 114.

⁵⁵ William Stacy Johnson notes, for example, that in ancient Mediterranean society, women were considered human beings but decidedly deficient ones and were therefore rightly subservient to men (A *Time to Embrace*, 275, n.16). Dale B. Martin likewise relates this ancient view of the inferiority of women — as "deficient men" — to the difficulties in translating, let alone interpreting, two Greek words in the New Testament that have been frequently cited regarding homosexuality. Those words appear in 1 Corinthians 6:9 and 1 Timothy 1:10. The words "sodomite" or "homosexual" have appeared in some English translations of those verses, but the meaning of the Greek in both cases is obscure and elusive. Martin believes it likely that these words referred to cultural practices involving sexual exploitation (perhaps including rape) and also effeminate behavior, which for men in that society triggered both alarm and disgust ("*Arsenokoitês* and *Malakos*: Meanings and Consequences," in *Biblical Ethics and Homosexuality: Listening to Scripture*, ed. Robert L. Brawley [Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 1996], 117–36).

⁵⁶ See Dale B. Martin, Sex and the Single Savior: Gender and Sexuality in Biblical Interpretation (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2006), 77–90.

⁵⁷ Among the many sources for this connection between the sacramental life of the Church and the divine promise of the new creation, see Herbert McCabe, *The New Creation* (London: Continuum, 2010), where he refers to the Church's sacraments as "mysteries of human unity" insofar as we are, through the sacraments, being incorporated into the new creation God is bringing about (xii).

each lives out with the other the relation of Christ and the Church (Ephesians 5:21–33). Members of a couple urge each other forward in growth, which occurs through and with the creaturely limitations that Christ took on for our good: the limits of time and the body. Our desires, including our sexual desires, "can be an especially intense and unsettling reminder of our radical availability to the other. Like parental affection or simple compassion, sexual desire can cause our heart to 'belong' to another. ... This desire shatters any illusions we may have regarding our ability to choose when and if we shall be connected to others; indeed, it is itself a warrant for the claim that our fundamental relation to one another is one of connection." ⁵⁸

Giving ourselves to another, as Christ gave himself for the world, takes time and the willingness to risk the vulnerability inherent to the commitment of love. The movement of sexual desire toward intimacy and into commitment begins as we give ourselves over to another in faithful relation and continues toward the final moment of committal, surrendering our lives to God. This movement describes a lifelong, deliberate process that, with obedience and faithfulness, produces visible holiness and the fruits of the Spirit. Both for the good of the couple and for the good of the Church, God blesses this loving, intimate commitment. This blessing, in turn, empowers the couple for their ministry in the world and energizes the Church for mission.

Mutual Blessing and Fruitfulness

As Christians, all of our relationships — as single people, in households, as intimate couples — are occasions to live more fully into our Baptismal Covenant and to participate more deeply in the paschal mystery of Christ's death and resurrection enacted at the eucharistic table. The commitment we exhibit in our relationships — to love our neighbor as we love ourselves and as God loves each of us in Christ — thus becomes a source of blessing for the whole Church.

This broad framework of covenantal relationship for the Church's life offers a way to reflect on the significance of the many types of covenants with which the Church is blessed — in ordination, monastic vows, marriage, and also in same-sex relationships. The blessing of any relationship is a blessing not only for those in a relationship but also and equally for the wider community in which the relationship is lived. This mutual blessing is exhibited in many ways, not least by enabling those engaged in such relationships to manifest the fruits of the Spirit (Galatians 5:22–23), which they might not have done apart from the relationship. Discerning the gifts of the Spirit in a relationship is one reason a faith community blesses that relationship.

In addition, pronouncing a blessing can become an important occasion for deepening the process of sanctification. Many couples desire this — and they need it. God can use the vulnerability of intimacy and the giving of ourselves to another to expose our weaknesses, make us better, set us apart, and spur our moral growth. The Church in turn can witness to the sanctifying work of the Spirit as God transforms the energy of eros into the virtues of faith, hope, and love.

A blessing changes a couple as they become more aware of God's grace and are commissioned by the Church to bear witness to the paschal mystery. A blessing changes the Church as well: holiness of life is made more manifest, so the community becomes accountable for supporting the couple as they grow into the sanctifying work of the Spirit.

Entering into a covenant of faithfulness with another human being is one among many ways Christians live out their baptismal calling in the world. As covenantal households are shaped by lives given over to service, compassion, generosity, and hospitality, the grace encountered at the eucharistic table is further manifested in the world. Thus, the fruitfulness of covenantal relationships and the blessings they offer to the Church belong to the mission of the Church in its ongoing witness to the gospel of Jesus Christ and our hope of union with God. This is the very source of our desire for communion with another.

STANDING COMMISSION ON LITURGY AND MUSIC

⁵⁸ Thomas Breidenthal, "Sanctifying Nearness," in Theology and Sexuality: Classic and Contemporary Readings, ed. Eugene F. Rogers, Jr. (Oxford: Blackwell, 2002), 345.

4. The Church's Challenge: Christian Unity and Biblical Interpretation

O God the Father of our Lord Jesus Christ, our only Savior, the Prince of Peace:
Give us grace seriously to lay to heart the great dangers we are in by our unhappy divisions; take away all hatred and prejudice, and whatever else may hinder us from godly union and concord; that, as there is but one Body and one Spirit, one hope of our calling, one Lord, one Faith, one Baptism, one God and Father of us all, so we may be all of one heart and of one soul, united in one holy bond of truth and peace, of faith and charity, and may with one mind and one mouth glorify thee; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

— "For the Unity of the Church," BCP, 818

Christian unity with God and one another in Christ is a precious gift; likewise, our differences as believers are gifts to be honored because these differences belong to God's created order. Through these gifts we are equipped for "building up the body of Christ, until all of us come to the unity of the faith and of the knowledge of the Son of God" (Ephesians 4:12–13).

The Book of Common Prayer (1979) encourages Episcopalians to pray for Christian unity by recalling the Pauline letter to the Ephesians. This letter reminds us that our bonds of affection are rooted not in our own efforts but in God's gracious gift in baptism. There is but one Body and one Lord. There is but one baptism, by which we are joined — heart, soul, and mind — to one another (Ephesians 4:5). Most of all, as the prayer quoted above reminds us, this baptismal unity serves the Christian call to praise and glorify God.

In baptism, God binds us to God's own self by binding us to others who are different from us, linking our salvation inextricably to the salvation of others. Furthermore, the divine gift of unity in no way relies on uniformity. We are not united, one to the other, because we agree but because God has joined us together. The bond we share in baptism makes room for us to disagree with one another within the bonds of affection we share as members of God's own household of love and grace. We enact this unity by continuing "in the apostles' teaching and fellowship, in the breaking of bread, and in the prayers." We cannot live into this gift on our own, but with "sighs too deep for words," the Spirit "helps us in our weakness" (Romans 8:26). The Spirit slowly takes, offers, and transforms all the prayers of those who disagree with one another to make them occasions to manifest the Body of Christ more visibly in the world and in the Church as well. In this ongoing process of sanctification, we proclaim that we are marked as Christ's own forever as members of the Body of Christ. This foundational reality of our shared life sends us out to the world in witness to Christ's reconciling love. Christ's reconciling love.

The challenges in making God's gift of unity more and more visible appear, for example, within the New Testament concerning the divisions in the Corinthian church (1 Corinthians 3:1–9), in Paul's reminder to the Romans that the body includes many diverse members (Romans 12:3–8), and perhaps most notably in Paul's baptism of non-Jews, which caused a debate with Peter over how to interpret their inherited Scriptures. Paul recounts this disagreement in his letter to the Galatians (2:2–21). Peter's vision (Acts 10:9–16) prior to

⁵⁹ See Thomas E. Breidenthal, "Communion as Disagreement," in *Gays and the Future of Anglicanism*: Responses to the Windsor Report, ed. Andrew Linzey and Richard Kirker (Ropley, UK: O Books, 2005), 188–198.

⁶⁰ "The Baptismal Covenant," BCP, 304.

⁶¹ The centrality of baptism in our common life has been championed by a series of Anglican leaders, starting with Thomas Cranmer and including F. D. Maurice and William Reed Huntington. As Paul Avis describes it, Anglican ecclesiology depends on the insistence that "what unites us to Christ [that is, baptism] is all that is necessary to unite us, sacramentally, to each other" (*The Identity of Anglicanism: Essentials of Anglican Ecclesiology* [London: T&T Clark, 2007], 111).

⁶² On baptismal ecclesiology, see Weil, A Theology of Worship, 22–28.

encountering Cornelius, a Roman centurion, and interacting with other Gentiles, moved him to declare that no one should be called "profane or unclean" (Acts 10:28), and to urge his fellow apostles not to withhold the water of baptism from those who had received the Holy Spirit just as they had (Acts 10:47). The inclusion of Gentiles who did not observe dietary laws within the household of the God of Israel overturned centuries of biblical interpretation.

Throughout the Church's history, Christians have endeavored to follow that apostolic practice of prayerful deliberation in the light of Scripture and to discern the will of God — "what is good and acceptable and perfect" (Romans 12:2) — in each new time and place. As the Body of Christ, our fundamental call is to live together not only when we agree in our discernment but also when the Spirit leads faithful Christians to hold more than one view. Different interpretations of Scripture are possible, provided they lead us to love God and one another. ⁶³

General Convention Resolution 2009-Co56 acknowledges differences of opinion within The Episcopal Church concerning the interpretation of Scripture and same-sex relationships. This theological resource has presented interpretations of some of the most difficult of these biblical passages to support the covenants of same-sex couples while understanding that some members of The Episcopal Church continue to hear the word of the Lord differently in these passages. All of us have more to learn from Scripture and from each other. The Spirit baptizes us all in the name of Jesus, who is himself the Word of God and the Lord of Scripture. In faithfulness to Christ, we acknowledge and respect those differences among us in our fervent hope that disagreements over this biblical material need not divide the Church. Anglican Christians, along with Christians in many other communions and historical eras, have discovered in ever new ways how the grace of God in Christ offers a path toward unity even in the midst of profound disagreement.

Our disagreements today belong in the context of the agreement we do enjoy concerning biblical interpretation: the saving love and grace of God in Christ call us to be a holy people, living in faithfulness and treating the human body as the temple of the Holy Spirit as we endeavor, with God's help, to fulfill our baptismal vows to "seek and serve Christ in all persons," loving our neighbors as ourselves, to "strive for justice and peace among all people," and to "respect the dignity of every human being." In such agreement, the love with which we treat each other is to be modeled on the love of God for God's people, as well as on the life and ministry of Jesus himself.

Scripture offers little material that would address modern notions of sexual orientation, and biblical writers devoted relatively little attention to questions of same-sex relations. Biblical scholars are divided regarding the translation and interpretation of the texts most often cited on this question. ⁶⁷ Some maintain that these texts unequivocally forbid same-sex relationships; others argue that these texts do not refer to same-sex

⁶³ Augustine of Hippo believed that the command in Genesis to "increase and multiply" (1:22, 28) applied not only to the procreation of children but also to the proliferation of textual meanings of Scripture. Augustine also believed that there were limits to multiple interpretations: no interpretation of Scripture could be considered ethically Christian if it violated the commandment to love God and one's neighbor. See Dale B. Martin, *Pedagogy of the Bible*: An Analysis and Proposal (Louisville: Westminster John Knox Press, 2008), 59, 83–84.

⁶⁴ Rowan Williams has noted, for example, that writers in our shared Anglican history have often turned to "a theologically informed and spiritually sustained *patience*" as Anglican Christianity continues to grow and change. These writers, Williams says, "do not expect human words to solve their problems rapidly, they do not expect the Bible to yield up its treasures overnight. … They know that as Christians they live among immensities of meaning, live in the wake of a divine action which defies summary explanation. They take it for granted that the believer is always learning (*Anglican Identities* [Cambridge, MA: Cowley Publications, 2003], 7).

⁶⁵ While the Church's history is replete with many such examples, for illustrations from Anglican history, see William L. Sachs, *The Transformation of Anglicanism: From State Church to Global Communion* (Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 1993), esp. chap. 4, "The Struggle to Define the Church and its Belief," 120–63.

⁶⁶ "The Baptismal Covenant," BCP, 305.

⁶⁷ Those texts are Genesis 1–2, Genesis 19, Leviticus 18:22 and 20:13, Romans 1, 1 Corinthians 6:9, 1 Timothy 1:10, and Jude 7.

relationships as we understand them today and that each text must be interpreted within its own historical and literary contexts.⁶⁸

Similar disagreements over biblical interpretation have marked the Church's life throughout its history. Faithful Christians struggled for centuries to understand whether Scripture encouraged a view of vowed religious life as a higher calling than marriage. Churches have disagreed over the biblical condemnation of "usury," which originally meant charging interest on loaned money, and whether it applies to contemporary economic systems. Protestant reformers disagreed about biblical interpretations of the eucharist and even whether particular biblical books ought to remain in the canon of Scripture. English reformers wrestled with differing biblical views concerning liturgical vestments, Church music, the relationship between Church and state, sacramental theology, and the role of ordained ministers.⁶⁹

The Episcopal Church has struggled with how to interpret Scripture amid cultural change, whether concerning economic reform, divorce and remarriage, or contraception. The practice of slavery and the role of women are two areas in which major departures from the biblical text have been especially controversial. Christians, including Episcopalians, in the 19th century used the Bible extensively to justify the institution of slavery, particularly in the United States. In 1863, for example, Presiding Bishop John Henry Hopkins of Vermont published a paper called "Bible View of Slavery," which defended slavery as "fully authorized both in the Old and New Testament," defining it as "servitude for life, descending to the offspring."

The struggle to ordain women in The Episcopal Church also involved deep conflicts over biblical interpretation. Supporters of women's ordination based their arguments on the gospel's promise of freedom and wholeness for all, while opponents believed that the maleness of the disciples named in the New Testament established an unalterable tradition of male priesthood.⁷³

The Episcopal Church eventually changed its positions regarding slavery and the ordination of women. The diversity of approaches to Scripture in both cases made these decisions contentious. Serious questions continue to be posed about how we understand the authority of Scripture, not only concerning slavery and the status of women but also, now, same-sex relationships. All three of these issues have threatened to divide the Church. No one today would justify the institution of slavery, but the worldwide Anglican Communion continues to live with disagreement about ordaining women and blessing same-sex relationships. With previous generations of the faithful who struggled in similar ways, our present disagreements need not compromise our shared witness to the good news of God in Christ as we look toward that day when our partial knowledge will be complete (1 Corinthians 13:12) and when God will be "all in all" (1 Corinthians 15:28).

The hope we share for that day of final fulfillment in Christ does not thereby erase the challenge of living into God's gracious gift of unity today. For most Christians, this means noting carefully the limits of acceptable

⁶⁸ An overview of these positions appears in an issue of the Anglican Theological Review devoted to same-sex marriage; it offers "two interpretations of doctrinal and scriptural faithfulness that fundamentally disagree" (Ellen T. Charry, "Preface," Anglican Theological Review 93:1 [Winter 2011]: xiv). The two major essays in this issue of the journal originated as a project commissioned in spring 2008 by the House of Bishops of the Episcopal Church, to be overseen by the Theology Committee of the House of Bishops.

⁶⁹ For a history of the various ways the Church has read difficult biblical passages, see John L. Thompson, Reading the Bible with the Dead: What You Can Learn from the History of Exegesis That You Can't Learn from Exegesis Alone (Grand Rapids: Eerdmans Publishing Company, 2007).

⁷⁰ For an overview of challenges in biblical interpretation for a wide range of ethical concerns in The Episcopal Church, see Robert E. Hood, Social Teachings in the Episcopal Church (Harrisburg: Morehouse Publishing, 1990).

⁷¹ Stephen R. Haynes, Noah's Curse: The Biblical Justification of American Slavery (New York: Oxford University Press, 2002).

⁷² John Henry Hopkins, "Bible View of Slavery," Papers from the Society for the Diffusion of Political Knowledge, no. 8 (1863): 132, 117; see also John Henry Hopkins, A Scriptural, Ecclesiastical, and Historical View of Slavery, From the Days of the Patriarch Abraham, to the Nineteenth Century (New York: W. I. Pooley and Co., 1864), 6.

⁷³ Pamela W. Darling, New Wine: The Story of Women Transforming Leadership and Power in the Episcopal Church (Cambridge, MA: Cowley Publications, 1994), 149.

differences; beyond those limits, the claim to Christian unity would prove difficult if not impossible. The challenge, then, is not whether limits to our differences exist, but how to discern when we have crossed those limits, and over what kinds of questions (whether doctrinal, moral, or liturgical, for example) we may hold differing beliefs and still remain in communion.⁷⁴ In the debate over same-sex relationships and biblical interpretation, Anglican Christians have disagreed about this process of discernment. Some Episcopalians have concluded that blessing such relationships goes beyond the limits of acceptable difference, and, acting on their conscience, they have parted company with The Episcopal Church, while others who disagree have chosen to remain. Our Church will continue to live with varying approaches to Scripture on this question.

At a pivotal moment among early believers, recorded in Acts 15, the possibility of including Gentiles in the Christian family sparked considerable controversy. The importance of this historical moment today lies not in the first-century differences between Jews and Gentiles but in the process of prayerful deliberation those early believers adopted. Facing the real possibility of irreparable division, the apostles sought a way to honor the centrality of Scripture while also attending carefully to the ongoing movement of the Spirit in their midst.

The Acts of the Apostles recounts that certain believers from the sect of the Pharisees were insisting that men could not be saved unless they were circumcised and kept the law of Moses (Acts 15:5). As the apostles and elders in Jerusalem considered this question, Peter (who had been persuaded by Paul's point of view) confirmed the work of the Holy Spirit among the Gentiles: "God, who knows the human heart, testified to them by giving them the Holy Spirit, just as he did to us; and in cleansing their hearts by faith he has made no distinction between them and us" (Acts 15:8–9). James considered this testimony and concluded that the Spirit's work urged a reconsideration of Scripture and an expansion of the gospel's reach to include Gentiles (Acts 15:13–21).

Acts 15 stands among other key biblical moments in which God's people have found their vision broadened to see a new thing God is bringing about (Isaiah 43:18–21), their assumptions challenged by the outpouring of God's Spirit where they had not expected it (Numbers 11:26–29; Joel 2:28), and the startling first fruits of God's new creation in raising Jesus Christ from the dead (1 Corinthians 15:20–25). These biblical turning points, in themselves, will not settle today's disagreements, yet they urge the same apostolic process of prayerful deliberation: reliance on the centrality of Scripture while attending carefully to the Spirit's work in our midst.⁷⁵

The Episcopal Church listened closely to the Spirit concerning slavery and the ordination of women. We are summoned today to listen to the narratives of sanctification and holiness within the relationships of same-sex couples and to discern and testify to the work of God in their lives. As we listen, we trust in that Spirit who, as Jesus promised, will lead us further into truth (John 16:13), praying as Christ himself did for our unity with each other in God (John 17:11) and blessing God for God's abundant goodness in Christ so that, with Paul, we may share more fully in the blessings of the gospel (1 Corinthians 9:23).

⁷⁴ For observations concerning matters that are essential to Christian life and those over which we may have legitimate differences of opinion, see *To Set Our Hope on Christ*, 49–52.

⁷⁵ See Stephen E. Fowl, "How the Spirit Reads and How to Read the Spirit," in Engaging Scripture: A Model for Theological Interpretation (Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishing, 1998), 97–127; Jeffrey S. Siker, "How to Decide? Homosexual Christians, the Bible, and Gentile Inclusion," Theology Today 51:2 (July 1994): 219–34; and Rogers, Jesus, the Bible, and Homosexuality, 89–90.

Responses to "Faith, Hope, and Love"

a. Thomas E. Breidenthal

Thomas E. Breidenthal is the Bishop of the Episcopal Diocese of Southern Ohio.

In "Faith, Hope, and Love: Theological Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships," the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music offers a thoughtful reflection on what the Church is saying and doing when it blesses a same-sex union. The argument can be summarized as follows: (1) the Church blesses moral practices that make for holiness; (2) holiness is conformation to the mission of God; (3) the mission of God is reconciliation between God and us, and between us and one another; (4) this boils down to love of God and love of neighbor; (5) faithful, monogamous same-sex unions are good incubators of this love; (6) therefore in blessing these unions the Church sees and affirms a moral practice that makes for holiness. What we are doing is invoking God's favor to develop a couple's capacity for love of God and neighbor and to empower them for mission.

Commendably, the Standing Commission insists that blessed unions are not a private affair, but are accountable to the Christian community as a whole. The essay notes that this is true for "different-sex" couples as well, though they might "likewise find this to be a new way of thinking about their own marital vows" (III.3). Also, it invites us to approach same-sex unions in the wider context of Christian householding, thus reminding us that intentional communities (monastic and otherwise), as well as the single life, can form us for God's mission. That mission, defined as reconciliation, is firmly grounded both in the Trinity and in our own need and capacity for community, "created in the Trinitarian image of God, an image that is inherently relational" (III.3). That image is perfected in Jesus, in whom the self-giving and eternal love of the divine persons is played out in Christ's death and resurrection on our behalf. We are most in sync with God and with our God-given nature when we give our life for another, and we understand the paschal mystery — what Jesus' death and resurrection accomplished — when we give our life to another and receive it back restored and transformed. Finally, "Faith, Hope, and Love" makes clear connections between self-giving and the Church's two main sacraments. Baptism unites us with Christ in his death and resurrection, and the eucharist sustains our union with him through a lifetime of schooling in love.

Still, this essay raises several concerns. Most importantly, the underlying argument is obscured and sometimes contradicted by undue emphasis on the preexisting goodness of the unions that we bless. The essay rightly seeks to ground Christian householding in the eucharistic pattern of the Christian life, but in so doing seems at times to blur the distinction between this ground and the practices which it supports: "[The] eucharistic pattern — often described with the actions take, bless, break, and give — shapes all the relationships that we bring into our baptismal life with God. We take these relationships, bless God for their goodness, ask God to bless them and break them open further to divine grace, so that we may give them to the world as witnesses to the gospel of Jesus Christ" (III.3). This and other such statements are true taken on their own, but in combination with the claim that blessed unions are set apart just as the eucharistic bread is set apart, they convey a cumulative impression that these unions function primarily as vehicles of grace for a needy world. I do not dispute that this is a hoped-for by-product of all Christian householding, but I am not sure we should view it as its goal. As the essay itself says, the purpose of a covenanted relationship

is to help two people learn how to love each other as Christ loves us. For most of us sinners, this is accomplishment enough, and it is for the grace to achieve such love for one person in one lifetime that couples come seeking a blessing from the Church. This is not to say that a sustained commitment to love another person completely does not mediate grace to onlookers. But it is a grace made perfect in weakness (2 Cor. 12:9). It is as sinners that we enter into sacred unions, and it is only in expectation of God's sanctifying grace that we dare to call them sacred.

There is no doubt that the authors of "Faith, Hope, and Love" agree with this, since they speak of the grace required to fulfill the purpose of a covenanted union: "The Church prays for the divine grace and favor the couple will need to live into their commitment to each other with love, fidelity, and holiness of life" (III.1). Yet, strikingly, help with temptation and sin is never included among the benefits of being blessed. Thus one comes across sentences like this: "Members of a couple urge each other forward in growth, which occurs through and with the creaturely limitations that Christ took on for our good: the limits of time and the body" (III.3). What is left out here is the condition of fallen humanity that Christ did not take on, namely our sinfulness. It is our sinfulness that makes us dangerous to one another, and renders every union risky. Surely it is with this riskiness in mind that same-sex couples come seeking God's aid and the Church's support. Although the Standing Commission's essay acknowledges that dynamic, it clearly takes a backseat to a different, problematic message: the Church's blessing is first and foremost the recognition of goodness already present. I understand that impulse. We want to right the balance and repent of our old derision — or at best, our toleration — of faithful same-sex couples in our midst. It is also probably the case that since most couples coming forward for a blessing have been together for a long time, the Church experiences its act of blessing as long-overdue recognition and approval. Most of the couples that now come seeking a blessing have a long history of faithful struggle together, and many have long been vehicles of grace to those around them. But this season will soon be past, and we will see increasing numbers of gay and lesbian couples, many of them young adults, who, like their heterosexual counterparts, really are just now making the move from trial or experiment to mutual commitment. As that reality is borne in upon us, we will need to reemphasize a major element of blessing that "Faith, Hope, and Love" downplays. In blessing any covenanted union, the Church invokes God's grace to bring to fruition a holy intention rendered fragile by inexperience and sin.

This leads me to a larger question about the Church's approach to sexual morality in general. The Standing Commission does not address this topic, nor was it asked to do so. Yet their discussion of same-sex blessings begs that question, since, as I have already noted, they refer to blessed unions as being set apart: "The blessing of the eucharistic table sets us apart as the Body of Christ in the world, called and empowered to proclaim the gospel, just as the blessing of a covenantal relationship sets that relationship apart as 'a sign of Christ's love to this sinful and broken world" (III.2, with reference to BCP, 429). In so doing, the Commission intends to stress that covenanted relationships are ordered to a specific vocation, namely, to draw others to the saving work of Christ. I agree with that intention, but I do not think we should talk about these unions being set apart. Such language suggests that lifelong unions are not necessarily the norm for sexual partners, but a particular vocation taken on by a few. To be "set apart" implies being distinguished from a group that is both normative and entirely acceptable. The obvious analogy is to clergy, who are set apart for specific ministries within the Church. Here the laypersons comprise the normative group and clergy are the exception. Yet, though our expectations of the two groups may differ somewhat, the same Baptismal Covenant obligates both. A less obvious analogy, but one central to "Faith, Hope, and Love," is to the bread set apart for the eucharist. All bread is the good work of human hands, but we set some aside to become the Body of Christ. In each case, out of something of positive value — the people of God and the bread of human labor — a part is extracted for a particular purpose to serve the Church as a whole. "Faith, Hope, and Love" suggests that as the eucharistic bread is set apart and blessed, so a covenanting couple that is blessed is set apart. But set apart from whom? Clearly, from couples who have not committed to lifelong faithful monogamy. It is not so clear how we are to regard this other, supposedly larger and normative group. If we go with the relation of laity to clergy, or of ordinary to eucharistic bread, then we imply that there is nothing amiss with couples who do not intend to be faithful and monogamous. They are like good Catholics in the heyday of religious orders who chose marriage over celibacy. Do we intend to draw a similarly benign contrast between sexually involved couples who intend lifelong monogamous fidelity and those who do not? Have we abandoned the principle that sex should *ordinarily* go hand in hand with commitment to permanence, however much we may fall short of that ideal? If that is the case, we should admit it. If it is not the case, we need to say so.

Perhaps I am objecting to the language of this document because theological statements can and do generate ancillary questions. Here's one about the eucharist, which has a bearing on the discussion so far. Why does "Faith, Hope, and Love" refer constantly to the blessing of bread and wine in the eucharist, and not, as is more usual in our tradition, to their consecration? The essay repeatedly refers to the blessing of the eucharistic bread and wine, and, quoting 1 Corinthians 10:16, to "the cup of blessing that we bless" (see III.2 and III.3). It goes on to point out that the Great Thanksgiving is deeply rooted in the Jewish understanding of blessing. To bless something is to bless God who made it, and in so doing to reveal its essential goodness as coming from God's hands. All this is true, and its bearing on what it means to bless anything is obvious. But to restrict the eucharistic action to blessing diminishes it. We do not merely set the elements of bread and wine apart for a sacred purpose. Having thanked God, we invoke the Holy Spirit to make Christ present to us in them. "The cup of blessing that we bless, is it not" (to complete Paul's phrase) "a communion in the blood of Christ?" By the Spirit the elements are changed; they become Christ for us. By the same Spirit we are made Christ's body — the exodus body into which we are incorporated in baptism. There is a reason why the Book of Common Prayer refers to this transformation as consecration, not blessing (BCP, 408). To bless is, indeed, to acknowledge something good and to commend it to God's use. By contrast, to consecrate is to set something apart in the expectation that something essential about it will be changed. We believe that the elements of bread and wine become the body and the blood of Christ. As Anglicans, we refrain from explicating that change further (transubstantiation? consubstantiation? real presence?), but we do insist on the change. This is why the eucharistic action is not only anamnesis (a recalling of what God has done for us), but requires epiclesis, going beyond the Jewish prayer of blessing to ask the Father to send the Holy Spirit upon the bread and wine that they may become Christ for us.

I draw attention to this distinction between blessing and consecration, not only because it has a bearing on our understanding of the eucharist, but because it has a bearing on our understanding of the Church's blessing of sexual unions. We reserve the term "consecration" for change which effects union with Christ, whether of the eucharistic elements or the gathered Church, or, secondarily, as a synonym for ordination, understood as a setting apart to represent the Church as the Body of Christ. It is in union with Christ that the Church blesses. Christ's "This is my body" at the last supper, which anticipates his self-offering on the cross, also goes beyond the Jewish blessing. In addition to blessing his Father, and so acknowledging the bread and wine as coming from his hand, Jesus gives himself to us. In so doing he bestows life, healing, power, protection, comfort, and direction on us. This bestowal is the fullness of what Christians mean by a blessing. Christ's offering of himself cannot be understood apart from its Jewish ground — gratitude to God for gifts received in right relation to God — but it goes beyond this ground to stand in identification with God as God's Word, both to bestow the gifts of the Spirit and to cooperate with the Spirit in its work.

So blessing is, first and foremost, Christ's blessing. This is a blessing poured out on sinners from the cross. It is only in the acknowledgment of our sin that we can receive this blessing thankfully. But when we do receive it thankfully, we enter into communion with Christ, because we own his death for us and, in thankful response, are moved to spend the rest of our lives dying to sin. This is why Paul says that the cup of blessing is a communion in the blood of Christ. Our thanksgiving — that is, our blessing of God — comes at the price of repentance and loss. It is when our thanksgiving passes through that narrow door that our offering is accepted and returned to us as holy, bringing us into the presence of our risen Savior and transforming us into his Body. Here, and only here, can we speak properly of the Church as offering its own or God's blessing to anyone. The Church blesses as the Body of Christ, but does so as a Body redeemed from sin — a joyful Body, to be sure, but a chastened and humbled Body, too. We are always sinners blessing sinners.

This sensibility is discernible at various points in "Faith, Hope, and Love," but its various elements never quite coalesce. Once again, my hunch is that its authors were avoiding any suggestion that people in same-sex unions struggle with sin, lest they expose such unions once again to being singled out as especially sinful. I acknowledge the charity at play here. But in the long run we gain ground only if, for same-sex or heterosexual unions, a clear line is drawn from sin to repentance, from repentance to grace, from grace to thanksgiving.

b. John E. Goldingay

John E. Goldingay is the David Allan Hubbard Professor of Old Testament at Fuller Theological Seminary in Pasadena, California, and priest-in-charge of St. Barnabas Church, Pasadena.

When I lived in England, I knew quite well two women who had lived together for most of their adult lives. I have reason to think it was a celibate relationship, but I have no basis for knowing whether they felt any sexual attraction. I can imagine them giving each other a kiss or a hug before they went to bed each night in their separate bedrooms. I might call their relationship quasi-covenantal; in their latter years, one of them had a stroke, and the other looked after her and continued to make it possible for them to share a church involvement and to take holidays together. The one on whom fell the major responsibility for caring once commented wryly on the similarity of her situation and mine, because I had a similar responsibility for my disabled wife.

It has been instructive for me to reflect on the "faith, hope, and love" expressed in that relationship, and I could be glad to pray for God's blessing on it — indeed, I probably did so. I am sad that it is harder nowadays for such relationships to happen and to flourish without their being imagined to be something else.

Most of the essay on "Faith, Hope, and Love" comprises helpful reminders on the Church's mission, on blessing, on covenant, and on unity. But how far do these reminders apply to the blessing of same-sex relationships (with the connotations this phrase has in our culture)? The essay refers to the earlier study commissioned by the House of Bishops, which issued in a report outlining a "liberal" and a "traditionalist" position regarding same-sex relationships. I was a member of the traditionalist group within the task force that produced the study. "Faith, Hope, and Love" goes with the liberal position, as it must if it is to provide support for the development of resources for the blessings of same-sex relationships. My comments here, therefore, largely restate aspects of the traditionalist position.

First, the biblical arguments. To begin with, let us agree that Genesis 18–19 is irrelevant in light of the fact that no one is arguing for the kind of sexual relationships described there. On the other hand, one might note that Scripture does speak of same-sex relationships, such as those between Naomi and Ruth and between David and Jonathan, that offer models for thinking about relationships like that between my two friends. (It has of course been speculated that the two biblical relationships were same-sex relationships in our sense, but the stories offer no pointer to that possibility — and the Old Testament does not shy away from referring to sex when it is a significant aspect of a narrative; further, it is unlikely that the books describing these relationships would have envisaged that possibility, or that the books would have found acceptance into the canon of Scripture on that hypothesis.)

The arguments that Genesis 1–2 need not imply a validation of heterosexual relationships alone are not convincing. Genesis 1 talks about male and female in connection with the fulfillment of God's purpose in creation and the fruitfulness of humankind. Humanity's blessing and proliferation though heterosexual relationships is implied in the creation of male and female. The traditionalist document quotes Anglican biblical scholar Gordon Wenham, writing on Genesis: "Here then we have a clear statement of the divine purpose of marriage: positively, it is for the procreation of children; negatively, it is a rejection of the ancient

oriental fertility cults."¹ Genesis 2:24 is explicitly about heterosexual marriage: "Therefore a man leaves his father and his mother and clings to his wife, and they become one flesh." While "one flesh" may suggest more than their sexual relationship, it hardly means less. Further, one reason why it is not good for the man to be alone is that he cannot generate children. He needs help if he is to do so. Procreation is integral to marriage's purpose, and is the reason why marriage involves a man and a woman. So the centerpiece in the vision of human marriage in Genesis is not intimacy, relationship, or romance, but family. The man and the woman will be the means and context in which the family will grow so as to serve God and the land. This point in itself does not exclude same-sex marriages, but it does not point to their being an equally valid option.

In Romans 1, sexual relationships between people of the same sex are an expression of human waywardness and of the rejection of the truth, and a result of God's wrath operating in the world. It is important to note that Paul sees such relationships as a *result* of God's wrath operating against sin in the world, not a *cause* of that wrath. Heterosexual people are as much implicated in this waywardness (not least in our sexual relationships) as people involved in same-sex relationships, which is reason for us to identify with our brothers and sisters involved in same-sex relationships, not to repudiate or shame them.

First Corinthians 6:9–11 and 1 Timothy 1:10 offer lists of people who will not inherit the kingdom of God, lists that include people involved in homosexual behavior and people who are greedy, rebellious, and guilty of certain other sins. The lists do not look as if they are intended to be comprehensive and do not imply that a distinctive shame attaches to that particular sin. Both passages use the term *arsenokoitai*, which denotes men who lie with another man as with a woman. It echoes the proscription in Leviticus, and thus suggests that the New Testament understands Leviticus to be proscribing a practice that was more than a matter of purity and impurity. First Corinthians 6:9 also use the word *malakoi*, a term in Hellenistic Greek for someone who is the passive partner in a same-sex relationship. The use of both terms undermines the argument that these passages are especially concerned with pederasty.

On the basis of its study of such passages, the traditionalist argument in the report to the House of Bishops concluded, "The one-flesh pattern of heterosexual marriage in Genesis was the background for the descriptions of sinful behavior in the letters to Timothy, to the Corinthians, and to the Romans. Because homosexual behavior was more common in the Greco-Roman world, there was a need to update and expand the list of actions contrary to the Decalogue by including homosexual behavior along with theft, adultery, and so on." It would be more realistic to infer that the Scriptures' perspective on this subject is limited than to infer that our culture enables us to clarify its meaning as being open to affirming same-sex relationships.

Second, the question of mission and context. In the world as it was designed "from the beginning," marriage involved the lifelong commitment of one man and one woman as the context for raising a family. At least four forms of relationship come one point short of that vision: polygamy; marriage that avoids having children; marriage in which one person has a still-living divorced partner; and same-sex relationships.

To express the matter thus is not to imply that all of these four forms of relationship have the same theological or ethical status, but I find it helpful to see that there is a partial analogy between them. Within my own extended family and circle of friends are marriages that involve a partner whose former spouse is still living, a marriage where the couple has avoided having children, people who are in same-sex relationships, and someone who comes from a polygamous marriage. I would like to be able to seek God's blessing on such marriages and relationships, but I am unclear in what sense I can do so, as I could for the couple I described at the beginning of this response to the essay.

¹ Quoted in John E. Goldingay, Grant R. LeMarquand, George R. Sumner, and Daniel A. Westberg, "Same-Sex Marriage and Anglican Theology: A View from the Traditionalists," *Anglican Theological Review* 93:1 (Winter 2011): 24–25.

² "A View from the Traditionalists," 27.

Two of those four forms of union appear in Scripture; two do not. I find it helpful to look at the two that do not appear in light of the way Scripture speaks of the two that do.

Jesus explicitly discusses divorce, and provides the helpful insight into the Torah that the Torah deals with both the ideal world (how things were from the beginning) and how things are in the world we know, where human hardness of heart is a reality. Deuteronomy's acceptance of divorce belongs in the latter category. Jesus does not bring a new standard of his own to the question, but affirms the visionary standard within the Torah. Elsewhere, he describes the entirety of the Torah and the Prophets as an outworking of love for God and love for one's neighbor, and one can see how this description applies to the Deuteronomic rule that presupposes divorce. Marriages do break down, and in a traditional society women may then be in an especially vulnerable position. The rule about giving a woman divorce papers is an expression of love that offers them some protection.

The Torah and the Prophets also acknowledge the practice of polygamy. They implicitly recognize problems polygamy can solve; they certainly portray problems it can generate. They do not explicitly say that it stands in tension with the creation vision for marriage, but this inference seems plausible. I can imagine Jesus taking a similar view of polygamy to the one he takes of divorce.

The Bible does not refer to the committed, covenantal same-sex relationships that are presupposed by our discussion of blessing such relationships, but I take them to have a similar status. They, too, do not correspond to the creation ideal but reflect the reality of human hardness of heart. Paul's comments in Romans encourage us to think not so much in terms of the individual hardness of heart of the people involved in these relationships, but of the hard-heartedness of humanity as a whole.

Considering these four issues together also helps us take into account the sociological and cultural factors involved in our thinking about these relationships, to which the essay refers in the section on mission. On the one hand, 50 years ago divorce was much less common than is now the case, and the Church did not marry divorced people. (As a newly ordained priest in England, I recall initiating the arrangement for a couple's wedding before it transpired that the divorced man was describing himself as a bachelor on the basis that he was no longer married.) Twenty-five years ago, I blessed the marriage of a woman and a man who had been divorced; in England, I could not have done so in a church, but I could in our seminary chapel (the woman is now an archdeacon). In the 21st century, one of my own bishops has commented that she is hesitant about approving a marriage for someone who has been twice-divorced, but she sometimes does so. A big change in attitude and practice to divorce in the Church has come about not because we have studied Scripture and the Church's tradition more, but because of sociological and cultural factors. There are positive and negative aspects to this development.

With regard to same-sex relationships, there are parallel sociological and cultural considerations. One is the general sexualization of U.S. culture. Another is the collapse of the old family structures of which unattached people could be a part (the study's material on household is helpful in this connection). Related is the general assumption that people will be involved in sexual activity, and the apparent quaintness of the idea that it should not be so. Another is the ease with which people of same-sex attraction can engage in sexual activity without thereby earning public disapproval. Another is the increasing legal recognition of same-sex partnerships or marriage in Western countries. A further aspect of the cultural shift is the assumption that marrying someone of the same sex is simply a matter of proper freedom and choice. There is no moral difference between the two forms of relationship. That view also seems obvious to many Christians, who then add that neither is any theological difference involved.

Yet while same-sex relationships thus seem as "natural" to some people as heterosexual relationships seem, the jury is still out on the scientific questions on same-sex relationships, as is noted in the study of "Biological Mechanisms in Homosexuality: A Critical Review" in *The Anglican Communion and Homosexuality*. The

³ David de Pomerai, "Biological Mechanisms in Homosexuality: A Critical Review" in Philip Groves, ed., *The Anglican Communion and Homosexuality: A Resource to Enable Listening and Dialogue* (London: SPCK, 2008), 268–292.

essay's section on mission notes these cultural circumstances in which we take part in God's mission, and in particular the "shift in cultural perspectives" on sexuality. It can be read as implying that we must go along with the cultural shift. Yet there surely can be cultural shifts that we do not go along with. The fact that there is a cultural shift is a fact that we need to take into account, but our mission might be to confront it, not baptize it. One way we might be able to get some perspective on cultural shifts and on our relationship to them is by looking at ourselves from the perspective of people in other cultures, and particularly other churches. We might note the analogy between the way many Western people are appalled by polygamy, while many people in traditional societies are appalled by same-sex relationships or serial monogamy. It is particularly unfortunate that we as a Church do not seek to look at ourselves from other perspectives in this way and can seem simply to assume that we are the enlightened.

Nor does acceptance of same-sex relationships parallel the abolition of slavery, the proscribing of racism, the elimination of woman's subordination, or the acceptance of women's ordination. In each of these areas, there is material in Scripture that explicitly expresses what I have called God's vision as well as material that makes allowance for human hardness of heart. There is nothing in Scripture that expresses a vision for same-sex relationships.

I close with a further adaptation of words from the traditionalist submission to the House of Bishops. The lack of clarity concerning same-sex attraction on the part of biological and social scientists, the wounds in much of the rest of the Anglican Communion caused by our unilateral action, and the apparent implications of Scripture and the Church's tradition all make it hard to see how the essay's useful material on blessing can be applied to same-sex relationships.

I appreciate the fact that the essay itself closes with a challenge concerning Christian unity and biblical interpretation. I know priests who are afraid that the time will come when a bishop will withhold a license from them if they are not prepared to bless same-sex relationships or (in due course) to conduct same-sex marriages. It will be nice if the essay's closing challenge will mean that people who do not accept the Church's new stance on same-sex relationships will not be excluded from its ministry.

c. Deirdre Good

Deirdre Good is professor of New Testament at The General Theological Seminary in New York City.

I thank the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music for their important reflections on the theological resources of the Episcopal Church for same-sex relationships. My invited response simply indicates that I have been, since my marriage to Julian Sheffield in 2008, in a different place. This description of our same-sex marriage service is offered as a contribution to the discussion, as our Church moves toward what I hope will be the recognition and use of a single marriage service for same-sex and different-sex couples.

When we planned our wedding in 2008, it proved strikingly easy to modify a few single words in the Book of Common Prayer's Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage so that two persons of the same sex could administer the sacrament to each other with integrity. Why this was the case is something that bears reflection.

First, the words.

The Book of Common Prayer has the celebrant declare at the outset, "Dearly beloved: We have come together in the presence of God to witness and bless the joining together of this man and this woman in Holy Matrimony." Our wedding service substituted: "Dearly beloved: We have come together in the presence of God to witness and bless the joining together of these women in Holy Matrimony."

The Declaration of Consent is repeated without a change in language: "N., will you have this woman to be your wife ...?"

In the Ministry of the Word, the opening lines of the prayer change from "O gracious and everliving God, you have created us male and female in your image: Look mercifully upon this man and this woman who come to you seeking your blessing," to "O gracious and everliving God, you have created us in your image: Look mercifully upon these women who come to you seeking your blessing." These changes render without distortion the idea that humanity is created in God's image and likeness (Genesis 1:26–27).

Following the vows, instead of the celebrant saying the words, "I now pronounce that they are husband and wife," our priest presiding said, "I now pronounce you married." In our case, in a state that legalized same-sex marriage, this recognized our relationship in both legal and religious spheres.

Second: the possible reasons.

Marriage realizes an order in creation. Here we join with those who state that Christianity is a "deeply material religion," regarding the "knowledge of God as mediated through ... creation." The presence of God in the world is made accessible in the central doctrine of the Incarnation by means of which God is known not simply through experience of the physical world but one in which God becomes part of creation, being born as a human being. Thus God can be known as a person directly. Christianity elevates the dignity of the human person now made to be a participant with God in the safeguarding of the cosmos and in recognition of finitude. As to the creation of humanity and the institution of marriage, we disagree that experience of male/female sexual relations best interprets that order; we think instead that the order of creation is best known within the sanctifying relation of Christ and the Church as *ekklesia* or community (Tyndale: congregation). This is to say that we think the diversity of creation is realized and perfected in the community of Christ. Thus our minimalist modification of the BCP's Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage deemphasizes the male-female or "complementarian" element of the marriage typology while stressing and amplifying the unitive and egalitarian dimension of the Christological analogy or "mystery." This functions to enhance what we have come to recognize and understand as the implicit unitive elements of the service.

We believe marriage is a discipline. The discipline of marriage relies on the difficulty of living with another "in prosperity and adversity" (BCP, 423), not to avoid our faults, but precisely to expose them — so that they can be healed. Nor does the clause "when they hurt each other" included in the prayers (BCP, 429) confine itself to minor slights. Since hurt and acknowledgment — sin and confession — are central to Christian growth and the sacraments, this prayer sets their discipline in the theater of the whole fallen world. What matters in a marriage is not whether the ministers of that marriage to each other are same- or differently-sexed; what matters is that they were separate and they become united. The existing Prayer Book rite does an extraordinarily good job of expressing that uniting for couples of whatever sexual orientation, setting them on the path that will "make their life together a sign of Christ's love to this sinful and broken world, that unity may overcome estrangement, forgiveness heal guilt, and joy conquer despair" (BCP, 429).

d. Dora Rudo Mbuwayesango

Dora Rudo Mbuwayesango is the Iris and George E. Battle Professor of Old Testament at Hood Theological Seminary in Salisbury, North Carolina.

I commend the members of the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music for their dedication and good work in producing for the Church this much-needed resource for the blessing of same-sex relationships. Lesbians and gays have always been accepted by God as part of God's good creation and part of God's redeemed people, and I am glad that the Episcopal Church is now ready to recognize a dawning of the kingdom of God in our time. The essay lays out well why we should have a liturgy for blessing same-sex

⁴ Edward Norman, An Anglican Catechism (New York: Continuum, 2001), 15.

relationships. The following is my humble contribution to the furthering of the conversation that General Convention requested of the Standing Commission.

III.1. The Church's Call: A Focus on Mission

The place of blessings in the mission of the Church is well put: "The public affirmation of the blessing of a covenantal relationship also sets that relationship apart for a sacred purpose: to bear witness to the creating, redeeming, and sustaining love of God." As "Faith, Hope, and Love" affirms in its preface, "Everything we do as Christians is meant to express the Church's call to participate in God's own mission in the world." The missional character of blessing lies in the truth that one is blessed in order to serve.

While it is true that this missional understanding of blessing is located in Scripture, the passages given from the Hebrew Bible do not seem to reflect that point. The witness from the book of Genesis seen in Abraham (12:2b) and Jacob (28:14b) would need to be read through Galatians 3:8, where Paul interprets it to include the extension of blessings to the Gentiles. In the context of Genesis there are two ways to understand these verses. In the first place those other nations' blessings was dependent on their treatment of either Abraham or Jacob. Secondly, Abraham's blessing extends beyond the individual in the sense of its extension to his direct descendants (Gen. 15:12–21; 17:1–8). But passages like Micah 4:1–4 and Isaiah 2:2–4 better demonstrate this missional understanding of blessing: God's grace in elevating Jerusalem/Zion will result in the revelation of God and in greater service to the other nations in the establishment of justice and peace among and within the nations.

Worship and Mission: An Eschatological Vision. Worship equips for mission in the realization of the just reign of God. Rites of blessing by the Church, of which the blessing of covenantal relationships is a part, equip couples with the grace necessary to "make their life together a sign of Christ's love to this sinful and broken world, that unity may overcome estrangement, forgiveness heal guilt, and joy conquer despair" (BCP 429). The Church's vocation is in bringing up the just reign of God. And the just reign of God does not participate in the unjust marginalization of segments of persons who are part of God's creation.

Same-Sex Relationships and the Church's Mission. It is a pity that the Church, in many ways, has been challenged by culture instead of challenging culture in recognizing the humanity of lesbian and gay persons. In fact, Christians have often stood, and in many ways continue to stand, in the way of granting human and civil rights to this important segment of humanity. But I am glad that the Episcopal Church is finally striving to do what the Spirit is leading it to do in affirming same-sex relationships. The many ways that same-sex relationships contribute to the mission of the Church are well presented in this section. But I would like to point to one aspect that has significance on the use of the marriage metaphor for the divine–human relationship. This metaphorical depiction of the divine–human relationship in the biblical texts (particularly in the prophets Hosea, Jeremiah, and Ezekiel) is characterized by an association of divine love, compassion, commitment, and reconciliation with divine wrath and punishment in the form of the rape and mutilation of women. Patriarchy's gender hierarchy and androcentric bias privileged male sexuality in a way that distorted human sexuality in general. And when that metaphor is used to depict the divine–human bond, the image of that bond is also distorted. Same-sex relationships have the potential to model mutuality in sexual relationships, which, in turn, redeems the metaphor of sexual bond for the divine–human covenant relationship: the Church can then celebrate and live up to its identity as the Bride of Christ.

The Challenge of God's Blessings for Mission. A large part of Christ's mission was to expand the horizon of the kingdom of God. The suffering, death, and resurrection of Christ broke geographical and temporal boundaries. During his ministry, Jesus did not limit himself to those who thought they belonged, but made it a point to reach out to those whom others thought did not belong, and he was criticized for it. Jesus went beyond the earlier, limited attempts to expand the horizons: "To the eunuchs who keep my sabbaths, who choose the things that please me and hold fast my covenant, I will give ... an everlasting name that shall not be cut off. And the foreigners who join themselves to the LORD, to minister to him, to love the name of the LORD, and to be his servants ... — these I will bring to my holy mountain, and make them joyful in my house of prayer; their burnt offerings and their sacrifices will be accepted on my altar; for my house shall be called a

house of prayer for all peoples" (Isaiah 56:4–7). Unlike the prophet Isaiah, who advocated for those ready on their own to come, Jesus went out seeking them. Acts 10 shows us how the lessons from the past and the model of Jesus does not make us immune to this shortcoming. But as history as shown us in the development of the Church's traditions, we need the Holy Spirit to continue to nudge us in the right direction every time God reveals a segment of society overlooked and excluded from experiencing the abundance of God's grace in the kingdom of God.

III.2. The Church's Joy: A Theology of Blessing

Same-sex blessings are now part of communal worship — they are outward and visible signs of God's grace. I would like to underscore the fact that "the grace and blessing of God already discerned in a couple's relationship does not thereby render a liturgical rite of blessing redundant." As in the context of holiness depicted in the Torah, God makes holy and the community enact holiness. In the case of holiness, humans do rituals to enact the holiness established by God. So God and people mutually construct holiness — God declares and people enact it through rites.

The extension of the blessing to all nations becomes much more evident in Christ. The references in the Old Testament are problematic especially in Genesis 12:3 and much more limited in Isaiah 56 (see my comment above). Paul's interpretation of Genesis 12:3 makes the ultimate inclusion of all people that is evident in Jesus' ministry and that of the early Church.

Indeed, "baptism and eucharist focus our attention on the particular blessings of the paschal mystery of Christ's death and resurrection." And these blessings then "encourage us to discern the many other ways God's blessing is manifested in both creation and covenant." We do not want to be blind to the potential vehicles for blessings, especially the love and faithfulness of covenantal relationship. As one-sided, abusive, and corrupt as marriage often was in ancient Israel, its focus on faithfulness nonetheless made it a suitable metaphor for the divine–human covenant. In the Old Testament, the wife was considered the property of the husband and thus the wife's faithfulness to her husband was absolute, while the same was not required of the husband. Faithfulness in love is what makes sexual bonds a vehicle for blessings.

I think one of the elements of God's blessings that bears emphasis is the abundance of God's blessing and grace. I am glad that this is very much emphasized in the essay. I think not realizing that abundance was one of the shortcomings of the religious leaders in Jesus' day and continues to be manifested in our day. Jesus demonstrated the abundance of God's blessings in his teachings and actions. In some ways Jesus himself seems to have struggled with that reality, and it may have taken the Canaanite woman's challenge — "Yes, Lord, yet even the dogs eat the crumbs that fall from their masters' table" (Matt. 15:27) — for Jesus to acknowledge the abundance of God's blessings.

III.3. The Church's Life: Covenantal Relationship

Creation, Baptism, and Eucharist. The prophets do use marriage as a metaphor for the bond between God and the people of Israel, but we should take note that most of those uses are tied to judgment. We should also take into consideration the patriarchal nature of marriage that put women in a disadvantaged and subordinate position to men, which is indicated in Ephesians 5:21–33. I believe that same-sex relationships help us to clearly see and demonstrate mutuality in committed sexual relationships because acts of love are not gendered and hierarchal.

Loving Our Neighbor as Ourselves. It is very important and insightful to recognize the concept of hospitality that governed the accounts in Genesis 19 and Judges 19, which is the focus of these stories. Also, the stories are about the gang rape of a male individual and not mutual sexual relationships between consenting individuals. The gang rape of women is not acceptable since Lot's daughters are divinely protected and the rape of the Levite's wife in Judges leads to civil war. Patriarchy and hetero-normativity govern how sexuality is depicted in these narratives and in the biblical narratives as a whole. Hospitality should not be extended only to some parts of humanity but to all humanity, whether female or male, heterosexual or homosexual,

bisexual or transgender. The model of hospitality in these narratives should be critiqued as inadequate. Hospitality extended to all will result in the safety of all.

Called into Covenant. Covenants are lived in community and as Christians the Church is our community, and thus bears witness to individual and communal covenants. The Church then "rightly celebrates these moments of covenantal vocation" and calls us to live in households shaped by "deepening faithful intimacy."

The Vocation of Households. I am appreciative of the attempt to tackle biblical passages that are obscure and yet have been used to support heterosexuality, in opposition to same-sex sexuality. I would like to add that the Bible's construct of sexuality is limited by a concern for procreation and thus ignores all other sexual expressions, whether they are heterosexual or non-heterosexual. In other words, what we have in the Bible is not a definition of sexuality but procreation sexuality, and that makes it a very narrow and limited view of sexuality.

Faithful Intimacy. We need to acknowledge the problems that are found in the biblical use of sexual intimacy to reflect God's relationship with humanity. In the Hebrew Bible, in particular, the metaphor is mostly used by the prophets to depict Israel's unfaithfulness and God's judgment and punishment. God's desire and love are intricately tied to the "justified" abuse of the unfaithful wife. The sexual bond has to be untangled from its connection to sexual abuse before it should be readily accepted as a positive metaphor for God's love and desire for God's people. In the same way, the limitation of Genesis 1 and 2 have to be acknowledged when these are taken as defining sexuality. The broad framework of Genesis 1 and 2 has to be accepted, and when we see only the individuals in these texts we may be missing the point. Paul himself may be very wrong in seeing individuals as being in the image of God. I would suggest that humanity as a whole is in the image of God, and whatever our individual genders or sexualities, all of us together make the image of God. And together we are fruitful.

III.4. The Church's Challenge: Christian Unity and Biblical Interpretation

When we recite the Nicene Creed and the Apostles' Creed in our liturgies we acknowledge the universal Church. There are many elements of the human experience that make us disagree in certain areas of faith, and while unity as a Church is of great value, we should not hold on to that unity when it hinders the eschatological vision. The love of Christ compels us to seek justice for all humanity as we follow the model of Christ to love. I think the fact that the Gospel of John depicts Jesus praying for the unity of his disciples (John 17:20–24) reflects the difficulty of forging and maintaining that unity in an imperfect world. As we strive for that unity, we should not lose focus on God's mission and our mission in the world.

Concluding Wish

It is my hope that subsequent editions of the rites for the blessing of same-sex relationships will not seem to reflect that they are inferior to different-sex relationships. I also hope that our limited understanding of the blessedness of same-sex relationships will deepen and expand, and will no longer be as dependent on our understanding of different-sex or heterosexual marriage.

e. George R. Sumner

George R. Sumner is the Principal at Wycliffe College in Toronto.

I have been requested to respond to the document called "Faith, Hope, and Love: Theological Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships." This is actually not the first time I have been asked by the Episcopal Church to weigh in on this subject. I was a traditionalist member of the House of Bishops' Theology Committee, which met over two years and at considerable expense to the Church, beginning in 2008. Our group was a congenial and generous-spirited one, and we presented both sides of the theology of marriage

in relation to same-sex relations, along with rebuttals of the opposing team's claims. Our work was presented to the House of Bishops and was eventually published in the Anglican Theological Review in the Winter 2011 issue. Our document did not receive any mention in the introduction to "Faith, Hope, and Love," though it is cited in a footnote in the last section, on Christian unity. Apparently the Church has moved beyond the point where two points of view need to be represented in official reflection on this issue. I will not attempt to summarize all our points in this short piece, since anyone interested can find the complete essays at the Anglican Theological Review website. As for the more recent document, it is an articulate presentation of the progressive position, but does not break any new ground. It will reinforce the views of those who agree, but offers little of interest for those who do not.

As to the prior committee of which I was a part, after two years of work, it was clear to most of us that the matter came down to culture. The revisionist case cannot be made from the Bible, tradition, or science, and there were moments of candor on this score from the progressive side. Is the new trend a wind of the Spirit, or not? Can the stool in question stand on that one leg? I am by trade a missiologist, and so it was interesting for me to note how the tag missio Dei was deployed to bolster the progressive argument. It was claimed that what God is now doing in the world trumped all other evidence. But some historical study around the concept of the missio tag reveals the tendency we humans have to conflate the trajectory of God's work in the world with our own political predilections, when our perception is unaided by Scripture and tradition.

As to the politics of the moment, conservative Episcopalians are in an awkward position. Even as these resources for same-sex blessing rites are being appropriated by the Church, consideration of marriage itself has begun. There is a strong suggestion that a proposed change to the rite of marriage cannot be far behind. I believe that the move to bless same-sex unions was a mistake, but I also believe that proceeding on to marriage, and ensconcing the change in the Book of Common Prayer, would exacerbate the problem. That move would enflame the conflict further, especially in the Anglican Communion. It would threaten to move the new liturgical practice from option to coercion. It would put at risk the credibility of liberal leaders who told their flocks they only supported blessings. It would show a lack of the patience which is implied in the idea of doctrinal reception. It would fail to hear the voice of wisdom saying "enough is enough."

If the Church is not really interested in hearing from conservative theologians like me on this issue, what am I to do with the remainder of my airtime? The truly pressing issue before the Church is the following: Will room be found for the loyal opposition, for conservative Episcopalians? Is our Church to be truly liberal, and will it live up to the claim it makes about its own comprehensiveness? After all our talk about "the other" nowadays, what will liberal Episcopalians do with the fact that "the other" is in many cases a traditional Evangelical or Anglo-Catholic or charismatic? Years ago, at an event for Episcopal Foundation fellows, my friend Paul Zahl said that the great ethical challenge for those in power in the national Church now is how to deal with its relatively powerless conservative minority. This question is yet more urgent when that minority also happens to have the weight of the tradition and the strongest bonds of affection with the wider Communion on its side.

I was taught in my seminary days about F. D. Maurice's vision of a kind of liberal Anglicanism that needed all its parties, each one challenging the other like flint. I have my own issues with Maurice, but surely he was the forerunner of modern Anglicanism. Is there the will, not to mention the theological virtues of faith, hope, and love, on the part of the majority, to live out this vision? Will the Church encourage that freedom of theological expression which we are proud of in the breadth of our tradition? Do we mean it when we talk about the value of conscience in our Anglican tradition, especially for dioceses and parishes in the coming years? In this vein, is the Church willing to guarantee them access to the traditional rite of marriage, come what may, as a concrete step toward assuring a real comprehensiveness? I was, I assume, asked to respond to this document as a gesture of inclusion, and so it is the question of real and costly inclusion that I wish to bring before the Church.

f. Fredrica Harris Thompsett

Fredrica Harris Thompsett is the Mary Wolfe Professor Emerita of Historical Theology at the Episcopal Divinity School, Cambridge, Massachusetts

I do remember my baptism. I was an eight-year-old Episcopalian and fascinated by the strong promises made in my behalf. The minister used the office for children, yet we — my twin brother and I — kept adding in the "I will's" and "I do's." The promise that we might be granted the "power and strength" to "triumph against the devil, the world, and the flesh" (1928 BCP, 278) was, to say the least, unforgettable to my young mind. This was strong stuff, well worthy of the joyous family celebration that followed.

Recently the modern liturgical renewal movement has strengthened and brought Holy Baptism into greater visibility across many denominations. For Episcopalians these positive revisions in Holy Baptism are represented in the 1979 Book of Common Prayer. Today there are more occasions for congregations to celebrate Holy Baptism and together commit and recommit themselves to the challenges conveyed in the Baptismal Covenant. This liturgical shift has restored baptism's prominence in shaping our religious identity both as individuals and as worshiping communities. As a theologian and historian, I know that these changes in contemporary liturgies of baptism not only restore early Christian practices, they also align with distinct Anglican theological emphases.

Baptism is foundational. When I reflect theologically on how God is working today in our relationships and faithful living, I am drawn again and again to consider promises made and reaffirmed in baptism. Of particular importance in baptism and other sacraments is the generosity of God's covenantal love. Today's celebrations of baptism move us liturgically closer to glimpsing and understanding covenanting partnerships. Moreover, in our experience of promises publicly made in gathered community, we are affirming and welcoming individual lifetimes of godly living. We are moving away from worship patterns that unintentionally privatized and obscured the fact of God's great goodness in creation. In blessing lifelong relationships we are also, I believe, representing significant aspects of our Anglican heritage. Both in traditional marriage rites and in the proposed blessing of committed relationships of same-sex couples, the characteristics I first encountered as an eight-year-old child have been strengthened and extended.

For some Episcopalians the impetus to respond to our sisters and brothers who are gay and lesbian by providing ways to bless same-sex couples is primarily occasioned by secular cultural changes and has little to do with theological understandings. In this brief essay I wish to point to the theological continuity of our baptismal practices with the current call to reflect on how God is working today in committed same-sex relationships. In effect, the patterns of worship our Prayer Book prescribes have strengthened understanding of committed lifelong relationships. Three overlapping theological components are central both to baptism and to blessing same-sex unions. These are: (1) deepened insight into our covenantal relationship with God in Christ; (2) the public character and value of individuals and congregations sharing God's blessings; and (3) continuity with positive Anglican perspectives on committed intimate relationships.

Like most biblical covenants, the Baptismal Covenant is deeply grounded in the generosity of God's love. Our Hebraic ancestors, whether in the covenants of Noah, Abraham and Sarah, Moses, or Jeremiah, emphasized the steadfast loving-kindness of the Creator. The Hebrew word hesed is frequently used in these biblical texts. It is usually translated as "loving-kindness" and associated as a sure and steadfast foundation for covenantal living. There is nothing simple or short-lived about covenantal love. The foundation for covenantal theology is the expectant love and uncompromising faithfulness that God holds for God's people for generations to come. Our biblical ancestors emphasized the magnitude of God's empowering action, call, and summons into lifelong relationship. Biblical expressions of covenant thinking today are central for those of us who wish to be addressed by God and respond to God's presence in our lives.

Over the past 35 years, guided by the 1979 Book of Common Prayer, Episcopalians have become more familiar with the concept of covenantal relationships with God. This is underscored educationally in the

Outline of the Faith, which describes a covenant as "a relationship initiated by God, to which a body of people responds in faith" (BCP, 846). It is underscored liturgically in the Baptismal Covenant (BCP, 304–305). Baptism is an expression of a sacramental covenant in which we are adopted, that is chosen, as God's own children and incorporated into full membership in Christ's Church. In the Synoptic Gospels' telling of our Lord's baptism, Jesus is proclaimed as God's "Son, the Beloved," with whom God is "well pleased" (Matthew 3:17, Mark 1:11, Luke 3:22b). In our baptism we too are adopted as God's "own children" and "marked as Christ's own for ever" (BCP, 311, 308). Baptism reveals God's generosity in creation, God's steadfast loving-kindness. God's gracious gift of baptism incorporates and extends our lives into God's mission. In contemporary worship experiences we have moved closer, as in marriage and same-sex blessings, to glimpsing and proclaiming the blessing of covenanting relationships.

Baptism is not simply or only an individual decision. As a covenant, this sacrament is about God acting and the community of faith responding. Therefore the service of Holy Baptism is more than a private family matter, and it is designed for public occasions. Even as baptism has been restored in the 1979 Book of Common Prayer to a joyous place of graceful prominence in Episcopal worship, so too blessing of same-sex relationships offers an opportunity for public expression of God's abundant grace and goodness. Some same-sex couples, their family, friends, and other community members may experience restoration, healing, and forgiveness. Blessing services signal acceptance, affirmation, commitment, and ongoing support from God, from the Church, and from gathered family and friends. For those whose intimate relationships may have in the past been hidden, despised, shunned, ignored, or dismissed, the promise of new life in Christ is liberating. I am reminded of the freedom from cultural and social barriers promised by Paul in Galatians 3:27–28: "As many of you as were baptized into Christ have clothed yourselves with Christ. There is no longer Jew or Greek, there is now no longer slave or free, there is no longer male and female; for all of you are one in Christ Jesus." Paul envisioned baptism as overcoming all that separates human beings from one another and from God. God's promise of freedom and shared life in Christ replaces all prior identities and divisions.

In my experience, the public character of blessing same-sex unions provides opportunities for pastoral witness and reconciliation. I remember experiencing with joyful tears a blessing service held for a couple who had been faithfully committed to one another for more than 50 years. They were described by others as "pillars of our congregation." Over the years, their many gifts of service and stewardship had been welcomed, yet their loving, lifelong, committed relationship had not previously been even acknowledged, let alone blessed. For my homosexual sisters and brothers the public assurance of God's presence and affirmation of their most intimate relationships has been a long time coming.

Anglican perspectives on committed intimate relationships have traditionally emphasized the loving relational character of matrimony. Early on in the Reformation our Episcopal ancestors were among the first modern Christians to put a loving spin on marriage. Thomas Cranmer, an Archbishop of Canterbury and the primary author of the earliest editions of the English Book of Common Prayer, crafted a liturgy which underscored marriage as a positive opportunity for mutual enjoyment. Cranmer — himself a happily, if quietly, married man with children — emphasized the benefit of marriage for England's citizens. Marriage was, he said in the 1549 Form of the Solemnization of Matrimony, for the "mutual society, help, and comfort, that the one ought to have of the other, both in prosperity and adversity." Perhaps with his own "dearly beloved Margaret Cranmer" in mind, it was Cranmer who was the first to add to the official Church of England marriage text the promise that each partner would "love and cherish" the other. These words replaced the wife's required oath in a late medieval service to be "buxom in bed and board." Archbishop Cranmer's perspective on committed loving relationships benefited the couple, the Church, and the wider society. In the shifting context of the English Reformation, Cranmer seized opportunities for significant liturgical, theological, and social change. These were expressed in the new English Book of Common Prayer. In worship and common prayer, cultural attitudes and expectations for married couples were shaped anew.

What I suggest here is that liturgical resources for blessing same-sex relationships have much in common with positive Anglican perspectives on loving and faithful relationships. Archbishop Cranmer recognized marriage as a vital social institution grounded in ideals of mutuality, help, and comfort. The trajectory from a

16th-century archbishop to an early 21st-century Chief Justice of Massachusetts is slim at best. Yet it might be of interest to note that in the 2003 ruling that allowed Massachusetts to become the first state to issue marriage licenses to same-sex couples, Chief Justice Margaret Marshall argued that neither Church nor society should hoard the values bestowed in marriage or take their wider societal beneficial intent for granted.⁵ Marshall, herself a practicing Episcopalian, argued that this ruling affirmed "the dignity and equality of all individuals." Could it be that she was influenced by the Baptismal Covenant's promise to "respect the dignity of every human being" (BCP, 305)? Could it be that common prayer has had a steadily progressive impact influencing both individual hearts and societal laws?

I am on firmer, far less conjectural, theological ground in naming Incarnational theology as a central aspect of Anglican theology. In Anglican theology the legacy of the Incarnation has become a cherished focal point, a guiding principle shaping Anglican understandings of human and divinity alike. Michael Ramsey, who many may remember as one of the great Archbishops of Canterbury of the 20th century, concluded that "the Incarnation meant not only that God took human flesh but that human nature was raised up to share in the life of God." The redemptive work of the Incarnation provides the foundation for Anglican optimism about humanity. This God not only creates but also restores the dignity of human nature. This God in Christ partakes of the fullness of human life. This God bears the full range of love's power, including the capacity to instill and invite devotion, passion, affection, and sexuality expressed in our most intimate relationships. Biblical scholar and Anglican theologian L. William Countryman has noted that baptism interprets the goodness of the gifts bestowed by God in creation. The blessing of covenanted couples, whether same-sex or different-sex partners, reminds us of the worth of intimate human relationships established by God in creation. In the blessing of covenanted couples and in marriage rites the goodness of faithful sexual intimacy is affirmed. Incarnational theology and baptismal theology alike proclaim that, in Jesus, God is with us in a new way. Similarly, in marriage, as in the blessing of covenanted couples, the newness of life in Christ is affirmed by both the couple and the wider community.

I have emphasized the theological grounding that the sacrament of Holy Baptism offers for other expressions of covenantal love. It might not be a stretch to recall and adapt a saying articulated 40 years ago when the Episcopal Church was debating the ordination of women: "If you are not going to ordain women, stop baptizing them." Anglican theologian Marilyn McCord Adams commends this saying as "forwarding a strong doctrine of baptism." She contends, as I do, that "the strong doctrine of baptism is radical and bears repeating." When considering the opportunity to bless covenanted same-sex couples, a similar baptismally grounded axiom might be: "If we are not open to blessing committed relationships of same-sex couples, we should stop baptizing them." The covenant of baptism offers a lifelong foundation for deepening other covenanted relationships of love and service to God's reconciling mission. Anglican Christians are known for finding integrity and coherence in the ways our patterns of worship shape our beliefs. As the theological resources in "I Will Bless You, and You Will Be a Blessing" indicate, promises affirmed by baptism shape an encouraging framework for blessing faithful relationships of covenanted love.

⁵ The landmark ruling "Goodridge vs. the Department of Health," was decided by the State Appellate Court in November of 2003 and became law in May of 2004. It has withstood attempts to replace the word "marriage" with less embracing matrimonial terminology like "civil unions." In November of 2009, Episcopal Bishop M. Thomas Shaw, following a permissive (though not obligatory) action of General Convention for bishops in states which legally allow same-sex marriage, permitted clergy in the Diocese of Massachusetts to officiate at same-sex weddings.

⁶ On the centrality of the Incarnation in Ramsey's theology see Kenneth Leech, "'The Real Archbishop': A Profile of Michael Ramsey," *The Christian Century* (March 12, 1986): 266–69.

⁷ See L. William Countryman, Living on the Border of the Holy: Renewing the Priesthood of All (Harrisburg: Morehouse Publishing), especially chapter 5, 81-110.

⁸ See Marilyn McCord Adams, "The Ordination of Women: Some Theological Implications," in Looking Forward, Looking Backward: Forty Years of Women's Ordination, ed. Fredrica Harris Thompsett (New York: Morehouse Publishing, 2014), 72–73.

IV. HEARING, SEEING, AND DECLARING NEW THINGS

Pastoral Resources for Preparing Couples for a Liturgy of Blessing or Marriage

Contents

IV. Hearing, Seeing, and Declaring New Things:

Pastoral Resources for Preparing Couples for a Liturgy of Blessing or Marriage

Overview: Pastoral Care for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples

- 1. Available Resources: Materials for Pastoral Preparation
- 2. Particular Issues Affecting Gender and Sexual Minority Couples
- 3. Presenters
- 4. Outline of Pre-Blessing/Marriage Preparation for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples

Handouts

- 1. Theological Reflection on Covenantal Relationship: Spiritual Practice for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples
- 2. Declaration of Intention for Lifelong Covenant
- 3. About Presenters For the Couple
- 4. Information for Presenters
- 5. Model Congregational Guidelines

IV. Hearing, Seeing, and Declaring New Things

Pastoral Resources for Preparing Couples for a Liturgy of Blessing or Marriage

Overview: Pastoral Care for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples

You have heard; now see all this; and will you not declare it? From this time forward I make you hear new things, hidden things that you have not known.

—Isaiah 48:6

I will give you as a light to the nations, that my salvation may reach to the end of the earth.
—Isaiah 49:6

The pastoral resources in this essay are provided to assist clergy and trained lay people who are preparing gender and sexual minority¹ couples for a blessing of their relationship, using one of the liturgies authorized by The Episcopal Church. The expectation of such preparation is equivalent to the canonical requirement that couples preparing for marriage receive instruction "as to the nature, meaning, and purpose of Holy Matrimony" (Canon I.18.2[e]).

Preparation is similar for all couples, whether gender and sexual minority or different-sex/gender. Most clergy and lay people who currently offer premarital preparation to different-sex couples are more than capable of working with gender and sexual minority couples. However, understanding the differences is necessary — and helpful.

The pastoral resources described in this essay address differences in the preparation of gender and sexual minority couples and different-sex couples and include some of the available resources for preparing gender and sexual minority couples for the blessing of their relationships.

Commonly Used Terms for Gender and/or Sexual Minorities

Because human sexuality exists on a spectrum, because the number of possible identities that communities or individuals may craft (consciously and unconsciously) defies limitation, and because language constantly evolves, terminology for gender and sexual minorities (GSM) sometimes proves elusive. As a general consideration, it is always best to refer to someone by name, not a category, and to ask people how they

¹ The term "gender and sexual minorities" (GSM) is increasingly used in academic study of gender/sexual identity and/or orientation, recognizing the complexity of both human biology and the social construction of gender and sexuality. This term is used in this pastoral resource except when referring to marriage, since "same-sex marriage" is commonly used in civil law.

identify themselves or prefer to be called. It is not as important that the preparer fully understand the complexities of identity and/or orientation as that the couple themselves do; however, clergy and lay preparers are encouraged to read some of the excellent resources available about GSM experiences or to consult with a professional.

The Gay and Lesbian Alliance Against Defamation (GLAAD) — an organization that advises media and other organizations concerning the language and images they use to represent GSM people and issues — provides extensive, widely used, and highly readable reference guides for commonly used terminology. Some common terms are described below with reference to the glossary available at glaad.org. For a more comprehensive consideration, you may also wish to consult An Ally's Guide to Terminology: Talking About LGBT People & Equality, published by GLAAD.

Sex: The biological condition of being male or female is typically identified visually at birth based on visible anatomy of the newborn. However, for a variety of reasons the sex of a person cannot always be definitively determined from visual assessment. While sex differences are biological, biology is flexible, dynamic, and not unaffected by environment and culture. Furthermore, it is important to bear in mind that biology does not determine identity.

Gender Identity and Expression: Individuals usually have a stable, deep, and strongly felt sense of their own gender that manifests very early in childhood; that gender identity, however, may not always correspond to the person's sex. A person whose gender identity does not correspond with the sex assigned at birth may be called a transgender person (though individuals sometimes use or prefer other language). The GLAAD "Media Reference Guide — Transgender Issues" describes transgender as "an umbrella term for people whose gender identity and/or gender expression differs from what is typically associated with the sex they were assigned at birth." Transgender people who, through surgery and/or hormone treatment, alter their biological sex to align with their gender identity are sometimes called transsexual, though the term is not preferred by all. It should be noted, however, that not all transgender people are able or wish to medically alter their biological sex.

A person's internal gender identity may or may not be expressed to society. Gender expression refers to how an individual manifests gender to society, including "one's name, pronouns, clothing, haircut, behavior, voice, or body characteristics." Societies typically associate these characteristics with masculinity and femininity; however, the associations vary from culture to culture. Transgender people often express the gender with which they internally identify in ways that their society will recognize; others, though, both transgender and cisgender (a term used to describe non-transgender people), develop expressions that are intentionally gender non-conforming.

While many people understand themselves as being a man or a woman, others identify themselves in ways that are not limited by this traditional binary. Sometimes those who resist or reject the traditional gender categories identify themselves as "genderqueer" (though this term is not universal).⁴

Sexual Orientation: Although they are often associated with each other, gender identity and sexual orientation do not have a direct correspondence. For instance, a transgender man⁵ (someone who was assigned the female sex at birth, but identifies as a man) who is sexually drawn to women is considered "straight."

² http://glaad.org/reference/transgender.

³ http://glaad.org/reference/transgender.

⁴ For stories of transgender Episcopalians, see "Voices of Witness: Out of the Box," https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=QzCANWGsEdc.

⁵ While some transgender people do describe themselves as a "transgender man/woman" others prefer the language man/woman without the modifier. Still others resist the gender binary altogether. Because individual perceptions and preferences vary, it is best not to assign a category (or a pronoun) to someone without asking how they understand and prefer to talk about their own gender identity.

Rather than "homosexual," which carries offensive, negative connotations for many, the preferred term for someone "whose enduring physical, romantic and/or emotional attractions are to people of the same sex" is "gay" or "gay person." Some women prefer to use the term "lesbian" while others prefer "gay woman." A person whose sexual orientation encompasses people of both the same and different sex are generally called "bisexual" or "bi." Despite common assumptions to the contrary, "[b]isexual people need not have had specific sexual experiences to be bisexual; in fact, they need not have had any sexual experience at all to identify as bisexual." A significant number of gay, lesbian, and bi people have adopted the formerly offensive term "queer" to describe themselves or GSM people more generally; however, the term continues to be offensive to others and should not be used to describe someone unless they express an explicit preference for it.

Contextual Competence

Clergy and qualified lay people preparing couples for blessings need to be *contextually competent*, a concept derived from *cultural competence*. In fields such as health care, social work, and education, culturally competent professionals embody awareness, a positive attitude, knowledge, and skills that enable them to work effectively in cross-cultural situations.

Consider the different situations that one might encounter when preparing a couple for a blessing or marriage:

- Preparing a couple in their 70s for a blessing of their relationship is very different from preparing a couple in their 20s.
- Preparing a couple entering a new relationship is different from preparing two people who have been living in a committed relationship for a long time.
- Preparing an interracial couple differs in some aspects from preparing a couple of the same race.
- Preparing a couple without children differs from preparing parents.

Being "contextually competent" means understanding and appreciating these, and many more, differing situations. Clergy and trained lay preparers need to examine their own contextual competence as they consider working with GSM couples. If they cannot work with a GSM couple with appreciation and awareness, then the best practice is to refer the couple to another clergyperson or trained lay preparer, and seek further training for themselves.

The materials below will help clergy and trained lay preparers adapt their skills to work with GSM couples in a contextually competent manner.

1. Available Resources: Materials for Pastoral Preparation

In a 2010 church-wide survey regarding pastoral and teaching materials, the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music found that the following resources are among those commonly used to prepare GSM couples for a blessing.

Prepare/Enrich (Life Innovations, Inc.) https://www.prepare-enrich.com

A relationship inventory that assesses couples' strengths and growth areas on topics such as
finances, communication, conflict resolution, and sexuality. This assessment tool is by far the one

⁶ http://www.glaad.org/reference/lgb

⁷ http://www.glaad.org/reference/lgb

- used most frequently among respondents to the Commission's survey. "Facilitators" (the term that Prepare/Enrich employs) must be trained in its use; see website for cost of materials.
- Positives: recently revised (2008), customized version easily used with GSM couples; uses the language of "partner"; most comprehensive tool to address personality, conflict resolution, family, health, and financial and spiritual issues; assesses goals, strengths, and growth areas; large, national norm base (more than 500,000 couples).
- Negatives: currently, research results are standardized only for different-sex/gender couples, so there is no "norm" against which to compare a GSM couple's data.

Premarriage Awareness Inventory (Logos Productions) http://www3.logosproductions.com

- Preferred by those not trained in Prepare/Enrich.
- Positives: three customized formats, including inventories for those living together or previously married; thorough personality assessment; coverage of major areas, such as faith, finances, family of origin, children, power issues, life goals.
- Negatives: standardized for different-sex/gender couples only, but author indicates that he will be implementing a GSM version (no target date given).

The Marriage Journey: Preparation and Provisions for Life Together, by Linda Grenz and Delbert Glover (Church Publishing, 2003)

- Recommended by those who find online inventories impersonal.
- Positives: uses "partner" instead of specifying gender; includes material for couples living together and those with children; clear, direct language; ideal for the technologically challenged couple.
- Negatives: no personality assessment included.

The following books were published too recently to be cited by respondents to the 2010 survey. Because they specifically address pastoral needs of same-gender couples, we include them among available resources.

- All Whom God Has Joined: Resources for Clergy and Same-Gender Loving Couples by Leanne McCall Tigert and Maren C. Tirabassi (Pilgrim Press, 2010).
- Premarital Counseling for Gays and Lesbians: Case Studies and Helpful Questions by Pamela Milam (ASD Publishing, 2012).

2. Particular Issues Affecting Gender and Sexual Minority Couples

Issues or differences that are particular to gender and sexual minority (GSM) couples are not necessarily challenges in blessing preparation. They are more often gifts, especially if the clergyperson or layperson preparing a couple understands variation as part of God's plan for the world and a sign of God's blessing. Contextual competence is important here, especially in a preparer's awareness of places where skills for preparing different-sex/gender couples do not transfer to GSM couples. In addition, preparers need to examine their own understanding of blessing a GSM couple, as well as the assumptions of the couple's faith and civil communities, including diocesan authority and various state laws.

GSM couples come to ask for a blessing with a variety of life backgrounds; thus provision for some variations and differences appear, for example, in the prayer choices in the liturgy. Other variations that clergy or lay preparers will meet in their work with GSM couples follow below.⁸

Legal Civil Unions / Same-Sex Marriages and Diocesan Policies

Currently the civil law regarding same-sex unions or marriages is very much in flux throughout the United States and other countries where The Episcopal Church is located. As a result, tracking these laws can be confusing. Some legal jurisdictions recognize civil unions while others recognize marriages. A marriage or civil union in one jurisdiction may not be recognized in another. Some jurisdictions may have residency requirements for civil unions or marriages, or for the dissolution of those unions. Likewise, diocesan bishops have differing guidelines as to how clergy should respond pastorally to couples seeking a blessing for their union.

Therefore, clergy and couples seeking blessing must be familiar with the laws of their jurisdiction and with the policies or guidelines of their diocese. Because some dioceses require professional counseling for a couple if one member of the couple (or both) has been divorced more than once or has had more than one previous long-term relationship, clergy should check with the diocesan office for guidance on what is expected in such situations.

For clergy who feel they cannot confer a liturgical blessing, the best practice is to refer the couple to another clergyperson. Some of these clergy may also wish to provide an additional pastoral response to those couples, thereby affirming and supporting their desire for God's blessing upon their relationship.

Currently, very few denominations authorize their clergy to conduct same-sex blessings or marriages, so an Episcopal clergyperson may be approached by a couple seeking a blessing of their union simply because it is not an option for them within their own denomination. Episcopal clergy may expect that some of these couples from other denominations feel tender and vulnerable in their relationship to the wider Church and so may need particular nurture and support.

Possible Issues Arising from Sexual Orientation or Gender Identity

This section addresses some of the more common issues that may arise in the process of preparing a GSM couple for a blessing of their lifelong covenant.

"Late bloomers" who "come out" later in life: Some GSM people recognize their sexual orientation or gender identity from a very young age. Others may have a growing realization that does not become fully clear until much later in life; some may have understood their sexual orientation or gender identity for some time but are only recently "coming out" publicly. A "late bloomer" may need some time to begin to live into his/her truest life or explore with a counselor this core change in self-perception before entering into a lifelong commitment.

Previous relationships: Some individuals may have lived a heterosexual life to a point, perhaps inwardly questioning their sexual orientation or gender identity, before deciding that they felt more strongly toward people of the same sex or gender; others may have simply fallen in love with someone of the same sex or gender, perhaps by surprise. Still others may have accepted their own bisexuality and at one point decided to make a commitment to a person of a different sex/gender. These earlier relationships may have been more or less satisfactory depending on the extent to which familial, societal, and/or religious expectations played a part, and the compatibility between the partners. There are likely to be many important relationships from these earlier partnerships which will need to be honored and successfully incorporated into the life of the new couple.

⁸ This material is adapted from "Pastoral Resources for Province One Episcopal Clergy Ministering to Same-Gender Couples."

Internalized homophobia: One or both members of a GSM couple may have been subjected to a continual societal onslaught of negative or stereotypical messages. These messages may have been internalized, possibly resulting in a person growing severely uncomfortable with his/her sexual orientation or gender identity. A clergyperson or trained lay preparer who perceives that a person has significant negative feelings or stigma about his/her orientation may appropriately refer the person for counseling with a therapist trained to handle this issue.

Biphobia: Bisexuality is sometimes unfairly and inaccurately associated with promiscuity and infidelity. This prejudice is found among people of varying sexual orientations, including other GSM people. Bi people are not more or less inclined to sexual license than any other people; clergy and lay preparers should guard against making assumptions about bisexuals.

Long-Term Relationships

Preparers may be working with people who have been together for many years or have previously had long-term, monogamous relationships. This means that preparers must be open to learning and benefiting from the wisdom generated by a couple's long years together.

Particular Hurt

One or both members of a GSM couple may have been wounded by exclusion or marginalization, that is, experiences and feelings of being "other" or "less than." Certainly, GSM people are at risk of being victims of abuse or exploitation, as well as self-hatred and fear of rejection. Clergy and laypeople preparing couples for blessings need to be sensitive to these issues.

Very often, due to prior experiences with organized religions that reject and do not approve of GSM people or relationships, these individuals do not feel welcome in a house of worship. In addition, one or both members of the couple may have a history of being excluded from benefits that heterosexuals receive from the State. For the couple, a clergyperson or layperson providing blessing preparation represents the Church, so a preparer will need to build a trusting relationship with the couple in order to support them in dealing with the anger, hurt, or confusion that erupts from rejection.

In or Out?

Although a couple is seeking a public union, one or even both members of the couple may need to remain "closeted" in some aspects of their individual lives. For instance, one person may be employed in a workplace or profession where being "out" could jeopardize the ability to function there at top form or even to continue to work there. Unfortunately, a prime example is the Church. For GSM clergy in many denominations, "coming out," especially when in a relationship, can result in being stripped of the ability to function as ordained clergy or to hold any position of leadership in the Church. In secular places of employment, where GSM people might be protected by law, their sexual orientation or gender identity could affect their ability to be hired or result in a tense and unfriendly work environment. Being "out" could have a negative impact on seeking or maintaining a position in public office. Lesbians and gays serving in the military no longer need to remain closeted, but many who were in the military previous to this change might need to talk about their pasts as closeted members of the armed services.

GSM couples take risks, even to their lives, when they display affection in public; when they cannot hold hands, they hold secrets. Because of this, there can be tension in a relationship when one person is fully "out" and comfortable with some public, visible displays of affection while the other is not. In some work situations, one person in the relationship may need to be careful when calling a partner at the workplace or taking messages at home.

Couples need to discuss when, where, and with whom it is safe to be open about their relationship in general. Specifically, as part of their preparation, they need to discuss each other's comfort levels and needs regarding making their relationship known in a public ceremony.

Relational History and Resolution of Previous Relationships

All couples have to deal with what went before. GSM couples may not be going through legal divorces, but as with any relationship, they will still likely need to process issues related to their previous relationships on an emotional and practical level. Couples will be freer to proceed into a new lifelong committed relationship when they have processed what one or the other has learned from earlier relationships and when they have resolved matters of finance, property, child custody, and responsibility to former spouses or partners.

Families of Origin

Most clergy and trained laypersons inquire about each individual's family of origin when preparing different-sex/gender couples for marriage. The answers can give the couple insights regarding a number of issues, including their understanding of what a healthy or unhealthy relationship looks like and their attitudes toward finances and parenting practices; the responses may also enable couples to identify unresolved issues that could affect the relationship.

One area which may be unique to GSM couples is their families' responses to their orientation, their public lives as GSM people, and their life together as a couple. Couples will benefit from exploring questions such as: Have the individuals "come out" to their own families? If so, what was the response? Has either member of a couple told his/her family about the intended blessing liturgy? Is the family supportive, hostile, or grieving, or simply absent? How will each family respond to the individual's partner: will the family define a partner as a spouse and therefore part of the family, or will they treat one's partner as a friend or roommate? In other words, has the couple discussed what they anticipate their relationship with the in-laws will be as they enter into a lifelong, committed relationship? Likewise, is the couple able to engage a network of support, individually and as a couple, and do they perceive how it will become a part of their new life together?

Legal Matters

For different-sex/gender couples, marriage automatically comes with legal protections and obligations (above and beyond the legality of the union itself). In states where no civil union or same-sex marriage is allowed, and even in states which make legal provision for same-sex couples, it is critical that GSM couples pursue private legal protections that substitute for some of the legal protections flowing from civil marriage (though private measures cannot cover all of the legal attributes of civil marriage). The couple should consider arranging for medical and financial durable powers-of-attorney, wills, and living wills, and may need to seek professional advice regarding financial and property matters. In addition, couples should consider soliciting legal advice on their rights and risks, especially regarding issues of tax, Social Security, or other state and federal legal matters.

Children

As with any different-sex/gender, childless couple preparing for marriage, GSM couples should also discuss with each other whether one or the other wants children. This discussion might include topics such as when and how to have children, the impact of children on finances and employment, and matters of parenting, such as childcare and discipline. Couples entering the relationship with children should discuss how to help the children adjust and integrate into the new family constellation. GSM couples, especially those blessed with children from a previous relationship, also need to support their children through various stages of development, particularly as the children relate to their peers, who may have no understanding of, or

possibly even a hostile reaction to, a friend with GSM parents. For example, if a parent becomes involved with a GSM partner, it may be controversial and require some adjustment in their child's social circle.

GSM couples should be aware of the legal ambiguity pertaining to custodial cases and may want to seek counsel to protect themselves and their children. This applies whether or not the couple resides in a state that provides civil unions or marriage for same-sex couples.

3. Presenters

Presenters are people chosen by the couple to support and present them to the presider and the assembly during the blessing liturgy. The liturgies include the option of presenters, just as some congregations offer to different-sex/gender couples. This option gives a voice to important people in the life of the couple during the liturgy and enriches the experience for all present. Presenters can also serve an important role in supporting the couple before and after the blessing liturgy. The selection of a couple mature in their relationship can be particularly helpful to a couple starting life together. The couple, together with the clergy or lay preparer, should talk as soon as possible about selecting presenters, so that the prayerful work of the presenters can begin early on.

Two short handouts provided in this pastoral resource (one for the couple and one for presenters) detail the role of presenters and are intended for use at the conclusion of the initial pre-blessing preparation session.

4. Outline of Pre-Blessing / Marriage Preparation for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples

Below is a guideline for a five-session, pre-blessing/marriage preparation that may be used along with the materials described above. In a 2010 church-wide survey regarding pastoral and teaching materials, the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music found that a large number of trained lay preparers and clergy want a very specific template; however, those with experience preparing couples may choose to adapt, combine, or reorder this outline. Ideally, sessions last 60 to 90 minutes each, and both partners should be present for all sessions (although the preparer may decide to meet with one of the individuals to address specific issues).

Goal

Pre-blessing preparation sets as its goal the strengthening of a lifelong, monogamous partnership rooted in Christ. General Convention Resolution 2000-Do39 addresses the hope — the Church's and the couple's — for an enduring relationship:

Resolved, That we expect such relationships will be characterized by fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest communication, and the holy love which enables those in such relationships to see in each other the image of God; and be it further

Resolved, That we denounce promiscuity, exploitation, and abusiveness in the relationships of any of our members; and be it further

Resolved, That this Church intends to hold all its members accountable to these values, and will provide for them the prayerful support, encouragement, and pastoral care necessary to live faithfully by them.

Expectations

Realities:

- Clergy and lay people are trained in many different ways to conduct premarital preparation.
- Clergy and trained lay people apply a wide variety of methods for pre-blessing/marriage preparation.

Assumptions:

- The priest or bishop is prepared to preside at the blessing/marriage.
- The clergyperson or trained lay preparer is experienced in preparing couples before marriages or blessings.
- The clergyperson or trained lay preparer is willing to refer the couple to a professional therapist should circumstances warrant.

Truth:

• Each couple is unique, requiring adaptations as appropriate.

Preparing Gender and Sexual Minority Couples in Long-term Relationships

When preparing people who have been together for many years, the session structure may need to be changed, and fewer sessions may be needed. One suggestion is to adapt the first session to get to know the couple, introduce the liturgy, and so on. The second session could employ the following questions or discussion topics, which respect the length of the couple's relationship and invite them to discuss their understanding of the Church.

- What does it mean to you to have your relationship blessed by the Church after all these years?
- How will having the Church's blessing and making a commitment in public, even if you have done so privately or in a non-church setting, affect you or your relationship?
- What can your relationship teach the Church?

Finally, the third session could be adapted from the current fifth session: wrapping up, clarifying the liturgy, and fielding any other questions that may have arisen.

Session One: Getting To Know You and an Overview

This session focuses on getting to know one another. It also starts to address the details of the rite, offering the couple and the clergyperson an opportunity to study the rites together, looking at their meaning and choices and affirming that the blessing, grounded in God, is given through the Church. Some clergy, however, may prefer to do a very general overview of the rites in this session, then study them more intensely later in the process.

Addressing the practical issues of the blessing or marriage at the outset helps to build trust and allows the couple to open themselves to the substance of the next four sessions. By providing even a general overview of the rites, the preparer can address questions and alleviate anxieties about the actual day. For a marriage, the couple and clergyperson officiating will need to decide, either in this session or later in the preparation, which rite to use.

Session One includes a great deal of material, some of which may be moved to another session. Handouts for this session include:

- The liturgy "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant"; for a marriage, the preparer may have all of the rites available to review with the couple.
- 1. Theological Reflection on Covenantal Relationship: Spiritual Practice for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples (found at the end of this outline).

- 2. Declaration of Intention for Lifelong Covenant (found at the end of this outline).
- 3. About Presenters For the Couple (found at the end of this outline).
- 4. Information for Presenters (found at the end of this outline).

Outline of Session One

- Pray together.
- Get to know one another (varies as to how well the preparer knows the couple).
- Explore the couples' religious backgrounds, their experiences with the church(es), and their reasons for being in this congregation.
- Reflect on the theological significance of the couple's relationship. The handout *Theological Reflection* on Covenantal Relationship: Spiritual Practice for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples may be useful in this discussion. (This reflection might be moved to a later session.)
- Review and ask the couple to sign the Declaration of Intention for Lifelong Covenant.
- Walk through the blessing rite or marriage rites, raising theological issues and naming liturgical choices:
 - Discuss the eucharist as normative in the service. However, including a celebration of the eucharist may not be appropriate if only one member of the couple is Christian.
 - Emphasize the difference between a civil service and an ecclesial blessing.
 - Answer general questions regarding details of the service and the Church's practice.
 - Introduce the possibility of presenters.

At the end of the session, provide written handouts and suggest "homework" topics for the couple to think about for Sessions Two and Three:

- Families of origin and growing up in them:
 - What worked and didn't work so well in their families of origin (this topic may also influence work in Session Four).
 - Family Church/religious history as well as each individual's history positive and negative with the Church/religion.
- Marriages of family members, particularly parents:
 - Parents' ways of dealing with conflict.
 - Parents' styles of child-rearing.
 - Family tolerance of children's sexual orientation or gender identity.

Session Two: Learning from the Past, Part 1

This session provides a time for one member of the couple to speak and for the other to listen. Session Two opens with prayer, then looks back to focus upon the relationship of one partner with his/her family of origin, including exploring the marriage(s) of his/her parents and siblings and, if possible, grandparents and close friends. This discussion includes what the individual would or would not replicate from the past in his/her own ongoing and future relationships, particularly the relationship that is to be blessed. In addition, the individual can look at levels of acceptance of his/her relationship by his/her family and at other issues from family of origin and childhood.

The guiding assumption underlying this analysis is that certain issues are replicated from generation to generation, and that, once the issues are identified, individuals can choose to continue those patterns or deliberately alter them. This session works most effectively if the conversation flows naturally, rather than following a rigid interview, and if it includes the following important areas:

- Family: number and birth order of siblings.
- Money: its role and influence in the family.
- Sex: attitudes in family of origin about monogamy, fidelity, and the role of sex in relationship.
- Alcohol and drugs: their places within the family as children grew.
- In-laws: relationship with in-laws and greater family.
- Children:
 - agreement or disagreement between parents about child-rearing.
 - the individual's feelings about being a child in his/her family.
- Conflict: parents' methods of arguing and disagreeing.

As the conversation concludes, the preparer invites the individual to identify what he/she would or would not replicate in his/her own adult relationship with the life partner. Following that, the silent partner is given the floor to comment on what he/she has heard and learned, especially any surprises.

Session Three: Learning from the Past, Part 2

This session continues the look back by extending the chance for the other member of the couple to speak about his/her family of origin. Both members of the couple need the opportunity to explore the topics and to hear each other's stories so that each can learn and appreciate more deeply what the other brings to their relationship.

Session Three, which also begins with prayer, duplicates with the second person the process with the first from Session Two. If time permits at the end, the couple might discuss the impact of family history on their own relationship.

Session Four: Looking to the Future

This session, an opportunity to look at the relationship today and into the future, invites the couple to name areas in the relationship that appear strong and supportive while also opening a space to identify and address areas that may be problematic. Thoughts, questions, and new information from previous sessions may help determine where the couple is today and where their relationship and household may need attention in the future.

After opening with prayer, this session should include discussion of:

- The couple's relationship in general: in-depth exploration of where they have been and where they are now.
- The role of sex and intimacy in the relationship (for example, potential changes of sexual behavior as a result of committing to a monogamous relationship).
- The role of alcohol and drugs in the relationship.
- Money (for example, household finances and financial planning).
- Legal protections (for example, medical and financial durable powers-of-attorney, wills, living wills, and insurance).
- Household roles (for example, who takes out the trash, who keeps the social calendar).
- Communication:
 - How the couple talks things through.
 - What happens when they disagree.
- Concerns for the future.
- Decision-making as a couple.

- Dealing with families as individuals (one's own as well as one's partner's) and as a couple.
- Support networks, now and in the future.

Session Four concludes with a discussion of the need for boundaries between generations so that the couples' life as a unit may be seen as distinct from older and younger generations.

Session Five: Liturgical Decisions and Wrap-up

Session Five, focused on the blessing service itself, is an opportunity to make choices for the liturgy, based on the *Theological Reflection on Covenantal Relationship* handed out (and discussed) at the first session. The depth of this discussion will be determined by what was or was not addressed in Session One. In addition, as the final session, Session Five serves as a time to consider questions that may have arisen from previous sessions.

Outline of Session Five

- Pray together.
- Address questions and concerns regarding previous sessions and other issues that have arisen.
- Review theological reflections in light of previous sessions and what is to come. The preparer can help the couple connect the spiritual practices of their life as a couple and the "staging" of the service. For example, will they process into the service together or separately, or will they be already in the worship space as the liturgy begins? Will they sit together during the Ministry of the Word or across the aisle from one another?
- Discuss details of the service itself:
 - Scripture (which passages speak particularly to the couple's life together) and whether nonbiblical readings may be included.
 - Will the liturgy take place at the congregation's principal weekly celebration? Is celebration of the eucharist to be omitted for pastoral reasons?
 - Other liturgical choices, especially:
 - Which collect will be used?
 - Which of the two vows will be used?
 - Will rings be exchanged, or, if rings have already been worn, are they to be blessed?
 - What music, if any, will be included? (The couple should consult with the congregation's musician.)
- Discuss presenters and their roles in supporting the couple in the service and in their ongoing life.

In closing, the preparer can assure the couple that they have done hard and important work together, work that is a gift both to the preparer and to the couple. The preparer can express his or her eager anticipation of the couple's blessing and of meeting their close and extended families, seeing them with their friends, and celebrating their relationship in the sight of God.

Handouts for

"Hearing, Seeing, and Declaring New Things"

Contents

- 1. Theological Reflection on Covenantal Relationship: Spiritual Practice for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples
- 2. Declaration of Intention for Lifelong Covenant
- 3. About Presenters For the Couple
- 4. Information for Presenters
- 5. Model Congregational Guidelines

The Declaration of Intention requires the replacement of N.N. and N. N. in the first sentence with the couple's names.

Handouts 3 and 4 are designed for use with the liturgies "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant" and "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Marriage." The preparer should insert the correct title of the rite. These handouts may be modified if one of the other marriage liturgies is to be used.

Handouts 3 through 5 are samples that may be adapted for the use of a specific congregation. In these, "N. Episcopal Church" should be replaced with the congregation's name, and a similar change made for "Episcopal Diocese of X."

Handout 1

Theological Reflection on Covenantal Relationship: Spiritual Practice for Gender and Sexual Minority Couples

Christian Life and Covenants

All Christians are called to bear witness to the good news of God's love and grace in Jesus Christ, through the power of the Holy Spirit. We are empowered for such witness by our covenantal relationship with God.

Baptism initiates us into that covenant, making us Christ's own forever and members of Christ's Body, the Church. The eucharist sustains us in that covenantal life and strengthens us to be Christ's witnesses in the world.

Our covenantal life with God is expressed in relationships of commitment and faithfulness, including those of gender and sexual minority couples. It is the Church's joy to celebrate these relationships as signs of God's love, to pray for God's grace to support couples in their life together, and to join with these couples in our shared witness to the gospel in the world.

Themes for Theological Reflection and Spiritual Practice

A sacramental framework for covenantal relationships offers a way to reflect on the grace of Christ and the fruit of the Spirit in the lives of faithful, committed couples. Several theological themes can assist couples as they consider their covenantal vows as a form of spiritual practice:

- Vocation: God calls people into various kinds of relationship, whether as single people, in
 monastic communities, or as intimate couples. These vocational callings can empower our
 witness to the gospel. The decision to enter into a covenantal union is a vocation marked by
 these characteristics: "fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest
 communication, and the holy love which enables those in such relationships to see in each other
 the image of God."
- Households: Covenantal relationships are often lived in households in which we practice daily the
 giving of ourselves for the good of another. While households take many different forms, they
 create a space of mutual trust and accountability. The joy, intimacy, and shared vulnerability of
 households can thus help us learn the spiritual disciplines of compassion, forgiveness, and
 reconciliation in lives of committed monogamy and fidelity.
- Fruitfulness: The divine grace that sustains a covenantal relationship bears fruit in countless ways, not only for the couple but for the wider community as well. Covenanted couples manifest this grace in their shared gifts for ministry and in lives of service, generosity, and hospitality.
- Mutual Blessing: A blessed relationship is set apart for a divine purpose: to bear witness to the creating, redeeming, and sanctifying love of God in the world. As the Spirit empowers the couple for this witness, the Church is likewise blessed and strengthened for its mission and ministry.

In all of these ways and more, the blessing of a relationship invites the couple and the whole Church to renew our commitment to the Baptismal Covenant. That commitment is expressed by *faith* in the good news of Jesus Christ, in the *hope* for union with God that Christ promised, and with the *love* that knits us together as the Body of Christ. As the apostle Paul says, we live our life together as God's people with faith, hope, and love. And the greatest of these is love (1 Corinthians 13:13).

Handout 2

Declaration of Intention for Lifelong Covenant

NOTE: This template is presented for use with gender and sexual minority couples since a similar declaration is required by the Canons of the Episcopal Church (Canon I.18.3[d-g]) for different-sex/gender couples prior to their marriage.

In the Name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit. Amen.

We, N. N. and N. N., desiring to receive the blessing of a Lifelong Covenant, do solemnly declare that we hold this covenant to be our lifelong commitment as provided by The Episcopal Church gathered in General Convention.

We believe that our covenant is intended by God for our mutual joy, for the encouragement and support given one another in daily life and changing circumstances, for bringing God's grace to our community, for the deepening of faith as we experience God's love in our love for one another, and (if it may be) for the physical and spiritual nurture of children. This covenant shall be nurtured and characterized by fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest communication, and the holy love which shall enable us to see in each other the image of God.

And we do engage ourselves, so far as in us lies, to make our utmost effort to establish this covenant and to seek God's help hereto.

Signature	Signature	
Date		

Sample Handout 3

About Presenters—For the Couple

At N. Episcopal Church, we consider "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant" ["The Witnessing and Blessing of a Marriage"] to be a celebration supported by the congregation, much as candidates for baptism are supported by all the members of the Church. Just as those who are baptized are initiated into the full life of the Church, those who receive the Church's blessing upon their relationship are embraced in a new way in the faith community.

The Blessing Liturgy

The presentation takes place immediately after the sermon, as follows:

The couple comes before the assembly. If there is to be a presentation, the presenters stand with the couple, and the Presider says to them

Presider Who presents N. and N., as they seek the blessing of God and the Church on

their love and life together?

Presenters We do.

Presider Will you love, respect, and pray for N. and N., and do all in your power to

stand with them in the life they will share?

Presenters We will.

Choosing Presenters

There are a variety of possibilities for choosing presenters who will stand with you and present you at the liturgy. It can be helpful to choose at least one member of this faith community to walk with you through this process. If you are new to the congregation, the priest (or other person designated) can help you discern whom you might consider. The selection of a couple mature in their relationship can be particularly helpful if you are just beginning your life together. Often, couples will choose their own parents, children, or other supportive family members to be their presenters.

Presenters can pray for you during the period of preparation before your blessing, keep you connected to the congregation, and continue to support you in your ongoing covenanted life together.

Finally, in choosing, remember that these people will stand with you during the liturgy and present you at this rite. Also remember that, immediately after you are presented, the entire congregation will vow to support you as you, in turn, become a blessing and bear grace to the entire congregation.

Because presenters serve an important role before and after the blessing, you and your clergyperson should talk early about selecting presenters, so that your prayerful partnership may begin as soon as possible.

Sample Handout 4

Information for Presenters

At N. Episcopal Church, we consider the "Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant" to be a celebration supported by the congregation, much as candidates for baptism are supported by all the members of the Church. Just as those who are baptized are initiated into the full life of the Church, those who receive the Church's blessing upon their relationship are embraced in a new way in the faith community.

At the blessing service, you present the couple to the presider and to the assembly, as follows:

The couple comes before the assembly. If there is to be a presentation, the presenters stand with the couple, and the Presider says to them

Presider Who presents N. and N., as they seek the blessing of God and the Church on

their love and life together?

Presenters We do.

Presider Will you love, respect, and pray for N. and N., and do all in your power to

stand with them in the life they will share?

Presenters We will.

As a presenter, your role begins even before the blessing. We encourage you to pray for the couple both privately and in the Prayers of the People at Sunday services during their period of preparation. You can continue to support their ongoing life by acknowledging the anniversary of their blessing [marriage] and offering your presence whenever their household experiences times of difficulty or celebrates occasions of joy. If you are a member of the congregation, you also have a role in keeping them connected to others in the congregation.

As a presenter, you promise to support the couple as they become a blessing and bear grace to their families and friends, the Church, and the world. In this role, then, you are a witness to the blessing given and received in the liturgy and carried forth by the couple into the world.

Sample Handout 5

Model Congregational Guidelines

NOTE: Most congregations adopt some form of marriage policy expressing norms and guidelines for different-sex/gender couples preparing for marriage. All congregations may engage in a helpful and fruitful exercise to develop guidelines that reflect the Christian community in which they worship; the guidelines that are developed should apply to both different-sex/gender couples and gender and sexual minority couples. Obviously, such a policy is optional at the discretion of the clergy in consultation with the vestry or bishop's committee. As always with liturgical matters, final decisions are the responsibility of the clergy. Following is a model of a guideline that applies for all couples preparing for marriage or a blessing. It may be modified to meet specific situations and needs.

Information for All Couples Seeking the Church's Blessing at N. Episcopal Church

A. Introduction

The Christian community at N. Episcopal Church understands that relationships are complex and that making a lifelong commitment to a relationship through a marriage or blessing is a significant, exciting, and wonderfilled event in people's lives. We also believe that a Christian community that agrees to bless such a relationship needs to be intentional about supporting the couple as they prepare for the blessing and as they live out their lives.

We understand that committed, lifelong relationships, whether for gender and sexual minority couples or different-sex/gender couples, are to be outward and visible signs of an inward, spiritual, and God-given love. In this context, *N.* Episcopal Church seeks to support all couples in their commitment to one another and to help make the love of God more visible for the whole community.

B. Guidelines

The following guidelines have been adopted by the lay and ordained leaders of N. Episcopal Church:

- 1. As required for different-sex/gender couples seeking marriage according to the Book of Common Prayer, at least one member of a gender and sexual minority couple must be baptized.
- 2. It is desirable that at least one member of the couple be an active member of this, or some other, Christian community. We hope this membership might include giving serious, prayerful consideration to supporting the congregation through time, talent, and/or treasure.
- 3. Approximately six months' notice should be given to allow for planning and pastoral preparation.
- 4. If the couple has no connection with N. Episcopal Church but wishes to have the blessing at N. Episcopal Church or to use the services of N. Episcopal Church's priest:
 - They should be able to show that at least one of the couple has active membership in another Episcopal or Christian congregation.
 - They need to complete marriage or blessing preparation with their own or other clergyperson or a qualified lay preparer.

• They might consider making a financial contribution to *N*. Episcopal Church in thanksgiving for their marriage or blessing and for the ongoing support of the Church, its ministry and mission. A creative formula to calculate this contribution might be to consider a tithe (10 percent) of the budget for the entire celebration. (Clergy have discretion here, as resources vary greatly from couple to couple. Also, if a couple is returning to Church for the first time, an unconditional welcome may be the best pastoral response.)

In all cases, it is important that all concerned comply with the laws of the State, the Canons of the Episcopal Church, and the canons and policies of the Episcopal Diocese of *X*, as well as the directives of the diocesan bishop, including compliance with diocesan policies for cases in which the relationship is not the first marriage or committed relationship for one or both people.

V. LITURGICAL RESOURCES

for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships

Contents

- 1. The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant
- 2. The Witnessing and Blessing of a Marriage
- 3. The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage (2)
 - a. The Blessing of a Civil Marriage
 - b. An Order for Marriage
- 4. The Form of Solemnization of Matrimony

1. The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant

Concerning the Service

This rite is appropriately celebrated in the context of the Holy Eucharist and may take place at the principal Sunday Liturgy. This rite then replaces the Ministry of the Word. A bishop or priest normally presides. Parallel texts from *Enriching Our Worship 1* are included as options for elements of this rite.

At least one of the couple must be a baptized Christian.

Two or more presenters, who may be friends, parents, family members, or drawn from the local assembly, may present the couple to the presider and the assembly.

As indicated in the opening address, the consent, and the blessing of the rings, the rite may be modified for use with a couple who have previously made a lifelong commitment to one another.

The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant

The Word of God

Gathering

The couple to be blessed joins the assembly.

A hymn of praise, psalm, or anthem may be sung, or instrumental music may be played.

The Presider says the following, the People standing

Presider Blessed be God: Father, Son, and Holy Spirit.
People Blessed be God, now and for ever. Amen.

In place of the above may be said

Presider Blessed be the one, holy, and living God.

People Glory to God for ever and ever.

From Easter Day through the Day of Pentecost

Presider Alleluia. Christ is risen.

People The Lord is risen indeed. Alleluia.

In place of the above may be said

Presider Alleluia. Christ is risen.

People Christ is risen indeed. Alleluia.

Then may be said

Presider Beloved, let us love one another,

People For love is of God.

Presider Whoever does not love does not know God,

People For God is love.

Presider Since God so loves us, People Let us love one another.

The Presider may address the assembly in these words

Dear friends in Christ, or Dearly beloved,

in the name of God and the Church

we have come together today with N. N. and N. N.,

to witness the vows they make, committing themselves to one another. Forsaking all others, they will bind themselves to one another in a covenant of mutual fidelity and steadfast love, remaining true to one another in heart, body, and mind, as long as they both shall live.

Such a lifelong commitment is not to be entered into lightly or thoughtlessly, but responsibly and with reverence.

Let us pray, then, that God will give them the strength to remain steadfast in what they vow this day.

Let us also pray for the generosity to support them in the commitment they undertake, and for the wisdom to see God at work in their life together.

Or this, for those who have previously made a lifelong commitment to one another

Dear friends in Christ [or Dearly beloved], in the name of God and the Church, we have come together with N. N. and N. N., to witness the sacred vows they make as they solemnize [or reaffirm] their commitment to one another. Today they renew their covenant of mutual fidelity and steadfast love, forsaking all others and remaining true to one another in heart, body, and mind, as long as they both shall live.

Let us pray, then, that God will give them the strength to remain steadfast in what they vow this day. Let us also pray for the generosity to support them in the commitment they undertake, and for the wisdom to see God at work in their life together.

The Collect of the Day

Presider The Lord be with you. or God be with you.

People And also with you.

Presider Let us pray.

The Presider says one of the following Collects

God of abundance: assist by your grace *N.* and *N.*, whose covenant of love and fidelity we witness this day. Grant them your protection, that with firm resolve they may honor and keep the vows they make; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who lives and reigns with you in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen.*

or this

Almighty and everliving God: look tenderly upon N. and N., who stand before you in the company of your Church. Let their life together bring them great joy. Grant them so to love selflessly and live humbly, that they may be to one another and to the world a witness and a sign of your never-failing love and care; through Jesus Christ your Son our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, to the ages of ages. Amen.

or this

O God, faithful and true, whose steadfast love endures for ever: we give you thanks for sustaining N. and N. in the life they share and for bringing them to this day.

Nurture them and fill them with joy in their life together, continuing the good work you have begun in them; and grant us, with them, a dwelling place eternal in the heavens where all your people will share the joy of perfect love, and where you, with the Son and the Holy Spirit, live and reign, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

or this, for those who bring children

Holy Trinity, one God, three Persons perfect in unity and equal in majesty: Draw together with bonds of love and affection N. and N., who with their families seek to live in harmony and forbearance all their days, that their joining together will be to us a reflection of that perfect communion which is your very essence and life, O Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, who live and reign in glory everlasting. Amen.

The Lessons

The people sit. Then one or more of the following passages of Scripture is read. If the Holy Communion is to be celebrated, a passage from the Gospels always concludes the Readings. When the blessing is celebrated in the context of the Sunday Eucharist, the Readings of the Sunday are used, except with the permission of the Bishop.

Ruth 1:16–17 Ecclesiastes 4:9–12

1 Samuel 18:1b, 3; 20:16–17; 42a; Song of Solomon 2:10–13; 8:6–7

or 1 Samuel 18:1–4 Micah 4:1–4

Romans 12:9–18 Ephesians 3:14–21

1 Corinthians 12:31b–13:13 Colossians 3:12–17

2 Corinthians 5:17–20 1 John 3:18–24

Galatians 5:14, 22–26 1 John 4:7–16, 21

When a biblical passage other than one from the Gospels is to be read, the Reader announces it with these words

Reader A Reading from ______

After the Reading, the Reader may say

The Word of the Lord.

or Hear what the Spirit is saying to God's people. or Hear what the Spirit is saying to the Churches.

People Thanks be to God.

Between the Readings, a psalm, hymn, or anthem may be sung or said. Appropriate psalms are Psalm 65, Psalm 67, Psalm 85:7–13, Psalm 98, Psalm 100, Psalm 126, Psalm 127, Psalm 133, Psalm 148, and Psalm 149:1–5.

Appropriate passages from the Gospels are

Matthew 5:1–16 John 15:9–17 Mark 12:28–34 John 17:1–2, 18–26

Luke 6:32-38

All standing, the Deacon or Priest reads the Gospel, first saying

The Holy Gospel of our Lord Jesus Christ according to ______

or The Holy Gospel of our Savior Jesus Christ according to _____

People Glory to you, Lord Christ.

After the Gospel, the Reader says

The Gospel of the Lord.

People Praise to you, Lord Christ.

The Sermon

The Witnessing of the Vows and the Blessing of the Covenant

The couple comes before the assembly. If there is to be a presentation, the presenters stand with the couple, and the Presider says to them

Presider Who presents N. and N., as they seek the blessing of God and the Church on their love and life

together?

Presenters We do.

Presider Will you love, respect, and pray for N. and N., and do all in your power to stand with them in

the life they will share?

Presenters We will.

The Presider then addresses the couple, saying

N. and N., you have come before God and the Church to exchange [and renew] solemn vows

with one another and to ask God's blessing.

The Presider addresses one member of the couple, saying

Presider N., do you freely and unreservedly offer yourself to N.?

Answer I do.

Presider Will you [continue to] live together in faithfulness and holiness of life as long as you both shall

live?

Answer I will, with God's help.

The Presider addresses the other member of the couple, saying

Presider N., do you freely and unreservedly offer yourself to N.?

Answer I do.

Presider Will you [continue to] live together in faithfulness and holiness of life as long as you both shall

live?

Answer I will, with God's help.

The assembly stands, the couple faces the People, and the Presider addresses them, saying

Presider Will all of you gathered to witness these vows do all in your power to uphold and honor this

couple in the covenant they make?

People We will.

Presider Will you pray for them, especially in times of trouble, and celebrate with them in times of joy?

People We will.

The Prayers

The Presider then introduces the prayers

Presider Then let us pray for N. and N. in their life together and for the concerns of this community.

A Deacon or another leader bids prayers for the couple.

Prayers for the Church and for the world, for the concerns of the local community, for those who suffer or face trouble, and for the departed are also appropriate. If the rite takes place in the principal Sunday worship of the congregation, the rubric concerning the Prayers of the People on page 359 of the Book of Common Prayer is followed.

Adaptations or insertions may be made to the form that follows.

A bar in the margin indicates a bidding that may be omitted.

Leader For N. and N., seeking your blessing and the blessing of your holy people;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For a spirit of loving-kindness to shelter them all their days;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For friends to support them and communities to enfold them;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For peace in their home and love in their family;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For the grace and wisdom to care for the children you entrust to them [or may entrust to

them];

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For the honesty to acknowledge when they hurt each other, and the humility to seek each

other's forgiveness and yours;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For the outpouring of your love through their work and witness;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For the strength to keep the vows each of us has made;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

The leader may add one or more of the following biddings

Leader For all who have been reborn and made new in the waters of Baptism;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For those who lead and serve in communities of faith;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For those who seek justice, peace, and concord among nations;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For those who are sick or suffering, homeless or poor;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For victims of violence and those who inflict it;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For communion with all who have died, [especially those whom we remember

this day: ______];

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

The Presider concludes the Prayers with the following or another appropriate Collect

Giver of every gift, source of all goodness,

hear the prayers we bring before you for N. and N.,

who seek your blessing this day.

Strengthen them as they share in the saving work of Jesus, and bring about for them and for all you have created

the fullness of life he promised,

who now lives and reigns for ever and ever. Amen.

If the Eucharist is to follow, the Lord's Prayer is omitted here.

Leader As our Savior Christ And now, as our Savior

has taught us, Christ has taught us, we now pray, we are bold to say,

People

and Leader Our Father in heaven, Our Father, who art in heaven,

hallowed be your Name, hallowed be thy Name,

your kingdom come,
your will be done,
on earth as in heaven.
Give us today our daily bread.
Forgive us our sins
as we forgive those
who sin against us.
Save us from the time of trial,
and deliver us from evil.
For the kingdom, the power,
and the glory are yours,
now and for ever. Amen.

thy kingdom come,
thy will be done,
on earth as it is in heaven.
Give us this day our daily bread.
And forgive us our trespasses,
as we forgive those
who trespass against us.
And lead us not into temptation,
but deliver us from evil.
For thine is the kingdom,
and the power, and the glory,
for ever and ever. Amen.

The Commitment

The People sit. The couple stands, facing the Presider.

Presider

N. and N., I invite you now, illumined by the Word of God and strengthened by the prayer of this community, to make your covenant before God and the Church.

Each member of the couple, in turn, takes the hand of the other and says

In the name of God, I, N., give myself to you, N.
I will support and care for you by the grace of God: in times of sickness, in times of health.
I will hold and cherish you in the love of Christ: in times of plenty, in times of want.
I will honor and keep you with the Spirit's help: in times of anguish, in times of joy, forsaking all others, as long as we both shall live. This is my solemn vow.

or this

In the name of God,
I, N., give myself to you, N.
I will support and care for you:
in times of sickness, in times of health.
I will hold and cherish you:
in times of plenty, in times of want.
I will honor and love you:
in times of anguish, in times of joy,
forsaking all others, as long as we both shall live.
This is my solemn yow.

If rings are to be exchanged, they are brought before the Presider, who prays using the following words

Let us pray.

Bless, O God, these rings as signs of the enduring covenant *N.* and *N.* have made with each other, through Jesus Christ our Lord. *Amen.*

The two people place the rings on the fingers of one another, first the one, then the other, saying

N., I give you this ring as a symbol of my vow, and with all that I am, and all that I have, I honor you, in the name of God. or in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit.

If the two have previously given and worn rings as a symbol of their commitment, the rings may be blessed on the hands of the couple, the Presider saying

Let us pray.

By the rings which they have worn, faithful God, N. and N. have shown to one another and the world their love and faithfulness.
Bless now these rings, that from this day forward they may be signs of the vows N. and N. have exchanged in your presence and in the communion of your Church, through Christ our Lord. Amen.

Pronouncement

The Presider says

Now that *N.* and *N.* have exchanged vows of love and fidelity in the presence of God and the Church, I now pronounce that they are bound to one another as long as they both shall live. *Amen.*

Blessing of the Couple

As the couple stands or kneels, the Presider invokes God's blessing upon them, saying

Let us pray.

Most gracious God, we praise you for the tender mercy and unfailing care revealed to us in Jesus the Christ and for the great joy and comfort bestowed upon us in the gift of human love.

We give you thanks for N. and N., and the covenant of faithfulness they have made.

Pour out the abundance of your Holy Spirit upon them. Keep them in your steadfast love; protect them from all danger; fill them with your wisdom and peace; lead them in holy service to each other and the world.

The Presider continues with one of the following

God the Father, God the Son, God the Holy Spirit, bless, preserve, and keep you, and mercifully grant you rich and boundless grace, that you may please God in body and soul. God make you a sign of the loving-kindness and steadfast fidelity manifest in the life, death, and resurrection of our Savior, and bring you at last to the delight of the heavenly banquet, where he lives and reigns for ever and ever. Amen.

or this

God, the holy and undivided Trinity, bless, preserve, and keep you, and mercifully grant you rich and boundless grace, that you may please God in body and soul. God make you a sign of the loving-kindness and steadfast fidelity manifest in the life, death, and resurrection of our Savior, and bring you at last to the delight of the heavenly banquet, where he lives and reigns for ever and ever. Amen.

The Peace

The Presider bids the Peace.

Presider The peace of the Lord be always with you.

People And also with you.

In place of the above may be said

Presider The peace of Christ be always with you.

People And also with you.

The liturgy continues with the Holy Communion. When the Eucharist is not celebrated, the Presider blesses the people. The Deacon, or in the absence of a Deacon, the Priest, dismisses them.

At the Eucharist

The liturgy continues with the Offertory, at which the couple may present the offerings of bread and wine.

The following proper preface may be said.

Because in the giving of two people to each other in faithful love you reveal the joy and abundant life you share with your Son Jesus Christ and the Holy Spirit.

The following postcommunion prayer may be said.

God our strength and joy, we thank you for the communion of our life together, for the example of holy love that you give us in N. and N., and for the Sacrament of the Body and Blood of our Savior Jesus Christ.

Grant that it may renew our hope and nourish us for the work you set before us to witness to the presence of Christ in the world, through the power of your Spirit, and to the glory of your Name. Amen.

2. The Witnessing and Blessing of a Marriage

Concerning the Service

This rite is appropriately celebrated in the context of the Holy Eucharist and may take place at the principal Sunday Liturgy. This rite then replaces the Ministry of the Word. A bishop or priest normally presides. Parallel texts from *Enriching Our Worship 1* are included as options for elements of this rite.

At least one of the couple must be a baptized Christian.

Two or more presenters, who may be friends, parents, family members, or drawn from the local assembly, may present the couple to the presider and the assembly.

As indicated in the opening address, the consent, and the blessing of the rings, the rite may be modified for use with a couple who have previously made a lifelong commitment to one another.

The Witnessing and Blessing of a Marriage

The Word of God

Gathering

The couple to be blessed joins the assembly.

A hymn of praise, psalm, or anthem may be sung, or instrumental music may be played.

The Presider says the following, the People standing

Presider Blessed be God: Father, Son, and Holy Spirit.
People Blessed be God, now and for ever. Amen.

In place of the above may be said

Presider Blessed be the one, holy, and living God.

People Glory to God for ever and ever.

From Easter Day through the Day of Pentecost

Presider Alleluia. Christ is risen.

People The Lord is risen indeed. Alleluia.

In place of the above may be said

Presider Alleluia. Christ is risen.

People Christ is risen indeed. Alleluia.

Then may be said

Presider Beloved, let us love one another,

People For love is of God.

Presider Whoever does not love does not know God,

People For God is love.

Presider Since God so loves us, People Let us love one another.

The Presider may address the assembly in these words

Dear friends in Christ, or Dearly beloved,

in the name of God and the Church

we have come together today with N. N. and N. N.,

to witness the vows they make, committing themselves to one another in marriage according to the laws of the state [or civil jurisdiction] of X. Forsaking all others, they will bind themselves to one another in a covenant of mutual fidelity and steadfast love, remaining true to one another in heart, body, and mind, as long as they both shall live.

The lifelong commitment of marriage is not to be entered into lightly or thoughtlessly, but responsibly and with reverence.

Let us pray, then, that God will give them the strength to remain steadfast in what they vow this day.

Let us also pray for the generosity to support them in the commitment they undertake and for the wisdom to see God at work in their life together.

Or this, for those who have previously made a lifelong commitment to one another

Dear friends in Christ, or Dearly beloved, in the name of God and the Church we have come together today with N. N. and N. N. to witness the sacred vows they make this day as they solemnize their marriage according to the laws of the state [or civil jurisdiction] of X., and reaffirm their commitment to one another. Forsaking all others, they will renew their covenant of mutual fidelity and steadfast love, remaining true to one another in heart, body, and mind, as long as they both shall live.

Let us pray, then, that God will give them the strength to remain steadfast in what they vow this day.
Let us also pray for the generosity to support them in the commitment they undertake, and for the wisdom to see God at work in their life together.

The Collect of the Day

Presider The Lord be with you. or God be with you.

People And also with you.

Presider Let us pray.

The Presider says one of the following Collects

God of abundance:

assist by your grace N. and N.,

whose covenant of love and fidelity we witness this day. Grant them your protection, that with firm resolve they may honor and keep the vows they make;

through Jesus Christ our Savior,

who lives and reigns with you in the unity of the Holy Spirit,

one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

or this

Almighty and everliving God: look tenderly upon *N.* and *N.*, who stand before you in the company of your Church. Let their life together bring them great joy. Grant them so to love selflessly and live humbly, that they may be to one another and to the world a witness and a sign of your never-failing love and care; through Jesus Christ your Son our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, to the ages of ages. *Amen.*

or this

O God, faithful and true, whose steadfast love endures for ever: we give you thanks for sustaining N. and N. in the life they share and for bringing them to this day. Nurture them and fill them with joy in their life together, continuing the good work you have begun in them; and grant us, with them, a dwelling place eternal in the heavens where all your people will share the joy of perfect love, and where you, with the Son and the Holy Spirit, live and reign, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

or this, for those who bring children

Holy Trinity, one God, three Persons perfect in unity and equal in majesty: Draw together with bonds of love and affection N. and N., who with their families seek to live in harmony and forbearance all their days, that their joining together will be to us a reflection of that perfect communion which is your very essence and life, O Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, who live and reign in glory everlasting. Amen.

The Lessons

The people sit. Then one or more of the following passages of Scripture is read. If the Holy Communion is to be celebrated, a passage from the Gospels always concludes the Readings. When the blessing is celebrated in the context of the Sunday Eucharist, the Readings of the Sunday are used, except with the permission of the Bishop.

When a biblical passage other than one from the Gospels is to be read, the Reader announces it with these words

Reader A Reading from ______

After the Reading, the Reader may say

The Word of the Lord.

or Hear what the Spirit is saying to God's people. or Hear what the Spirit is saying to the Churches.

People Thanks be to God.

Between the Readings, a psalm, hymn, or anthem may be sung or said. Appropriate psalms are Psalm 65, Psalm 67, Psalm 85:7–13, Psalm 98, Psalm 100, Psalm 126, Psalm 127, Psalm 133, Psalm 148, and Psalm 149:1–5.

Appropriate passages from the Gospels are

Matthew 5:1–16 John 15:9–17 Mark 12:28–34 John 17:1–2, 18–26

Luke 6:32-38

All standing, the Deacon or Priest reads the Gospel, first saying

The Holy Gospel of our Lord Jesus Christ according to ______

or The Holy Gospel of our Savior Jesus Christ according to _____

People Glory to you, Lord Christ.

After the Gospel, the Reader says

The Gospel of the Lord.

People Praise to you, Lord Christ.

The Sermon

The Witnessing of the Vows and the Blessing of the Covenant

The couple comes before the assembly. If there is to be a presentation, the presenters stand with the couple, and the Presider says to them

Presider Who presents N. and N., as they seek the blessing of God and the Church on their love and life

together?

Presenters We do.

Presider Will you love, respect, and pray for N. and N., and do all in your power to stand with them in

the life they will share?

Presenters We will.

The Presider then addresses the couple, saying

N. and N., you have come before God and the Church to exchange and renew solemn vows

with one another and to ask God's blessing.

The Presider addresses one member of the couple, saying

Presider N., do you freely and unreservedly offer yourself to N.?

Answer I do.

Presider Will you continue to live together in faithfulness and holiness of life as long as you both shall

live?

Answer I will, with God's help.

The Presider addresses the other member of the couple, saying

Presider N., do you freely and unreservedly offer yourself to N.?

Answer I do.

Presider Will you continue to live together in faithfulness and holiness of life as long as you both shall

live?

Answer I will, with God's help.

The assembly stands, the couple faces the People, and the Presider addresses them, saying

Presider Will all of you gathered to witness these vows do all in your power to uphold and honor this

couple in the covenant they make?

People We will.

Presider Will you pray for them, especially in times of trouble, and celebrate with them in times of joy?

People We will.

The Prayers

The Presider then introduces the prayers

Presider Then let us pray for N. and N. in their life together and for the concerns of this community.

A Deacon or another leader bids prayers for the couple.

Prayers for the Church and for the world, for the concerns of the local community, for those who suffer or face trouble, and for the departed are also appropriate. If the rite takes place in the principal Sunday worship of the congregation, the rubric concerning the Prayers of the People on page 359 of the Book of Common Prayer is followed.

Adaptations or insertions may be made to the form that follows.

A bar in the margin indicates a bidding that may be omitted.

Leader For N. and N., seeking your blessing and the blessing of your holy people;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For a spirit of loving-kindness to shelter them all their days;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For friends to support them and communities to enfold them;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For peace in their home and love in their family;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For the grace and wisdom to care for the children you entrust to them [or may entrust to

them];

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For the honesty to acknowledge when they hurt each other, and the humility to seek each

other's forgiveness and yours;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For the outpouring of your love through their work and witness;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For the strength to keep the vows each of us has made;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

The leader may add one or more of the following biddings

Leader For all who have been reborn and made new in the waters of Baptism;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For those who lead and serve in communities of faith;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For those who seek justice, peace, and concord among nations;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For those who are sick or suffering, homeless or poor;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For victims of violence and those who inflict it;

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

Leader For communion with all who have died [especially those whom we remember

this day: ______];

Loving God, or Lord, in your mercy,

People Hear our prayer.

The Presider concludes the Prayers with the following or another appropriate Collect

Giver of every gift, source of all goodness,

hear the prayers we bring before you for N. and N.,

who seek your blessing this day.

Strengthen them as they share in the saving work of Jesus, and bring about for them and for all you have created

the fullness of life he promised,

who now lives and reigns for ever and ever. Amen.

If the Eucharist is to follow, the Lord's Prayer is omitted here.

Leader As our Savior Christ And now, as our Savior

has taught us, Christ has taught us, we now pray, we are bold to say,

People

and Leader Our Father in heaven, Our Father, who art in heaven,

hallowed be your Name, hallowed be thy Name,

your kingdom come,
your will be done,
on earth as in heaven.
Give us today our daily bread.
Forgive us our sins
as we forgive those
who sin against us.
Save us from the time of trial,
and deliver us from evil.
For the kingdom, the power,
and the glory are yours,
now and for ever. Amen.

thy kingdom come,
thy will be done,
on earth as it is in heaven.
Give us this day our daily bread.
And forgive us our trespasses,
as we forgive those
who trespass against us.
And lead us not into temptation,
but deliver us from evil.
For thine is the kingdom,
and the power, and the glory,
for ever and ever. Amen.

The Marriage

The People sit. The couple stands, facing the Presider.

Presider

N. and N., I invite you now, illumined by the Word of God and strengthened by the prayer of this community, to make your covenant before God and the Church.

Each member of the couple, in turn, takes the hand of the other and says

In the name of God, I, N., give myself to you, N.
I will support and care for you by the grace of God: in times of sickness, in times of health.
I will hold and cherish you in the love of Christ: in times of plenty, in times of want.
I will honor and love you with the Spirit's help: in times of anguish, in times of joy, forsaking all others, as long as we both shall live. This is my solemn vow.

or this

In the name of God,
I, N., give myself to you, N.
I will support and care for you:
in times of sickness, in times of health.
I will hold and cherish you:
in times of plenty, in times of want.
I will honor and love you:
in times of anguish, in times of joy,
forsaking all others, as long as we both shall live.
This is my solemn yow.

If rings are to be exchanged, they are brought before the Presider, who prays using the following words

Let us pray.

Bless, O God, these rings as signs of the enduring covenant N. and N. have made with each other, through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen. The two people place the rings on the fingers of one another, first the one, then the other, saying

N., I give you this ring as a symbol of my vow, and with all that I am, and all that I have, I honor you, in the name of God. or in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit.

If the two have previously given and worn rings as a symbol of their commitment, the rings may be blessed on the hands of the couple, the Presider saying

Let us pray.

By the rings which they have worn, faithful God, N. and N. have shown to one another and the world their love and faithfulness.
Bless now these rings, that from this day forward they may be signs of the vows N. and N. have exchanged in your presence and in the communion of your Church, through Christ our Lord. Amen.

Pronouncement

The Presider says

Now that *N*. and *N*. have exchanged vows of love and fidelity in the presence of God and the Church, I pronounce that they are married according to the laws of the state [or civil jurisdiction] of *X*. and bound to one another as long as they both shall live. *Amen*.

Blessing of the Couple

As the couple stands or kneels, the Presider invokes God's blessing upon them, saying

Let us pray.

Most gracious God, we praise you for the tender mercy and unfailing care revealed to us in Jesus the Christ and for the great joy and comfort bestowed upon us in the gift of human love.

We give you thanks for N. and N., and the covenant of faithfulness they have made.

Pour out the abundance of your Holy Spirit upon them. Keep them in your steadfast love; protect them from all danger; fill them with your wisdom and peace; lead them in holy service to each other and the world.

The Presider continues with one of the following

God the Father, God the Son, God the Holy Spirit, bless, preserve, and keep you, and mercifully grant you rich and boundless grace, that you may please God in body and soul. God make you a sign of the loving-kindness and steadfast fidelity manifest in the life, death, and resurrection of our Savior, and bring you at last to the delight of the heavenly banquet, where he lives and reigns for ever and ever. Amen.

or this

God, the holy and undivided Trinity, bless, preserve, and keep you, and mercifully grant you rich and boundless grace, that you may please God in body and soul. God make you a sign of the loving-kindness and steadfast fidelity manifest in the life, death, and resurrection of our Savior, and bring you at last to the delight of the heavenly banquet, where he lives and reigns for ever and ever. Amen.

The Peace

The Presider bids the Peace.

Presider The peace of the Lord be always with you.

People And also with you.

In place of the above may be said

Presider The peace of Christ be always with you.

People And also with you.

The liturgy continues with the Holy Communion. When the Eucharist is not celebrated, the Presider blesses the people. The Deacon, or in the absence of a Deacon, the Priest, dismisses them.

At the Eucharist

The liturgy continues with the Offertory, at which the couple may present the offerings of bread and wine.

The following proper preface may be said

Because in the giving of two people to each other in faithful love you reveal the joy and abundant life you share with your Son Jesus Christ and the Holy Spirit.

The following postcommunion prayer may be said

God our strength and joy, we thank you for the communion of our life together, for the example of holy love that you give us in N. and N., and for the Sacrament of the Body and Blood of our Savior Jesus Christ.

Grant that it may renew our hope and nourish us for the work you set before us to witness to the presence of Christ in the world, through the power of your Spirit, and to the glory of your Name. Amen.

3. The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage (2)

Adapted from The Book of Common Prayer 1979

Concerning the Service

At least one of the parties must be a baptized Christian; the ceremony must be attested by at least two witnesses; and the marriage must conform to the laws of the State.

A priest or a bishop normally presides at the Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage, because such ministers alone have the function of pronouncing the nuptial blessing, and of celebrating the Holy Eucharist.

When both a bishop and a priest are present and officiating, the bishop should pronounce the blessing and preside at the Eucharist.

A deacon, or an assisting priest, may deliver the charge, ask for the Declaration of Consent, read the Gospel, and perform other assisting functions at the Eucharist.

Where it is permitted by civil law that deacons may perform marriages, and no priest or bishop is available, a deacon may use the service which follows, omitting the nuptial blessing which follows The Prayers.

It is desirable that the Lessons from the Old Testament and the Epistles be read by lay persons.

In the opening exhortation (at the symbol of *N. N.*), the full names of the persons to be married are declared. Subsequently, only their Christian names are used.

Additional Directions are on page 104.

The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage (2)

At the time appointed, the persons to be married, with their witnesses, assemble in the church or some other appropriate place.

During their entrance, a hymn, psalm, or anthem may be sung, or instrumental music may be played.

Then the Celebrant, facing the people and the persons to be married, addresses the congregation and says

Dearly beloved: We have come together in the presence of God to witness and bless the joining together of *N.* and *N.* in Holy Matrimony. The joining of two people in a life of mutual fidelity signifies to us the mystery of the union between Christ and his Church, and so it is worthy of being honored among all people.

The union of two people in heart, body, and mind is intended by God for their mutual joy; for the help and comfort given one another in prosperity and adversity; and, when it is God's will, for the gift of children and their nurture in the knowledge and love of the Lord. Therefore marriage is not to be entered into unadvisedly or lightly, but reverently, deliberately, and in accordance with the purposes for which it was instituted by God.

Into this holy union N. N. and N. N. now come to be joined.

If any of you can show just cause why they may not lawfully be married, speak now; or else for ever hold your peace.

Then the Celebrant says to the persons to be married

I require and charge you both, here in the presence of God, that if either of you knows any reason why you may not be united in marriage lawfully, and in accordance with God's Word, you do now confess it.

The Declaration of Consent

The Celebrant says to one member of the couple, then to the other

N., will you have this woman/man/person to be your wife/husband/spouse; to live together in the covenant of marriage? Will you love her/him, comfort her/him, honor and keep her/him, in sickness and in health; and, forsaking all others, be faithful to her/him as long as you both shall live?

Answer I will.

The Celebrant then addresses the congregation, saying

Will all of you witnessing these promises do all in your power to uphold these two persons in their marriage?

People We will.

If there is to be a presentation or a giving in marriage, it takes place at this time.

See Additional Directions, p. 104.

A hymn, psalm, or anthem may follow.

The Ministry of the Word

The Celebrant then says to the people

The Lord be with you.

People And also with you.

Celebrant Let us pray.

O gracious and everliving God, you have created humankind in your image: Look mercifully upon *N*. and *N*. who come to you seeking your blessing, and assist them with your grace, that with true fidelity and steadfast love they may honor and keep the promises and vows they make; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who lives and reigns with you in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen*.

, ,

Then one or more of the following passages from Holy Scripture is read. Other readings from Scripture suitable for the occasion may be used. If there is to be a Communion, a passage from the Gospel always concludes the Readings.

Genesis 1:26–28 (Male and female he created them)

Song of Solomon 2:10–13; 8:6–7 (Many waters cannot quench love)

Tobit 8:5b–8 (New English Bible) (That she and I may grow old together)

1 Corinthians 13:1–13 (Love is patient and kind)

Ephesians 3:14–19 (The Father from whom every family is named)

Ephesians 5:1-2 (Walk in love, as Christ loved us)

Colossians 3:12–17 (Love which binds everything together in harmony)

1 John 4:7–16 (Let us love one another, for love is of God)

Between the Readings, a psalm, hymn, or anthem may be sung or said. Appropriate psalms are Psalm 67, Psalm 127, and Psalm 128.

When a passage from the Gospel is to be read, all stand, and the Deacon or Minister appointed says

The Holy Gospel of our Lord Jesus Christ according to ______

People Glory to you, Lord Christ.

Matthew 5:1–10 (The Beatitudes)

Matthew 5:13–16 (You are the light ... Let your light so shine)

Matthew 7:21, 24–29 (Like a wise man who built his house upon the rock)

John 15:9–12 (Love one another as I have loved you)

After the Gospel, the Reader says

The Gospel of the Lord.

People Praise to you, Lord Christ.

A homily or other response to the Readings may follow.

The Marriage

Each member of the couple, in turn, takes the hand of the other and says

In the Name of God, I, N., take you, N., to be my wife/husband/spouse, to have and to hold from this day forward, for better for worse, for richer for poorer, in sickness and in health, to love and to cherish, until we are parted by death.

This is my solemn vow.

The Priest may ask God's blessing on rings as follows

Bless, O Lord, these rings to be signs of the vows by which N. and N. have bound themselves to each other; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

The giver places the ring on the ring finger of the other's hand and says

N., I give you this ring as a symbol of my vow, and with all that I am, and all that I have, I honor you, in the Name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit [or in the Name of God].

Then the Celebrant joins the right hands of the couple and says

Now that N. and N. have given themselves to each other by solemn vows, with the joining of hands and the giving and receiving of rings, I pronounce that they are wed to one another, in the Name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit. Those whom God has joined together let no one put asunder.

People

Amen.

The Prayers

All standing, the Celebrant says

Let us pray together in the words our Savior taught us.

People and Celebrant

Our Father, who art in heaven,
hallowed be thy Name,
thy kingdom come,
thy will be done,
on earth as it is in heaven.
Give us this day our daily bread.
And forgive us our trespasses,
as we forgive those
who trespass against us.
And lead us not into temptation,
but deliver us from evil.
For thine is the kingdom,
and the power, and the glory,
for ever and ever. Amen.

Our Father in heaven,
hallowed be your Name,
your kingdom come,
your will be done,
on earth as in heaven.
Give us today our daily bread.
Forgive us our sins
as we forgive those
who sin against us.
Save us from the time of trial,
and deliver us from evil.
For the kingdom, the power,
and the glory are yours
now and for ever. Amen.

If Communion is to follow, the Lord's Prayer may be omitted here.

The Deacon or other person appointed reads the following prayers, to which the People respond, saying, Amen.

If there is not to be a Communion, one or more of the prayers may be omitted.

Leader Let us pray.

Eternal God, creator and preserver of all life, author of salvation, and giver of all grace: Look with favor upon the world you have made, and for which your Son gave his life, and especially upon N. and N. whom you make one flesh in Holy Matrimony. Amen.

Give them wisdom and devotion in the ordering of their common life, that each may be to the other a strength in need, a counselor in perplexity, a comfort in sorrow, and a companion in joy. Amen.

Grant that their wills may be so knit together in your will, and their spirits in your Spirit, that they may grow in love and peace with you and one another all the days of their life. Amen.

Give them grace, when they hurt each other, to recognize and acknowledge their fault, and to seek each other's forgiveness and yours. Amen.

Make their life together a sign of Christ's love to this sinful and broken world, that unity may overcome estrangement, forgiveness heal guilt, and joy conquer despair. Amen.

Bestow on them, if it is your will, the gift and heritage of children, and the grace to bring them up to know you, to love you, and to serve you. Amen.

Give them such fulfillment of their mutual affection that they may reach out in love and concern for others. Amen.

Grant that all married persons who have witnessed these vows may find their lives strengthened and their loyalties confirmed. Amen.

Grant that the bonds of our common humanity, by which all your children are united one to another, and the living to the dead, may be so transformed by your grace, that your will may be done on earth as it is in heaven; where, O Father, with your Son and the Holy Spirit, you live and reign in perfect unity, now and for ever. Amen.

The Blessing of the Marriage

The People remain standing. The couple kneel, and the Priest says one of the following prayers

Most gracious God, we give you thanks for your tender love in sending Jesus Christ to come among us, to be born of a human mother, and to make the way of the cross to be the way of life. We thank you, also, for consecrating the union of two people in his Name. By the power of your Holy Spirit, pour out the abundance of your blessing upon N. and N. Defend them from every enemy. Lead them into all peace. Let their love for each other be a seal upon their hearts, a mantle about their shoulders, and a crown upon their foreheads. Bless them in their work and in their companionship; in their sleeping and in their waking; in their joys and in their sorrows; in their life and in their death. Finally, in your mercy, bring them to that table where your saints feast for ever in your heavenly home; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

or this

O God, you have so consecrated the covenant of marriage that in it is represented the spiritual unity between Christ and his Church: Send therefore your blessing upon these your servants, that they may so love, honor, and cherish each other in faithfulness and patience, in

wisdom and true godliness, that their home may be a haven of blessing and peace; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

The couple still kneeling, the Priest adds this blessing

God the Father, God the Son, God the Holy Spirit, bless, preserve, and keep you; the Lord mercifully with his favor look upon you, and fill you with all spiritual benediction and grace; that you may faithfully live together in this life, and in the age to come have life everlasting. Amen.

The Peace

The Celebrant may say to the People

The peace of the Lord be always with you.

People And also with you.

The newly married couple then greet each other, after which greetings may be exchanged throughout the congregation.

When Communion is not to follow, the wedding party leaves the church. A hymn, psalm, or anthem may be sung, or instrumental music may be played.

At the Eucharist

The liturgy continues with the Offertory, at which the newly married couple may present the offerings of bread and wine.

Preface of the Season

At the Communion, it is appropriate that the newly married couple receive Communion first, after the ministers.

In place of the usual postcommunion prayer, the following is said

O God, the giver of all that is true and lovely and gracious: We give you thanks for binding us together in these holy mysteries of the Body and Blood of your Son Jesus Christ.

Grant that by your Holy Spirit,

N. and N., now joined in Holy Matrimony,
may become one in heart and soul,
live in fidelity and peace,
and obtain those eternal joys prepared for all who love you;
for the sake of Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

As the wedding party leaves the church, a hymn, psalm, or anthem may be sung, or instrumental music may be played.

a. The Blessing of a Civil Marriage

The rite begins as prescribed for celebrations of the Holy Eucharist, using the Collect and Lessons appointed in the Marriage service.

After the Gospel (and homily), the couple stand before the Celebrant, who addresses them in these or similar words

N. and N., you have come here today to seek the blessing of God and of his Church upon your marriage. I require, therefore, that you promise, with the help of God, to fulfill the obligations which Christian Marriage demands.

The Celebrant then addresses one member of the couple, then the other, saying

N., you have taken N. to be your wife/husband/spouse. Do you promise to love her/him, comfort her/him, honor and keep her/him, in sickness and in health, and, forsaking all others, to be faithful to her/him as long as you both shall live?

Answer I do.

The Celebrant then addresses the congregation, saying

Will you who have witnessed these promises do all in your power to uphold these two

persons in their marriage?

People We will.

If rings are to be blessed, the members of the couple extend their hands toward the Priest [or Bishop], who says

Bless, O Lord, these rings to be signs of the vows by which N. and N. have bound themselves to each other; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

The Celebrant joins the right hands of the couple and says

Those whom God has joined together let no one put asunder.

People Amen.

The service continues with The Prayers on page 104.

b. An Order for Marriage

If it is desired to celebrate a marriage otherwise than as provided on pages 76-85 of "Liturgical Resources 1: The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant (revised and expanded)," this Order is used.

Normally, the celebrant is a priest or bishop. Where permitted by civil law, and when no priest or bishop is available, a deacon may function as celebrant, but does not pronounce a nuptial blessing.

The laws of the State having been complied with, the couple, together with their witnesses, families, and friends assemble in the church or in some other convenient place.

- 1. The teaching of the Church concerning Holy Matrimony, as it is declared in the formularies, is briefly stated.
- 2. The intention of the two to enter the state of matrimony, and their free consent, is publicly ascertained.
- 3. One or more Readings, one of which is always from Holy Scripture, may precede the exchange of vows. If there is to be a Communion, a Reading from the Gospel is always included.
- 4. The vows are exchanged, using the following form

In the Name of God, I, N., take you, N., to be my wife/husband/spouse, to have and to hold from this day forward, for better for worse, for richer for poorer, in sickness and in health, to love and to cherish, until we are parted by death. This is my solemn vow.

or this

I, N., take thee N., to my wedded wife/husband/spouse, to have and to hold from this day forward, for better for worse, for richer for poorer, in sickness and in health, to love and to cherish, till death us do part, according to God's holy ordinance; and thereto I plight [or give] thee my troth.

- 5. The Celebrant declares the union of the couple, in the Name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit.
- 6. Prayers are offered for the couple, for their life together, for the Christian community, and for the world.
- 7. A priest or bishop pronounces a solemn blessing upon the couple.
- 8. If there is no Communion, the service concludes with the Peace, the couple first greeting each other. The Peace may be exchanged throughout the assembly.
- 9. If there is to be a Communion, the service continues with the Peace and the Offertory. The Holy Eucharist may be celebrated either according to Rite One or Rite Two, or according to the Order on page 401 of the Book of Common Prayer 1979.

Additional Directions

If Banns are to be published, the following form is used	
I publish the Banns of Marriage between N. N. of	and N. N. of
If any of you know just cause why they may not be	joined together in Holy Matrimony, you are
bidden to declare it. This is the first [or second, or t	chird] time of asking.

The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage may be used with any authorized liturgy for the Holy Eucharist. This service then replaces the Ministry of the Word, and the Eucharist begins with the Offertory.

After the Declaration of Consent, if there is to be a giving in marriage, or presentation, the Celebrant asks, Who presents [gives] these two people to be married to each other?

The appropriate answer is, "I do." If more than one person responds, they do so together.

For the Ministry of the Word it is fitting that the couple to be married remain where they may conveniently hear the reading of Scripture. They may approach the Altar, either for the exchange of vows, or for the Blessing of the Marriage.

It is appropriate that all remain standing until the conclusion of the Collect. Seating may be provided for the wedding party, so that all may be seated for the Lessons and the homily.

The Apostles' Creed may be recited after the Lessons, or after the homily, if there is one.

When desired, some other suitable symbol of the vows may be used in place of the ring.

At the Offertory, it is desirable that the bread and wine be presented to the ministers by the newly married persons. They may then remain before the Lord's Table and receive Holy Communion before other members of the congregation.

4. The Form of Solemnization of Matrimony

Adapted from The Book of Common Prayer 1928

¶ At the day and time appointed for Solemnization of Matrimony, the Persons to be married shall come into the body of the Church, or shall be ready in some proper place, with their family, friends, and neighbors; and there standing together, the Minister shall say,

DEARLY beloved, we are gathered together here in the sight of God, and in the face of this company, to join together *N. N.* and *N. N.* in holy Matrimony; which is an honorable estate, signifying unto us the mystical union that is betwixt Christ and his Church: and therefore is not by any to be entered into unadvisedly or lightly; but reverently, discreetly, advisedly, soberly, and in the fear of God. Into this holy estate these two persons present come now to be joined. If any man can show just cause, why they may not lawfully be joined together, let him now speak, or else hereafter for ever hold his peace.

 \P And also speaking unto the Persons who are to be married, the Minister shall say,

I REQUIRE and charge you both, as ye will answer at the day of judgment when the secrets of all hearts shall be disclosed, that if either of you know any impediment, why ye may not be lawfully joined together in Matrimony, ye do now confess it. For be ye well assured, that if any persons are joined together otherwise than as God's Word doth allow, their marriage is not lawful.

¶ The Minister shall say to one member of the Couple, then the other,

N., WILT thou have this Man/Woman/Person to thy wedded Husband/Wife/Spouse, to live together after God's ordinance in the holy estate of Matrimony? Wilt thou love him/her, comfort him/her, honor, and keep him/her in sickness and in health; and, forsaking all others, keep thee only unto him/her, so long as ye both shall live?

¶ The Person addressed shall answer,

I will.

¶ If there is to be a presentation or giving in marriage, the Minister shall ask,

Who presenteth [or giveth] these two Persons to be married to each other?

¶ The Person[s] addressed shall answer [together],

I do.

One or more of the following passages from Holy Scripture may be read.

Genesis 1:26–28 (Male and female he created them)

Song of Solomon 2:10–13; 8:6–7 (Many waters cannot quench love)

Tobit 8:5b–8 (New English Bible) (That she and I may grow old together)

1 Corinthians 13:1–13 (Love is patient and kind)

Ephesians 3:14–19 (The Father from whom every family is named)

Ephesians 5:1–2 (Walk in love, as Christ loved us)

Colossians 3:12–17 (Love which binds everything together in harmony)

1 John 4:7–16 (Let us love one another, for love is of God)

Matthew 5:1–10 (The Beatitudes)

Matthew 5:13–16 (You are the light ... Let your light so shine)

Matthew 7:21, 24–29 (Like a wise man who built his house upon the rock)

John 15:9–12 (Love one another as I have loved you)

Between the Readings, a psalm, hymn, or anthem may be sung or said. Appropriate psalms are Psalm 67, Psalm 127, and Psalm 128.

¶ Then shall the couple give their troth to each other in this manner.

The Minister shall cause each one in turn to take the other by the right hand, and to repeat the following,

- I, N., take thee, N., to my wedded *Husband/Wife/Spouse*, to have and to hold from this day forward, for better for worse, for richer for poorer, in sickness and in health, to love and to cherish, till death us do part, according to God's holy ordinance; and thereto I plight [or give] thee my troth.
- ¶ Then shall they loose their hands; and they may each give to the other a Ring on this wise: the Minister taking the Rings shall deliver them unto each, first one, then the other, to put upon the fourth finger of the other's left hand.
- \P Before delivering the Rings, or if the Couple have exchanged Rings already, the Minister may say a blessing as followeth.

BLESS, O Lord, these Rings, that in giving and wearing these tokens, this Couple may abide in thy peace, and continue in thy favor, unto their life's end; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

 \P And they each, first one and then the other, holding the Ring there, and taught by the Minister, shall say,

WITH this ring I thee wed; and with my body I thee honor; and all my worldly goods with thee I share; In the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost. Amen.

 \P Then shall the Minister and the People, still standing, say the Lord's Prayer, the Minister first saying,

Let us pray.

¶ Minister and People

OUR Father who art in heaven, Hallowed be thy Name. Thy kingdom come. Thy will be done on earth, As it is in heaven. Give us this day our daily bread. And forgive us our trespasses, As we forgive those who trespass against us. And lead us not into temptation; But deliver us from evil. For thine is the kingdom, and the power, and the glory, for ever and ever. Amen.

¶ Then the Minister shall say

O ETERNAL God, Creator and Preserver of all mankind, Giver of all spiritual grace, the Author of everlasting life: Send thy blessing upon these thy servants, whom we bless in thy Name; that they, living faithfully together, may surely perform and keep the vow and covenant betwixt them made, [whereof these Rings given and received are tokens and pledges,] and may ever remain in perfect love and peace together, and live according to thy laws; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

¶ The Minister may add one or both of the following prayers.

O ALMIGHTY God, Creator of mankind, who only art the well-spring of life: Bestow upon these thy servants, if it be thy will, the gift and heritage of children; and grant that they may see their children brought up in thy faith and fear, to the honor and glory of thy Name; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

O GOD, who hast so consecrated the state of Matrimony that in it is represented the spiritual marriage and unity betwixt Christ and his Church: Look mercifully upon these thy servants, that they may love, honor, and cherish each other, and so live together in faithfulness and patience, in wisdom and true godliness, that their home may be a haven of blessing and of peace, and that they may bring forth, by thy grace and Spirit, abundant fruit; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, ever one God, world without end. Amen.

¶ Then shall the Minister join their right hands together, and say,

Those whom God hath joined together let no man put asunder.

¶ Then shall the Minister speak unto the company.

FORASMUCH as N. and N. have consented together in holy wedlock, and have witnessed the same before God and this company, and thereto have given and pledged their troth, each to the other, and have declared the same [by giving and receiving Rings, and] by joining hands; I pronounce that they are now and ever hereafter United in Matrimony; In the Name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Ghost. Amen.

¶ The Minister shall add this Blessing.

GOD the Father, God the Son, God the Holy Ghost, bless, preserve, and keep you; the Lord mercifully with his favor look upon you, and fill you with all spiritual benediction and grace; that ye may so live together in this life, that in the world to come ye may have life everlasting. Amen.

- ¶ It is convenient that the new-married Persons should receive the Holy Communion at the time of their Marriage.
- ¶ The laws respecting Matrimony being different in the several States, every Minister is left to the direction of those laws, in every thing that regards the civil contract between the parties.

VI. DISCUSSION GUIDE

to

"I Will Bless You, and You Will Be a Blessing": Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships (revised and expanded edition)

Contents

Introduction to the Discussion Guide

1. Study Area One: History

2. Study Area Two: Theology and the Bible

3. Study Area Three: Liturgy

4. Study Area Four: Civil and Canon Law

5. Study Area Five: Mission

Handouts for Discussions

A. Covenant for Discussion

Study Area One

- B. Understanding the History
- C. An Introduction to General Convention
- D. Relationships and Blessing: Reflection Questions
- A Review of General Convention Legislation (Appendix 2)

Study Area Two

E. Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships: A Summary of "Faith, Hope, and Love"

Study Area Three

F. Principles for Evaluating Liturgical Materials

Introduction to the Discussion Guide

This discussion guide invites the people of the Episcopal Church into a process of thoughtful consideration of the liturgical and theological resources for blessing same-sex relationships. Each of the five modules contains introductory teaching material and questions for group discussion; the first three also have handouts. The questions are shaped to equip individuals and groups to explore the materials in this collection in a reflective Christian manner.

These materials encourage participants to approach the discussion of resources for blessing same-sex relationships with respect for one another and for the various perspectives that individuals will bring to the conversation.

Because the same ideas will not inspire or challenge all groups, each area of study is wide-ranging and could span more than one session. Many congregations currently gather for Bible study and adult formation or education, and leaders can adapt these materials for such forums. Congregations may choose to engage in this process over an extended period of time or plan a one- to two-day retreat in order to enter more deeply into conversation and study. The amount of time suggested for particular discussions may be adjusted to meet the needs of a group. We strongly encourage that each session include time for Bible study related to the topic.

Encouraging time for participants to speak from their own experiences is essential when people engage in theological reflection on any topic. Significant factors in the conversation will include the cultural context of individuals and the makeup of the community. Each session's opening gives participants an opportunity to introduce themselves.

Ideally, the facilitator of these conversations will be someone who is respected by the community and who is respectful of, and familiar with, the group. Facilitators should read the entire resource "I Will Bless You, and You Will Be a Blessing" in preparation for leading discussion; they should also be familiar with local civil law and diocesan policies.

Establishing Group Norms for Conversations

Prayers and practices that make for good conversations

Parishioners enter the conversation about blessing same-sex relationships from many different starting points. Some congregations and individuals do not understand why any Episcopal church would bless same-sex relationships; others do not understand why the blessing of same-sex relationships continues to be controversial. Recognizing these differences, facilitators should begin these conversations with agreement for respectful conversation; a *Covenant for Discussion* is included among the handouts found at the end of this discussion guide. Beginning and ending each session with prayers of thanksgiving for the opportunity for dialogue can underscore the value of respectful discussion.

The idea that the Church is a safe place to disagree is attractive, but living it out is difficult. Doing so requires that we expand our boundaries to accept those we do not understand or with whom we do not agree on matters of great importance. We do this because, more than anything, Christians do agree on matters of the greatest importance — the love and salvation offered by Jesus Christ. While we may disagree over the definition of marriage and how we understand biblical texts about divorce and sexuality, we can agree on our shared participation in Christ's mission to restore all people to unity with God and each other in Christ.

The goal of dialogue is not to win the day for one's own point of view, but for all participants to grow in understanding of both themselves and others. If participants come to this conversation with open hearts and minds, it is possible to honor both the integrity and holiness of gay and lesbian couples and their families, and the deep traditions of the Church.

Recommended Background Materials

To Set Our Hope on Christ¹ was prepared as a response to the request by the Windsor Report that The Episcopal Church explain how "a person living in a same gender union may be considered eligible to lead the flock of Christ." This document provides an overview as to how and why The Episcopal Church has moved toward the fuller inclusion of gay and lesbian people in the life of the Church. The appendix is composed of a historical summary of beliefs and policies concerning sexuality in The Episcopal Church.

The June 2009 Report of the Task Force on Holiness in Relationships and the Blessing of Same-Sex Relationships, from the Episcopal Diocese of San Diego,² presents different points of view in an even-handed manner. The report considers the interpretation of Holy Scripture; marriage and holiness in Scripture; biblical texts that may condemn same-sex relationships and those that may portray positive roles of gays and lesbians; Church history and tradition; practical, pastoral and sacramental theology; and the movement of the Holy Spirit.

1. Study Area One: History

History: Reviewing the history of The Episcopal Church's decisions regarding same-sex relationships and reflecting on the current context

A. Preparing for the Session

Have the following handouts ready (included at the end of this Discussion Guide, unless otherwise noted):

- A. Covenant for Discussion
- B. Understanding the History
- C. An Introduction to General Convention
- A Review of General Convention Legislation (Appendix 2)
- D. Relationships and Blessing: Reflection Questions

Prepare for the Bible study to be offered in this session by choosing the passage to be read and deciding on the method of study.

B. Gathering

- Welcome participants and make any announcements necessary regarding hospitality (restrooms, coffee) and scheduling.
- Continue with a prayer of thanksgiving for the opportunity to have this conversation.
- Go around the room to have each person introduce herself or himself and share what he/she is most looking forward to in these conversations.
- Establish group norms for engaging in respectful conversation. Facilitators may distribute and review the Covenant for Discussion provided in the handouts, or choose a set of norms from their own resources.
- Introduce the Bible study prepared for this session.

¹ To Set Our Hope in Christ: A Response to the Invitation of Windsor Report ¶135 is available on the website of The Episcopal Church: http://www.episcopalchurch.org/documents/ToSetOurHope_eng.pdf.

² Report of the Task Force on Holiness in Relationships and the Blessing of Same-Sex Relationships is available on the website of the Episcopal Diocese of San Diego: http://www.edsd.org/mediafiles/holiness-in-relationships-task-force-report.pdf.

C. Introducing the Topic

Distribute the worksheet Understanding the History and give participants about 10 minutes to complete it.

After everyone has had time to write something, ask everyone to share their answers to "A" (how long The Episcopal Church has been talking about same-sex relationships and its gay, lesbian, bisexual, and transgender members). Continue by inviting deputies to share whatever is comfortable from "B" for each decade. Listen to see whether there is a thread or theme that runs through the memories.

D. General Convention Legislation

Give a very brief description of what General Convention is, who attends, and what it does, using the handout An Introduction to General Convention.

Distribute A Review of General Convention Legislation, and discuss it in light of responses to the worksheet. Here — and throughout the balance of the sessions — clearly distinguish when you are expressing an idea or opinion based on your own experience and when you are communicating official church stances.

E. The Blessings of Relationships

Ask the group to call to mind at least three committed relationships they are familiar with: for example, relationships of family members, friends at work or school, or couples in your congregation; or their own committed relationship. Remind them that they may know people in committed relationships who are not married for one reason or another.

Divide into groups of threes, and distribute the handout *Relationships and Blessing: Reflection Questions*. Instruct the group to reflect for 15 or 20 minutes on the questions in the handout, which explore the nature of committed relationships. Afterward, have them reflect back to the larger group by asking these questions:

- What was especially illuminating or challenging in your conversations?
- Regarding the complexities of the relationships you discussed, were there any surprises?
- Based on your conversations, why do you think the Church blesses any committed relationships at all?

F. Conclusion

Thank the participants for coming, remind them of the next meeting date and time, and close with a prayer of thanksgiving.

2. Study Area Two: Theology and the Bible

Theology and the Bible: Examining our understanding of God's blessing through the lens of theology and Scripture

A. Preparing for the Session

Have the following handouts ready (included at the end of this discussion guide):

- A. Covenant for Discussion (or other norm for discussion)
- E. Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships: A Summary of "Faith, Hope, and Love"

Prepare for the Bible study to be offered in this session by choosing the passage to be read and deciding on the method of study.

B. Gathering

- Welcome participants and make any announcements necessary regarding hospitality (restrooms, coffee) and scheduling.
- Continue with a prayer of thanksgiving for the opportunity to have this conversation.
- Review group norms for engaging in respectful conversation, using the Covenant for Discussion or other set of norms established in the first session.
- Invite participants who attended the previous session to share illuminations and challenges that occurred to them regarding the history of The Episcopal Church, rites of blessing same-sex relationships, and their own experience of blessings revealed in committed relationships.
- Introduce the Bible study prepared for this session.

C. Introducing the Topic

Introduce the theological principles with these or similar words:

In The Episcopal Church, we develop our theology, or the way we think about God, through Scripture, tradition, and reason. Consider, for example, the concept of "hospitality." Numerous examples in Scripture tell of God's hospitality toward God's people and of the people of God issuing or withholding God's hospitality from others. Although some of the stories seem to show behavior that conflicts with the ways God might have us respond to outsiders today, these biblical stories still help guide us. Other theological principles, like eschatology (beliefs about final events in the history of the world) and the triune nature of God, take a little more exploration from Scripture to interpret in light of Christian experience and understanding over the millennia since biblical times. We believe that God continues to reveal God's self to the world. We experience this revelation in many ways, including faithful, lifelong, committed relationships.

Distribute Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships and ask participants to read and reflect on this summary of the essay, "Faith, Hope, and Love." Describing relationships as "covenantal," this document identifies four themes for theological reflection: vocation, households, fruitfulness, and mutual blessing. Invite the group to discuss some or all of these principles, using the introductions and discussion questions that follow.

D. Covenant

Introduce the concept of "covenant" with these or similar words:

Covenants are made and held in relationships not only between the individual and God but within a community, which is also held accountable. The Baptismal Covenant is an example that will be familiar to Episcopalians, where commitments are made by (or for) the individual being baptized as well as by the sponsors and the gathered community.

Covenants take many forms in Scripture. They typically, but not always, contain a solemn agreement in which all parties pledge themselves to the others, outlining mutual obligations and responsibilities. Scripture tells about covenants concerning marriage, water rights, tribal relationships, protection, and faithfulness; the covenants include rituals involving animals, exchanges, and other gestures of the now-sealed relationship. The book of Genesis contains a series of covenants God made. For example, after making a covenant with Noah (Genesis 6:18) to protect his family from the impending flood, God makes a covenant with creation: "I

establish my covenant with you, that never again shall all flesh be cut off by the waters of a flood, and never again shall there be a flood to destroy the earth" (Genesis 9:11).

Relational commitment can lead a couple to enter into a lifelong covenant in which their love and faithfulness participate in and reflect God's own gracious covenant with us in Christ.

Discussion Questions to Further Reflection and Understanding

- One description of the difference between a contract and a covenant reads: "A contract is an agreement made in suspicion. A covenant is an agreement made in trust." What are some examples of contracts and covenants in your own life?
- Where have you seen God's graciousness evidenced in committed relationships of couples you have known?

E. Vocation

Introduce the theme of "vocation" with these or similar words:

Some people are called into long-term committed relationships as a vocation, defined here as a responsibility or way of life to which one is called by God. In Scripture, we find an example of this kind of relationship in Abraham and Sarah, who are vocationally linked to God and to one another. They are sent on a journey together that changes not just their names but the world (Genesis 11:27–25:11). Many other examples of committed relationships in the Bible — for example, Ruth and Naomi (Ruth 1), Eli and Samuel (1 Samuel 3), Jesus and his disciples — might be considered vocational, that is, carrying a function called by God. These partnerships defined not only the individuals but also the work they had to do together as a function of God's life in the world.

Discussion Questions to Further Reflection and Understanding

- Have you been in, witnessed, or read about relationships you could consider "vocational"? If so, what makes them so?
- In the Bible we are told that Paul, when counseling early Christians about the complexities and persecutions Christians were facing at the time, suggested that remaining single is a way to serve God, a vocation to "promote good order and unhindered devotion to the Lord" (1 Corinthians 7:35). Not everyone is called into long-term committed relationships; being single may be a vocation for some. Have you experienced, or do you know other people who have experienced, singleness as a vocation?

F. Households

Introduce the theme of "households" with these or similar words:

Households take many different forms. Consider the story of the prodigal son, in which obligations of loyalty and love were made, broken, and reconciled. Families of origin come with implicit household covenants. When individuals join together to create new households, they have the opportunity to bind themselves to one another in new ways. In these newly created households, the covenanted relationships within allow for holy love, care, risk-taking, and sacrifice on behalf of the other. People have reflected that, in such relationships, they begin to understand God's unconditional love of, and faithfulness to, us. They experience many of the gifts that such a household can bring, including mutual joy, companionship, faithfulness, compromise, charity, grace, and forgiveness.

Discussion Questions to Further Reflection and Understanding

- The Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships handout states: "While households take many different forms, they create a space of mutual trust and accountability" where we can "learn the spiritual disciplines of compassion, forgiveness, and reconciliation." Have you known or experienced households that provide that "sacred space"? How does thinking about households as a theological concept resonate with your experience?
- In the story of the prodigal son (Luke 15:11–32), the household celebrates when the father welcomes the younger son with compassion, despite the son's disregard for their family agreements. What similar responses have you seen in households you have known, and what do such responses reveal about the nature of households?
- In the same story, the elder brother resents the prodigal. What do you think gets in the way of healing the break in mutual trust and accountability between these two members of the same household?

G. Mutual Blessing and Fruitfulness

Introduce the themes of "mutual blessing" and "fruitfulness" with these or similar words:

Former Archbishop of Canterbury Donald Coggan summed up the essence of the apostle Paul's message to the world in three words: grace, love, and fellowship: "These are the key words of what has become the second-best-known prayer in the Christian Church: 'The grace of the Lord Jesus Christ, and the love of God, and the fellowship of the Holy Spirit, be with you all." Grace. Love. Fellowship. These blessings are abundant in Christian relationships and in Christian communities.

The apostle Paul tells us, "the fruit of the Spirit is love, joy, peace, patience, kindness, generosity, faithfulness, gentleness, and self-control" (Galatians 5:22). Just as Abraham was blessed by God in order to be a blessing (Genesis 12:2), the commitment exhibited in covenantal relationships becomes a source of blessing for the whole Church. When divine grace sustains a covenantal relationship it bears fruit in countless ways, not only for the couple but for the wider community as well.

When we are present in any public naming of graces or gifts, be it baptism or graduation or the giving of an award, we are often reminded that the individual or group upon which the recognition is bestowed is expected to return that value back to society. At a liturgy of blessing, we are reminded of the value of the individuals entering into a covenant with one another — of their love, faith, loyalty, and devotion to each other and to God. As we bless their relationship we expect in return that this naming and strengthening of the couple will bless the congregation.

Discussion Questions to Further Reflection and Understanding

- In your experience, how have you seen covenantal relationships that are blessed in the Church become in turn a blessing for the Church?
- In your experience, how have you seen covenantal relationships bear fruit?
- How can the blessing of a same-sex relationship sustain and enable a couple to embody service, generosity, and hospitality beyond their household?

³ Donald Coggan, Meet Paul: An Encounter with the Apostle (London: SPCK, 1998), 73–75.

H. Conclusion

Thank the participants for coming, remind them of the next meeting date and time, and close with a prayer of thanksgiving.

3. Study Area Three: Liturgy

Liturgy: Discussing liturgy in general and the liturgical resources developed for the blessing of same-sex relationships

A. Preparing for the Session

Have the following handouts ready (included at the end of this discussion guide, unless otherwise noted):

- A. Covenant for Discussion (or other norm for discussion)
- F. Principles for Evaluating Liturgical Materials
- Liturgy: "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant" or "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Marriage"
- Liturgy: "The Celebration of a Marriage (2)" or "The Form of Solemnization of Matrimony" (optional)

Prior to the session, solicit volunteers to walk through the liturgy (ending with the greeting of the Peace) during the session. Ask them to be respectful of the process and to recognize that even when role-playing the words and actions in a liturgy can have an impact on the people saying and doing them.

Prepare for the Bible study to be offered in this session by choosing the passage to be read and deciding on the method of study.

B. Gathering

- Welcome participants and make any announcements necessary regarding hospitality (restrooms, coffee) and scheduling.
- Continue with a prayer of thanksgiving for the opportunity to have this conversation.
- Review group norms for engaging in respectful conversation, using the Covenant for Discussion or other set of norms established in the first session.
- Invite participants who attended the previous session to share illuminations and challenges that
 have occurred to them regarding the interaction of the Bible and theology with the blessing of
 same-sex relationships.
- Introduce the Bible study prepared for this session.

C. Introducing the Topic

Introduce a discussion of the meaning and purpose of liturgy with these or similar words:

Christians over the centuries have found ways to ritualize our story as a people of God, our place in God's life today, and our hope for an eternity with Christ. Liturgy, as an event, retells salvation history in word and sacrament: by the proclamation of Scripture, through preaching and prayer, and in the liturgy of the table. Each time we celebrate liturgy, we become active participants in re-presenting this history — life with God, from creation and fall through covenant, redemption, and fulfillment — and in bringing it into the present. When we

consecrate water during baptism, we go back to the waters of creation at the beginning of our story. We are buried with Christ in this water and brought forth into a new life in Christ, a new future. Scripture calls us to keep rituals when we are told to "make this day holy" or to "remember this place" or to "do this" from this day forward in order to keep our inherited faith as present as it ever was.

Liturgy can be understood as an exchange between heaven and earth. All that we have comes from God, and that is what we return. In our prayers, we as a community breathe in and out our petitions, thanksgivings, sorrows, hopes, and praises.

Celebrating important moments in the lives of individual Christians and in the community often happens in the context of liturgy. In the liturgies of baptism, confirmation, marriage, and ordination, we join together to enact and celebrate our commitment to a vocation with Christ and with one another.

D. Qualities of Anglican Liturgy

Distribute the handout *Principles for Evaluating Liturgical Materials*, and introduce the principles with these or similar words:

In Resolution 2009-Co56, the General Convention directed the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music to "collect and develop theological and liturgical resources" for the blessing of same-sex relationships. The Commission discovered a vast array of unofficial liturgies, some dating back to the 1970s, and, more recently, rites of blessing commended for use in dioceses in The Episcopal Church and the Anglican Church of Canada. These liturgies were created in response to the pastoral needs of same-sex couples in various local jurisdictions. The Commission found strong similarities in the rites; many used The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage from the Book of Common Prayer as a template.

This research led the Commission to develop liturgical principles to assess the resources it had collected and as the basis for creating a new liturgical resource to present to General Convention in 2012. Consistency with Anglican theological tradition and the liturgical style of the 1979 Book of Common Prayer was essential in developing these materials. Keeping proposed rites as an expression of the whole Church, not only the two people seeking a blessing, was also important. A full list of those qualities is in the handout.

These qualities can be gathered into two general categories: words and actions. In liturgy, words and actions together express and shape what we believe. In "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant," this combination of words and actions expresses what we understand and hope about blessing, households, and the revelation of God's love in the world through these committed relationships.

E. Exploring the Liturgy for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships

Distribute copies of the liturgy or liturgies you have decided to use ("The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant" or "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Marriage"; "The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage [2]" or "The Form of Solemnization of Matrimony") and invite participants to keep in mind the principles outlined in the handout for evaluating liturgical materials as they role-play the liturgy.

Before reading through the liturgy with the volunteers selected in advance of the session, explain that it is not the intention of this "couple" to receive this blessing. Acknowledge that there may be anxiety when role-playing the rite, and invite participants to engage the experience prayerfully. When finished, remind the "couple," the "presider," and the "assembly" that the role-play is not binding, and thank the volunteers for their help.

Discussion Questions to Further Reflection and Understanding

- What did you hear?
- What did you see?
- What did you feel?
- How does this liturgy hold to the liturgical principles set forth in the handout?
- What words, symbols, and actions in this liturgy stand out for you and draw you into reflection on your own experience of covenantal relationship?
- What do the words, symbols, and actions call forth, challenge, or offer to the couple who experience them in the context of a blessing of their relationship?
- In your experience, which elements seem to have the most meaning when a community gathers to receive God's blessing?

F. Conclusion

Thank the participants for coming, remind them of the next meeting date and time, and close with a prayer of thanksgiving.

4. Study Area Four: Civil and Canon Law

Civil and Canon Law: Exploring legal, canonical, and spiritual issues that arise as the Church considers blessing same-sex couples

A. Preparing for the Session

Have the following handout ready:

• A. Covenant for Discussion (or other norm for discussion)

Set up two pages of newsprint, each with two columns:

One page of newsprint:

MARRIAGE

Secular Benefits / Obligations

Sacred Benefits / Obligations

The other page of newsprint:

BLESSING

Secular Benefits / Obligations

Sacred Benefits / Obligations

Prepare for the Bible study to be offered in this session by choosing the passage to be read and deciding on the method of study.

B. Gathering

- Welcome participants and make any announcements necessary regarding hospitality (restrooms, coffee) and scheduling.
- Continue with a prayer of thanksgiving for the opportunity to have this conversation.
- Review group norms for engaging in respectful conversation, using the Covenant for Discussion or other set of norms established in the first session.

- Invite participants who attended the previous session to share illuminations and challenges that have occurred to them regarding the liturgy for the blessing of same-sex relationships.
- Introduce the Bible study prepared for this session.

C. Introducing the Topic

Introduce the discussion of civil and canon law with these or similar words:

Resolution 2009-Co56 directed the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music to develop resources for blessing same-gender relationships. As the Commission went about its work, Episcopalians asked about the relationship between these blessings and marriage. Following the direction of General Convention, the Commission developed a resource for blessing relationships, not marriage, while also recognizing the complexity of civil and canon (that is, Church) law.

Some states allow same-sex couples to marry; others permit civil unions or provide other legal status for these couples. Other states forbid (or do not recognize) same-sex marriage or unions; some of these states also do not recognize any legal status for same-sex couples who have a civil marriage or civil union from another state where that status is legal.

The Book of Common Prayer (p. 422) and Canon I.18.1 require Episcopal clergy to conform to the laws of their state governing the creation of a civil marriage.

D. Exploring the Benefits and Obligations of Marriage and Blessing

Invite people to brainstorm about the secular benefits and obligations of marriage, and note their answers in that column of the newsprint page headed "Marriage." Then ask about the sacred benefits and obligations of marriage and note their answers. Now, do the same on the page with the heading "Blessing" (that is, blessing a lifelong, committed relationship) — secular benefits and obligations first, then sacred benefits and obligations. Step back and ask people what they notice about the four lists. Have a conversation.

The following is a list of responses people might give:

Marriage: Secular Benefits / Obligations

- Legal status given by the state: global for different-sex couple; local/state for same-sex couple
- Defined by some states as only between a man and a woman supporting the traditional view of marriage
- Part of the institution of marriage and its social benefits
- Potential financial benefits joint tax returns, automatic joint ownership, etc. global for different-sex couple; local/state for same-sex couple
- Clarity about the relationship fits a known model, people know what you are talking about if you say you are married; clarity about monogamy and faithfulness
- Legal responsibilities shared by the couple
- Social status
- Usually, acceptance of parents, family, and friends of the relationship

Marriage: Sacred Benefits / Obligations

- God's blessing proclaimed by the Church
- Recognition of spiritual nature of relationship
- Public religious and spiritual commitment of love

- Call to constant reconciliation and assurance of forgiveness
- Spiritual preparation and counseling prior to ceremony
- "Church wedding" and social recognition and support of religious community
- Exchange and blessing of symbols of relationship ring(s)
- Done as part of the Prayer Book and Episcopal Church norms not true for same-sex couples

Blessing: Secular Benefits / Obligations

- Possible gained clarity about the relationship; commitment statements made to one another
- Possible social status
- Possible acceptance/recognition of parents, family, and friends

Blessing: Sacred Benefits / Obligations

- God's blessing proclaimed by the Church
- Recognition of spiritual nature of relationship; clarity about monogamy and faithfulness
- Public religious and spiritual commitment of love
- Call to constant reconciliation and assurance of forgiveness
- Spiritual preparation and counseling prior to ceremony
- "Church wedding" and social recognition and support of religious community
- Exchange and blessing of symbols of relationship ring(s)
- Falls within Episcopal Church norms, if permitted by bishop as pastoral response

Invite the group to draw conclusions from the lists and their discussion of them. They might discover that when the Church blesses same-sex couples such blessings seem to carry most but not all of the "sacred benefit" that one finds in marriage, and when the Church blesses same-sex couples such blessings seem to carry much less of the "secular benefit" that one finds in marriage.

E. Conclusion

Thank the participants for coming, remind them of the next meeting date and time, and close with a prayer of thanksgiving.

5. Study Area Five: Mission

Mission: Exploring the blessing of same-sex relationships as part of the Church's mission and God's reconciling work in the world

A. Preparing for the Session

Have the following handout ready:

• A. Covenant for Discussion (or other norm for discussion)

Prepare for the Bible study to be offered in this session by choosing the passage to be read and deciding on the method of study.

B. Gathering

- Welcome participants and make any announcements necessary regarding hospitality (restrooms, coffee) and scheduling.
- Continue with a prayer of thanksgiving for the opportunity to have this conversation.
- Review group norms for engaging in respectful conversation, using the Covenant for Discussion or other set of norms established in the first session.
- Invite participants who attended the previous session to share illuminations and challenges that have occurred to them regarding the comparison of marriage and blessings.
- Introduce the Bible study prepared for this session.

C. Introducing the Topic

Introduce this final session by reminding participants that we are a part of a larger story, using these or similar words:

Using the "three-legged stool" of Anglicanism, we have explored Scripture, tradition, and reason relating to the development of rites for blessing same-sex relationships in The Episcopal Church. We have explored God's call to us to live in relationship to God and to one another. We may have disagreed, misunderstood, or challenged one another, but we have been reminded at each turn that our life together, centered in baptism and the eucharist, is central to being people of faith in this time and in this Church.

The essay "Faith, Hope, and Love" has this to say about the significance for mission of blessing same-sex relationships:

This missional character of covenantal blessing, reflected in both Scripture and the historical traditions of the Church, deserves renewed attention today. The 2000 General Convention contributed to this renewal when it passed Resolution Do39, which identified monogamy, fidelity, holy love, and other characteristics of lifelong, committed relationships. Significantly, that resolution was framed as a way to enable the Church to engage more effectively in its mission. Many in The Episcopal Church have witnessed these characteristics in the committed relationships of same-sex couples. That recognition can, and in many places already has, broadened the understanding of the Church's mission of participating in God's reconciling work in the world.

Our willingness to continue to receive a new thing while remaining in communion and in love with one other models a gift we have to offer the world.

We began our study by exploring The Episcopal Church's recent history regarding same-sex couples seeking acceptance and blessing of their relationships in the Church, and by reflecting on our own experiences of lifelong, committed relationships. We continued with a study of the theological and liturgical resources that the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music developed. Finally, we compared the benefits and obligations of marriage and blessing same-sex relationships.

Discussion Questions to Further Reflection and Understanding

Over the past few weeks, how have our conversations emerged in the course of your daily lives?
 Have you found yourselves talking (or emailing or Facebooking) with colleagues, friends, or family regarding the willingness of The Episcopal Church to provide these blessings?

- This discussion guide was designed to equip participants to understand the presence of rites of blessing same-sex relationships in our common life in The Episcopal Church. Did it fulfill that purpose for you? Why or why not?
- If your community is not considering offering these rites to same-sex couples seeking a blessing of their relationship, are you able to explain why other parishes or dioceses in The Episcopal Church are? If yes, where would you begin that explanation? If no, what more information or background would be helpful?

D. Conclusion

Thank everyone for participating, for their hard work and dedication, and for loving the Church and those who come through the doors enough to have these conversations together.

Close with a prayer of thanksgiving.

Handout A

Covenant for Discussion

As we gather in the name of Christ to share our thoughts, feelings, and ideas, we accept this covenant to guide our conversation along God's path of love.

- I recognize that everyone comes to this experience with very different backgrounds, experiences, and views. I will respectfully seek clarification of other perspectives to add to my understanding.
- If I choose to disagree with a perspective different from mine, I will do this in a loving and respectful way.

I will:

- Speak only for myself (using "I" statements).
- Take responsibility for my own thoughts and feelings.
- Remember my baptismal promise to "respect the dignity of every human being."
- Seek and acknowledge common ground.
- Honor confidentiality unless permission to share is explicitly given.
- Practice "sacred listening" by:
 - Listening for God in the experiences of others.
 - Accepting those experiences as valid for the speakers.
 - Searching for strengths in the other's position.
 - Avoiding interruptions and argument.
 - Avoiding applause or other reactions to speakers.
 - Allowing each person to speak before I speak again.

If a particular group or person is going to be discussed, some of them should be present.

Adapted from Our Covenant for Conversation, the Episcopal Diocese of Vermont; Good News: A Congregational Resource for Reconciliation, by the Right Reverend Steven Charleston (2003); and Intimate Human Relationships: Resources for Conversation in the Congregations and Deaneries of the Episcopal Diocese of Vermont, edited by Anne Clarke Brown (2004).

Handout B

Understanding the History

Please use this worksheet to record your memories and thoughts about discussion of same-sex relationships over the past few decades.

A.	The Episcopal Church has formally been talking about same-sex relationships and its gay, lesbian
	bisexual, and transgender members for how many years?

- B. Under each decade list briefly using just key words—what you remember about:
 - 1. What was going on in your own life.
 - 2. What was going on in the world and/or the Church.
 - 3. What was going on with issues of same-sex relationships.

	1970s	1980s	1990s	2000s	2010s
1 What I remember in my own life					
2 What I remember happening in the world and/or the Church					
3 What I remember about issues of same-sex relationships					

Handout C

An Introduction to General Convention

With few precedents for a republican form of Church governance, the first General Convention met in 1785 in Philadelphia. That convention began work on a constitution and a revision of the Book of Common Prayer, the Church's book of worship. Within 10 years, the General Convention had agreed on its form of governance and its pattern of worship, both of which endure to the present day.

Uniquely for its time, the first General Conventions determined on a bicameral house in which elected (rather than royally appointed) bishops would make up one house, and lay and ordained deputies (equally represented) would make up the other house.

All bishops of The Episcopal Church, active and retired, are entitled to seat, voice, and vote in the House of Bishops (unless deprived of the privilege). Each of The Episcopal Church's dioceses (and the Convocation of Churches in Europe and the Navajoland Area Mission) is entitled to elect eight deputies – four laypersons and four priests and/or deacons – to the House of Deputies. (The diocesan electors of deputies are themselves elected representatives from local parishes.) Deputies are not delegates; that is, they are not elected to represent the electing dioceses.

Deputies vote their conscience for the good of the Church. They cannot be instructed to vote one way or another, for to do so would preclude godly debate and preempt the work of the Holy Spirit. Deputies are expected to serve on committees, if appointed, to attend forums and hearings, to read the reports to the Church from its commissions, committees, agencies, and boards, to listen to, and if so moved, to respond to resolutions on the floor of the house.

The House of Bishops and House of Deputies meet, deliberate, and vote separately. To be enacted, resolutions must pass both houses in the same language. Both houses have the right to amend legislation, but the amendment must be accepted by the other house. Resolutions presented to Convention come from four sources: committees, commissions, agencies, and boards of the Church; bishops; dioceses and provinces; and deputies.

The House of Bishops is chaired by the Presiding Bishop, and the House of Deputies is chaired by an elected President of the House. In the absence of the presiding officer, a Vice Chair (in the House of Bishops) or Vice President (in the House of Deputies) chairs. In each house, a secretary and parliamentarian assist the presiding officer.

General Convention meets prayerfully. Each day, bishops, deputies, registered alternates, and delegates to the ECW Triennial Meeting gather for Bible study and the Holy Eucharist. Both the House of Deputies and the House of Bishops have chaplains, who lead their houses in regular prayer at the beginning and end of sessions and daily at noon. Chaplains are also asked to pray before the enactment of important legislation. Organizations within the Church sponsor additional worship services, while volunteers staff a prayer room in which there is continual intercession for the work of Convention.

Much of the work of Convention is carried out by legislative committees. The Presiding Bishop and the President of the House of Deputies determine the number of persons who serve on committees and their membership. In their appointments, the presiding officers consider previous experience, expertise, and interest, ensuring the committees represent diverse points of view, geographic, ethnic and gender diversity, and participation by younger deputies.

Resolutions proposed for discussion at Convention are referred to legislative committees, which consider, amalgamate, and perfect them before presenting them on the floor of Convention. Legislative committees

hold hearings on legislation at which the following can speak: bishop, deputy, registered alternate deputy, or registered visitor.

Debate on the floor is governed by the Constitution and Canons of the Church, Rules of Order for each house, Joint Rules of Order (that apply to both houses) and Roberts' Rules of Order. Deputies are expected to listen respectfully to the views of others and to adhere to the rules, which require, for example, that persons of different points of view alternate at microphones.

Convention is more than legislation. One of the most interesting parts of Convention is the Exhibit Hall, a marketplace of goods and ideas in which the organizations and interest groups within the Church present their wares, recruit members, and do their best to influence legislation.

Many Church-related organizations hold meetings in conjunction with Convention, and there are lunches and dinners hosted by seminaries, provinces, societies, boards and staff offices of the Church. The Episcopal Church Women (ECW) holds its triennial meeting simultaneously with the General Convention. The ECW meeting has changed over the past several decades; today it focuses on the mission and service of the Church, and many of the Church's most distinguished members are invited to address this body.

General Convention is a combination of legislative assembly, bazaar of goods and services, and family reunion. It is one of the most exciting and, truth be told, one of the most awe-inspiring gatherings in the world.

Adapted from an introduction to the 2009 General Convention prepared by the Reverend Dr. Gregory S. Straub, Executive Officer and Secretary of General Convention

Handout D

Relationships and Blessing: Reflection Questions

I invite you to reflect on the committed relationships of couples you know (friends, colleagues, family members, and so on), whether same-sex or not, including your own, if you are in such a relationship.

Consider questions such as these:

- How is each relationship named or described: marriage? covenant? union? some other way? Are
 those involved in the relationship considered husband and wife? partners? lovers? Does the term
 vary depending on circumstances? How important (or not) is the terminology used for your
 understanding and experience of the relationship?
- As you reflect on these relationships, what about them (their qualities, gifts, character) would make them appropriate for a liturgical blessing? Or, to put this in another way, why do we "bless" committed relationships in a Church at all?

For those who are in a committed relationship:

- Have you discerned any spiritual gifts that have emerged from your commitment that you may not have recognized apart from that commitment?
- What role does your faith community play in your ongoing commitment? Does the community offer something you find important in your relationship?
- What role (if any) did your Christian faith play in the early and now ongoing development of your relationship and in discerning your commitment to each other?
- Would you consider your committed relationship as part of your Christian calling and vocation to ministry? If so, how and in what ways?

For those who are reflecting on another couple's relationship:

- Have you discerned any spiritual gifts emerging from their relationship that benefit the wider community or perhaps yourself?
- Have you discerned what you or your faith community contributes to their relationship?
- How would you name the primary "blessing" of that relationship in your own life and in your faith community?
- Have you learned anything or gained fresh insights about your own life from observing the relationship and interacting with the couple?

Handout E

Theological Reflection on Same-Sex Relationships: A Summary of "Faith, Hope, and Love"

Baptism, Eucharist, and the Paschal Mystery

All Christians are called to bear witness to the good news of God's love and grace in Jesus Christ, through the power of the Holy Spirit. We are empowered for such witness by our covenantal relationship with God. Baptism initiates us into that covenant, making us Christ's own forever and members of Christ's Body, the Church. The eucharist sustains us in that covenantal life and strengthens us to be Christ's witnesses in the world.

Our covenantal life with God can shape and be expressed in our relationships of commitment and faithfulness with others. Our committed relationships can thus reflect a *sacramental character* (making divine grace visible) and evoke *eschatological hope* (our ultimate union with God). These relationships thus invite further reflection on the mission of the Church, what it means "to bless," and the distinguishing marks of a covenantal relationship.

Themes for Theological Reflection

A sacramental framework for covenantal relationships suggests several other key theological themes for reflection and shared discernment, including the following:

- Vocation: God calls people into various kinds of relationship, whether as single people, in
 monastic communities, or as intimate couples. These vocational callings can empower our
 witness to the gospel. The decision to enter into a covenantal union is likewise a vocation
 marked by these characteristics: "fidelity; monogamy; mutual affection and respect; careful,
 honest communication; and the holy love which enables those in such relationships to see in
 each other the image of God."
- Households: Covenantal relationships are often lived in households in which we practice daily the
 giving of ourselves for the good of another. While households take many different forms, they
 create a space of mutual trust and accountability. The joy, intimacy, and shared vulnerability of
 households can thus help us learn the spiritual disciplines of compassion, forgiveness, and
 reconciliation in lives of committed monogamy and fidelity.
- Fruitfulness: The divine grace that sustains a covenantal relationship bears fruit in countless ways, not only for the couple but for the wider community as well. Covenanted couples manifest this grace in their shared gifts for ministry and in lives of service, generosity, and hospitality.
- Mutual Blessing: A blessed relationship is set apart for a divine purpose: to bear witness to the creating, redeeming, and sanctifying love of God in the world. As the Spirit empowers the couple for this witness, the Church is likewise blessed and strengthened for its mission and ministry.

In all of these ways and more, the blessing of a same-sex relationship invites covenantal couples and the whole Church to renew our commitment to the Baptismal Covenant. That commitment is expressed by *faith* in the good news of Jesus Christ, in the *hope* for union with God that Christ promised, and with the *love* that knits us together as the Body of Christ. As the apostle Paul reminds us, we live our life together as God's people with faith, hope, and love. And the greatest of these is love (1 Corinthians 13:13).

Handout F

Principles for Evaluating Liturgical Materials

Materials proposed for blessing same-sex relationships must above all be consistent with the implicit theology and ecclesiology of the 1979 Book of Common Prayer. This would suggest, for example, that they must reflect the Prayer Book's underlying assumption that the entire life of the Church finds its origin in baptism.

Nearly as important is that the proposed liturgical materials embody a classically Anglican liturgical ethos and style. Recognizing the varying notions of what makes public prayer recognizably Anglican, the task group identified these qualities:

- It resonates with Scripture and proclaims the gospel.
- It is rooted in Anglican theological tradition.
- It has high literary value; it is beautiful according to accepted and respected standards.
- It uses the recurring structures, linguistic patterns, and metaphors of the 1979 Book of Common Prayer.
- It is formal, not casual, conversational, or colloquial.
- It is dense enough to bear the weight of the sacred purpose for which it is intended.
- It is metaphoric without being obtuse.
- It is performative: that is, it effects what it says.

At the same time, these rites must resonate as natural speech in contemporary ears. A religious or sacred tone must be achieved without the use of arcane or antiquated words or patterns of speech.

The rites should provide explanatory notes and rubrics. The material must be considered as the script for an event, not merely a collection of texts.

Any rite of blessing must be an expression primarily of the entire Church, not of the couple seeking a blessing. These rites must allow for robust communal participation, reflecting the baptismal ecclesiology of the Prayer Book. Related to this, since the eucharist is the symbol of the unity of the Church through unity with Christ, these services of blessing should normatively take place within a celebration of the eucharist.

Such rites must enact the notion of sacramental reciprocity by suggesting that, even as the Church blesses the relationship of the couple, the relationship of the couple is a blessing to the Church.

Options for various elements of the rites, particularly Scripture and the Prayers of the People, must be provided so that this action of the entire Church — this common prayer — does not degenerate into a generic rite.

Any rite of blessing a couple must hold up the two people making the covenant as the primary ministers within this action of God and of the entire Church. Such rites should give expression to the Church's understanding that the couple is freely assuming a vocation that can be expected to yield the fruits of mutual fidelity for the couple, for the Church, and for the entire world, and that points ultimately toward the fulfillment of all human relationships and unity in the eschatological Reign of God, when God will be all-in-all.

The rites must be what they purport to be — liturgical prayer — not didactic or polemical statements in the guise of liturgy.

VII. APPENDICES

Contents

- 1. A History of the Marriage Canon
- 2. A Review of General Convention Legislation
- 3. Consultation on Same-Sex Marriage: Executive Summary of Evaluations
- 4. Glossary of Legal and Canonical Terms

1. A History of the Marriage Canon

This essay is from the report submitted to the 78th General Convention by the Task Force on the Study of Marriage, which was formed by the 77th General Convention (2012).

Canonical history in The Episcopal Church is consistent in one respect: canons follow practice. That is, the Church changes and evolves its practice and then amends the canons to reflect the current practice. Sometimes this happens relatively quickly (for example, in the case of the ordination of women); sometimes this happens slowly (as in the case of the Church's practices regarding divorce and remarriage). In either case, a review of the journals of General Convention and White and Dykman's *The Annotated Constitution and Canons* shows that oftentimes the discussion has taken place over a number of years before the amendment passes General Convention. The marriage canon has followed this norm.

It should be noted that the term "Holy Matrimony" may appear to be used interchangeably with marriage. Holy Matrimony is not defined but in usage refers to the sacramental rite of the Church, and some prefer its use in the context of the Church's relationship to weddings and marriage. The connotation of "Holy Matrimony" is something more than marriage as defined by civil law. That "something more" is expressed in covenant language: the exchange of vows in the presence of a priest and at least two witnesses and blessed in the Name of God. Yet the marriage rite in the Book of Common Prayer 1979 is titled "The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage." And both civil and Church law talks of "solemnizing" marriage. Even if Holy Matrimony is understood as "something more," that understanding is more aspirational than real, as marriage in the Church is no guarantee of the success of the relationship.

The canons addressing marriage or Holy Matrimony first addressed not the making of the marriage but its dissolution. The first mention of marriage in the canons² of The Episcopal Church appears in the Convention of 1808. The House of Deputies referred a communication to the House of Bishops, then consisting of the two bishops in attendance, White and Claggett, making a request. The communication asked the bishops to consider adopting the English canon regarding marriage and inserting it into future editions of the Prayer Book. The bishops responded by deferring the matter to consideration and action by a future convention, pointing to the absence of some of their members, as well as absences among the deputies. The 1808 convention instead passed a joint resolution stating "the sense of this Church" regarding the remarriage of the divorced, declaring "it is inconsistent with the law of God, and the Ministers of this Church, therefore, shall not unite in matrimony any person who is divorced, unless it be on account of the other party having been guilty of adultery."³

This joint resolution of 1808 remained the only statement of the General Convention on the subject of marriage until 1868, when the first canon was enacted as Canon II.13:

No minister of this Church shall solemnize Matrimony in any case where there is a divorced wife or husband of either party still living; but this Canon shall not be held to apply to the innocent party in a divorce for the cause of adultery, or to parties once divorced seeking to be united again.

¹ There are other instances when amending the canons was intended to change the practice. A recent example is the serial revisions of Title IV between 1994 and 2009.

² The Constitution of The Episcopal Church has not historically addressed marriage. The discussion here is confined to the canons.

³ Edwin A. White and Jackson A. Dykman, eds., Annotated Constitution and Canons for the Government of the Protestant Episcopal Church (New York: Church Publishing, Inc., 1979), 398.

The new canon restated what the joint resolution of 1808 had put forward: remarriage of a divorced person is allowed only when the divorce occurs because of the adultery of one of the partners and then only of the innocent partner. It also adds a clarifying statement that allows a divorced couple to reunite and remarry in the Church. This statement regarding divorce and remarriage relied on what is commonly called "the Matthean exception," referring to Matthew 5:32: "But I say to you that anyone who divorces his wife, except on the ground of unchastity, causes her to commit adultery; and whoever marries a divorced woman commits adultery." Allowing this exception to the general prohibition of remarriage of a divorced person while the other partner lived was an Episcopal Church step away from the Church of England's blanket ban on remarriage of divorced persons.⁴

The 1877 convention repealed Canon II.13 as it was enacted in 1868 and enacted a new version entitled "Of Marriage and Divorce":

- Section 1 declared unlawful any marriage "otherwise than as God's Word doth allow."
- Section 2 prohibited ministers from knowingly solemnizing, after due inquiry, the marriage of any
 divorced person whose spouse is alive, if divorced for cause arising after marriage, and retains
 the exception for the innocent spouse or divorced spouses seeking to reunite.
- Section 3 prevented reception of a person not married according to the Word of God and the
 discipline of this Church into Baptism, Confirmation, or Holy Communion without the "godly
 judgment" of the bishop. But no minister could refuse the sacraments to a penitent person in
 imminent danger of death.
- Section 4 required referral of the facts of any case arising under section 2 to the bishop of the diocese or missionary jurisdiction in which the case arose, or, in the absence of such a bishop, to a bishop designated by the Standing Committee. The bishop was empowered to make inquiry into the matter as he found expedient and then deliver a judgment. No guidelines are given to serve as the basis for entering judgment.
- Section 5 applies the new canon only prospectively as to any penalties that may attach.⁵

The House of Bishops had concurred with the amendments in 1874 but the House of Deputies deferred consideration until the next convention in 1877. The 1868 amendments applied only to clergy, while the 1877 revision added penalties for laity by excluding from the sacraments those who married outside the Church.

Divorce rates remained low in the 1800s because secular law and social norms made divorce difficult. Spouses had to prove fault in some manner to obtain a divorce. Women, alone or with children, had few options for economic survival, a deterrent to seeking divorce. Divorce statistics were not even recorded prior to 1867. Less than 10 percent of marriages ended in divorce between 1867 and 1900. Nonetheless, the Church wrestled with how it should respond to its members who divorced. The idea of divorce ran counter to Church values and ideas about marriage, but it played out in how the Church responded to its divorced members. The Church's response came in the language of punishment: of clergy for knowingly officiating at the marriage a person who was divorced from a living spouse, and of laity who divorced and remarried.

The convention of 1883 appointed a joint committee of bishops and deputies "to consider the duty of the Church in relation to the whole subject of Marriage, including the impediments to the contract thereof, the manner of its solemnization, and the conditions of its dissolution, and to report to the next General Convention." In their report to the 1886 convention the committee contrasted the traditional view held by the Church with the prevailing secular sentiment seeking easier separation. The cause was identified as the ease with which first marriages were contracted, noting that children as young as twelve could marry without parental consent and without witnesses. The committee's response was a proposed canon that featured:

⁴ White & Dykman, 398-399.

⁵ White & Dykman, 400–401.

⁶ White & Dykman, 402.

- Setting 18 as the minimum age to marry without parental consent.
- Requiring solemnization to occur in the presence of at least two witnesses personally acquainted with both parties.
- Requiring clergy to keep a register of marriages, recording certain facts, and signed by the parties, at least two witnesses and the minister.
- Setting the law of the Church concerning divorce as that contained in Matthew 5:32 and 19:9, Mark 10:1, and Luke 16:18.
- Prohibiting divorce except for adultery or fornication, with the unfaithful spouse prohibited from marrying again during the lifetime of the innocent spouse.
- Subjecting clergy who violate the canon to ecclesiastical trial and admonition for a first offense and suspension or deposition for repeat offenses.
- Barring spouses from receiving Holy Communion for violating the canon except upon repentance and after separation from the new spouse.

The House of Deputies declined to concur in the adoption of the proposed canon, which was referred to the next conventions of 1889, 1892, 1895, and 1901 with similar results.⁷

The convention of 1904 took up the proposal to revise the marriage canon and passed Canon 38, "Of Solemnization of Matrimony," by a narrow majority after four days of debate in the House of Deputies meeting as a committee of the whole. Canon 38 set the following requirements:

- Section 1 required ministers to observe the law of the state governing the civil contract of marriage in the place where the marriage was performed.
- Section 2 required the presence of at least two witnesses to the solemnization and the recording in the proper register of the name, age, and residence of each party, signed by the parties, the minister, and at least two witnesses.
- Section 3 prohibited minister, knowingly and after due inquiry, from officiating at the marriage any person who was divorced from a living spouse, except the innocent party to a divorce for adultery. It added the new requirements in the latter case of a one-year waiting period and presentation of the divorce decree and record with "satisfactory evidence touching on the facts of the case" to the ecclesiastical authority along with evidence that the opposing spouse was personally served or appeared in court. The ecclesiastical authority, after taking legal advice on the evidence, declared in writing that in his judgment the case of the applicant conformed to the requirements of the canon. It further allowed any minister as a matter of discretion to decline to solemnize any marriage.
- Section 4 authorized any minister to refuse the ordinances of Holy Baptism, Confirmation, or Holy Communion to anyone who has been married "otherwise than as the Word of God and discipline of this Church allow" until the case was presented to the ecclesiastical authority for his godly judgment. But no minister was to refuse the sacraments to a penitent person in danger of death.

As adopted, the canon represented a compromise, one that had eluded the General Convention for 15 years, between those who would prohibit remarriage of persons divorced from a still-living former spouse, and those who advocated the limited adultery exception, previously enacted in 1868, for the so-called innocent spouse in a divorce for adultery.⁸

Efforts to drop the adultery exception continued without success in the conventions of 1910 and 1913, when the question was referred to a joint committee on marriage. The committee's report to the 1916 convention

⁷ White & Dykman, 402–403.

⁸ White & Dykman, 403–404.

argued for the exercise of discretion in excluding persons from the sacraments, recognizing that a subsequent marriage may have been entered into in good faith and in ignorance of the Church's law or while not subject to the Church's discipline, or may result in the break-up of a family. This discretion would lie with the minister of the congregation and the bishop of the diocese. The proposed canonical amendments failed in 1916 and 1919.

A number of changes in American social and economic structures from 1850 to 1920 kept the Church's discussions of the role of divorce and remarriage going. The Industrial Revolution drew men and women from rural communities to the cities, from kinship community to a community of peers, and began to redefine the roles of men and women. Women organized to advocate for their civil rights in 1848 after the all-male Liberty Party added suffrage for women to its national platform. A month later, the Seneca Falls Convention met and adopted a "Declaration of Sentiments" demanding rights for women so that they could protect their homes and families. Among the rights sought were equal treatment before the law, participation in the government of both State and Church, the right to own, inherit, and dispose of their property, and fair treatment in divorce. The Women's Christian Temperance Union (WCTU) organized in 1874, seeking to ban alcohol, and later tobacco and other drugs, in order to protect the home. Women protested their lack of civil rights and sought the rights that would treat them as adults in the eyes of the law, as opposed to the legal protections that kept them dependent on their fathers, husbands, and sons. Unable to vote, women, especially married women, lacked legal rights to retain custody of children and control of their own property in a divorce, legal protection against rape and other assaults, including domestic violence, and access to the economy to become self-supporting when they were widowed or divorced. The institutions of that time were controlled by white men. Legislatures were all male. Women faced juries of men in civil and criminal cases. The Church reflected its times: only men could be ordained as clergy and only men could serve on vestries and as deputies to General Convention. The WCTU obtained passage of Prohibition with the 18th Amendment to the federal Constitution in 1920, subsequently repealed in 1933 in response to the uneven application of the law across economic class and in the face of widespread and open disregard for a law with a raft of unintended consequences. In short, Prohibition was unworkable. But women obtained the right to vote in 1920 with ratification of the 19th Amendment.

Women's roles in society continued to change with the Depression and World War II. Divorce rates increased in the early 20th century, doubling from 8 percent in 1900 to 16 percent in 1930. Divorce continued to be fault-based divorce codes which required proof of abuse, adultery, or abandonment. Divorce rates dropped slightly during the Great Depression, in part because couples could not afford the economic consequences of divorce on top of unemployment. As the unemployment rate dropped, divorce rates began to rise gradually. By 1940, 20 percent of marriages ended in divorce. Fertility rates increased immediately following World War I, but then resumed a 50-year decline which was slowed only by the unreliability of available birth control.⁹

The General Convention of 1922 amended section 3 of Canon 38, making it unlawful for any member of the Church to enter into a marriage when either of the parties was divorced from a living husband or wife. The convention of 1925 considered and rejected an amendment to section 3 of Canon 38 that restricted remarriage to cases where the bishop, acting with legal advice, found on the record that the divorce was granted for cause arising before marriage, essentially annulling the marriage, allowing remarriage of either party. The House of Bishops considered a separate amendment that allowed remarriage of either party of any divorce, abolishing the Matthean exception. The proposal failed, and the Matthean exception survived.

The Joint Commission on Marriage and Divorce presented an extensive revision of the marriage canon that was adopted in 1931. Compared with the previous limited measures to regulate the solemnization of marriage by the Church, the new Canon 41, "Of the Solemnization of Holy Matrimony," enacted far more detailed regulation of Church marriage:

⁹ Stephanie Coontz, Marriage, A History: How Love Conquered Marriage (New York: Penguin, 2005).

- Section 1 for the first time stated an affirmative duty that clergy instruct their congregations, both publicly and privately, on the nature and responsibilities of Holy Matrimony, and the mutual love and forbearance required.
- Section 2 retained the 1904 admonition that ministers conform to the laws of the State governing civil marriage, and added a parallel admonition to conform to the laws of the Church regarding the solemnization of Holy Matrimony.
- Section 3 expanded to five the list of conditions that the minister must discern before
 solemnizing a marriage. Among the new conditions were verifying that the parties had a right to
 contract a marriage under Church law; instructing the parties on "the nature of Holy Matrimony,
 its responsibilities, and the means of grace which God has provided through His Church"; and
 requiring the parties to give the minister at least three days' notice of their intent to marry.
 Requirements for at least two witnesses and entry into the parish register were retained.
- Section 4 added a new requirement that the parties to an imperiled marriage must present the matter to the minister who has "the duty ... to labor that the parties may be reconciled."
- Section 5 retained the 1904 process and expectations for the remarriage of the divorced.
- Section 6 added new provisions and conditions for the annulment or dissolution of a marriage by reason of the presence of one of the listed impediments to the marriage: relationship by blood within the prohibited degree (consanguinity within first cousins); absence of free consent; mistake as to the identity of either party; mental deficiency affecting exercise of intelligent choice; insanity of either party; failure of a party to reach puberty; undisclosed impotence, venereal disease, or facts making the marriage bigamous. Section 6 added a role for the ecclesiastical court in the exercise of judgments on annulment or dissolution petitions as an alternative to presentation to the bishop. A further provision stated that no judgment was to be construed as addressing the legitimacy of children or the civil validity of the relationship.
- Section 7 retained the 1904 provision for excluding from the sacraments persons not married
 "according to the word of God and discipline of this Church" and the process for review by the
 bishop. Section 7 added an additional process for admitting persons married by civil authority or
 "otherwise than as this Church provides" to the sacraments. The process involved judgment by
 the bishop or ecclesiastical court.

Two of the 1931 proposals were subject to debate and amendment. The Joint Commission's proposal did not include continuing recognition of the Matthean exception, which was added back by the convention. The second major change, removing the right of determining nullity of a marriage from the local clergy to the bishop or ecclesiastical court, has an unclear basis but a best guess is that clergy were thought to be too lenient with their congregants. Requiring the bishop to make the determination opened the door to more uniform results and more objective consideration. One additional significant change was the omission of the section 3 clause that permitted any minister in his own discretion to decline to solemnize any marriage.¹⁰

The 1934 convention modified the three days' notice requirement to allow the minister to waive "for weighty cause," when one of the parties was a member of the minister's congregation or was well known to the minister, facts which had to be reported immediately to the ecclesiastical authority. 11

The report of the Joint Commission on Marriage and Divorce to the 1937 General Convention lamented that the Church's views on divorce and marriage were increasingly ignored by the Church as well as the public at large. To remedy this concern, the Commission made observations about the points of tension, noting that

¹⁰ White & Dykman, 406–408.

¹¹ White & Dykman, 408.

"almost everyone agrees that the present Canon is inadequate, but there is a wide difference of opinion as to the course that should be followed." The report went on to identify three issues:

- Some are slow to make changes, foreseeing difficulties and dangers and hence voting for the status quo.
- Others want to prohibit remarriage or the blessing of a remarriage of divorced persons, a strategy that has failed.
- Still others want to adopt annulment as done in the Eastern Orthodox and Roman churches, observing that "to most Anglicans and Protestants this seems nothing but divorce under another name. In either case it 'puts asunder' those whom, to all appearances and understanding 'God hath joined together.""

The Commission proposed only two minor changes to the impediments section of the canon which were adopted, adding "lack of free *and legal* consent of either party" and "impotence *or sexual perversion of either party* undisclosed to the other."¹³ Sexual perversion would include homosexuality.

The Commission proposed more extensive revisions of the marriage canon in 1940 and 1943 without success, receiving unfavorable action in the House of Deputies in a vote by orders. The 1943 convention passed successfully a reorganization of canons related to marriage by transferring section 7 (1931), governing the access of divorced persons to the sacraments, to Canon 15, "Of Regulations Respecting the Laity." Section 4, the duty to seek counseling; section 5, the Matthean exception to the prohibition of remarriage after divorce; and section 6, annulment, dissolution, and the impediments to marriage, became a new Canon 17, "Of Regulations Respecting Holy Matrimony and the Impediments Thereto." And sections 1–3, telling ministers their duties and obligations in solemnizing marriage, became the new Canon 16, "Of the Solemnization of Holy Matrimony."

After almost 80 years of struggle, the 1946 convention eliminated the prohibition of the remarriage of divorced persons, including the Matthean exception. Applying solely to active members in good standing, the revised and renumbered Canon 18, "Of the Regulations Respecting Holy Matrimony," allowed a person whose marriage was annulled or dissolved by a civil court to petition the bishop or ecclesiastical authority of the diocese of canonical residence for a judgment of status or permission to be married by a minister of this Church. A one-year waiting period after issuance of the civil judgment was required and petition had to be made at least 30 days before the planned date of marriage. In considering such a petition, the bishop was required to be "satisfied that the parties intend a true Christian marriage," and, if so finding, refer the petition to his council of advisers or the court if the diocese has established one. The bishop or ecclesiastical authority was to base the judgment on and conform with the doctrine of the Church, "that marriage is a physical, spiritual, and mystical union of a man and a woman created by their mutual consent of heart, mind and will thereto and is a Holy Estate instituted of God and is in intention lifelong." Canon 18 references the list of conditions in Canon 17 as forming the basis for the judgment of the ecclesiastical authority. The result of the judgment is that no marriage bond recognized by the Church was established and may be so declared by the proper authority. However, the judgment was held not to say anything about the legitimacy of children or the civil viability of the former relationship. Judgments were to be rendered in writing and kept as a permanent record of the diocese. Any person granted such a judgment could then be married by a minister of the Church. 14 Essentially the convention accepted remarriage of divorced members as determined by civil law.

Controversy lingered over a perceived ambiguity in Canon 18, Section 2(b), whether the impediments listed in Canon 17, section 2(b), "are shown to exist or to have existed which manifestly establish that no marriage bond [existed]." Some bishops were only willing to consider granting petitions to remarry if the marriage

¹² Joint Commission on Marriage and Divorce, quoted in White & Dykman, 409.

¹³ White & Dykman, 410; emphasis added.

¹⁴ White & Dykman, 416-418.

impediment arose before the marriage, a concept of contract law known as *nullity ab initio*, meaning that some defect occurred in the formation of the marriage contract. Others were willing to recognize that for causes arising after marriage the marriage bond dissolved. A special committee of the House of Bishops reported to the 1949 convention on this split of opinion by taking the middle way opposing further clarification, stating: "But as a matter of fact there is no ambiguity here. The Canon recognized two points of view as legitimate; one, that if one or more impediments existed before the marriage, no marital bond was created; the other, that if one of the impediments arises after marriage, the marital bond is broken." The bishops could have it both ways. 15

The 1946 revision changed the requirement that both parties have received Holy Baptism to requiring that only one party be baptized. The change addressed a disagreement in interpretation that had arisen. Some clergy felt that the nature of Holy Matrimony implied its availability only to baptized persons. This interpretation pushed unbaptized parties to seek instruction and Holy Baptism before being married in the Church, as some clergy refused to solemnize the marriage otherwise. This view is rejected by requiring at least one party to have been baptized.¹⁶

The 1949 convention nonetheless made two changes:

- Removed the referral by the bishop to his council of advisers or to a court formed for that purpose.
- Added the requirement that, if the remarriage was to be solemnized in a different jurisdiction than where the judgment is granted, the bishop or ecclesiastical authority of the second jurisdiction had to give approval as well.

These changes left the granting of permission to remarry to the bishop or ecclesiastical authority, without requiring consultation with attorneys, psychologists, a council of advice, or an ecclesiastical court, as had been required in prior times.

Proposals to return to the principle of *nullity ab initio* (1958) and to shorten the one-year waiting period (1970) were defeated.

From 1945 to 1947, a distinct spike in divorce rates was evident in the aftermath of World War II, reaching 43 percent when compared to the number of marriages in 1946. There may have been many reasons for this rise: hasty marriages immediately before deployment to the war, newfound independence among wives on the home front, and inability to undertake the burden of sustaining marriages to returning war veterans who were injured physically or psychologically as a result of their service. Divorce rates leveled off in the 1950s and 1960s, averaging about 24 percent over the two decades.

As General Convention prepared to convene in 1973, bishops and deputies submitted from 30 to 40 resolutions calling for amending or repealing the canons on Holy Matrimony. Both houses appointed special committees that met jointly during the first week of the convention, came to agreement on major issues, and drew up proposed amendments to the canons which were adopted by considerable majorities without significant floor changes.

- Canon I.16, "Of Regulations Respecting the Laity," was amended to repeal section 7 addressing a
 Minister's withholding of the sacraments from a person "married otherwise than as the word of
 God and discipline of this Church allow".
- Canon I.17, "Of the Solemnization of Holy Matrimony," was repealed and a new canon adopted in its place.
 - Section 1 was retained, requiring clergy to conform to state law governing civil marriage and the laws of this Church governing Holy Matrimony.

15

¹⁵ White & Dykman, 419, quoting the 1949 Journal, 439.

¹⁶ White & Dykman, 414.

- Sections 2 and 3 required clergy to meet the conditions and follow the procedures in solemnizing any marriage. The list of impediments to marriage was eliminated in an effort to move clergy from a legalistic evaluation of the marriage to a more pastoral approach emphasizing the nature of Christian marriage. The clergy were required to instruct and ascertain the understanding of the parties that marriage is a physical and spiritual union entered into in the community of faith by mutual consent of heart, mind, and will intending to be a lifelong commitment. Further, the parties must satisfy the minister that they are entering into marriage without fraud, coercion, mistaken identity, or mental reservation. Section 3 procedures requiring thirty days' notice to the minister, presence of at least two witnesses, and recording the marriage in the proper register were retained, as was the requirement that the couple sign the "Declaration of Intent" contained in section 3(d), which was first introduced into the canon in 1949. The Declaration of Intent was connected to the required instruction, but it sounded, in fact, more like a confessional statement expressed as the couple's "understanding" of Christian marriage.
- Section 4 retained the clergy's discretion to decline to perform any marriage.
- Canon I.18, "Of Regulations Respecting Holy Matrimony: Concerning Preservation of Marriage, Dissolution of Marriage, and Remarriage," was repealed and a new canon adopted:
 - Section 1 addressed the duty of the parties and the minister to attempt reconciliation in the face of imperiled marriage unity before filing legal action.
 - Section 2 allowed a party who wished to remarry after receiving a civil decree of annulment or dissolution to petition the bishop or ecclesiastical authority for a judgment of nullity or termination. The requirements for this permission were streamlined from earlier versions.
 Reliance on a civil decree of annulment or dissolution continued.
 - Section 3 set out procedures for the minister to follow in preparation for solemnizing the marriage of a party who was previously married to a living spouse. As revised, section 3 made clear that divorced persons could remarry in the Church and set out the simplified procedures for ministers to follow and obtain the bishop's consent.
 - Section 4 makes Canon I.17 applicable to all remarriages.¹⁷

No-fault divorce arrived in the 1970s as states changed their laws to move away from the necessity of proving a grievous wrong to the marriage and toward recognition that marital relationships simply do not work out or meet the expectations of both parties. In the 1980s equitable distribution of marital property became the law, reducing the battles between divorcing spouses over property as a means of punishing the other or reducing an offending spouse to abject poverty. Divorce rates jumped from 33 percent in 1970 to 50 percent in 1985 as these two legal trends took hold nationwide. Divorce rates continue to run to about 50 percent of marriages in 2014.

The 1973 rewrites of Canons I.16, I.17 and I.18, renumbered as Canons I.17, I.18 and I.19 in 1985, settled the canons on marriage and remarriage for the next thirty years. There have been a few relatively minor changes adopted subsequently:

- In 1979, Canon I.18.3 (now I.19.3) was amended to clarify which bishop would be consulted when a member of the clergy canonically resident in one diocese was licensed to perform a remarriage in another diocese. The canon required consulting with and reporting to the minister's bishop.
- In 2000, Canon I.19.1 was amended to clarify the duty of clergy when consulted by the parties to an imperiled marriage. The prior canon emphasized reconciliation as the purpose of the consultation. Some clergy apparently took this charge literally, encouraging women in abusive relationships to work matters out without regard to the physical safety of the woman and/or

¹⁷ White & Dykman, 413–415.

children. Societal, legal, and law enforcement norms regarding domestic violence, spousal abuse, and child abuse changed significantly during the 1980s and 1990s. The amendment changed the charge to reconcile if possible and imposed an additional duty on the clergy to "act first to protect and promote the physical and emotional safety of those involved and only then, if possible, to labor that the parties be reconciled."

• In 2000, General Convention further amended Canon I.19.3 to add reporting to the bishop of the diocese where the member of the clergy is canonically resident or the bishop where the member of the clergy is licensed to officiate and report to that bishop on the remarriage.

Even though the marriage canons did not change dramatically, discussion of issues related to marriage continued in General Convention in parallel with secular society. These discussions occurred under the umbrella of human sexuality and across interim bodies of the General Convention, debating what the Church should say and do about premarital sex and adultery; infertility and emerging technologies to allow infertile couples to conceive and bear children and surrogacy; abortion and birth control; couples cohabiting without marriage; marriage across religious denominations; interracial marriage; and full inclusion of gay and lesbian, later widened to include bisexual and transgender persons (LGBT), in community. Calls continue for revision of the canons to permit same-sex marriage or some form of recognition for same-sex relationships; to remove clergy from acting as agents of the state in solemnizing marriage; to allow blessings for same-sex couples, heterosexual couples who choose not to marry for financial reasons, and immigrants living illegally in the United States. These issues will be considered further in the critique of the present canons.

Bibliography

The Constitution and Canons of the Episcopal Church. New York: Church Publishing Inc., 2012.

Coontz, Stephanie. Marriage, A History: How Love Conquered Marriage. New York: Penguin, 2005.

Jones, Audrey M. "Historical Divorce Rate Statistics," on website Love to Know Divorce. http://divorce.lovetoknow.com/Historical Divorce Rate Statistics

National Conference of State Legislatures. "Same-Sex Marriage Laws." November 20, 2014. http://www.ncsl.org/research/human-services/same-sex-marriage-laws.aspx#2

White, Edwin A., and Jackson A. Dykman, eds. Annotated Constitution and Canons for the Government of the Protestant Episcopal Church. New York: Church Publishing, Inc., 1979.

Women's Christian Temperance Union website. "Early History." http://www.wctu.org/earlyhistory.html

2. A Review of

General Convention Legislation

Introduction

The legislative history here shows the development of General Convention deliberations about the place of gay men and lesbians in the life of the Church, particularly with regard to the blessing of their faithful, monogamous, lifelong relationships. Successive conventions have both acknowledged the work of their predecessors and reached new decisions.

Resolution texts are from the website of the Archives of the Episcopal Church: http://www.episcopalarchives.org/e-archives/acts/

Minneapolis, 1976: For the first time, General Convention adopted a resolution that acknowledged and affirmed the presence of persons of homosexual orientation in the Church.

Resolution 1976-A069:

Resolved, the House of Bishops concurring, That it is the sense of this General Convention that homosexual persons are children of God who have a full and equal claim with all other persons upon the love, acceptance, and pastoral concern and care of the Church.

Anaheim, 1985: General Convention reaffirmed the 1976 resolution and encouraged dioceses to deepen understanding.

Resolution 1985-D082:

Resolved, the House of Bishops concurring, That the 68th General Convention urge each diocese of this Church to find an effective way to foster a better understanding of homosexual persons, to dispel myths and prejudices about homosexuality, to provide pastoral support, and to give life to the claim of homosexual persons "upon the love, acceptance, and pastoral care and concern of the Church" as recognized by the General Convention in 1976.

Phoenix, 1991: General Convention affirmed the traditional understanding of marriage as between a man and a woman, and acknowledged "discontinuity" between that teaching and the experience of many members of the Episcopal Church.

Resolution 1991-A104:

Resolved, the House of Deputies concurring, That the 70th General Convention of The Episcopal Church affirms that the teaching of The Episcopal Church is that physical sexual expression is appropriate only within the lifelong monogamous "union of husband and wife in heart, body, and mind" "intended by God for their mutual joy; for the help and comfort given one another in prosperity and adversity and, when it is God's will, for the procreation of children and their nurture in the knowledge and love of the Lord" as set forth in the Book of Common Prayer; and be it further

Resolved, That this Church continues to work to reconcile the discontinuity between this teaching and the experience of many members of this body; and be it further

Resolved, That this General Convention confesses our failure to lead and to resolve this discontinuity through legislative efforts based upon resolutions directed at singular and various aspects of these issues; and be it further

Resolved, That this General Convention commissions the Bishops and members of each Diocesan Deputation to initiate a means for all congregations in their jurisdiction to enter into dialogue and deepen their understanding of these complex issues; and further this General Convention directs the President of each Province to appoint one Bishop, one lay deputy and one clerical deputy in that province to facilitate the process, to receive reports from the dioceses at each meeting of their provincial synod and report to the 71st General Convention; and be it further

Resolved, That this General Convention directs the House of Bishops to prepare a Pastoral Teaching prior to the 71st General Convention using the learnings from the diocesan and provincial processes and calling upon such insight as is necessary from theologians, theological ethicists, social scientists and gay and lesbian persons; and that three lay persons and three members of the clergy from the House of Deputies, appointed by the President of the House of Deputies be included in the preparation of this Pastoral Teaching.

Indianapolis, 1994: General Convention added sexual orientation, along with marital status, sex, disabilities, and age as categories to which non-discrimination in Church membership is assured.

Resolution 1994-Co20:

Resolved, the House of Bishops concurring, That Title I, Canon 17, Section 5 be amended as follows:

No person shall be denied rights, status [in], or [access to] an equal place in the life, worship, and governance of this Church because of race, color, [or] ethnic origin, national origin, marital status, sex, sexual orientation, disabilities or age, except as otherwise specified by [this] Canon.

Indianapolis, 1994: General Convention called for a study of "the theological foundations and pastoral considerations involved in the development of rites honoring love and commitment between persons of the same sex."

Resolution 1994-Co42:

Resolved, the House of Deputies concurring, That the 71st General Convention direct the Standing Liturgical Commission and the Theology Committee of the House of Bishops to prepare and present to the 72nd General Convention, as part of the Church's ongoing dialogue on human sexuality, a report addressing the theological foundations and pastoral considerations involved in the development of rites honoring love and commitment between persons of the same sex; and be it further

Resolved, That no rites for the honoring of love and commitment between persons of the same sex be developed unless and until the preparation of such rites has been authorized by the General Convention; and be it further

Resolved, That the sum of \$8,600 be appropriated to support this work, subject to funding considerations.

Philadelphia, 1997: General Convention reaffirmed the traditional understanding of marriage and called for continuing study.

Resolution 1997-Coo3:

Resolved, That this 72nd General Convention affirm the sacredness of Christian marriage between one man and one woman with intent of life-long relationship; and be it further

Resolved, That this Convention direct the Standing Liturgical Commission to continue its study of theological aspects of committed relationships of same-sex couples, and to issue a full report including recommendations of future steps for the resolution of issues related to such committed relationships no later than November 1999 for consideration at the 73rd General Convention.

Denver, 2000: General Convention acknowledged relationships other than marriage.

Resolution 2000-D039:

Resolved, That the members of the 73rd General Convention intend for this Church to provide a safe and just structure in which all can utilize their gifts and creative energies for mission; and be it further

Resolved, That we acknowledge that while the issues of human sexuality are not yet resolved, there are currently couples in the Body of Christ and in this Church who are living in marriage and couples in the Body of Christ and in this Church who are living in other life-long committed relationships; and be it further

Resolved, That we expect such relationships will be characterized by fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest communication, and the holy love which enables those in such relationships to see in each other the image of God; and be it further

Resolved, That we denounce promiscuity, exploitation, and abusiveness in the relationships of any of our members; and be it further

Resolved, That this Church intends to hold all its members accountable to these values, and will provide for them the prayerful support, encouragement, and pastoral care necessary to live faithfully by them; and be it further

Resolved, That we acknowledge that some, acting in good conscience, who disagree with the traditional teaching of the Church on human sexuality, will act in contradiction to that position; and be it further

Resolved, That in continuity with previous actions of the General Convention of this Church, and in response to the call for dialogue by the Lambeth Conference, we affirm that those on various sides of controversial issues have a place in the Church, and we reaffirm the imperative to promote conversation between persons of differing experiences and perspectives, while acknowledging the Church's teaching on the sanctity of marriage.

Minneapolis, 2003: Acknowledging continuing differences, General Convention recognized "that local faith communities are operating within the bounds of our common life as they explore and experience liturgies celebrating and blessing same-sex unions."

Resolution 2003-Co51:

Resolved, That the 74th General Convention affirm the following:

1. That our life together as a community of faith is grounded in the saving work of Jesus Christ and expressed in the principles of the Chicago–Lambeth Quadrilateral: Holy Scripture,

the historic Creeds of the Church, the two dominical Sacraments, and the Historic Episcopate.

- 2. That we reaffirm Resolution Ao69 of the 65th General Convention (1976) that "homosexual persons are children of God who have a full and equal claim with all other persons upon the love, acceptance, and pastoral concern and care of the Church."
- 3. That, in our understanding of homosexual persons, differences exist among us about how best to care pastorally for those who intend to live in monogamous, non-celibate unions; and what is, or should be, required, permitted, or prohibited by the doctrine, discipline, and worship of The Episcopal Church concerning the blessing of the same.
- 4. That we reaffirm Resolution Do39 of the 73rd General Convention (2000), that "We expect such relationships will be characterized by fidelity, monogamy, mutual affection and respect, careful, honest communication, and the holy love which enables those in such relationships to see in each other the image of God," and that such relationships exist throughout the Church.
- 5. That we recognize that local faith communities are operating within the bounds of our common life as they explore and experience liturgies celebrating and blessing same-sex unions.
- 6. That we commit ourselves, and call our Church, in the spirit of Resolution A104 of the 70th General Convention (1991), to continued prayer, study, and discernment on the pastoral care for gay and lesbian persons, to include the compilation and development by a special commission organized and appointed by the Presiding Bishop, of resources to facilitate as wide a conversation of discernment as possible throughout the Church.
- 7. That our baptism into Jesus Christ is inseparable from our communion with one another, and we commit ourselves to that communion despite our diversity of opinion and, among dioceses, a diversity of pastoral practice with the gay men and lesbians among us.
- 8. That it is a matter of faith that our Lord longs for our unity as his disciples, and for us this entails living within the boundaries of the Constitution and Canons of The Episcopal Church. We believe this discipline expresses faithfulness to our polity and that it will facilitate the conversation we seek, not only in The Episcopal Church, but also in the wider Anglican Communion and beyond.

Anaheim, 2009: The General Convention directed the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music to "collect and develop theological and liturgical resources" for blessing same-gender relationships.

Resolution 2009-C056:

Resolved, the House of Deputies concurring, That the 76th General Convention acknowledge the changing circumstances in the United States and in other nations, as legislation authorizing or forbidding marriage, civil unions or domestic partnerships for gay and lesbian persons is passed in various civil jurisdictions that call forth a renewed pastoral response from this Church, and for an open process for the consideration of theological and liturgical resources for the blessing of same-gender relationships; and be it further

Resolved, That the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music, in consultation with the House of Bishops, collect and develop theological and liturgical resources, and report to the 77th General Convention; and be it further

Resolved, That the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music, in consultation with the House of Bishops, devise an open process for the conduct of its work inviting participation from provinces, dioceses, congregations, and individuals who are engaged in such

theological work, and inviting theological reflection from throughout the Anglican Communion; and be it further

Resolved, That bishops, particularly those in dioceses within civil jurisdictions where samegender marriage, civil unions, or domestic partnerships are legal, may provide generous pastoral response to meet the needs of members of this Church; and be it further

Resolved, That this Convention honor the theological diversity of this Church in regard to matters of human sexuality; and be it further

Resolved, That the members of this Church be encouraged to engage in this effort.

Indianapolis, 2012: In Resolution A049, the General Convention commended the resource "I Will Bless You, and You Will Be a Blessing" for study and use, authorized the liturgy for provisional use, and called for a process of review and further development of the theological resources. In addition, in Resolution A050, the General Convention called for a task force to explore understandings of marriage, including attention to legislation authorizing or forbidding same-sex marriage.

Resolution 2012-A049

Resolved, the House of Deputies concurring, That the 77th General Convention commend "Liturgical Resources I: I Will Bless You and You Will Be a Blessing" for study and use in congregations and dioceses of The Episcopal Church, with the following revisions:

Throughout "I Will Bless You and You Will Be a Blessing" change "same-gender" to "same-sex"

Blue Book p. 184: change "Resources for Blessing Same-Gender Relationships" to "Resources for The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant in a Same-Sex Relationship"

Blue Book p. 240: Add rubric after first rubric, stating: "At least one of the couple must be a baptized Christian."

Blue Book p. 240: In paragraph 2, line 1, delete "at least one of whom is baptized"

Blue Book p. 241: In Presider's address to the assembly, delete "come what may" (paragraph 1, line 9)

Blue Book pp. 241–242: In Presider's address to the assembly, delete all of paragraph 2 ("Ahead of them ... calls us all to share.")

Blue Book p. 242: In Presider's address to the assembly, change "let us pray, then," (paragraph 3, line 1) to "Therefore, in the name of Christ, let us pray."

Blue Book p. 245: After the bidding for peace in their home and love in their family, add the following bidding: "For the grace, when they hurt each other, to recognize and acknowledge their fault, and to seek each other's forgiveness and yours: Lord, in your mercy (or Lord, in your goodness) Hear our prayer."

Blue Book p. 246: Change rubric that begins "After a time of silence" to the following: "The leader may add one or more of the following biddings."

Blue Book p. 247: In Commitment (both forms) line 7, change "I will honor and keep you" to "I will honor and love you"

Blue Book p. 248: In first form of blessing rings, change line 2 to "as signs of the enduring covenant"

Blue Book p. 248: In Blessing of the Couple, add rubric between first and second paragraphs: "The Presider continues with one of the following"

Blue Book p. 248: In Blessing of the Couple, add third paragraph after the "Amen": "or this / God, the holy and undivided Trinity, bless, preserve, and keep you, and mercifully grant you rich and boundless grace, that you may please God in body and soul. God make you a sign of the loving-kindness and steadfast fidelity manifest in the life, death, and resurrection of our Savior, and bring you at last to the delight of the heavenly banquet, where he lives and reigns for ever and ever. Amen."

Blue Book p. 257: In paragraph under E. Vocation, change "1 Samuel 18" to "1 Samuel 3"; and be it further

Resolved, That the 77th General Convention authorize for provisional use "The Witnessing and Blessing of a Lifelong Covenant" from "Liturgical Resources I: I Will Bless You and You Will Be a Blessing" beginning the First Sunday of Advent 2012, under the direction and subject to the permission of the bishop exercising ecclesiastical authority; and be it further

Resolved, That bishops, particularly those in dioceses within civil jurisdictions where same-sex marriage, civil unions, or domestic partnerships are legal, may provide generous pastoral response to meet the needs of members of this Church; and be it further

Resolved, That bishops may authorize adaptation of these materials to meet the needs of members of this Church: and be it further

Resolved, that the provision of Canon I.18.4 applies by extension to "Theological Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships," namely, "It shall be within the discretion of any Member of the Clergy of this Church to decline to" preside at any rite of blessing defined herein; and be it further

Resolved, That this convention honor the theological diversity of this Church in regard to matters of human sexuality, and that no bishop, priest, deacon or lay person should be coerced or penalized in any manner, nor suffer any canonical disabilities, as a result of his or her conscientious objection to or support for the 77th General Convention's action with regard to the Blessing of Same-Sex Relationships; and be it further

Resolved, That the theological resource for the blessing of a lifelong covenant be further developed by the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music over the 2013-2015 triennium with specific attention to further engagement with scripture and the relevant categories and sources of systematic theology (e.g., creation, sin, grace, salvation, redemption, human nature); and be it further

Resolved, That the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music include the work of diverse theological perspectives in the further development of the theological resource; and be it further

Resolved, That the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music develop an open process to review "I Will Bless You and You Will Be a Blessing," inviting responses from provinces, dioceses, congregations, and individuals from throughout The Episcopal Church and the Anglican Communion, and from our ecumenical partners, and report to the 78th General Convention.

Resolution 2012-A050

Resolved, the House of Deputies concurring, That the 77th General Convention direct the Presiding Bishop and President of the House of Deputies to appoint a task force of not more than twelve people, consisting of theologians, liturgists, pastors, and educators, to identify and explore biblical, theological, historical, liturgical, and canonical dimensions of marriage; and be it further,

Resolved, That the task force consult with the Standing Commission on Constitution and Canons and The Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music to address the pastoral need for priests to officiate at a civil marriage of a same-sex couple in states that authorize such; and be it further

Resolved, That the task force consult with couples living in marriage and in other lifelong committed relationships and with single adults, and be it further,

Resolved, That the task force consult with other churches in the Anglican Communion and with our ecumenical partners, and be it further

Resolved, That the task force consider issues raised by changing societal and cultural norms and legal structures, including legislation authorizing or forbidding marriage, civil unions, or domestic partnerships between two people of the same sex, in the U.S. and other countries where The Episcopal Church is located; and be it further

Resolved, That the task force develop tools for theological reflection and norms for theological discussion at a local level; and be it further

Resolved, That the task force report its progress to the 78th General Convention; and be it further

Resolved, That the General Convention request the Joint Standing Committee on Program, Budget and Finance to consider a budget allocation of \$30,000 for the implementation of this resolution.

3. Consultation on Same-Sex Marriage:Executive Summary of Evaluations

The Consultation on Same-Sex Marriage invited participants from several dioceses in states where marriage equality is legally recognized to share their experiences and contexts and also to provide responses to the resources that the SCLM subcommittee had developed. Additionally, the Consultation also invited participants from other Anglican Communion Provinces having marriage equality as well as representatives from other mainline Protestant denominations, which added both international and ecumenical dimensions to the discussion.

The intensive two-day Consultation (held in Kansas City, Missouri on June 3–5, 2014, Tuesday evening through Thursday evening) included both an *indaba*-style conversation, with the objective of structured mutual listening to diverse contexts and concerns on the topic of marriage equality, and a focused workshop to provide responses to the work of the SCLM subcommittee on the resources. Recorders for small groups captured the key points of the resources discussion.

At the end of the Consultation, a short evaluative questionnaire was distributed to solicit feedback from participants on their experience and personal responses to the meeting. Although the survey response rate was over 50 percent (N=36) and provided some helpful feedback, other questions remained that needed following up.

The objective of this follow-up evaluation report for the SCLM Consultation on Same-Sex Marriage is to probe for further insights and reflections on the resources discussed in the Consultation, on the value of the *indaba*-style conversation to the overall process, and on the inclusion of other Anglican Communion and ecumenical participants in the Consultation, and to gather suggestions for next steps. The report is based on a sample of seven in-depth participant interviews bringing together perspectives from within The Episcopal Church (TEC), from other Anglican Communion Provinces, and from an ecumenical standpoint.

Respondents highly valued the Consultation experience, including both the content that was presented and shared and the opportunity to hear and learn from other contexts. The Consultation also served to reinforce the interconnections among those deeply involved with this topic yet deeply embedded within their own congregational, diocesan, provincial, or denominational contexts.

The resources were broadly affirmed. For TEC participants, they were seen as fully answering why the Episcopal Church is blessing same-sex relationships. The absence of a blessing substantively similar to that used in the BCP Marriage Rite was the only concern raised over the liturgy. International and ecumenical responses were complimentary, but they also noted some need for local adaptation. The resources addressing biblical and theological issues were viewed as usable as-is across a range of differing contexts. A request was made to translate the resources for use in another Province.

All respondents found the mixture of TEC, international, and ecumenical participants highly informative and deeply moving. The Consultation's inclusion of those voices also demonstrated The Episcopal Church's interest in engaging other Anglican Communion Provinces and seriously listening to their contexts. This step also helped to dispel stereotypical assumptions held by some participants about other contexts, and it helped some to realize that the Provinces could talk to each other in less formal ways about topics of mutual interest.

The *indaba*-style conversation at first appeared to suffer from a lack of diversity in viewpoints, but participants also found value in being able to explore other facets, which allowed subtle but important nuances to emerge. The *indaba* approach was particularly effective in helping participants move to a deeper level of conversation and understanding. International participants also hoped to apply aspects of this experience to future *indabas* in their own Provinces.

Suggested next steps focused on two themes: 1) rethinking marriage overall in the context and life of the Church, and 2) immediate advocacy as a social justice issue. Other suggestions included supplementary materials for deputations along with more publicly visible actions.

In conclusion, respondents felt hopeful about the work of the SCLM and for The Episcopal Church's leadership on this topic, which was described as "cutting edge." Both interview responses and a review of the questionnaire data suggest that the Consultation was an invaluable step for participants personally and for working within the Church interactively for broad social change.

The Rev. Paula D. Nesbitt, PhD

4. Glossary of Legal and Canonical Terms

This glossary of legal and canonical terms, along with other terms often used in discussing same-sex blessings, is intended to inform and enhance discussions of the theological and liturgical resources, as well as preparation for and use of any liturgy authorized by General Convention. Most of these terms are discussed in greater depth in the essay, "Faith, Hope, and Love: Theological Resources for Blessing Same-Sex Relationships."

Blessing. "The active outgoing of divine grace." When a blessing is given, for example, at a Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage or during a rite for blessing a same-sex relationship, the Church understands that God's blessing has been recognized in the lives of the couple and also imparted in a new way because of the Church's action. The marital blessing involves three distinct but interdependent aspects: we (the Church) bless God in thanksgiving for God's grace already evident in the lives of the couple; we pronounce God's blessing upon those in covenantal relationships to strengthen their covenantal bonds; and we commission couples as witnesses of God's love for the world.

Blessing of a Civil Marriage. The Book of Common Prayer rite by which a husband and wife who were previously married by competent civil authority, with appropriate documentation, have their civil marriage blessed by the Church.

Canon. The Canons of The Episcopal Church are the laws which set out the enactments of the ecclesiastical polity of the Church as governed by The Episcopal Church's Constitution and revised by General Convention. Each diocese of The Episcopal Church has its own canons, which must be consistent with the Canons of The Episcopal Church.

Civil marriage. A civil marriage is a marriage obtained by following the legal requirements of the state or jurisdiction in which the marriage is created. A civil marriage is often described as a special form of legal contract, established and regulated by each state and entered into by two consenting parties. A civil marriage carries both legal benefits and responsibilities under both state and federal law. A state's civil marriage statutes specify which couples are permitted to marry or are prohibited from marrying and who is authorized to officiate at a civil marriage.

Civil union. A civil union was a state-recognized legal contract alternative authorized under the laws of some states. The enacting statutes typically granted couples, including same-sex couples, in a civil union the rights, benefits, and obligations of married couples under state law. These benefits and responsibilities varied from state to state and in some cases did not replicate all of the benefits of civil marriage. The statutes specified who was eligible to enter into a civil union and who was authorized to officiate at a civil union.

Under the federal law known as the Defense of Marriage Act (DOMA) and the laws of at least 35 states, civil unions were either not recognized at all or were not recognized as the equivalent of civil marriage. DOMA

¹ Alan Richardson, ed., A Theological Word Book of the Bible (New York: Macmillan, 1960), 33.

withheld federal recognition of civil unions as marriages so couples in a civil union could not have access to the same federal benefits. On June 26, 2013, the U. S. Supreme Court ruled that DOMA's restriction of federal benefits to married couples consisting of one man and one woman violated was unconstitutional, depriving married same-sex couples of equal protection and due process under the U. S. Constitution.²

Common-law marriage. A common-law marriage is established when a man and a woman live together and identify themselves as husband and wife for a sufficient time, with the express mutual intent of establishing a marriage. Some states require seven years of continuous cohabitation, but others do not specify the number of years. In states that recognize common-law marriage, the status of common-law marriage is generally accorded all of the benefits and obligations of a civil marriage. Fewer than 20 states recognize common-law marriages.

Constitution. Unless otherwise noted, this word refers to the Constitution of the Protestant Episcopal Church in the United States of America, otherwise known as The Episcopal Church, as adopted by the General Convention in October 1789 and amended in subsequent General Conventions.

Covenant. The fundamental relationship between God and God's people. The concept has a long and varied history, biblical and otherwise. Christians understand covenantal relationship to derive primarily from the gracious covenant God has made with us in Christ. We enact this covenant in baptism and sustain it in the eucharist. For the Church, a covenant is a relationship initiated by God through Jesus Christ to which a body of people responds in faith; in which God promises that the people will be God's; and in which God requires God's people to be faithful, to do justice, to love mercy, and to walk humbly with God; and to whom, through the Holy Spirit, God gives the grace to do so. As Christians, we respond to God's gracious covenant in Christ by living faithfully in all of our various relationships. Scripture and Christian history bear witness to these essential elements of covenantal relationship: taking vows, intending lifelong commitment, and bearing the fruit of God's grace in the relationship.

Covenant of marriage. The Book of Common Prayer proclaims that "Christian marriage is a solemn and public covenant between a man and a woman in the presence of God" (BCP, 422). In the Catechism (BCP, 861), in response to the question "What is Holy Matrimony?" we read: "Holy Matrimony is Christian Marriage, in which the woman and man enter into a life-long union, make their vows before God and the Church, and receive the grace and blessing of God to help them fulfill their vows."

Defense of Marriage Act (DOMA). See above, "civil union."

Divorce. The legal process under state law by which a marriage is ended and through which the court determines the parties' future legal and financial obligations to each other and to their children. In states with civil unions, the termination process generally is known as "dissolution," or some term other than "divorce."

Domestic partnership. Some states and cities have enacted domestic partnership laws or ordinances, granting same-sex and different-sex couples a bundle of specific rights, less than those granted under marriage or civil-union laws. These laws vary considerably in their scope.

² http://www.ncsl.org/research/human-services/same-sex-marriage-laws.aspx.

Holy Matrimony. Holy Matrimony is Christian marriage, as defined above under "Covenant of Marriage," using The Celebration and Blessing of a Marriage or An Order for Marriage from the Book of Common Prayer.

Judgment of marital status. Under Canon I.19.2, a "member of the Church whose marriage has been annulled or dissolved by a civil court may apply to the Bishop or Ecclesiastical Authority of the Diocese in which such person is legally or canonically resident for a judgment as to his or her marital status in the eyes of the Church. Such judgment may be a recognition of the nullity, or of the termination of the said marriage." A judgment of marital status may be requested at any time, not just when contemplating remarriage. Many Church members find support and comfort, after the termination of a civil marriage, in seeking this judgment, which establishes the unmarried status in the eyes of the Church. Such a judgment is also useful if the person seeks to remarry and, under Canon I.19.3(a), must provide evidence of the end of the prior marriage through annulment or divorce. This process is distinct from the consultation with the Bishop Diocesan regarding remarriage after divorce, found in Canon I.19.3(c).

Same-sex marriage. Some states give same-sex couples access to their civil marriage statutes, which typically use the phrase "same-sex marriage." In those states, these marriages are accorded all of the rights and obligations of civil marriage under state law. As of November 15, 2014, 33 states plus the District of Columbia now have same-sex marriage. Five states have same-sex marriage bans which have been overturned and where appeals are in process. The other states remain in some form of limbo awaiting the outcome of appellate rulings or lawsuits. It is expected that the United States Supreme Court will hear one of the appeals on their 2014-2015 docket calendar. As of late 2014, 64 percent of Americans live in states where same-sex couples may marry. According to the Office for Congregational Development, 64.3 percent of Episcopalians (1,200,622) in 64 U.S. dioceses live in states or jurisdictions where same-sex marriage is legal, although that should not be construed to suggest that all Episcopalians living in those states support same-sex marriage.

Vow. A solemn and voluntary promise. Marital vows are voluntary pledges instituted and accepted by the Church, by which the woman and man give and bind themselves to each other. Vows exchanged in Holy Matrimony or in the liturgy for blessing a same-sex couple represent commitment, fidelity, and witness.

As Christians have come to understand covenantal relationship, especially in the light of God's gracious covenant with us in Christ, a "vow" signifies permanence and inviolability. The Church affirms and supports this definition of a vowed relationship for all couples entering into marriage as well as for same-sex couples entering into covenantal relationship using the liturgy in this resource. The Church also recognizes that human covenants will sometimes, perhaps often, fall short of the model established in the covenant God makes with us in baptism. Nonetheless, Christians strive to enter into a vowed relationship with God's help and in the power of the Holy Spirit.

Revised Collects for Commemorations

(Holy Women, Holy Men)

January 2 Vedanayagam Samuel Azariah, First Indian Anglican Bishop, Dornakal, 1945

Loving God, who dost raise from every nation, people, tribe, and tongue witnesses to thy glory: May we who celebrate thy servant Samuel Azariah be strengthened by his witness to thy love without concern for class or caste, that people of all languages and cultures might be drawn into thy loving embrace, Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, now and for ever. Amen.

Il Loving God, who raises from every nation, people, tribe, and tongue witnesses to your glory: May we who celebrate your servant Samuel Azariah be strengthened by his witness to your love without concern for class or caste, that people of all languages and cultures might be drawn into your loving embrace, Father, Son, and Holy Spirit, now and for ever. Amen.

January 3 William Passavant, Prophetic Witness, 1894

Compassionate God, who hast raised up ministers among thy people: May we ever desire, like thy servant William Passavant, to support the work of equipping the saints for service among the sick and the friendless; through Jesus Christ the divine Physician, who hast prepared for us an eternal home, and who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

Compassionate God, who raises up ministers among your people: May we ever desire, like your servant William Passavant, to support the work of equipping the saints for service among the sick and the friendless; through Jesus Christ the divine Physician, who has prepared for us an eternal home, and who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

January 26 Timothy, Titus, and Silas, Companions of Saint Paul

Almighty God, who didst call Timothy, Titus, and Silas to lay a foundation of faith for thy Church: Grant that we also may be living stones built upon the foundation of Jesus Christ our Savior; who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

II Almighty God, who called Timothy, Titus, and Silas to lay a foundation of faith for your Church: Grant that we also may be living stones built upon the foundation of Jesus Christ our Savior; who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

January 31 John Bosco, Priest, 1888

I

Loving God, who dost tenderly care for children and orphans: Fill us with love like that shown forth in the witness of John Bosco, that we may give ourselves completely to thy service and to

the salvation of all; through thy Son Jesus Christ, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Loving God, who tenderly cares for children and orphans: Fill us with love like that shown forth in the witness of John Bosco, that we may give ourselves completely to your service and to the salvation of all; through your Son Jesus Christ, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

January 31 Samuel Shoemaker, Priest and Evangelist, 1963

Holy God, we thank thee for the vision of Samuel Shoemaker, who labored for the renewal of all people: Grant, we pray, that we may follow his example to help others find salvation through the knowledge and love of Jesus Christ our Savior; who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

II Holy God, we thank you for the vision of Samuel Shoemaker, who labored for the renewal of all people: Grant, we pray, that we may follow his example to help others find salvation through the knowledge and love of Jesus Christ our Savior; who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

February 1 Brigid (Bride), 523

Ш

ı

I

I

I

O God, by whose grace thy servant Brigid, kindled with the flame of thy love, became a burning and a shining light in thy Church: Grant that we also may be aflame with the spirit of love and discipline, and walk before thee as children of light; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee, in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and ever. Amen.

O God, by whose grace your servant Brigid, kindled with the flame of your love, became a burning and a shining light in your Church: Grant that we also may be aflame with the spirit of love and discipline, and walk before you as children of light; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you, in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and ever. Amen.

February 4 Anskar, Archbishop of Hamburg, Missionary to Denmark and Sweden, 865

Almighty and everlasting God, who sent thy servant Anskar to sow the seeds of faith among the people of Scandinavia: Keep thy Church from discouragement in the day of small things, knowing that when thou hast begun a good work thou shalt bring it to a fruitful conclusion; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Almighty and everlasting God, who sent your servant Anskar to sow the seeds of faith among the people of Scandinavia: Keep your Church from discouragement in the day of small things, knowing that when you have begun a good work you will bring it to a fruitful conclusion; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

February 5 Roger Williams, 1683, and Anne Hutchinson, 1643, Prophetic Witnesses

O God our light and salvation, who makest all free to worship thee: May we ever strive to be faithful to thy call, following the example of Roger Williams and Anne Hutchinson, that we may faithfully set our hands to the Gospel plow, confident in the truth proclaimed by thy Son Jesus Christ; who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

II O God our light and salvation, who makes all free to worship you: May we ever strive to be faithful to your call, following the example of Roger Williams and Anne Hutchinson, that we

may faithfully set our hands to the Gospel plow, confident in the truth proclaimed by your Son Jesus Christ; who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

February 11 Frances Jane (Fanny) Van Alstyne Crosby, Hymnwriter, 1915

- O God, the blessed assurance of all who trust in thee: We give thanks for thy servant Fanny Crosby, and pray that we, inspired by her words and example, may rejoice to sing ever of thy love, praising our Savior; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- O God, the blessed assurance of all who trust in you: We give you thanks for your servant Fanny Crosby, and pray that we, inspired by her words and example, may rejoice to sing ever of your love, praising our Savior; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

February 12 Charles Freer Andrews, Priest and "Friend of the Poor" in India, 1940

- I Gracious God, who didst call Charles Freer Andrews to show forth thy salvation to the poor: By thy Holy Spirit inspire in us a tender concern, a passionate justice, and an active love for all people, that there may be one Body and one Spirit in Jesus Christ, our Savior; who with thee and the same Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- II Gracious God, you called Charles Freer Andrews to show forth your salvation to the poor: By your Holy Spirit inspire in us a tender concern, a passionate justice, and an active love for all people, that there may be one Body and one Spirit in Jesus Christ, our Savior; who with you and the same Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

February 15 Thomas Bray, Priest and Missionary, 1730

- O God of compassion, who didst open the heart of thy servant Thomas Bray to the needs of the Church in the New World, and to found societies to relieve them: Make the Church diligent at all times to propagate the Gospel and to promote the spread of Christian knowledge; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- O God of compassion, who opened the heart of your servant Thomas Bray to the needs of the Church in the New World, and to found societies to relieve them: Make the Church diligent at all times to propagate the Gospel, and to promote the spread of Christian knowledge; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

February 16 Charles Todd Quintard, Bishop of Tennessee, 1898

- I Mighty God, we bless thy Name for the example of thy bishop Charles Todd Quintard, who persevered to reconcile the divisions among the people of his time: Grant, we pray, that thy Church may ever be one, that it may be a refuge for all, for the honor of thy Name; through Jesus Christ, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- Il Mighty God, we bless your Name for the example of your bishop Charles Todd Quintard, who persevered to reconcile the divisions among the people of his time: Grant, we pray, that your Church may ever be one, that it may be a refuge for all, for the honor of your Name; through

Jesus Christ, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

February 20 Frederick Douglass, Orator and Advocate for Truth and Justice, 1895

- Almighty God, we bless thy Name for the witness of Frederick Douglass, whose impassioned and reasonable speech moved the hearts of people to a deeper obedience to Christ: Strengthen us also to speak on behalf of those in captivity and tribulation, continuing in the Word of Jesus Christ our Liberator; who with thee and the Holy Spirit dwelleth in glory everlasting. Amen.
- Almighty God, we bless your Name for the witness of Frederick Douglass, whose impassioned and reasonable speech moved the hearts of people to a deeper obedience to Christ: Strengthen us also to speak on behalf of those in captivity and tribulation, continuing in the Word of Jesus Christ our Liberator; who with you and the Holy Spirit dwells in glory everlasting. Amen.

February 21 John Henry Newman, Priest and Theologian, 1890

- God of all wisdom, we offer thanks for John Henry Newman, whose eloquence bore witness that thy Church is one, holy, catholic and apostolic, even amid the changes and cares of this world: Grant that, inspired by his words and example, we may ever follow thy kindly light till we rest in thy bosom, with thy dear Son Jesus Christ and the Holy Spirit; for thou livest and reignest, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- II God of all wisdom, we offer thanks for John Henry Newman, whose eloquence bore witness that your Church is one, holy, catholic and apostolic, even amid the changes and cares of this world: Grant that, inspired by his words and example, we may ever follow your kindly light till we rest in your bosom, with your dear Son Jesus Christ and the Holy Spirit; for you live and reign, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

February 25 John Roberts, Priest, 1949

I

- Almighty God, who didst raise up thy servant John Roberts to be a witness among the Shoshone and Arapahoe peoples: May we, inspired by his example and prayers, invite all people to the riches of thy grace; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- Almighty God, who raised up your servant John Roberts to be a witness among the Shoshone and Arapahoe peoples: May we, inspired by his example and prayers, invite all people to the riches of your grace; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

February 26 Emily Malbone Morgan, Prophetic Witness, 1937

- I Gracious God, we give thanks for the life and witness of Emily Malbone Morgan, who gathered women to devote themselves to intercession, social justice, Christian unity, and simple lives: Make us, with her, companions in prayer and in faithful living, dedicated to the Holy Cross of our Savior, Jesus Christ; who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- II Gracious God, we give thanks for the life and witness of Emily Malbone Morgan, who gathered women to devote themselves to intercession, social justice, Christian unity, and simple lives: Make us, with her, companions in prayer and in faithful living, dedicated to the Holy Cross of

our Savior, Jesus Christ; who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

February 27 George Herbert, Priest, 1633

- Almighty God, who didst call thy servant George Herbert from the pursuit of worldly honors to be a pastor of souls and a poet: Give us grace, we pray, joyfully to dedicate all our powers to thy service; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- Almighty God, you called your servant George Herbert from the pursuit of worldly honors to be a pastor of souls and a poet: Give us grace, we pray, joyfully to dedicate all our powers to your service; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

March 2 Chad, Bishop of Lichfield, 672

ı

I

I

- Lord Jesus Christ, who didst take the form of a servant to serve thy brothers and sisters: Strengthen us with the prayers and example of thy servant Chad, who became the least of all to minister to all; through the Father and the Holy Spirit, with whom thou livest and reignest, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- II Lord Jesus Christ, who took the form of a servant to serve your brothers and sisters: Strengthen us with the prayers and example of your servant Chad, who became the least of all to minister to all; through the Father and the Holy Spirit, with whom you live and reign, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

March 4 Paul Cuffee, Witness to the Faith among the Shinnecock, 1812

- Almighty God, who dost empower evangelists and preachers: Help us to proclaim thy Word with power, like thy servant Paul Cuffee, that more might come to a deeper life in thee; in the Name of thy Son Jesus Christ, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- Almighty God, who empowers evangelists and preachers: Help us to proclaim your Word with power, like your servant Paul Cuffee, that more might come to a deeper life in you; in the Name of your Son Jesus Christ, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

March 7 Perpetua, Felicity, and their Companions, Martyrs at Carthage, 202

- O God, the King of Saints, who didst strengthen thy servants Perpetua, Felicity, and their companions to make a good confession and encourage one another in the time of trial: Grant that we who cherish their blessed memory may be encouraged by their prayers to share their pure and steadfast faith and win with them the palm of victory; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- O God, the King of Saints, who strengthened your servants Perpetua, Felicity, and their companions to make a good confession and encourage one another in the time of trial: Grant that we who cherish their blessed memory may be encouraged by their prayers to share their pure and steadfast faith and win with them the palm of victory; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

March 8

Ш

Geoffrey Anketell Studdert Kennedy, Priest, 1929

Glorious God, we give thanks for high and holy things as well as the common things of earth: Awaken us to recognize thy presence in each other and in all creation, so that we, like Geoffrey Studdert Kennedy, may love and magnify thee as the holy, undivided Trinity; who liveth and reigneth one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Glorious God, we give thanks for high and holy things as well as the common things of earth. Awaken us to recognize your presence in each other and in all creation, so that we, like Geoffrey Studdert Kennedy, may love and magnify you as the holy, undivided Trinity; who lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

March 13 I

James Theodore Holly, Bishop of Haiti, and of the Dominican Republic, 1911

Most gracious God, we give thanks that thy servant James Theodore Holly labored to build a Church in which all might be free: Grant that, inspired by his testimony, we may overcome our prejudice and honor those whom thou dost call from every family, language, people, and nation; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Most gracious God, we thank you that your servant James Theodore Holly labored to build a Church in which all might be free: Grant that, inspired by his testimony, we may overcome our prejudice and honor those whom you call from every family, language, people, and nation; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

March 18

Cyril of Jerusalem, Liturgist, Catechist, and Bishop, 386

Strengthen, O God, thy Church in the sacraments of thy grace, that we, in union with the teaching and prayers of thy servant Cyril of Jerusalem, may enter more fully into thy Paschal mystery; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Strengthen, O God, your Church in the sacraments of your grace, that we, in union with the teaching and prayers of your servant Cyril of Jerusalem, may enter more fully into your Paschal mystery; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

March 22 I

Ш

James De Koven, Priest and Teacher, 1879

Almighty and everlasting God, who led thy servant James De Koven to honor thy presence at the altar, and constantly to point to thy Christ: Grant that all ministers and stewards of thy mysteries may impart to thy faithful people the knowledge of thy presence and the truth of thy grace; through the same Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Almighty and everlasting God, who led your servant James De Koven to honor your presence at the altar, and constantly to point to your Christ: Grant that all ministers and stewards of your mysteries may impart to your faithful people the knowledge of your presence and the truth of your grace; through the same Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

March 26

Ш

Richard Allen, First Bishop of the African Methodist Episcopal Church, 1831

Loving God, who hast made us all thy children by adoption in Jesus Christ: May we, following the example of thy servant Richard Allen, proclaim liberty to all who are enslaved and captive in this world; through Jesus Christ, Savior of all, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Loving God, who makes us all your children by adoption in Jesus Christ: May we, following the example of your servant Richard Allen, proclaim liberty to all who are enslaved and captive in this world; through Jesus Christ, Savior of all, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

April 6 I

Daniel G. C. Wu, Priest and Missionary among Chinese Americans, 1956

Loving God, we give thanks for Daniel Wu and his work among the Chinese immigrants whose lives he touched in his day: By the power of thy Holy Spirit give to thy Church compassion and respect for all people wherever they reside, that, inspired by thy love, every community might be filled with thy wisdom and call forth leaders to guide thy flock in faithfulness to the Eternal Word, Jesus Christ; who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Loving God, we give thanks for Daniel Wu and his work among the Chinese immigrants whose lives he touched in his day: By the power of your Holy Spirit give to your Church compassion and respect for all people wherever they reside, that, inspired by your love, every community might be filled with your wisdom and call forth leaders to guide your flock in faithfulness to the Eternal Word, Jesus Christ; who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

April 15

Ш

Damien, Priest and Leper, 1889, and Marianne, Religious, 1918, of Molokai

God of compassion, who binds up the wounds of thy children: Help us, following the example of thy servants Damien and Marianne, to be bold and loving in service to all who are shunned for the diseases they suffer, that thy grace may be poured forth upon all; through Jesus Christ, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

God of compassion, who binds up the wounds of your children: Help us, following the example of your servants Damien and Marianne, to be bold and loving in service to all who are shunned for the diseases they suffer, that your grace may be poured forth upon all; through Jesus Christ, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

April 16

1

П

Mary (Molly) Brant (Konwatsijayenni), Witness to the Faith among the Mohawks, 1796

O Maker of all creation, who didst endue Molly Brant with the gifts of justice and loyalty, and didst make her a wise and prudent mother in the household of the Mohawk Nation: Grant us grace, following her example, to nurture the household of faith with care and compassion; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

O Maker of all creation, who endued Molly Brant with the gifts of justice and loyalty, and made her a wise and prudent mother in the household of the Mohawk Nation: Grant us grace, following her example, to nurture the household of faith with care and compassion; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

April 19

Alphege, Archbishop of Canterbury, and Martyr, 1012

Lord Jesus Christ, who didst willingly walk the way of the cross: Strengthen thy Church through the example and prayers of thy servant Alphege to hold fast the path of discipleship; for with the Father and the Holy Spirit thou livest and reignest, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Lord Jesus Christ, who willingly walked the way of the cross: Strengthen your Church through the example and prayers of your servant Alphege to hold fast the path of discipleship; for with the Father and Holy Spirit you live and reign, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

April 23

Ш

George, Soldier and Martyr, c. 304

Lord Jesus Christ, whose cross didst seal thy servant George: Grant that we, strengthened by his example and prayers, may triumph to the end over all evils, to the glory of thy Name; for with the Father and Holy Spirit thou livest and reignest, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Lord Jesus Christ, whose cross did seal your servant George: Grant that we, strengthened by his example and prayers, may triumph to the end over all evils, to the glory of your Name; for with the Father and Holy Spirit you live and reign, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

April 26

Ш

Ш

Robert Hunt, Priest and First Chaplain at Jamestown, 1607

Almighty God, we bless thy Name for the life and witness of Robert Hunt, first chaplain to the Jamestown colony, who sought to unite thy people in thy love amid great hardship: Help us, like him, to work for reconciliation wherever we may be placed; through Jesus Christ thy Son, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Almighty God, we bless your Name for the life and witness of Robert Hunt, first chaplain to the Jamestown colony, who sought to unite your people in your love amid great hardship: Help us, like him, to work for reconciliation wherever we may be placed; through Jesus Christ your Son, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

May 2

Ш

Athanasius, Bishop of Alexandria, 373

O Lord, who didst establish thy servant Athanasius, through wisdom, in thy truth: Grant that we, perceiving the humanity and divinity of thy Son Jesus Christ, may follow in his footsteps and ascend the way to eternal life; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

O Lord, who established your servant Athanasius, through wisdom, in your truth: Grant that we, perceiving the humanity and divinity of your Son Jesus Christ, may follow in his footsteps and ascend the way to eternal life, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

May 7

Ш

Harriet Starr Cannon, Religious, 1896

Gracious God, who didst call Harriet Starr Cannon and her companions to revive the religious life in the Episcopal Church and to dedicate their lives to thee: Grant that we, after their example, may ever surrender ourselves to the revelation of thy holy will; through our Savior Jesus Christ, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Gracious God, you called Harriet Starr Cannon and her companions to revive the religious life in the Episcopal Church and to dedicate their lives to you: Grant that we, after their example, may

ever surrender ourselves to the revelation of your holy will; through our Savior Jesus Christ, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

May 10

Nicolaus Ludwig von Zinzendorf, Prophetic Witness, 1760

God of new life in Christ: We remember the bold witness of thy servant Nicolaus von Zinzendorf, through whom thy Spirit moved to draw many to faith and conversion of life. We pray that we, like him, may rejoice to sing thy praise; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

God of new life in Christ: We remember the bold witness of your servant Nicolaus von Zinzendorf, through whom your Spirit moved to draw many to faith and conversion of life. We pray that we, like him, may rejoice to sing your praise; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

May 13

Ш

Frances Perkins, Public Servant and Prophetic Witness, 1965

Loving God, we bless thy Name for Frances Perkins, who in faithfulness to her baptism sought to build a society in which all may live in health and decency: Help us, following her example and in union with her prayers, to contend tirelessly for justice and for the protection of all, that we may be faithful followers of Jesus Christ; who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Loving God, we bless your Name for Frances Perkins who in faithfulness to her baptism sought to build a society in which all may live in health and decency: Help us, following her example and in union with her prayers, to contend tirelessly for justice and for the protection of all, that we may be faithful followers of Jesus Christ; who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

May 17

Ш

Ш

William Hobart Hare, Bishop of Niobrara, and of South Dakota, 1909

Holy God, who didst call thy servant William Hobart Hare to proclaim the means of grace and the hope of glory to the peoples of the Great Plains: We give thanks to thee for the devotion of those who received the Good News gladly, and for the faithfulness of the generations who have succeeded them. Strengthen us with thy Holy Spirit, that we may walk in their footsteps and lead many to faith in Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Holy God, you called your servant William Hobart Hare to proclaim the means of grace and the hope of glory to the peoples of the Great Plains: We give you thanks for the devotion of those who received the Good News gladly, and for the faithfulness of the generations who have succeeded them. Strengthen us with your Holy Spirit, that we may walk in their footsteps and lead many to faith in Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

May 19

Ш

Dunstan, Archbishop of Canterbury, 988

Direct thy Church, O Lord, into the beauty of holiness, that, following the good example of thy servant Dunstan, we may honor thy Son Jesus Christ with our lips and in our lives; to the glory of his Name, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Direct your Church, O Lord, into the beauty of holiness, that, following the good example of your servant Dunstan, we may honor your Son Jesus Christ with our lips and in our lives; to the

glory of his Name, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

May 20

Ш

Alcuin, Deacon, and Abbot of Tours, 804

Almighty God, who didst raise up thy servant Alcuin as a beacon of learning: Shine, we pray, in our hearts, that in our generation we may show forth thy praise, for thou didst call us out of darkness into thy marvelous light; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Almighty God, who raised up your servant Alcuin as a beacon of learning: Shine, we pray, in our hearts, that in our generation we may show forth your praise, for you have called us out of darkness into your marvelous light; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

May 21

John Eliot, Missionary among the Algonquin, 1690

Almighty God, by the proclamation of thy Word all nations are drawn to thee: Make us desire, like John Eliot, to share thy Good News with those whom we encounter, so that all people may come to a saving knowledge of thee; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Almighty God, by the proclamation of your Word all nations are drawn to you: Make us desire, like John Eliot, to share your Good News with those whom we encounter, so that all people may come to a saving knowledge of you; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

May 25

Ш

Bede, the Venerable, Priest, and Monk of Jarrow, 735

Almighty God, who hast enriched thy Church with the learning and holiness of thy servant Bede: Grant us to find in Scripture and disciplined prayer the image of thy Son our Savior Jesus Christ, and to fashion our lives according to his likeness, to the glory of thy great Name and the benefit of thy holy Church; through the same Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

Almighty God, who has enriched your Church with the learning and holiness of your servant Bede: Grant us to find in Scripture and disciplined prayer the image of your Son our Savior Jesus Christ, and to fashion our lives according to his likeness, to the glory of your great Name and the benefit of your holy Church; through the same Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

May 27

Ш

Ш

Bertha and Ethelbert, Queen and King of Kent, 616

God of Creation, who didst mold humanity from the fertile earth: Grant that we, following the good examples of Queen Bertha and King Ethelbert, may gladly receive and fruitfully nurture the seed of the Gospel to the bounty of thy kingdom; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

God of Creation, who molded humanity from the fertile earth: Grant that we, following the good examples of Queen Bertha and King Ethelbert, may gladly receive and fruitfully nurture the seed of the Gospel to the bounty of your kingdom; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

June 1

Justin, Martyr at Rome, c. 167

O God, who hast given thy Church wisdom and revealed deep and secret things: Grant that we, like thy servant Justin and in union with his prayers, may find thy truth an abiding refuge all the days of our lives; through Jesus Christ, who with the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth with thee, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

O God, who has given your Church wisdom and revealed deep and secret things: Grant that we, like your servant Justin and in union with his prayers, may find your truth an abiding refuge all the days of our lives; through Jesus Christ, who with the Holy Spirit lives and reigns with you, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

June 6 I

Ш

Ini Kopuria, Founder of the Melanesian Brotherhood, 1945

Loving God, we bless thy Name for the witness of Ini Kopuria, founder of the Melanesian Brotherhood: Open our eyes that we, with these Anglican brothers, may establish peace and hope in service to others; for the sake of Jesus Christ, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Loving God, we bless your Name for the witness of Ini Kopuria, founder of the Melanesian Brotherhood: Open our eyes that we, with these Anglican brothers, may establish peace and hope in service to others; for the sake of Jesus Christ, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

June 7

Ш

The Pioneers of the Episcopal Anglican Church of Brazil, 1890

O God, who didst send thy Son to preach peace to those who are far off and to those who are near: We bless thee for those who joined together to establish the Episcopal Anglican Church of Brazil; and we pray that we, like them, may be ready to preach Christ crucified and risen, and to encourage and support those who pioneer new missions in him; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

O God, who sent your Son to preach peace to those who are far off and to those who are near: We bless you for those who joined together to establish the Episcopal Anglican Church of Brazil; and we pray that we, like them, may be ready to preach Christ crucified and risen, and to encourage and support those who pioneer new missions in him; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

June 16 I

П

George Berkeley, 1753, and Joseph Butler, 1752, Bishops and Theologians

O God, by thy Holy Spirit thou givest to some the word of wisdom, to others the word of knowledge, and to others the word of faith: We praise thy Name for the gifts of grace manifested in thy servants George Berkeley and Joseph Butler, and we pray that thy Church may never be destitute of such gifts; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

O God, by your Holy Spirit you give to some the word of wisdom, to others the word of knowledge, and to others the word of faith: We praise your Name for the gifts of grace manifested in your servants George Berkeley and Joseph Butler, and we pray that your Church may never be destitute of such gifts; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

П

June 19

Adelaide Teague Case, Teacher, 1948

Everliving God, who didst raise up thy servant Adelaide Case, whose compassion and commitment to peace inspired generations of students: Grant that we, following her example, may serve thee in our vocations, laboring for thy reign of peace, through the companionship of Jesus Christ, thy Saving Word; who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Everliving God, who raised up your servant Adelaide Case, whose compassion and commitment to peace inspired generations of students: Grant that we, following her example, may serve you in our vocations, laboring for your reign of peace, through the companionship of Jesus Christ, your Saving Word; who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

June 25 I

Ш

James Weldon Johnson, Poet, 1938

Eternal God, who gave thy servant James Weldon Johnson a heart and voice to praise thy Name in verse: As he gave us powerful words to glorify thee, may we also speak with joy and boldness to banish hatred from thy creation; in the Name of Jesus Christ, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Eternal God, who gave your servant James Weldon Johnson a heart and voice to praise your Name in verse: As he gave us powerful words to glorify you, may we also speak with joy and boldness to banish hatred from your creation; in the Name of Jesus Christ, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

June 26

П

Isabel Florence Hapgood, Translator, Ecumenist, and Journalist, 1929

Loving God, we give thanks to thee for the work and witness of Isabel Florence Hapgood: Guide us as we persevere in the reconciliation of all people, that all may be one in Christ; who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, unto the ages of ages. Amen.

Loving God, we thank you for the work and witness of Isabel Florence Hapgood: Guide us as we persevere in the reconciliation of all people, that all may be one in Christ; who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, unto the ages of ages. Amen.

June 27 I

Ш

Ш

Cornelius Hill, Priest and Chief among the Oneida, 1907

Everliving Lord of the universe, who didst raise up thy priest Cornelius Hill to shepherd and defend his people against attempts to scatter them in the wilderness: Help us, like him, to be dedicated to truth and honor, that we may come to that blessed state thou hast prepared for us; through Jesus Christ, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

Everliving Lord of the universe, who raised up your priest Cornelius Hill to shepherd and defend his people against attempts to scatter them in the wilderness: Help us, like him, to be dedicated to truth and honor, that we may come to that blessed state you have prepared for us; through Jesus Christ, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

July 11 I

Benedict of Nursia, Abbot of Monte Cassino, c. 540

Everlasting God, we give thanks to thee for the purity and humility with which thou didst endow thy servant Benedict: Grant us grace, in union with his example and prayers, to hallow and conform our souls and bodies to the purpose of thy most holy will; through Christ our Lord.

Everlasting God, we give you thanks for the purity and humility with which you endowed your servant Benedict: Grant us grace, in union with his example and prayers, to hallow and conform our souls and bodies to the purpose of your most holy will; through Christ our Lord.

July 14

Ш

Samson Occom, Witness to the Faith in New England, 1792

God, the Great Spirit, whose breath dost give life to the world and whose voice dost thunder in the wind: We give thee thanks for thy servant Samson Occom, strong preacher and teacher among the Mohegan people; and pray that we, cherishing his example, may love learning and by love build up the communities into which thou dost send us; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

God, the Great Spirit, whose breath gives life to the world and whose voice thunders in the wind: We give you thanks for your servant Samson Occom, strong preacher and teacher among the Mohegan people; and pray that we, cherishing his example, may love learning and by love build up the communities into which you send us; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

July 16 I

Ш

"The Righteous Gentiles"

Lord of the Exodus, who dost deliver thy people with a strong hand and a mighty arm: Strengthen thy Church with the examples of the Righteous Gentiles of World War II to defy oppression for the rescue of the innocent; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Lord of the Exodus, who delivers your people with a strong hand and a mighty arm: Strengthen your Church with the examples of the Righteous Gentiles of World War II to defy oppression for the rescue of the innocent; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

July 21

Ш

Albert John Luthuli, Prophetic Witness in South Africa, 1967

God of peace, who didst call thy servant Albert Luthuli to be a leader in the struggle against apartheid: Strengthen thy Church, that in union with his example and prayers, we might resist injustice in all its forms; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, for all time. Amen.

God of peace, who called your servant Albert Luthuli to be a leader in the struggle against apartheid: Strengthen your Church, that in union with his example and prayers, we might resist injustice in all its forms; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, for all time. Amen.

July 23

Ш

Ш

John Cassian, Abbot at Marseilles, 433

Holy One, whose beloved Son Jesus Christ didst bless the pure in heart: Grant that we, together with thy servant John Cassian and in union with his prayers, may ever seek the purity with which to behold thee as thou art; one God now and for ever. Amen.

Holy One, whose beloved Son Jesus Christ blessed the pure in heart: Grant that we, together with your servant John Cassian and in union with his prayers, may ever seek the purity with which to behold you as you are; one God now and for ever. Amen.

July 26 Charles Raymond Barnes, 1938

Grant, we beseech thee, merciful God, that thy Church standing firm in the witness of thy Son and following the good example of thy servant Charles Barnes may ever speak boldly against evil and confess the truth before the rulers of this world; through thy Son Jesus Christ who with thee and the Holy Spirit, liveth and reigneth, One God, now and forever. Amen.

Grant, we pray, merciful God, that your Church standing firm in the witness of your Son and following the good example of your servant Charles Barnes may ever speak boldly against evil and confess the truth before the rulers of this world; through your Son Jesus Christ who with you and the Holy Spirit, live and reign, One God, now and forever. Amen.

July 28

1

Ш

Ш

Johann Sebastian Bach, 1750, George Frederick Handel, 1759, and Henry Purcell, 1695, Composers

Almighty God, beautiful in majesty and majestic in holiness: Thou gavest to thy musicians Johann Sebastian Bach, George Frederick Handel, and Henry Purcell grace to show forth thy glory in their music. May we also be moved to sound out thy praises as a foretaste of thy eternal glory; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Almighty God, beautiful in majesty and majestic in holiness: You gave to your musicians Johann Sebastian Bach, George Frederick Handel, and Henry Purcell grace to show forth your glory in their music. May we be also moved to sound out your praises as a foretaste of your eternal glory; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

July 30

I

Ш

William Wilberforce, 1833, and Anthony Ashley-Cooper, Lord Shaftesbury, 1885, Prophetic Witnesses

Let thy continual mercy, O Lord, kindle in thy Church the never-failing gift of love, that we, following the examples of thy servants William Wilberforce and Anthony Ashley-Cooper, may have grace to defend the poor and maintain the cause of those who have no helper; for the sake of him who didst give his life for us, thy Son our Savior Jesus Christ, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Let your continual mercy, O Lord, kindle in your Church the never-failing gift of love, that we, following the examples of your servants William Wilberforce and Anthony Ashley-Cooper, may have grace to defend the poor and maintain the cause of those who have no helper; for the sake of him who gave his life for us, your Son our Savior Jesus Christ, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

August 2

Samuel Ferguson, Missionary Bishop for West Africa, 1916

Almighty God, who didst raise up thy servant Samuel Ferguson and inspire in him a missionary vision of thy Church in education and ministry: Stir up in us through his example a zeal for a Church, alive with thy Holy Word, reaching forth in love and service to all; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

II Almighty God, who raised up your servant Samuel Ferguson and inspired in him a missionary vision of your Church in education and ministry: Stir up in us through his example a zeal for a Church, alive with your Holy Word, reaching forth in love and service to all; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

August 3 George Freeman Bragg, Jr., Priest, 1940

Ш

П

O God, whose mighty hand freed thy servant George Freeman Bragg from bondage and blessed him with perseverance and courage: Deliver thy Church from its ignorance and injustice, that through his example and prayers all the baptized may share in the work of ministry and, at the last, attain to the perfect freedom of thy Son, our Lord Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

O God, whose mighty hand freed your servant George Freeman Bragg from bondage and blessed him with perseverance and courage: Deliver your Church from its ignorance and injustice, that through his example and prayers all the baptized may share in the work of ministry and, at the last, attain to the perfect freedom of your Son, our Lord Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

August 3 William Edward Burghardt DuBois, Sociologist, 1963

Gracious God, kindle in thy Church a zeal for justice and the dignity of all, that we, following the example of thy servant William Edward Burghardt Du Bois, may have the grace to defend all the oppressed and maintain the cause of those who have been silenced; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

II Gracious God, kindle in your Church a zeal for justice and the dignity of all, that we, following the example of your servant William Edward Burghardt Du Bois, may have the grace to defend all the oppressed and maintain the cause of those who have been silenced; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

August 9 Herman of Alaska, Missionary to the Aleut, 1837

Holy God, we bless thy Name for Herman, joyful North Star of Christ's Church, who didst bring the Good News of Christ's love to thy people in Alaska; and we pray that, following his example and admonition, we may love thee, God, above all; through Jesus Christ, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, throughout all ages. Amen.

Holy God, we bless your Name for Herman, joyful North Star of Christ's Church, who brought the Good News of Christ's love to your people in Alaska; and we pray that, following his example and admonition, we may love you, God, above all; through Jesus Christ, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, throughout all ages. Amen.

August 10 Laurence, Deacon, and Martyr at Rome, 258

Almighty God, by whose grace and power thy servant Laurence didst triumph over suffering and didst despise death: Grant, we pray, that we, steadfast in service to the poor and outcast, may share with him in the joys of thine everlasting kingdom; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

II Almighty God, by whose grace and power your servant Laurence triumphed over suffering and despised death: Grant, we pray, that we, steadfast in service to the poor and outcast, may share with him in the joys of your everlasting kingdom; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

August 12 Florence Nightingale, Nurse, Social Reformer, 1910

O God, who didst give grace to thy servant Florence Nightingale to bear thy healing love into the shadow of death: Grant unto all who heal the same virtues of patience, mercy, and steadfast love, that thy saving health may be revealed to all; through Jesus Christ, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

O God, who gave grace to your servant Florence Nightingale to bear your healing love into the shadow of death: Grant to all who heal the same virtues of patience, mercy, and steadfast love, that your saving health may be revealed to all; through Jesus Christ, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

August 18 Artemisia Bowden, 1969

Ш

I

Ш

O God, by thy Holy Spirit thou dost give gifts to thy people so that they might faithfully serve thy Church and the world: We give praise to thee for the gifts of perseverance, teaching and wisdom made manifest in thy servant, Artemisia Bowden, whom thou didst call far from home for the sake of educating the daughters and granddaughters of former slaves in Texas. We give thanks to thee for thy blessing and prospering of her life's work, and pray that, following her example, we may be ever mindful of the call to serve where thou dost send us; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with thee and the Spirit, liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

O God, by your Holy Spirit, you give gifts to your people so that they might faithfully serve your Church and the world: We give you praise for the gifts of perseverance, teaching and wisdom made manifest in your servant, Artemisia Bowden, whom you called far from home for the sake of educating the daughters and granddaughters of former slaves in Texas. We thank you for blessing and prospering her life's work, and pray that, following her example, we may be ever mindful of the call to serve where you send us; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with you and the Spirit, lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

August 27 Thomas Gallaudet, 1902, with Henry Winter Syle, 1890

O Loving God, whose will it is that everyone shouldst come to thee and be saved: We bless thy holy Name for thy servants Thomas Gallaudet and Henry Winter Syle, and we pray that thou wilt continually move thy Church to respond in love to the needs of all people; through Jesus Christ, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

O Loving God, whose will it is that everyone should come to you and be saved: We bless your holy Name for your servants Thomas Gallaudet and Henry Winter Syle, and we pray that you will continually move your Church to respond in love to the needs of all people; through Jesus Christ, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

August 28 Moses the Black, Desert Father and Martyr, c. 400

Almighty God, whose blessed Son dost guide our footsteps into the way of peace: Deliver us from paths of hatred and violence, that we, following the example of thy servant Moses, may serve thee with singleness of heart and attain to the tranquility of the world to come; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

II Almighty God, whose blessed Son guides our footsteps in the way of peace: Deliver us from paths of hatred and violence, that we, following the example of your servant Moses, may serve you with singleness of heart and attain to the tranquility of the world to come; through Jesus

Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

August 29 John Bunyan, Writer, 1688

- God of peace, who didst call John Bunyan to be valiant for truth: Grant that we, having endured as strangers and pilgrims on this earth, may at last rejoice with all the faithful in thy heavenly city; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- II God of peace, you called John Bunyan to be valiant for truth: Grant that we, having endured as strangers and pilgrims on this earth, may at last rejoice with all the faithful in your heavenly city; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

September 4 Albert Schweitzer, 1965

- O God, who didst endow thy servant Albert Schweitzer with a multitude of gifts for learning, beauty, and service: Inspire thy Church that we, following his example, may be utterly dedicated to thee that all our works might be done to thy glory and the welfare of thy people; through Christ our Lord who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, One God, now and forever. Amen.
- O God, who endowed your servant Albert Schweitzer with a multitude of gifts for learning, beauty, and service: Inspire your Church that we, following his example, may be utterly dedicated to you that all our works might be done to your glory and the welfare of your people; through Christ our Lord who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, One God, now and forever. Amen.

September 7 Elie Naud, Huguenot Witness to the Faith, 1722

- Blessed God, whose Son Jesus knelt to serve his disciples: We honor thee for the witness of thy servant Elie Naud; and pray that we, with him, may proclaim Christ in service to those deemed by the world to be littlest and least, following Jesus, who came not to be ministered to but to minister; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, to whom be honor and glory for ever and ever. Amen.
- Blessed God, whose Son Jesus knelt to serve his disciples: We honor you for the witness of your servant Elie Naud; and pray that we, with him, may proclaim Christ in service to those deemed by the world to be littlest and least, following Jesus, who came not to be ministered to but to minister; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, to whom be honor and glory for ever and ever. Amen.

September 11 Harry Thacker Burleigh, Composer, 1949

- I God, our strong deliverer: We bless thy Name for the grace given to Harry Thacker Burleigh, who didst lift up in song the struggles of thy people. Let that Spirit of love which spurred him draw us and thy whole Church to raise our distinct voices into one great harmony of praise; through the same Jesus Christ, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- Il God, our strong deliverer: We bless your Name for the grace given to Harry Thacker Burleigh, who lifted up in song the struggles of your people. Let that Spirit of love which spurred him draw us and your whole Church to raise our distinct voices into one great harmony of praise;

through the same Jesus Christ, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

September 15 James Chisholm, Priest, 1855

- I Merciful God, who didst call thy priest James Chisholm to sacrifice his life while working amid great suffering and death: Help us, like him, to live by the faith we profess, following in the footsteps of Jesus Christ our Lord; who with the Father and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.
- II Merciful God, you called your priest James Chisholm to sacrifice his life while working amid great suffering and death: Help us, like him, to live by the faith we profess, following in the footsteps of Jesus Christ our Lord; who with the Father and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, in glory everlasting. Amen.

September 18 Dag Hjalmar Agne Carl Hammarskjold, 1961

- Almighty God who hast exalted thy humble Christ as King of Kings and Lord of Lords: Enkindle within the hearts of the leaders of this world a yearning for peace with justice as thou didst within thy servant Dag Hammarskjold and, following his good example, ever guide our feet into the way of peace; through the same Jesus Christ our Lord who livest and reignest with thee and the Holy Spirit, One God, now and forever. Amen.
- Almighty God who exalted your humble Christ as King of Kings and Lord of Lords: Kindle within the hearts of the leaders of this world a yearning for peace with justice as you did within your servant Dag Hammarskjold and, following his good example, ever guide our feet into the way of peace; through the same Jesus Christ our Lord who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, One God, now and forever. Amen.

September 24 Anna Ellison Butler Alexander, 1947

- O God, who didst call Anna Alexander as a deaconess in thy Church, sending her as a teacher and evangelist to the people of Georgia: Grant us the humility to go wherever thou dost send, and the wisdom to teach the word of Christ to whomever we meet, that all may come to the enlightenment thou dost intend for thy people; through Jesus Christ, our Teacher and Savior. Amen.
- O God, you called Anna Alexander as a deaconess in your Church, and sent her as teacher and evangelist to the people of Georgia: Grant us the humility to go wherever you send, and the wisdom to teach the word of Christ to whomever we meet, that all may come to the enlightenment which you intend for your people; through Jesus Christ, our Teacher and Savior. Amen.

September 30 Jerome, Priest, and Monk of Bethlehem, 420

- O God, who didst give us the holy Scriptures for a light to shine upon our path: Grant us, after the example of thy servant Jerome, so to learn of thee according to thy Holy Word, that we may find the light that shines more and more to the perfect day; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and ever. Amen.
- O God, who gave us the holy Scriptures for a light to shine upon our path: Grant us, after the example of your servant Jerome, so to learn of you according to your Holy Word, that we may find the light that shines more and more to the perfect day; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and ever. Amen.

October 7

ı

Ш

Henry Melchior Muhlenberg, Lutheran Pastor in North America, 1787

Loving God, shepherd of thy people: We give thanks to thee for the ministry of Henry Melchior Muhlenberg, who left his native land to minister where called. Make us mindful of our own vocation to serve where thou dost call us; in the Name of Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Loving God, shepherd of your people, we thank you for the ministry of Henry Melchior Muhlenberg, who left his native land to minister where called; make us mindful of our own vocation to serve where you call us; in the Name of Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

October 11

I

Philip, Deacon and Evangelist

O God, who hast made of one blood all the peoples of the earth, and sent thy Son to preach peace to those who are far off and to those who are near: Grant that we, following the example of thy servant Philip, may bring thy Word to those who seek thee for the glory of thy Name; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

O God, who has made of one blood all the peoples of the earth, and sent your Son to preach peace to those who are far off and to those who are near: Grant that we, following the example of your servant Philip, may bring your Word to those who seek you for the glory of your Name; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

October 14 Sa

1

I

Samuel Isaac Joseph Scherechewsky, Bishop of Shanghai, 1906

O God, in thy providence thou didst call Joseph Schereschewsky to the ministry of this Church and upheld him in his infirmity, that he might translate the Holy Scriptures into Chinese languages: Inspire us, by his example and prayers, to commit our talents to thy service, confident that thou dost uphold those whom thou dost call; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

O God, in your providence you called Joseph Schereschewsky to the ministry of this Church and upheld him in his infirmity, that he might translate the Holy Scriptures into Chinese languages: Inspire us, by his example and prayers, to commit our talents to your service, confident that you uphold those whom you call; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

October 24 Hiram Hisanori Kano, 1988

Almighty God who hast reconciled the world unto thyself through Christ: Entrust to thy church the ministry of reconciliation as thou didst to thy servant Hiram Hisanori Kano, and raise up ambassadors for Christ to proclaim thy love and peace wherever conflict and hatred divide; through Jesus Christ our Lord who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, One God, now and forever. Amen.

II Almighty God who has reconciled the world to yourself through Christ: Entrust to your church the ministry of reconciliation as you did to your servant Hiram Hisanori Kano, and raise up ambassadors for Christ to proclaim your love and peace wherever conflict and hatred divide; through Jesus Christ our Lord who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, One God, now and forever. Amen.

October 26 Alfred the Great, King of the West Saxons, 899

I

- O God, who didst call thy servant Alfred to an earthly throne that he might advance thy heavenly kingdom, and didst give him zeal for thy Church and love for thy people: Grant that we, inspired by his example and prayers, may remain steadfast in the work thou hast given us to do for the building up of thy reign of love; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- O God, who called your servant Alfred to an earthly throne that he might advance your heavenly kingdom, and gave him zeal for your Church and love for your people: Grant that we, inspired by his example and prayers, may remain steadfast in the work you have given us to do for the building up of your reign of love; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

November 7 Willibrord, Archbishop of Utrecht, Missionary to Frisia, 739

- Almighty and everlasting God, who didst call thy servant Willibrord to proclaim thy Gospel to the people of the Low Countries: Raise up in this and every land evangelists and heralds of thy kingdom, that thy Church may proclaim the unsearchable riches of our Savior Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- II Almighty and everlasting God, who called your servant Willibrord to proclaim your Gospel to the people of the Low Countries: Raise up in this and every land evangelists and heralds of your kingdom, that your Church may proclaim the unsearchable riches of our Savior Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

November 14 Samuel Seabury, First American Bishop, 1796

- We give thanks to thee, O Lord our God, for thy goodness in bestowing upon this Church the gift of the episcopate, which we celebrate in this remembrance of the consecration of Samuel Seabury; and we pray that, joined together in unity with our bishops, and nourished by thy holy Sacraments, we may proclaim the Gospel of redemption with apostolic zeal; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- We give you thanks, O Lord our God, for your goodness in bestowing upon this Church the gift of the episcopate, which we celebrate in this remembrance of the consecration of Samuel Seabury; and we pray that, joined together in unity with our bishops, and nourished by your holy Sacraments, we may proclaim the Gospel of redemption with apostolic zeal; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

November 15 Francis Asbury, 1816, and George Whitefield, 1770, Evangelists

- Holy God, who didst inspire Francis Asbury and George Whitefield with evangelical zeal through their faithful proclamation of the Gospel: Inspire us, we pray, by thy Holy Spirit, that we, like them, may be eager to share thy Good News and lead many to Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- Holy God, you inspired Francis Asbury and George Whitefield with evangelical zeal through their faithful proclamation of the Gospel: Inspire us, we pray, by your Holy Spirit, that we, like them, may be eager to share your Good News and lead many to Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

November 18 Hilda, Abbess of Whitby, 680

- O God of peace, by whose grace the abbess Hilda was endowed with gifts of justice, prudence, and strength to rule as a wise mother over the nuns and monks of her household, and to become a trusted and reconciling friend to leaders of the Church: Raise up these gifts in us, that we, following her example and prayers, might build up one another in love to the benefit of thy Church; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- O God of peace, by whose grace the abbess Hilda was endowed with gifts of justice, prudence, and strength to rule as a wise mother over the nuns and monks of her household, and to become a trusted and reconciling friend to leaders of the Church: Raise up these gifts in us, that we, following her example and prayers, may build up one another in love to the benefit of your Church; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

November 22 Cecilia, Martyr at Rome, c. 280

- I Gracious God, whose servant Cecilia didst serve thee in song: Grant us to join her hymn of praise to thee in the face of all adversity, and to suffer gladly for the sake of our Lord Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- II Gracious God, whose servant Cecilia served you in song: Grant us to join her hymn of praise to you in the face of all adversity, and to suffer gladly for the sake of our Lord Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

December 17 Maria Stewart, 1879, Prophetic Witness

- God, in whose service alone is perfect freedom: We give thanks to thee for Maria Stewart, who witnessed that all are made in thine image and likeness. Fill us, like her, with the perseverance to break every chain of enslavement that, by thy Holy Spirit, thy people may overcome bondage and ignorance; through the merits of Jesus Christ our redeemer, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen
- II God, in whose service alone is perfect freedom: We thank you for Maria Stewart, who witnessed that all are made in your image and likeness. Fill us, like her, with the perseverance to break every chain of enslavement that, by your Holy Spirit, your people may overcome bondage and ignorance; through the merits of Jesus Christ our redeemer, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen

December 30 Frances Joseph Gaudet, Educator and Prison Reformer, 1934

- Merciful God, who didst raise up thy servant Frances Joseph Gaudet to work for prison reform and the education of the forgotten and oppressed: Encourage us by her example and prayers to work for those denied the fullness of life, that all may experience thy perfect freedom; through Jesus Christ, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- II Merciful God, who raised up your servant Frances Joseph Gaudet to work for prison reform and the education of the forgotten and oppressed: Encourage us by her example and prayers to work for those denied the fullness of life, that all may experience your perfect freedom; through Jesus Christ, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

December 31 Samuel Ajayi Crowther, Bishop in the Niger Territories, 1891

- O God, who dost lead those whom thou lovest from captivity into the grace of the Gospel, we give thanks to thee for Samuel Crowther, whom who didst call to become a bishop in thy Church: Grant that thy Holy Word may be heard, loved, and lived in all corners of the world, so that we and all thy people may proclaim, by word and example, the Good News of God in Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- O God who leads those whom you love from captivity into the grace of the Gospel, we thank you for Samuel Crowther, whom you called to become a bishop in your Church: Grant that your Holy Word may be heard, loved, and lived in all corners of the world, so that we and all your people may proclaim, by word and example, the Good News of God in Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

A Great Cloud of Witnesses

A Calendar of Commemorations

Table of Contents

I. Introduction

- a. On Commemorations and The Book of Common Prayer
- b. On the Making of Saints
- c. How to Use These Materials

II. Commemorations

- a. Calendar of Commemorations
- b. Commemorations
- c. Appendix

III. Guidelines for Continuing Alteration of the Calendar

- a. Criteria for Additions to A Great Cloud of Witnesses
- b. Procedures for Local Calendars and Memorials
- c. Procedures for Church-wide Recognition
- d. Procedures to Remove Commemorations

IV. Commons of Saints and Propers for Various Occasions

- a. Common of Martyrs
- b. Common of Missionaries
- c. Common of Pastors
- d. Common of Theologians and Teachers
- e. Common of Monastics and Professed Religious
- f. Common of Saints
- g. Common of Artists, Writers, and Composers
- h Common of the Blessed Virgin Mary, Godbearer
- i. Common of Prophetic Witnesses
- j. Common of Scientists and Environmentalists
- k. Various Occasions from The Book of Common Prayer
- I. New Propers for Various Occasions

I. Introduction

This volume, A Great Cloud of Witnesses, is a further step in the development of liturgical commemorations within the life of The Episcopal Church. These developments fall under three categories. First, this volume presents a wide array of possible commemorations for individuals and congregations to observe. Recognizing that there are many perspectives on the identity and place of exemplary Christians in the life of the Church, this volume proposes that the metaphor of a "family history" is a fitting way to describe who is included. As such the title of this volume is drawn from the Epistle to the Hebrews, recalling that "we are surrounded by so great a cloud of witnesses" (Hebrews 12:1). The people found in this volume are not all definitively declared to be saints, but are Christians who have inspired other Christians in different times and places.

Second, it represents a refinement of the core Calendar of commemorations for the Episcopal Church, which centers on the feasts of our Lord and other major feasts listed in The Book of Common Prayer (pp. 16–17). The calendar in A Great Cloud of Witnesses does not purport to be a definitive collection of saints, but rather an additional calendar of optional commemorations that represent the breadth of the Christian family story.

Third, materials for weekday celebrations during seasons of the Church are located in a separate volume, Weekday Eucharistic Propers 2015.

a. On Commemorations and The Book of Common Prayer

The Book of Common Prayer proclaims in the ecumenical Creeds and in our prayers its belief in the "communion of the saints." We speak of the saints as "chosen vessels of [God's] grace and the lights of the world in their generations." The "obedience of [God's] saints" offers the Church "an example of righteousness" and gives us "in their eternal joy a glorious pledge of the hope of our calling." The canticle *Te Deum laudamus* (Canticle 21, "You Are God") calls out some specific categories of saints in classical terms, contiguous with both the angels in heaven and the Church on earth, when it speaks of "the glorious company of apostles," "the noble fellowship of prophets," and "the white-robed army of martyrs." Too, our prayers speak of the role of the saints within our baptismal community:

O God, the King of saints, we praise and glorify your holy Name for all your servants who have finished their course in your faith and fear: for the blessed Virgin Mary; for the holy patriarchs, prophets, apostles, and martyrs; and for all your other righteous servants, known to us and unknown; and we pray that, encouraged by their examples, aided by their prayers, and strengthened by their fellowship, we also may be partakers of the inheritance of the saints in light; through the merits of your Son Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.⁴

The saints encourage us; they pray for us; they strengthen us.

Despite these affirmations of the saints as constitutive members of our baptismal community, the Prayer Book shows a great reluctance to define the term or to make specific identifications. The Catechism touches

¹ Preface for a Saint (1), BCP, 348 / 380.

² Preface for a Saint(2), BCP, 348 / 380.

³ BCP, 95 / 53.

⁴ BCP, 504 / 489.

on this issue only briefly, identifying the communion of the saints in broad relational terms: "The communion of saints is the whole family of God, the living and the dead, those whom we love and those whom we hurt, bound together in Christ by sacrament, prayer, and praise." In Christian language throughout the ages, "saint" has carried two referents, a general one that applies to the whole Church — which is the meaning invoked here — and a more specific one that applies to individuals who have been identified as "chosen vessels of [God's] grace and the lights of the world in their generations" from among their fellows.

The Calendar in the Prayer Book contains a number of names. Of these, the term "saint" appears only a handful of times and always in connection to a limited set of people who appear in the New Testament: Mary and Joseph, John the Baptist, the apostles, the evangelists, Paul, and others such as Mary Magdalene, Stephen, James of Jerusalem, and Michael.

The state of additional persons not given the title of "saint" is ambiguous. These are the commemorations permitted within the Days of Optional Observance as described in the general rubrics of the Calendar (BCP, 18). A clear definition of the status of these persons is absent.

This ambiguity is appropriate to the range of theologies around sainthood and holiness within The Episcopal Church. While some Episcopalians actively venerate the saints, others hold positions proceeding from Reformation desires to reform the cults of saints like those found in the Thirty-Nine Articles (Article XXII, BCP, 872). In other words, the ambiguity exists for the sake of inclusivity, and maintains the Anglican tradition of a comprehensive approach to questions not decisively settled by Scripture and the teaching of the received ecumenical councils.

In 2003, the 74th General Convention of The Episcopal Church directed the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music to "undertake a revision of Lesser Feasts and Fasts 2000, to reflect our increasing awareness of the importance of the ministry of all the people of God and of the cultural diversity of The Episcopal Church, of the wider Anglican Communion, of our ecumenical partners, and of our lively experience of sainthood in local communities," and to focus reflection upon "the significance of that experience of local sainthood in encouraging the living out of baptism." That, in turn, led to study and discussion resulting in Holy Women, Holy Men, which continued in a state of trial use through 2015.

The reception of Holy Women, Holy Men and additional commemoration requests brought to General Convention since 2009 suggested that the range of sanctoral theologies (that is, theologies of sainthood) within the Church remained as broad as ever, resulting in disagreements concerning who does and does not belong in the Calendar. At the same time, many people have expressed appreciation for the expansion of the Calendar because it has broadened their knowledge of the Christian family story.

In order to maintain a comprehensive stance toward differing theologies of sainthood and to recognize the desire to remember people important to the Church without passing judgment on their sanctoral status or requiring them to fit within a particular mold of saintliness, we have created this new resource entitled, A Great Cloud of Witnesses: A Calendar of Commemorations. This resource recognizes individuals who have made significant contributions to our understanding of our calling as the Body of Christ within the complexities of the 21st-century world without making a statement one way or another on their sanctity. It serves as a family history, identifying those people inside and outside the Episcopal/Anglican tradition who help us proclaim the Gospel in word, deed, and truth.

Holy Women, Holy Men – and Lesser Feasts and Fasts before it – also included liturgical material for weekday celebrations during the seasons of the church year. To streamline our liturgical resources, this material is now located in a separate volume, Weekday Eucharistic Propers 2015.

⁵ BCP, 862.

⁶ General Convention Resolution 2003-A100.

b. On the Making of Saints

While A Great Cloud of Witnesses does not intend to be a calendar that presents a definitive list of saints, there is no doubt that many of the people within it will be recognized as saints. In its call to revise Lesser Feasts and Fasts, General Convention emphasized the importance of the local recognition of sanctity. As we look across the Church's broad history, this is, in fact, the predominant level on which sanctity has been identified. Local communities celebrated local heroes. Too, local communities gave special emphasis to those fellow, yet heroic, members of the Body of Christ with whom they shared a special bond — whether through a common occupation, a common circumstance, or through their physical presence in the form of relics.

Saints were declared by parishes and by dioceses. In most places and times, there was no formal set of criteria that had to be met. Instead, the local communities operated on a broad basic principle: that Christ was known more intimately through these individuals, and that the holiness of the person was both evidence of their participation in the greater life of God and an inspiration for those around them to "go and do likewise."

The process of declaring saints was centralized within the Roman Catholic Church with the *Decretals* of Gregory IX in 1234, asserting that canonization could only occur with the authorization of the pope. This was part and parcel of the centralization of authority to the papal office in the high medieval period. Over the following centuries, bureaucratic regulations and a specific legal process were created to ensure a formal process. Only at this point were specific criteria drawn up, including the requirement of two documented miracles. In other words, this curial, top-down, centralized approach to naming saints has only existed in one part of the Church for less than half of its existence. Conversely, some of the most beloved saints within the Roman Catholic Church, such as Benedict of Nursia and Augustine of Hippo, never went through this process!

The Calendar of the first American *Book of Common Prayer*, authorized in 1789, contained most of the feasts now recognized as Holy Days and no others. In this regard, it follows the example of the earliest Anglican Prayer Books. The same Calendar appeared — with a few additions like the Transfiguration in 1892 — through the 1928 Prayer Book. While some had argued for the inclusion of post-biblical saints in the Calendar of the 1928 Prayer Book, this did not come to pass; however, a Common of Saints was provided, officially permitting the local eucharistic celebration of saints, while still retaining an official Calendar obligating only the universally acknowledged saints of the Apostolic Age. The publication of the supplementary *American Missal* in 1931 by noted church musician and liturgist Winfred Douglas containing an expanded Calendar of saints demonstrates the local desire for such celebrations during this time; the official condemnation of this work by some 30 bishops of the day testify to the differences of opinion regarding the expanded Calendar as well as many other matters.

In the first stages of revision leading to the 1979 Book of Common Prayer, the Standing Liturgical Commission appointed a Calendar committee headed by The Rev. Dr. Massey Shepherd to study the issue of the Calendar once again. The process of additions to the Calendar has been a piece of the broader development of the Book of Common Prayer. Additions to the Calendar typically begin with recommendations from individuals and dioceses, reflective of local commemoration practices, made to General Convention, which then asks the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music to review the proposals and make a recommendation to the next convention. This process of proposal based on local commemorations and affirmation by General Convention represents the baptismal ecclesiology of the Book of Common Prayer, in which constituent members of the Church contribute to the wider vitality and mission of the Church.

In responding to the diversity of theology of sainthood in The Episcopal Church, it seems best to identify two calendars: a core calendar of commemorations around which there is general consensus and a long tradition of observation, and a broader calendar of commemorations that represents a wider family history that

people and congregations will engage. The first, the core Calendar of The Episcopal Church, is defined as those Holy Days listed on pages 16 and 17 within the authorized Book of Common Prayer:

Feasts of our Lord

- The Holy Name
- The Presentation
- The Annunciation
- The Visitation

Other Major Feasts

- All feasts of Apostles
- All feasts of Evangelists
- Saint Stephen
- The Holy Innocents
- Saint Joseph
- Saint Mary Magdalene

- Saint John the Baptist
- The Transfiguration
- Holy Cross Day
- Saint Mary the Virgin
- Saint Michael and All Angels
- Saint James of Jerusalem
- Independence Day
- Thanksgiving Day

The second, A *Great Cloud of Witnesses*, provides a broader calendar, consistent with the call of the 2003 General Convention for a revision of the Calendar of the Church that reflects the lively experience of holiness, especially on the level of the local community. In this way, A *Great Cloud of Witnesses* is a tool for learning about the history of the Church and identifying those who have inspired and challenged us from the time of the New Testament to the present. Some of the individuals within it are recognized as saints in many parts of the Church universal today. Others are not. Some present special challenges — whether from their mode of life, what we now perceive as misunderstandings of the Gospel call, a lack of charity toward others, or other reasons. We intend A *Great Cloud of Witness* to serve several purposes. First, it is a catechetical tool to educate the faithful about the breadth of witness to the transforming work of God in Christ Jesus. Second, it is a collection that provides a range of options for commemorations in the form of eucharistic celebrations, prayer offices, or individual devotions.

Following the broad stream of Christian tradition, there are no formal criteria for defining saints. Rather, holiness and faithful witness are celebrated locally by a decision that individuals so honored shine forth Christ to the world. They illuminate different facets of Christian maturity to spur us on to an adult faith in the Risen Christ and the life of the Spirit. As illustrations, they mirror the myriad virtues of Christ in order that, in their examples, we might recognize those same virtues and features of holiness in people closer to our own times and contexts. And, seeing them in those around us, we may be better able to cultivate these virtues and forms of holiness in the life of the Church — through grace — as we strive to imitate Christ as well.

c. How to Use These Materials

Each entry includes a biographical narrative of the person or people, highlighting the significance of their life and witness. A devotional collect is provided in both Rite I and Rite II language. A set of indexing "tags" suggests how the entry fits into the broader scope of Christian history. The tags identify Commons and Various Occasions related to the life, work, or impact of the occasion. When a local community decides to commemorate a person or group, the appropriate propers are selected from the Common of Saints. Alternatively, a Eucharist celebrating a related Various Occasion might include the devotional collect as the conclusion to the Prayers of the People. The Common of Saints from the Book of Common Prayer has been enriched, particularly through the addition of more options for biblical readings, to allow a community to more closely tailor the set of readings to the witness of the person celebrated. The Commons pertaining to individuals first appearing in Holy Women, Holy Men are also included here.

¹ To name one challenge, the anti-Semitism/anti-Judaism of some pre-modern writers and teachers is a significant stumbling block to celebrating them as saints.

II. Commemorations

JANUARY

a. Calendar of Commemorations

1 Vedanayagam Samuel Azariah, First Indian Anglican Bishop, Dornakal, 1945 2 William Passavant, Prophetic Witness, 1894 3 Elizabeth Seton, Founder of the American Sisters of Charity, 1821 4 5 6 7 8 Harriet Bedell, Deaconess and Missionary, 1969 Julia Chester Emery, Missionary, 1922 9 William Laud, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1645 10 11 Aelred, Abbot of Rievaulx, 1167 12 Hilary, Bishop of Poitiers, 367 13 14 (alternative date for Martin Luther King, Jr.; see April 4) 15 Richard Meux Benson, Religious, 1915, and Charles Gore, Bishop of Worcester, of Birmingham, 16 and of Oxford, 1932 Antony, Abbot in Egypt, 356 17 18 Wulfstan, Bishop of Worcester, 1095 19 Fabian, Bishop and Martyr of Rome, 250 20 Agnes, Martyr at Rome, 304 21 Vincent, Deacon of Saragossa, and Martyr, 304 22 Phillips Brooks, Bishop of Massachusetts, 1893 23 Ordination of Florence Li Tim-Oi, First Woman Priest in the Anglican Communion, 1944 24 25 Timothy, Titus, and Silas, Companions of Saint Paul 26 Lydia, Dorcas, and Phoebe, Witnesses to the Faith 27 Thomas Aquinas, Priest and Theologian, 1274 28 Andrei Rublev, Monk and Iconographer, 1430 29 30 John Bosco, Priest, 1888 31 Samuel Shoemaker, Priest and Evangelist, 1963 31

FEBRUARY

- 1 Brigid (Bride), 523
- The Dorchester Chaplains: Lieutenant George Fox, Lieutenant Alexander D. Goode, Lieutenant Clark
 V. Poling, and Lieutenant John P. Washington, 1943

4 5 6 7 8 9	Anskar, Archbishop of Hamburg, Missionary to Denmark and Sweden, 865 Roger Williams, 1683, and Anne Hutchinson, 1643, Prophetic Witnesses The Martyrs of Japan, 1597 Cornelius the Centurion
10 11 12 13	Frances Jane (Fanny) Van Alstyne Crosby, Hymnwriter, 1915 Charles Freer Andrews, Priest and "Friend of the Poor" in India, 1940 Absalom Jones, Priest, 1818
14 15	Cyril, Monk, and Methodius, Bishop, Missionaries to the Slavs, 869, 885 Thomas Bray, Priest and Missionary, 1730
16 17 18	Charles Todd Quintard, Bishop of Tennessee, 1898 Janani Luwum, Archbishop of Uganda, and Martyr, 1977 Martin Luther, Theologian, 1546
19 20 21 22 23	Frederick Douglass, Orator and Advocate for Truth and Justice, 1895 John Henry Newman, Priest and Theologian, 1890 Eric Liddell, Missionary to China, 1945 Polycarp, Bishop and Martyr of Smyrna, 156
24252627	John Roberts, Priest, 1949 Emily Malbone Morgan, Prophetic Witness, 1937 George Herbert, Priest, 1633
28 29	Anna Julia Haywood Cooper, 1964, and Elizabeth Evelyn Wright, 1904, Educators
MARC	TH
1	David, Bishop of Menevia, Wales, c. 544
2	Chad, Bishop of Lichfield, 672 John and Charles Wesley, Priests, 1791, 1788
3 4 5	Paul Cuffee, Witness to the Faith among the Shinnecock, 1812
6 7 8	William W. Mayo, 1911, and Charles Menninger, 1953, and Their Sons, Pioneers in Medicine Perpetua, Felicity, and their Companions, Martyrs at Carthage, 202 Geoffrey Anketell Studdert Kennedy, Priest, 1929
9 10 11	Gregory, Bishop of Nyssa, c. 394
12 13	Gregory the Great, Bishop of Rome, 604 James Theodore Holly, Bishop of Haiti, and of the Dominican Republic, 1911 (see also November 8)
14 15 16	
17 18 19	Patrick, Bishop and Missionary of Ireland, 461 Cyril of Jerusalem, Liturgist, Catechist, and Bishop, 386
20 21	Thomas Ken, Bishop of Bath and Wells, 1711 Thomas Cranmer, Archbishop of Canterbury and Martyr, 1556

22 23 24 25 26 27 28 29 30 31	James De Koven, Priest and Teacher, 1879 Gregory the Illuminator, Bishop and Missionary of Armenia, c. 332 Óscar Romero, Archbishop of San Salvador, 1980, and the Martyrs of El Salvador Richard Allen, First Bishop of the African Methodist Episcopal Church, 1831 Charles Henry Brent, Bishop of the Philippines, and of Western New York, 1929 James Solomon Russell, Priest, 1935 John Keble, Priest, 1866 Innocent of Alaska, Bishop, 1879 John Donne, Priest, 1631
APRIL	
1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 10	Frederick Denison Maurice, Priest, 1872 James Lloyd Breck, Priest, 1876 Richard, Bishop of Chichester, 1253 Martin Luther King, Jr., Civil Rights Leader and Martyr, 1968 (see also Jan. 15) Pandita Mary Ramabai, Prophetic Witness and Evangelist in India, 1922 Daniel G. C. Wu, Priest and Missionary among Chinese Americans, 1956 Tikhon, Patriarch of Russia, Confessor and Ecumenist, 1925 William Augustus Muhlenberg, Priest, 1877 and Anne Ayers, Religious, 1896 Dietrich Bonhoeffer, Theologian and Martyr, 1945 William Law, Priest, 1761 Pierre Teilhard de Chardin, Scientist and Military Chaplain, 1955 George Augustus Selwyn, Bishop of New Zealand, and of Lichfield, 1878
13 14 15 16 17 18	Edward Thomas Demby, 1957, and Henry Beard Delany, 1928, Bishops Damien, Priest and Leper, 1889, and Marianne, Religious, 1918, of Molokai Mary (Molly) Brant (Konwatsijayenni), Witness to the Faith among the Mohawks, 1796 Emily Cooper, Deaconess, 1909
19 20	Alphege, Archbishop of Canterbury, and Martyr, 1012
21 22	Anselm, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1109
23 23 24 25	George, Soldier and Martyr, c. 304 Toyohiko Kagawa, Prophetic Witness in Japan, 1960 Genocide Remembrance
26 27 28	Robert Hunt, Priest and First Chaplain at Jamestown, 1607 Christina Rossetti, Poet, 1894
29 30	Catherine of Siena, 1380 Sarah Josephine Buell Hale, Editor and Prophetic Witness, 1879
MAY	
1 2 3	Athanasius, Bishop of Alexandria, 373

4 5 6	Monnica, Mother of Augustine of Hippo, 387
7	Harriet Starr Cannon, Religious, 1896
8	Dame Julian of Norwich, c. 1417
9	Gregory of Nazianzus, Bishop of Constantinople, 389
10	Nicolaus Ludwig von Zinzendorf, Prophetic Witness, 1760
11	
12	
13	Frances Perkins, Public Servant and Prophetic Witness, 1965
14	Trances remains, rubine servante and respired extrancess, ryby
15	Junia and Andronicus
16	The Martyrs of the Sudan
17	William Hobart Hare, Bishop of Niobrara, and of South Dakota, 1909
17	Thurgood Marshall, Lawyer and Jurist, 1993
18	That good Marshall, Lawyer and Janse, 1995
19	Dunstan, Archbishop of Canterbury, 988
20	Alcuin, Deacon, and Abbot of Tours, 804
21	John Eliot, Missionary among the Algonquin, 1690
22	John Ellot, Missionally among the Algoriquin, 1090
23	Nicolaus Copernicus, 1543, and Johannes Kepler, 1543, Astronomers
24	Jackson Kemper, First Missionary Bishop in the United States, 1870
25	Bede, the Venerable, Priest, and Monk of Jarrow, 735
26	Augustine, First Archbishop of Canterbury, 605
	Bertha and Ethelbert, Queen and King of Kent, 616
27 28	John Calvin, Theologian, 1564
29	John Calvin, Mediogian, 1904
²⁹	Jeanne d'Arc (Joan of Arc), Mystic and Soldier, 1431
31	Jeanne a Arc (Joan of Arc), Mystic and Joidier, 1451
ار 	The First Book of Common Prayer, 1549, is appropriately observed on a weekday
1	following the Day of Pentecost.
	ronoving the Bay of Femerosa.
JUNE	
1	Justin, Martyr at Rome, c. 167
2	Blandina and Her Companions, the Martyrs of Lyons, 177
3	The Martyrs of Uganda, 1886
4	John XXIII (Angelo Guiseppe Roncalli), Bishop of Rome, 1963
5	Boniface, Archbishop of Mainz, Missionary to Germany, and Martyr, 754
6	Ini Kopuria, Founder of the Melanesian Brotherhood, 1945
7	The Pioneers of the Episcopal Anglican Church of Brazil, 1890
8	Roland Allen, Mission Strategist, 1947
9	Columba, Abbot of Iona, 597
) 10	Ephrem of Edessa, Syria, Deacon, 373
11	Epinicin of Eucessa, Syria, Beacon, 375
12	Enmegahbowh, Priest and Missionary, 1902
13	Gilbert Keith Chesterton, Apologist and Writer, 1936
14	Basil the Great, Bishop of Caesarea, 379
15	Evelyn Underhill, 1941
16	George Berkeley, 1753, and Joseph Butler, 1752, Bishops and Theologians
17	

Bernard Mizeki, Catechist and Martyr in Mashonaland, 1896 Adelaide Teague Case, Teacher, 1948
Alban, First Martyr of Britain, c. 304
James Weldon Johnson, Poet, 1938 Isabel Florence Hapgood, Translator, Ecumenist, and Journalist, 1929 Cornelius Hill, Priest and Chief among the Oneida, 1907 Irenaeus, Bishop of Lyons, c. 202
Pauli Murray, Priest, 1985 Walter Rauschenbusch, 1918, Washington Gladden, 1918, and Jacob Riis, 1914, Prophetic Witnesses
Jan Hus, Prophetic Witness and Martyr, 1415
Benedict of Nursia, Abbot of Monte Cassino, c. 540
Samson Occom, Witness to the Faith in New England, 1792
"The Righteous Gentiles"
William White, Bishop of Pennsylvania, 1836
Bartolomé de las Casas, Friar and Missionary to the Indies, 1566 Macrina, Monastic and Teacher, 379
Elizabeth Cady Stanton, 1902; Amelia Bloomer, 1894; Sojourner Truth, 1883; and Harriet Ross
Tubman, 1913, Liberators and Prophets
Albert John Luthuli, Prophetic Witness in South Africa, 1967
John Cassian, Abbot at Marseilles, 433
Thomas à Kempis, Priest, 1471
Joachim and Anne, Parents of the Blessed Virgin Mary
Charles Raymond Barnes, 1938
William Reed Huntington, Priest, 1909
Johann Sebastian Bach, 1750, George Frederick Handel, 1759, and Henry Purcell, 1695, Composers
Mary, Martha, and Lazarus of Bethany First Ordination of Women to the Princethood in The Enisconal Church, 1971
First Ordination of Women to the Priesthood in The Episcopal Church, 1974 William Wilberforce, 1833, and Anthony Ashley-Cooper, Lord Shaftesbury, 1885, Prophetic Witnesses
Ignatius of Lovola. Priest and Monastic. 1556

AUGUST

1	Joseph of Arimathea				
2	Samuel Ferguson, Missionary Bishop for West Africa, 1916				
3	George Freeman Bragg, Jr., Priest, 1940				
3	William Edward Burghardt DuBois, Sociologist, 1963				
4					
5	Albrecht Dürer, 1528, Matthias Grünewald, 1529, and Lucas Cranach the Elder, 1553, Artists				
6					
7	John Mason Neale, Priest, 1866				
7	Catherine Winkworth, Poet, 1878				
8	Dominic, Priest and Friar, 1221				
9	Herman of Alaska, Missionary to the Aleut, 1837				
10	Laurence, Deacon, and Martyr at Rome, 258				
11	Clare, Abbess at Assisi, 1253				
12	Florence Nightingale, Nurse, Social Reformer, 1910				
13	Jeremy Taylor, Bishop of Down, Connor, and Dromore, 1667				
14	Jonathan Myrick Daniels, Seminarian and Martyr, 1965				
15					
16	Campuel Jahnson (222 Timesthy Cutley (201 and Thomas Bredhum Chandley (202 Driests				
17	Samuel Johnson, 1772, Timothy Cutler, 1765, and Thomas Bradbury Chandler, 1790, Priests				
17 18	The Baptisms of Manteo, and Virginia Dare, 1587 William Porcher DuBose, Priest, 1918				
18	Artemisia Bowden, 1969				
19	Alternisia bowden, 1909				
20	Bernard, Abbot of Clairvaux, 1153				
21	bernard, ribbot or clair vada, rijj				
22					
23	Martin de Porres, 1639, and Rosa de Lima, 1617, Witnesses to the Faith in South America				
24	, , , , ,				
25	Louis, King of France, 1270				
26					
27	Thomas Gallaudet, 1902, with Henry Winter Syle, 1890				
28	Augustine, Bishop of Hippo, and Theologian, 430				
28	Moses the Black, Desert Father and Martyr, c. 400				
29	John Bunyan, Writer, 1688				
30	Charles Chapman Grafton, Bishop of Fond du Lac, and Ecumenist, 1912				
31	Aidan, 651, and Cuthbert, 687, Bishops of Lindisfarne				
SEPTE	MBER				
1	David Pendleton Oakerhater, Deacon and Missionary, 1931				
2	The Martyrs of New Guinea, 1942				
3	The Marty 5 of New Gamed, 1972				
4	Paul Jones, 1941				
4	Albert Schweitzer, 1965				
5	Gregorio Aglipay, Priest and Founder of the Philippine Independent Church, 1940				
6	0 01-1/1				
7	Elie Naud, Huguenot Witness to the Faith, 1722				
8					
9	Constance, Nun, and Her Companions, 1878				
10	Alexander Crummell, 1898				

11 Harry Thacker Burleigh, Composer, 1949 John Henry Hobart, Bishop of New York, 1830 12 John Chrysostom, Bishop of Constantinople, 407 13 14 Cyprian, Bishop and Martyr of Carthage, 258 15 James Chisholm, Priest, 1855 15 Ninian, Bishop in Galloway, c. 430 16 Hildegard, 1179 17 Edward Bouverie Pusey, Priest, 1882 18 18 Dag Hjalmar Agne Carl Hammarskjold, 1961 Theodore of Tarsus, Archbishop of Canterbury, 690 19 20 John Coleridge Patteson, Bishop of Melanesia, and his Companions, Martyrs, 1871 21 Philander Chase, Bishop of Ohio, and of Illinois, 1852 22 Thecla 23 Anna Ellison Butler Alexander, 1947 24 Sergius, Abbot of Holy Trinity, Moscow, 1392 25 Lancelot Andrewes, Bishop of Winchester, 1626 26 Wilson Carlile, Priest, 1942 26 Vincent de Paul, Religious, and Prophetic Witness, 1660 27 Thomas Traherne, Priest, 1674 27 Richard Rolle, 1349, Walter Hilton, 1396, and Margery Kempe, c. 1440, Mystics 28 29 Jerome, Priest, and Monk of Bethlehem, 420 30 **OCTOBER** Remigius, Bishop of Rheims, c. 530 1 2 George Kennedy Allen Bell, Bishop of Chichester, and Ecumenist, 1958 3 John Raleigh Mott, Evangelist and Ecumenical Pioneer, 1955 3 Francis of Assisi, Friar, 1226 4 5 6 William Tyndale, 1536, and Miles Coverdale, 1568, Translators of the Bible Henry Melchior Muhlenberg, Lutheran Pastor in North America, 1787 7 8 William Dwight Porter Bliss, Priest, 1926, and Richard Theodore Ely, Economist, 1943 Wilfred Thomason Grenfell, Medical Missionary, 1940 9 Vida Dutton Scudder, Educator and Witness for Peace, 1954 10 Philip, Deacon and Evangelist 11 12 13 Samuel Isaac Joseph Scherechewsky, Bishop of Shanghai, 1906 14 Teresa of Avila, Nun, 1582 15 Hugh Latimer and Nicholas Ridley, Bishops and Martyrs, 1555 16 Ignatius, Bishop of Antioch, and Martyr, c. 115 17 18 Henry Martyn, Priest, and Missionary to India and Persia, 1812 19 20 21 22

23

24 25	Hiram Hisanori Kano, 1988					
26 27 28	Alfred the Great, King of the West Saxons, 899					
29 30 31	James Hannington, Bishop of Eastern Equatorial Africa, and his Companions, Martyrs, 1885 John Wyclif, Priest and Prophetic Witness, 1384 Paul Shinji Sasaki, Bishop of Mid-Japan, and of Tokyo, 1946, and Philip Lindel Tsen, Bishop of Honan, China, 1954					
NOVE	MBER					
1						
2 3 4	Commemoration of All Faithful Departed Richard Hooker, Priest, 1600					
5						
6	William Temple, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1944					
7	Willibrord, Archbishop of Utrecht, Missionary to Frisia, 739					
8	(alternative date for James Theodore Holly; see March 13)					
9 10	Leo the Great, Bishop of Rome, 461					
11	Martin, Bishop of Tours, 397					
12	Charles Simeon, Priest, 1836					
13						
14	Samuel Seabury, First American Bishop, 1796					
15	Francis Asbury, 1816, and George Whitefield, 1770, Evangelists					
16	Margaret, Queen of Scotland, 1093					
17	Hugh, 1200, and Robert Grosseteste, 1253, Bishops of Lincoln					
18	Hilda, Abbess of Whitby, 680					
19 20	Elizabeth, Princess of Hungary, 1231 Edmund, King of East Anglia, 870					
21	William Byrd, 1623, John Merbecke, 1585, and Thomas Tallis, 1585, Musicians					
22	Cecilia, Martyr at Rome, c. 280					
22	Clive Staples Lewis, Apologist and Spiritual Writer, 1963					
23	Clement, Bishop of Rome, c. 100					
24						
25	James Otis Sargent Huntington, Priest and Monk, 1935					
26	Isaac Watts, Hymnwriter, 1748					
27	Kamahamaha and Emma. King and Quaan of Hawaii 4964, 4995					
28 29	Kamehameha and Emma, King and Queen of Hawaii, 1864, 1885					
30						
DECE	MBER					
1	Nicholas Ferrar, Deacon, 1637					
1	Charles de Foucauld, Hermit and Martyr in the Sahara, 1916					
2	Channing Moore Williams, Missionary Bishop in China and Japan, 1910					
3	Francis Xavier, Missionary to the Far East, 1552 John of Damascus, Priest, c. 760					
4	Joint of Bulliuscus, Friest, C. 700					

5	Clement of Alexandria, Priest, c. 210
6	Nicholas, Bishop of Myra, c. 342
7	Ambrose, Bishop of Milan, 397
8	Richard Baxter, Pastor and Writer, 1691
9	
10	Thomas Merton, Contemplative and Writer, 1968
11	
12	
13	Lucy (Lucia), Martyr at Syracuse, 304
14	Juan de la Cruz (John of the Cross), Mystic, 1591
15	
16	Ralph Adams Cram, 1942, and Richard Upjohn, 1878, Architects, and John LaFarge, Artist, 1910
17	Maria Stewart, 1879, Prophetic Witness
18	
19	
20	
21	
22	Henry Budd, Priest, 1875
23	
24	
25	
26	
27	
28	
29	Thomas Becket, 1170
30	Frances Joseph Gaudet, Educator and Prison Reformer, 1934
31	Samuel Ajayi Crowther, Bishop in the Niger Territories, 1891

b. Commemorations

JANUARY

- Vedanayagam Samuel Azariah, First Indian Anglican Bishop, Dornakal, 1945
 [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Missionary] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]
- William Passavant, Prophetic Witness, 1894
 [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Social Service]
- 4 Elizabeth Seton, Founder of the American Sisters of Charity, 1821
 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Unity of the Church] [For Social Service]
- 8 Harriet Bedell, Deaconess and Missionary, 1969
 [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]
- Julia Chester Emery, Missionary, 1922
 [Common of a Missionary] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]

William Laud, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1645

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross]

10

Aelred, Abbot of Rievaulx, 1167 12 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For All Baptized Christians] Hilary, Bishop of Poitiers, 367 13 [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Trinity] 16 Richard Meux Benson, Religious, 1915, and Charles Gore, Bishop of Worcester, of Birmingham, and of Oxford, 1932 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Incarnation] 17 Antony, Abbot in Egypt, 356 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Spirit] Wulfstan, Bishop of Worcester, 1095 19 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Unity of the Church] 20 Fabian, Bishop and Martyr of Rome, 250 [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] Agnes, Martyr at Rome, 304 21 [Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] Vincent, Deacon of Saragossa, and Martyr, 304 22 [Common of a Martyr][For Social Service][Of the Holy Cross] Phillips Brooks, Bishop of Massachusetts, 1893 23 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church] Ordination of Florence Li Tim-Oi, First Woman Priest in the Anglican Communion, 1944 24 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry I] [For the Mission of the Church] Timothy, Titus, and Silas, Companions of Saint Paul 26 [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Missionary] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church] Lydia, Dorcas, and Phoebe, Witnesses to the Faith 27 [Common of a Missionary] [For All Baptized Christians] [For Social Service] [For the Ministry III] 28 Thomas Aquinas, Priest and Theologian, 1274 [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Trinity] Andrei Rublev, Monk and Iconographer, 1430 29 [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For Artists and Writers] John Bosco, Priest, 1888 31 [Common of a Pastor] [For Education] Samuel Shoemaker, Priest and Evangelist, 1963 31 [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Missionary] [For the Ministry I] [For the Mission of the Church]

FEBRUARY

1	Brigid	(Bride),	523
---	--------	----------	-----

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Spirit] [Of the Incarnation]

The Dorchester Chaplains: Lieutenant George Fox, Lieutenant Alexander D. Goode, Lieutenant Clark V. Poling, and Lieutenant John P. Washington, 1943

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Martyr] [For the Nation] [Of the Holy Cross]

- Anskar, Archbishop of Hamburg, Missionary to Denmark and Sweden, 865
 [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]
- Roger Williams, 1683, and Anne Hutchinson, 1643, Prophetic Witnesses
 [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Saint] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church]
- 6 The Martyrs of Japan, 1597

[Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] [On the Anniversary of a Disaster]

7 Cornelius the Centurion

[Common of a Saint] [For the Mission of the Church]

- Frances Jane (Fanny) Van Alstyne Crosby, Hymnwriter, 1915

 [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Saint] [For Artists and Writers]
- 12 Charles Freer Andrews, Priest and "Friend of the Poor" in India, 1940
 [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Social Justice] [For Social Service]
- 13 Absalom Jones, Priest, 1818

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]

- Cyril, Monk, and Methodius, Bishop, Missionaries to the Slavs, 869, 885

 [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Mission of the Church]
- Thomas Bray, Priest and Missionary, 1730

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Missionary] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]

16 Charles Todd Quintard, Bishop of Tennessee, 1898

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [For Education]

17 Janani Luwum, Archbishop of Uganda, and Martyr, 1977

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Of the Holy Cross] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

18 Martin Luther, Theologian, 1546

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Trinity]

20 Frederick Douglass, Orator and Advocate for Truth and Justice, 1895

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Saint] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]

John Henry Newman, Priest and Theologian, 1890

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Reign of Christ] [For the Unity of the Church]

22 Eric Liddell, Missionary to China, 1945

[Common of a Missionary] [For the Mission of the Church]

Polycarp, Bishop and Martyr of Smyrna, 156

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross]

John Roberts, Priest, 1949

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Missionary] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]

26 Emily Malbone Morgan, Prophetic Witness, 1937

[Common of a Saint] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Rogation Days II] [For Labor Day]

27 George Herbert, Priest, 1633

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [For Artists and Writers]

Anna Julia Haywood Cooper, 1964, and Elizabeth Evelyn Wright, 1904, Educators [Common of a Saint] [For Education]

MARCH

David, Bishop of Menevia, Wales, c. 544

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Missionary] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

2 Chad, Bishop of Lichfield, 672

[Common of a Pastor] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry]

3 John and Charles Wesley, Priests, 1791, 1788

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]

4 Paul Cuffee, Witness to the Faith among the Shinnecock, 1812

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness] [For the Mission of the Church]

- William W. Mayo, 1911, and Charles F. Menninger, 1953, and Their Sons, Pioneers in Medicine

 [Common of a Saint] [For Vocation in Daily Life] [For the Ministry III] [For the Sick] [For Social Service]
- Perpetua, Felicity and their Companions, Martyrs at Carthage, 202
 [Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross]
- 8 Geoffrey Anketell Studdert Kennedy, Priest, 1929 [Common of a Pastor] [For Peace]
- 9 Gregory, Bishop of Nyssa, c. 394

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher][Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For the Ministry II]

12 Gregory the Great, Bishop of Rome, 604

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Reign of Christ] [For the Ministry II]

James Theodore Holly, Bishop of Haiti, and of the Dominican Republic, 1911

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For the Ministry II]

[For Prophetic Witness in the Church] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]

17 Patrick, Bishop and Missionary of Ireland, 461

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

18 Cyril of Jerusalem, Liturgist, Catechist, and Bishop, 386

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Eucharist] [On the Anniversary of the Dedication of a Church]

Thomas Ken, Bishop of Bath and Wells, 1711

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For Artists and Writers]

21 Thomas Cranmer, Archbishop of Canterbury and Martyr, 1556

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For Artists and Writers]

James De Koven, Priest and Teacher, 1879

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Trinity]

23 Gregory the Illuminator, Bishop and Missionary of Armenia, c. 332

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

Óscar Romero, Archbishop of San Salvador, 1980, and the Martyrs of El Salvador

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

26 Richard Allen, First Bishop of the African Methodist Episcopal Church, 1831

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]

27 Charles Henry Brent, Bishop of the Philippines, and of Western New York, 1929

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Unity of the Church] [For the Mission of the Church]

28 James Solomon Russell, Priest, 1935

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Education] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church]

29 John Keble, Priest, 1866

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For Artists and Writers]

30 Innocent of Alaska, Bishop, 1879

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

John Donne, Priest, 1631

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Pastor] [For Artists and Writers]

APRIL

1 Frederick Denison Maurice, Priest, 1872

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Incarnation] [For Rogation Days II]

2 James Lloyd Breck, Priest, 1876

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church] [For Education]

3 Richard, Bishop of Chichester, 1253

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [Of the Holy Spirit]

4 Martin Luther King, Jr., Civil Rights Leader and Martyr, 1968

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]

5 Pandita Mary Ramabai, Prophetic Witness and Evangelist in India, 1922

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Saint]

[For All Baptized Christians] [For the Mission of the Church]

6 Daniel G. C. Wu, Priest and Missionary among Chinese Americans, 1956

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]

7	Tikhon, Patriarch of Russia, Confessor and Ecumenist, 1925 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Unity of the Church]
8	William Augustus Muhlenberg, Priest, 1877 and Anne Ayers, Religious, 1896 [Common of a Pastor] [For Social Service]
9	Dietrich Bonhoeffer, Theologian and Martyr, 1945 [Common of a Martyr][Common of a Theologian][Common of a Prophetic Witness][Of the Holy Cross] [Of the Reign of Christ][For Prophetic Witness in Society]
10	William Law, Priest, 1761 [Common of a Theologian and Teacher][Common of a Pastor][For All Baptized Christians] [For Vocation in Daily Work]
10	Pierre Teilhard de Chardin, Scientist and Military Chaplain, 1955 [Common of a Theologian] [Common of a Scientists or Environmentalist] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Goodness of God's Creation] [For Scientists and Environmentalists]
11	George Augustus Selwyn, Bishop of New Zealand, and of Lichfield, 1878 [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]
14	Edward Thomas Demby, 1957, and Henry Beard Delany, 1928, Bishops [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For the Ministry II] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]
15	Damien, Priest and Leper, 1889, and Marianne, Religious, 1918, of Molokai [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Sick] [For Social Service]
16	Mary (Molly) Brant (Konwatsijayenni), Witness to the Faith among the Mohawks, 1796 [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians] [For the Mission of the Church]
17	Emily Cooper, Deaconess, 1909 [Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians] [For Social Service]
19	Alphege, Archbishop of Canterbury, and Martyr, 1012 [Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For the Ministry II]
21	Anselm, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1109 [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry II]
23	George, Soldier and Martyr, c. 304 [Common of a Martyr][Of the Holy Cross]
23	Toyohiko Kagawa, Prophetic Witness in Japan, 1960 [Common of a Prophetic Witness][For Peace][For Social Justice][For Prophetic Witness in Society]
24	Genocide Remembrance [Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] [On the Anniversary of a Disaster] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]
26	Robert Hunt, Priest and First Chaplain at Jamestown, 1607 [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Eucharist]
27	Christina Rossetti, Poet, 1894 [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Saint] [For Artists and Writers]
29	Catherine of Siena, 1380 [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church]

30 Sarah Josepha Buell Hale, Editor and Prophetic Witness, 1879

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Vocation in Daily Work] [For Artists and Writers] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

MAY

2 Athanasius, Bishop of Alexandria, 373

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry II]

4 Monnica, Mother of Augustine of Hippo, 387

[Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians] [For the Ministry III]

7 Harriet Starr Cannon, Religious, 1896

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Spirit]

8 Dame Julian of Norwich, c. 1417

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Incarnation]

9 Gregory of Nazianzus, Bishop of Constantinople, 389

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For the Ministry II]

10 Nicolaus Ludwig von Zinzendorf, Prophetic Witness, 1760

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Vocation in Daily Work] [For Artists and Writers] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

13 Frances Perkins, Public Servant and Prophetic Witness, 1965

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians] [For Vocation in Daily Work]

15 Junia and Andronicus

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Unity of the Church]

16 The Martyrs of the Sudan

[Common of a Martyr][Of the Holy Cross][On the Anniversary of a Disaster]

17 William Hobart Hare, Bishop of Niobrara, and of South Dakota, 1909

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

17 Thurgood Marshall, Lawyer and Jurist, 1993

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For the Nation] [For Social Justice] [For Vocation in Daily Work] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

19 Dunstan, Archbishop of Canterbury, 988

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Ministry II] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church]

20 Alcuin, Deacon, and Abbot of Tours, 804

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Trinity]

John Eliot, Missionary among the Algonquin, 1690

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]

Nicolaus Copernicus, 1543, and Johannes Kepler, 1543, Astronomers

[Common of a Scientist or Environmentalist] [For Scientists and Environmentalists] [For Space Exploration]

Jackson Kemper, First Missionary Bishop in the United States, 1870

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church] [For Education]

Bede, the Venerable, Priest, and Monk of Jarrow, 735

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Trinity] [Of the Reign of Christ]

Augustine, First Archbishop of Canterbury, 605

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

27 Bertha and Ethelbert, Queen and King of Kent, 616

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians] [For the Mission of the Church]

John Calvin, Theologian, 1564

[Common of a Theologian and Educator] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Trinity]

Jeanne d'Arc (Joan of Arc), Mystic and Soldier, 1431

[Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] [For Social Justice]

/ The First Book of Common Prayer, 1549
[Of the Holy Trinity] [Of the Holy Spirit]

JUNE

1 Justin, Martyr at Rome, c. 167

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Theologian] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Of the Holy Cross] [Of the Reign of Christ] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

2 Blandina and Her Companions, the Martyrs of Lyons, 177

[Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] [On the Anniversary of the Occasion of a Disaster]

3 The Martyrs of Uganda, 1886

[Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] [On the Anniversary of the Occasion of a Disaster]

4 John XXIII (Angelo Guiseppe Roncalli), Bishop of Rome, 1963

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Unity of the Church]

Boniface, Archbishop of Mainz, Missionary to Germany, and Martyr, 754

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

6 Ini Kopuria, Founder of the Melanesian Brotherhood, 1945

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry III]

7 The Pioneers of the Episcopal Anglican Church of Brazil, 1890

[Common of a Missionary] [For the Mission of the Church]

8 Roland Allen, Mission Strategist, 1947

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Mission of the Church]

9 Columba, Abbot of Iona, 597

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Missionary] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Mission of the Church]

10 Ephrem of Edessa, Syria, Deacon, 373

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Thelogian and Teacher] [For Artists and Writers]

12 Enmegahbowh, Priest and Missionary, 1902

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]

13 Gilbert Keith Chesterton, Apologist and Writer, 1936

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers]

14 Basil the Great, Bishop of Caesarea, 379

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For the Ministry II]

15 Evelyn Underhill, 1941

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Spirit] [Of the Incarnation] [For All Baptized Christians]

George Berkeley, 1753, and Joseph Butler, 1752, Bishops and Theologians

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For Education]

18 Bernard Mizeki, Catechist and Martyr in Mashonaland, 1896

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Missionary] [Of the Holy Cross] [For the Ministry III] [For the Mission of the Church]

19 Adelaide Teague Case, Teacher, 1948

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians] [For Education]

Alban, First Martyr of Britain, c. 304

[Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross]

25 James Weldon Johnson, Poet, 1938

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers]

26 Isabel Florence Hapgood, Translator, Ecumenist, and Journalist, 1929

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Saint] [For the Unity of the Church] [For Artists and Writers]

27 Cornelius Hill, Priest and Chief among the Oneida, 1907

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]

28 Irenaeus, Bishop of Lyons, c. 202

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry]

JULY

6

1 Pauli Murray, Priest, 1985

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For the Ministry] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church]

Walter Rauschenbusch, 1918, Washington Gladden, 1918, and Jacob Riis, 1914, Prophetic Witnesses [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians]

[For Vocation in Daily Work] [For Labor Day] [For Rogation Days II]

Jan Hus, Prophetic Witness and Martyr, 1415

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For a Prophetic Witness in the Church]

Benedict of Nursia, Abbot of Monte Cassino, c. 540

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian] [Of the Holy Spirit] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry III]

14 Samson Occom, Witness to the Faith in New England, 1792 [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church] "The Righteous Gentiles" 16 [Common of a Saint] [For Social Justice] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] William White, Bishop of Pennsylvania, 1836 17 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] 18 Bartolomé de las Casas, Friar and Missionary to the Indies, 1566 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Social Justice] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] Macrina, Monastic and Teacher, 379 19 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [For All Baptized Christians] [Of the Holy Trinity] Elizabeth Cady Stanton, 1902; Amelia Bloomer, 1894; Sojourner Truth, 1883; and 20 Harriet Ross Tubman, 1913, Liberators and Prophets [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] 21 Albert John Luthuli, Prophetic Witness in South Africa, 1967 [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Saint] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness] John Cassian, Abbot at Marseilles, 433 23 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Spirit] [Of the Incarnation] Thomas à Kempis, Priest, 1471 24 [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Incarnation] 26 Joachim and Anne, Parents of the Blessed Virgin Mary [Common of a Saint] [Common of the Blessed Virgin Mary, Godbearer] 26 Charles Raymond Barnes, 1938 [Common of a Martyr][Common of a Pastor][Of the Holy Cross] William Reed Huntington, Priest, 1909 27 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry III] Johann Sebastian Bach, 1750, George Frederick Handel, 1759, and Henry Purcell, 1695, Composers 28 [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers] Mary, Martha, and Lazarus of Bethany 29 [Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians] [For Vocation in Daily Work] First Ordination of Women to the Priesthood in The Episcopal Church, 1974 29 [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For the Ministry] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church] William Wilberforce, 1833, and Anthony Ashley-Cooper, Lord Shaftesbury, 1885, 30 **Prophetic Witnesses** [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Social Justice] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

Ignatius of Loyola, Priest and Monastic, 1556

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Spirit]

31

AUGUST

1 Joseph of Arimathea

[Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians]

2 Samuel Ferguson, Missionary Bishop for West Africa, 1916

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church] [For Education]

3 George Freeman Bragg, Jr., Priest, 1940

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For the Ministry] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church]

3 William Edward Burghardt DuBois, Sociologist, 1963

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] [For All Baptized Christians]

- Albrecht Dürer, 1528, Matthias Grünewald, 1529, and Lucas Cranach the Elder, 1553, Artists [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers]
- 7 John Mason Neale, Priest, 1866

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For Artists and Writers]

7 Catherine Winkworth, Poet, 1878

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For Artists and Writers]

8 Dominic, Priest and Friar, 1221

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Unity of the Church] [For the Mission of the Church]

9 Herman of Alaska, Missionary to the Aleut, 1837

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Mission of the Church]

10 Laurence, Deacon, and Martyr at Rome, 258

[Common of a Martyr][For Social Service][Of the Holy Cross]

11 Clare, Abbess at Assisi, 1253

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry III]

Florence Nightingale, Nurse, Social Reformer, 1910

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For the Sick] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

13 Jeremy Taylor, Bishop of Down, Connor, and Dromore, 1667

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II]

14 Jonathan Myrick Daniels, Seminarian and Martyr, 1965

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Of the Holy Cross] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

- Samuel Johnson, 1772, Timothy Cutler, 1765, and Thomas Bradbury Chandler, 1790, Priests [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry]
- 17 Baptisms of Manteo, and Virginia Dare, 1587

[Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians]

18 William Porcher DuBose, Priest, 1918

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For Education]

18 Artemisia Bowden, 1969

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] [For Education]

20 Bernard, Abbot of Clairvaux, 1153

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Incarnation]

- Martin de Porres, 1639, and Rosa de Lima, 1617, Witnesses to the Faith in South America
 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Social Service]
 [For Prophetic Witnes in the Church]
- Louis, King of France, 1270

[Common of a Saint] [For Vocation in Daily Work] [For the Nation]

Thomas Gallaudet, 1902, with Henry Winter Syle, 1890

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For the Mission of the Church] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church]

Augustine, Bishop of Hippo, and Theologian, 430

[Common of a Theologian] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For the Ministry II]

Moses the Black, Desert Father and Martyr, c. 400

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Cross] [Of the Incarnation]

29 John Bunyan, Writer, 1688

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Of Artist and Writers] [Of the Holy Spirit]

30 Charles Chapman Grafton, Bishop of Fond du Lac, and Ecumenist, 1912

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Unity fo the Church]

Aidan, 651, and Cuthbert, 687, Bishops of Lindisfarne

[Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Ministry II] [Of the Reign of Christ]

SEPTEMBER

- David Pendleton Oakerhater, Deacon and Missionary, 1931

 [Common of a Missionary] [For the Mission of the Church] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness]
- The Martyrs of New Guinea, 1942

[Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] [On the Anniversary of the Occasion of a Disaster]

4 Paul Jones, 1941

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For Peace]

4 Albert Schweitzer, 1965

[Common of a Saint] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of an Artist, Writer, or Composer] [For the Ministry III] [For the Sick] [For the Mission of the Church] [For Artists and Writers]

Gregorio Aglipay, Priest and Founder of the Philippine Independent Church, 1940

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II]

7 Elie Naud, Huguenot Witness to the Faith, 1722

[Common of a Saint] [For Social Service] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

9 Constance, Nun, and Her Companions, 1878

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Cross] [For Social Service] [For the Sick]

10 Alexander Crummell, 1898

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry] [For the Mission of the Church]

11 Harry Thacker Burleigh, Composer, 1949 [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers] John Henry Hobart, Bishop of New York, 1830 12 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For Education] John Chrysostom, Bishop of Constantinople, 407 13 [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] 15 Cyprian, Bishop and Martyr of Carthage, 258 [Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Pastor] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Cross] [For the Unity of the Church] [For the Ministry II] 15 James Chisholm, Priest, 1855 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry of the Church] [For Social Service] [For the Sick] 16 Ninian, Bishop in Galloway, c. 430 [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church] 17 Hildegard, 1179 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [For Artists and Writers] [Of the Incarnation] Edward Bouverie Pusey, Priest, 1882 18 [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Eucharist] [For the Ministry] 18 Dag Hjalmar Agne Carl Hammarskjold, 1961 [Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Saint] [Of the Holy Cross] [For All Baptized Christians] [For Peace] Theodore of Tarsus, Archbishop of Canterbury, 690 19 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] John Coleridge Patteson, Bishop of Melanesia, and his Companions, Martyrs, 1871 20 [Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church] Philander Chase, Bishop of Ohio, and of Illinois, 1852 22 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] Thecla 23 [Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] Anna Ellison Butler Alexander, 1947 24 [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] [For Social Service] Sergius, Abbot of Holy Trinity, Moscow, 1392 25 [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Trinity] 26 Lancelot Andrewes, Bishop of Winchester, 1626 [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For All Baptized Christians] 26 Wilson Carlile, Priest, 1942 [Common of a Missionary] [Of the Holy Spirit] [For the Ministry III] [For the Mission of the Church] Vincent de Paul, Religious, and Prophetic Witness, 1660 27 [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Common of a Pastor] [For Social Service]

[For Prophetic Witness in Society]

27 Thomas Traherne, Priest, 1674

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Pastor] [For Artists and Writers]

28 Richard Rolle, 1349, Walter Hilton, 1396, and Margery Kempe, c. 1440, Mystics [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Incarnation]

30 Jerome, Priest, and Monk of Bethlehem, 420

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Trinity] [Of the Reign of Christ]

OCTOBER

1 Remigius, Bishop of Rheims, c. 530

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

George Kennedy Allen Bell, Bishop of Chichester, and Ecumenist, 1958

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Unity of the Church]

3 John Raleigh Mott, Evangelist and Ecumenical Pioneer, 1955

[Common of a Saint] [For Vocation in Daily Work] [For the Unity of the Church]

4 Francis of Assisi, Friar, 1226

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher]
[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Goodness of Creation] [For Social Service]
[For Prophetic Witness in the Church]

William Tyndale, 1536, and Miles Coverdale, 1568, Translators of the Bible [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry]

[For Artists and Writers]

7 Henry Melchior Muhlenberg, Lutheran Pastor in North America, 1787 [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry]

8 William Dwight Porter Bliss, Priest, 1926, and Richard Theodore Ely, Economist, 1943

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Labor Day] [For Rogation Days II] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]

9 Wilfred Thomason Grenfell, Medical Missionary, 1940

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For Social Service] [For the Sick] [For the Mission of the Church]

10 Vida Dutton Scudder, Educator and Witness for Peace, 1954

[Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in Society] [For Peace] [For Education]

11 Philip, Deacon and Evangelist

[Common of a Missionary] [For the mission of the Church]

14 Samuel Isaac Joseph Scherechewsky, Bishop of Shanghai, 1906

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

15 Teresa of Avila, Nun, 1582

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Incarnation]

16 Hugh Latimer and Nicholas Ridley, Bishops and Martyrs, 1555

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For the Ministry II]

17 Ignatius, Bishop of Antioch, and Martyr, c. 115

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross] [For the Ministry II]

19 Henry Martyn, Priest, and Missionary to India and Persia, 1812 [Common of a Missionary] [For the Mission of the Church]

24 Hiram Hisanori Kano, 1988

[Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Spirit] [For Reconciliation and Forgiveness] [For Peace]

Alfred the Great, King of the West Saxons, 899

[Common of a Saint] [For Vocation in Daily Work] [For the Nation]

James Hannington, Bishop of Eastern Equatorial Africa, and his Companions, Martyrs, 1885

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Cross]

[For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

30 John Wyclif, Priest and Prophetic Witness, 1384

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in the Church]

Paul Shinji Sasaki, Bishop of Mid-Japan, and of Tokyo, 1946, and Philip Lindel Tsen, Bishop of Honan, China, 1954

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church] [For Peace]

NOVEMBER

2 Commemoration of All Faithful Departed [For the Departed]

3 Richard Hooker, Priest, 1600

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Trinity]

6 William Temple, Archbishop of Canterbury, 1944

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II]

7 Willibrord, Archbishop of Utrecht, Missionary to Frisia, 739

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

10 Leo the Great, Bishop of Rome, 461

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Holy Trinity] [For the Ministry II]

11 Martin, Bishop of Tours, 397

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Pastor] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry II]

12 Charles Simeon, Priest, 1836

[Common of a Missionary] [For the Mission of the Church]

14 Samuel Seabury, First American Bishop, 1796

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II]

15 Francis Asbury, 1816, and George Whitefield, 1770, Evangelists

[Common of a Missionary] [For the Mission of the Church]

16 Margaret, Queen of Scotland, 1093

[Common of a Saint] [For Vocation in Daily Work] [For Social Service]

17 Hugh, 1200, and Robert Grosseteste, 1253, Bishops of Lincoln

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II]

Hilda, Abbess of Whitby, 680

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Incarnation]

19 Elizabeth, Princess of Hungary, 1231

[Common of a Saint] [For Vocation in Daily Work] [For Social Service]

20 Edmund, King of East Anglia, 870

[Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross]

21 William Byrd, 1623, John Merbecke, 1585, and Thomas Tallis, 1585, Musicians

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers]

22 Cecilia, Martyr at Rome, c. 280

[Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross] [For Artists and Writers]

22 Clive Staples Lewis, Apologist and Spiritual Writer, 1963

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers]

23 Clement, Bishop of Rome, c. 100

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Bishop] [Of the Holy Cross] [For the Ministry II]

James Otis Sargent Huntington, Priest and Monk, 1935

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry III]

26 Isaac Watts, Hymnwriter, 1748

[Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers]

28 Kamehameha and Emma, King and Queen of Hawaii, 1864, 1885

[Common of a Saint] [For All Baptized Christians] [For Vocation in Daily Work]

DECEMBER

1 Nicholas Ferrar, Deacon, 1637

[Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Trinity]

1 Charles de Foucauld, Hermit and Martyr in the Sahara, 1916

[Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Cross] [Of the Incarnation]

2 Channing Moore Williams, Missionary Bishop in China and Japan, 1910

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

Francis Xavier, Missionary to the Far East, 1552

[Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [For the Mission of the Church]

4 John of Damascus, Priest, c. 760

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Trinity]

5 Clement of Alexandria, Priest, c. 210

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Of the Holy Spirit] [Of the Incarnation] [For All Baptized Christians]

6 Nicholas, Bishop of Myra, c. 342

[Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For Social Service]

7 Ambrose, Bishop of Milan, 397

[Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Pastor] [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For the Ministry II] [For Artists and Writers]

- 8 Richard Baxter, Pastor and Writer, 1691
 - [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers]
- 10 Thomas Merton, Contemplative and Writer, 1968
 - [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Incarnation] [For the Ministry III]
- 13 Lucy (Lucia), Martyr at Syracuse, 304
 - [Common of a Martyr] [Of the Holy Cross]
- Juan de la Cruz (John of the Cross), Mystic, 1591
 - [Common of a Theologian and Teacher] [Common of a Monastic or Professed Religious] [Of the Holy Spirit] [Of the Incarnation]
- Ralph Adams Cram, 1942, and Richard Upjohn, 1878, Architects, and John LaFarge, Artist, 1910 [Common of an Arist, Writer, or Composer] [For Artists and Writers]
 - [On the Anniversary of the Dedication of a Church]
- 17 Maria Stewart, 1879, Prophetic Witness
 - [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]
- Henry Budd, Priest, 1875
 - [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Mission of the Church]
- 29 Thomas Becket, 1170
 - [Common of a Martyr] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [Of the Holy Cross]
- 30 Frances Joseph Gaudet, Educator and Prison Reformer, 1934
 - [Common of a Prophetic Witness] [For Social Service] [For Education] [For Prophetic Witness in Society]
- 31 Samuel Ajayi Crowther, Bishop in the Niger Territories, 1891
 - [Common of a Missionary] [Common of a Pastor] [For the Ministry II] [For the Mission of the Church]

c. Appendix

There are people worthy of commemoration who do not qualify under the "reasonable passage of time" guideline. The method of appointing General Convention Legislative Committees and Interim Bodies tends to encourage short-term corporate memory. We believe that these people should remain in the Church's memory even though they do not currently meet all of the criteria for additions. We hope that they will be given serious consideration in the future, and we encourage local and regional commemorations to continue (it has been the Church's custom, since the second century, to commemorate Christians on the anniversary of their death). The following list is intended to be representative rather than exhaustive.

Date of Death	Commemoration
January 23, 1993	Thomas A. Dorsey, composer/musician
January 25, 1999 and September 25, 1995	Sadie Louise Delaney and Annie Elizabeth "Bessie" Delaney, lay women, lives of service
March 2, 1985	William Stringfellow, lawyer
March 8, 2000	Carmen St. John Hunter, educator, missionary, executive
April 23, 1993	Cesar Chavez, labor leader
May 29, 1992	Ruby Middleton Forsythe, educator and founder, Faith Memorial School, Pawley's Island, South Carolina

REPORTS TO THE 78TH GENERAL CONVENTION: SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS

May 30, 2002 Suzanne Radley Hiatt, priest

June 27, 1985 Marion Kelleran, seminary faculty
July 13, 1975 Laurence Clifton Jones, educator

July 19, 1997 John Hines, Presiding Bishop

August 16, 2005 Frère Roger Schütz, founder of Taizé

August 21, 1994 Tan Sri John Savarimuthu, Bishop of Western Malaysia

August 22, 1996 Alicia "Cristina" Rivera, OSH, monastic

August 24, 1986 Cynthia Clark Wedel, ecumenist (NCCC and WCC)

September 6, 2007 Allen Crite, artist

September 10, 1976 Mordecai Johnson, educator September 15, 1990 Dora P. Chaplin, theologian

October 3, 2006 Alberto Ramento, Obispo Maximo, Philippine Independent Church

October 10, 1971 Isabelo de los Reyes, Jr., Obispo Maximo, Philippine Independent Church

October 23, 1983 Cyril Lakshman Wickremesinghe, Bishop of Kuranagala, Sri Lanka

October 29, 1969 Clarence Jordan, evangelist

November 4, 1997 Marianne H. Micks, theologian

November 22, 1990 Benito Cabanban, first Prime Bishop, Episcopal Church in the Philippines

December 29, 1968 Austin Farrer, theologian

III. Guidelines for Continuing Alteration of the Calendar

a. Criteria for Additions to A Great Cloud of Witnesses

As indicated above, A *Great Cloud of Witnesses* offers a wide and diverse collection of people from across Christian history and the Episcopal story. As our common life continues to unfold, new names will need to be added. These criteria provide guidelines for how these additions will be considered.

Criterion 1: Historicity

Christianity is a radically historical religion, so in almost every instance it is not theological realities or spiritual movements but exemplary witness to the Gospel of Christ in lives actually lived that is remembered in our family story. Like all families, however, our family includes important matriarchs and patriarchs about whom little verifiable is known, yet whose names and stories still exert influence on how we understand ourselves in relation to them.

Criterion 2: Christian Discipleship

The family story captured here is uniquely and identifiably a Christian story. This set of stories commemorates the ways particular Christians live out the promises of baptism. A worthy summary of these promises is captured in our Baptismal Covenant, including a commitment to the Triune God as captured in the Apostles' Creed; continuing in the apostles' teaching and fellowship, the breaking of bread and the prayers; resisting evil and repenting when necessary; proclaiming by word and example the Good News of God in Christ; seeking and serving Christ in all persons; and striving for justice and peace among all people. Rather than being an anachronistic checklist, these should be considered general guidelines for considering holistic Christian life and practice. There may be occasional exceptional cases where not all of these promises are successfully kept, or when the person in question is not a Christian, yet the person's life and work still has a significant impact on the life of the Church and contributes to our fuller understanding of the Gospel.

Criterion 3: Significance

Those remembered should have been in their lifetime extraordinary, even heroic servants of God and God's people for the sake, and after the example, of Jesus Christ. They may also be people whose creative work or whose manner of life has glorified God, enriched the life of the Church, or led others to a deeper understanding of God. In their varied ways, those remembered have revealed Christ's presence in, and Lordship over, all of history, and continue to inspire us as we carry forward God's mission in the world.

Criterion 4: Range of Inclusion

Particular attention should be paid to Episcopalians and other members of the Anglican Communion. Attention should also be paid to the inclusion of people of different genders and races, of laypeople (witnessing in this way to our baptismal understanding of the Church), and of ecumenical partners and people who have had their own distinctive influence upon us. In addition to the better known, it is important also to include those "whose memory may have faded in the shifting fashions of public concern, but whose witness is deemed important to the life and mission of the Church" (Thomas Talley).

Criterion 5: Local Observance

Normally, significant remembrance of a particular person already exists within the Church at the local and regional levels before that person is included in the Church's larger story. This will be documented following the procedures detailed below.

Criterion 6: Perspective

The introduction of new names should be done with a certain economy lest the balance of the whole be overwhelmed. In the cases of the recently departed — particularly in the case of controversial names — care should be given to seeing them from the perspective of history. Names added should show a broad influence upon the Church and result from a widespread desire expressed across the Church over a reasonable period of time.

Criterion 7: Combined Remembrances

Not all those included need to be remembered "in isolation." Where there are close and natural links between persons to be remembered, a joint commemoration would make excellent sense (for example, the Reformation martyrs, Latimer and Ridley; and two bishops of Lincoln, Robert Grosseteste and Hugh).

b. Procedures for Local Calendars and Memorials

Local and regional commemoration normally occurs for many years prior to church-wide recognition.

The Book of Common Prayer (pp. 13, 18, 195, and 246) permits memorials not listed in the Calendar, provides collects and readings for them (the Common of Saints), and recognizes the bishop's authority to set forth devotions for occasions for which no prayer or service has been provided by the Prayer Book. Although the Prayer Book does not require the bishop's permission to use the Common of Saints for memorials not included in the Calendar, it would seem appropriate that the bishop's consent be requested.

While these guidelines cannot provide procedures for initiating local, diocesan, or regional memorials that would govern all such commemorations, this process is suggested:

- A. A congregation, diocese, or other community or organization establishes a memorial for a specific day, using the above criteria to guide the decision.
- B. A collect is appointed from the Common of Saints or composed, perhaps in consultation with the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music or the diocesan or parish liturgical commission. Suitable tags indicating relevant virtues, charisms, and Commons may also be indicated if desired. A brief description of the person or group is written, in accord with these Guidelines and Procedures.
- C. The congregation, diocese, province, or organization proceeds to keep the memorial.
- D. Those interested in promoting a wider commemoration begin to share these materials with others, suggesting that they also adopt the memorial. If at some time it is desired to propose a local commemoration for church-wide recognition, documented evidence of the spread and duration of local commemoration is essential to include in the proposal to the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music.

Some commemorations, perhaps many, will remain local, diocesan, or regional in character. This in no way reduces their importance to those who revere and seek to keep alive the memory of beloved and faithful witnesses to Christ.

c. Procedures for Church-Wide Recognition

All requests for consideration of individuals or groups to be included in A Great Cloud of Witnesses shall be submitted to the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music for evaluation and subsequent recommendation to the next General Convention for acceptance or rejection (cf. Resolution A119s of the 1991 General Convention).

Each proposal must include:

- a. A detailed rationale for commemoration based on the "Criteria for Additions to A *Great Cloud of Witnesses*" (above) and demonstrating how this person manifests Christ and would enhance the devotional life of the Church;
- b. An inspirational 350-word biographical sketch of the person to be commemorated, preferably including some of the person's own words;
- c. Information concerning the spread and duration of local or international commemoration of this individual or group;
- d. Suggested collect and readings.

A. Proposals must be received by the Chair of the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music no fewer than 18 months prior to the next General Convention.

- B. The chair of the Calendar Committee of the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music will communicate with:
 - 1. Organizations submitting proposed commemorations;
 - 2. The Secretary of the General Convention regarding names and addresses of any groups applying for exhibit space in order to present to Convention delegates a potential addition to A Great Cloud of Witnesses;
 - 3. The chairs of the Cognate Committees on Prayer Book, Liturgy, and Music, in order to facilitate the review of submissions.

C. The Calendar Committee of the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music will arrange for:

- 1. Submission of appropriate resolutions to General Convention;
- 2. Publication of same in the Blue Book;
- 3. Distribution of pertinent materials to members of the Cognate Committees on Prayer Book, Liturgy, and Music, as may be needed;
- 4. Preparation of materials for A Great Cloud of Witnesses.

Dioceses, bishops, and deputies are always able to submit a proposal for a new commemoration directly to the General Convention. Such proposals are commonly referred to the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music for evaluation during the following triennium; only on very rare occasions has the General Convention approved a new commemoration that has not first been reviewed by the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music.

d. Procedures to Remove Commemorations from A Great Cloud of Witnesses

A commemoration may be removed from A *Great Cloud of Witnesses* by the same procedure by which one is added, namely, by proposal to the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music or directly to the General Convention. Proposed deletions of commemorations must be forwarded to the Chair of the Standing Commission on Liturgy and Music no fewer than 18 months prior to the next General Convention.

IV. The Common of Saints and Propers for Various Occasions

The festival of a saint is observed in accordance with the rules of precedence set forth in the Calendar of the Church Year (BCP, 15-18).

At the discretion of the Celebrant, and as appropriate, any of the following Collects and any of the following Scripture lessons may be used

- a. At the commemoration of a saint recognized by the worshipping community for which no Proper is provided in the Book of Common Prayer;
- b. At the patronal festival or commemoration of a saint not listed in the Calendar.

For the commemoration of individuals drawn from A Great Cloud of Witnesses, the tags offer guidance as to which propers may be most appropriate. Material may be chosen across categories to fit the individual and circumstances being celebrated.

a. Common of Martyrs

Of a Martyr I

- O Almighty God, who didst give to thy servant *N*. boldness to confess the Name of our Savior Jesus Christ before the rulers of this world, and courage to die for this faith: Grant that we may always be ready to give a reason for the hope that is in us, and to suffer gladly for the sake of the same our Lord Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen*.
- II Almighty God, who gave to your servant *N*. boldness to confess the Name of our Savior Jesus Christ before the rulers of this world, and courage to die for this faith: Grant that we may always be ready to give a reason for the hope that is in us, and to suffer gladly for the sake of our Lord Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen.*

Of a Martyr II

- O Almighty God, by whose grace and power thy holy martyr N. triumphed over suffering and was faithful even unto death: Grant us, who now remember him with thanksgiving, to be so faithful in our witness to thee in this world, that we may receive with him the crown of life; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- Almighty God, by whose grace and power your holy martyr N. triumphed over suffering and was faithful even to death: Grant us, who now remember him in thanksgiving, to be so faithful in our witness to you in this world, that we may receive with him the crown of life; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Of a Martyr III

- Almighty and everlasting God, who didst enkindle the flame of thy love in the heart of thy holy martyr N.: Grant to us, thy humble servants, a like faith and power of love, that we who rejoice in her triumph may profit by her example; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- Almighty and everlasting God, who kindled the flame of your love in the heart of your holy martyr N.: Grant to us, your humble servants, a like faith and power of love, that we who rejoice in her triumph may profit by her example; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
2 Esdras 2:42-48	31:1-5	Romans 12:14-21	Matthew 5:1-12
Daniel 3:13–25	44:20-26	2 Corinthians 6:2b–10	Matthew 10:16-22
Daniel 6:10–16	116 or 116:1-8	2 Timothy 2:8–13; 3:10–12	Matthew 24:9–14
Habakkuk 2:9–14	121	Hebrews 10:32–36	Mark 8:34-38
Isaiah 44:21–26a	124	1 Peter 3:14–18,22	John 12:20–26
Isaiah 53:8–12	126	1 Peter 4:12–19	Luke 6:17-23
Jeremiah 12:1–3a		James 1:2–12	Luke 12:2–12
Jeremiah 15:15–21		Revelation 6:9–11	Luke 14:26-33
Job 16:6–10		Revelation 7:13–17	Luke 21:9–19
Sirach (Ecclesiasticus) 51:1–12		Revelation 12:7–12	John 15:1–7

Prefaces

Preface of a Saint Preface of Holy Week

b. Common of Missionaries

Of a Missionary I

- Almighty and everlasting God, we thank thee for thy servant N., whom thou didst call to preach the Gospel to the people of ______ (or to the ______ people). Raise up, we beseech thee, in this and every land evangelists and heralds of thy kingdom, that thy Church may proclaim the unsearchable riches of our Savior Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- Almighty and everlasting God, we thank you for your servant N., whom you called to preach the Gospel to the people of ______ (or to the ______ people). Raise up in this and every land evangelists and heralds of your kingdom, that your Church may proclaim the unsearchable riches of our Savior Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Of a Missionary II

Almighty God, who willest to be glorified in thy saints, and didst raise up thy servant *N*. to be a light in the world: Shine, we pray thee, in our hearts, that we also in our generation may show forth thy praise, who hast called us out of darkness into thy marvelous light; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. *Amen*.

Almighty God, whose will it is to be glorified in your saints, and who raised up your servant *N*. to be a light in the world: Shine, we pray, in our hearts, that we also in our generation may show forth your praise, who called us out of darkness into your marvelous light; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. *Amen*.

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
Exodus 3:7-12	67	Acts 1:1-9	Matthew 5:13-16
Isaiah 2:2–5	98 or 98:1-4	Acts 17:22-31	Matthew 9:35-38
Isaiah 49:1-6	96 or 96:1-7	Romans 10:12–17	Matthew 28:16–20
Isaiah 49:22–23	97 or 97:1-9	1 Corinthians 9:19–23	Mark 1:14-20
Isaiah 52:7–10	100	1 Corinthians 12:1—11	Mark 4:1-9
Isaiah 60:1-7	102:12-22	Ephesians 2:13–18	Luke 8:11-15
Jeremiah 1:4–8		1 Thessalonians 2:2b-12	Luke 10:1-9
Ezekiel 36:22–27		2 Timothy 1:8–14	John 1:29–34
Micah 4:1-5		1 John 1:1–4	John 4:34-38
Wisdom 13:1–5		Revelation 22:1–6	John 17:5–13

Prefaces

Preface of Pentecost Preface of Apostles

c. Common of Pastors

Of a Pastor I

- O heavenly Father, Shepherd of thy people, we give thee thanks for thy servant N., who was faithful in the care and nurture of thy flock; and we pray that, following his example and the teaching of his holy life, we may by thy grace grow into the stature of the fullness of our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- Heavenly Father, Shepherd of your people, we thank you for your servant *N.*, who was faithful in the care and nurture of your flock; and we pray that, following *his* example and the teaching of *his* holy life, we may by your grace grow into the stature of the fullness of our Lord and Savior Jesus Christ; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen.*

Of a Pastor II

- O God, our heavenly Father, who didst raise up thy faithful servant *N*. to be a [bishop and] pastor in thy Church and to feed thy flock: Give abundantly to all pastors the gifts of thy Holy Spirit, that they may minister in thy household as true servants of Christ and stewards of thy divine mysteries; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the same Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen*.
- O God, our heavenly Father, who raised up your faithful servant *N.*, to be a [bishop and] pastor in your Church and to feed your flock: Give abundantly to all pastors the gifts of your Holy Spirit, that they may minister in your household as true servants of Christ and stewards of your divine mysteries; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen.*

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
Exodus 28:15,21,29-30	23	Acts 20:17-35	Matthew 11:1-6
Deuteronomy 15:7–11	42 or 42:1-5	Romans 12:4–13	Matthew 24:42-47
Deuteronomy 26:16–19	84 or 84:7-11	1 Corinthians 12:27–31	Matthew 25:14-21
1 Kings 8:54–62	110 or 110:1-4	Galatians 5:22-6:2	Mark 9:33-37
Proverbs 3:1–2, 5–8	112	Ephesians 2:19–22	Mark 10:13-16
Ecclesiastes 3:1–11	115 or 115:1-2, 9-13	Ephesians 3:14-21	Luke 5:27-31
Isaiah 49:8–13		1 Thessalonians 5:13b–24	Luke 12:35-44
Ezekiel 34:11-16		2 Timothy 1:3-7	Luke 14:1,7-14
Amos 5:14-15		1 Peter 5:1-4	John 15:12–17
Malachi 2:4–7		1 John 4:13–21	John 21:15-17

Preface of a Saint
Preface of a Dedication of a Church

d. Common of Theologians and Teachers

Of a Theologian and Teacher I

- O God, who by thy Holy Spirit dost give to some the word of wisdom, to others the word of knowledge, and to others the word of faith: We praise thy Name for the gifts of grace manifested in thy servant N., and we pray that thy Church may never be destitute of such gifts; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with thee and the same Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- O God, by your Holy Spirit you give to some the word of wisdom, to others the word of knowledge, and to others the word of faith: We praise your Name for the gifts of grace manifested in your servant N., and we pray that your Church may never be destitute of such gifts; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Of a Theologian and Teacher II

- O Almighty God, who didst give to thy servant *N*. special gifts of grace to understand and teach the truth as it is in Christ Jesus: Grant, we beseech thee, that by this teaching we may know thee, the one true God, and Jesus Christ whom thou hast sent; who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen*.
- II Almighty God, you gave to your servant *N.* special gifts of grace to understand and teach the truth as it is in Christ Jesus: Grant that by this teaching we may know you, the one true God, and Jesus Christ whom you have sent; who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen.*

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
Exodus 33:14-23	34:11-18	Acts 8:26-31	Matthew 5:17-20
Nehemiah 8:1–3,5–8	66:16-20	Romans 9:18–26	Matthew 11:25-30
Proverbs 3:1–7	86:8–13	1 Corinthians 2:6–10,13–16	Matthew 13:47-52
Proverbs 9:1–10	119:1–8	1 Corinthians 3:5–11	Matthew 18:10-14
Proverbs 23:15–19	119:89–96	Ephesians 1:3-10	Matthew 19:13-15
Song of Solomon 3:1–4	119:97–104	Colossians 1:11–20	Luke 7:31-35
Isaiah 42:5–9		Colossians 2:2-12	John 6:60-69
Wisdom 10:9–14		2 Tim 4:1-5	John 12:44–50
Wisdom 7:7–14		1 Peter 1:10-16	John 16:7–15
Sirach (Ecclesiasticus) 14:20–2	27	1 John 1:5–2:2	John 17:18–23

Preface of a Saint
Preface of Trinity Sunday
Preface of the Incarnation

e. Common of Monastics and Professed Religious

Of a Monastic I

- O God, whose blessed Son became poor that we through his poverty might be rich: Deliver us, we pray thee, from an inordinate love of this world, that, inspired by the devotion of thy servant N., we may serve thee with singleness of heart, and attain to the riches of the age to come; through the same thy Son Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee, in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- O God, whose blessed Son became poor that we through his poverty might be rich: Deliver us from an inordinate love of this world, that we, inspired by the devotion of your servant *N.*, may serve you with singleness of heart, and attain to the riches of the age to come; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you, in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. *Amen.*

Of a Monastic II

- O God, by whose grace thy servant N., enkindled with the fire of thy love, became a burning and a shining light in thy Church: Grant that we also may be aflame with the spirit of love and discipline, and may ever walk before thee as children of light; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who with thee, in the unity of the Holy Spirit, liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- O God, by whose grace your servant N., kindled with the flame of your love, became a burning and a shining light in your Church: Grant that we also may be aflame with the spirit of love and discipline, and walk before you as children of light; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you, in the unity of the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
2 Samuel 22:22–29	34 or 34:1-8	Acts 2:42–47a	Matthew 6:24-33
1 Kings 19:9–12	45	Romans 5:1-5	Matthew 11:7-11
Song of Songs 4:12–16	119:161–168	Romans 12:1–2	Matthew 12:46-50
Song of Songs 8:6-7	122	1 Corinthians 9:24–27	Mark 10:17-21
Proverbs 2:1–11	133	2 Corinthians 6:1–10	Mark 12:28-34a
Proverbs 4:1–9	134	Philippians 3:7–15	Luke 9:57-62
Proverbs 7:1–4		Colossians 4:2–6	Luke 12:33-37
Job 22:21–28		2 Peter 1:3-11	John 6:34-38
Sirach (Ecclesiasticus) 39:1–10		1 John 2:15–17	John 12:27–36
Sirach (Ecclesiasticus) 51:13–22		1 John 5:1–5	John 16:25–33

Preface of a Saint Preface of Lent 2 Preface of Epiphany

f. Common of Saints

Of a Saint I

- O Almighty God, who hast compassed us about with so great a cloud of witnesses: Grant that we, encouraged by the good example of thy servant *N.*, may persevere in running the race that is set before us, until at length, through thy mercy, we may with *him* attain to thine eternal joy; through Jesus Christ, the author and perfecter of our faith, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen.*
- Almighty God, you have surrounded us with a great cloud of witnesses: Grant that we, encouraged by the good example of your servant N., may persevere in running the race that is set before us, until at last we may with him attain to your eternal joy; through Jesus Christ, the pioneer and perfecter of our faith, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Of a Saint II

- O God, who hast brought us near to an innumerable company of angels and to the spirits of just men made perfect: Grant us during our earthly pilgrimage to abide in their fellowship, and in our heavenly country to become partakers of their joy; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- O God, you have brought us near to an innumerable company of angels, and to the spirits of just men made perfect: Grant us during our earthly pilgrimage to abide in their fellowship, and in our heavenly country to become partakers of their joy; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Of a Saint III

O Almighty God, who by thy Holy Spirit hast made us one with thy saints in heaven and on earth: Grant that in our earthly pilgrimage we may ever be supported by this fellowship of

love and prayer, and may know ourselves to be surrounded by their witness to thy power and mercy. We ask this for the sake of Jesus Christ, in whom all our intercessions are acceptable through the Spirit, and who liveth and reigneth for ever and ever. Amen.

Il Almighty God, by your Holy Spirit you have made us one with your saints in heaven and on earth: Grant that in our earthly pilgrimage we may always be supported by this fellowship of love and prayer, and know ourselves to be surrounded by their witness to your power and mercy. We ask this for the sake of Jesus Christ, in whom all our intercessions are acceptable through the Spirit, and who lives and reigns for ever and ever. Amen.

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
Deuteronomy 6:3–9	1	Romans 8:26–30	Matthew 7:21-27
2 Samuel 23:2-5	15	1 Corinthians 1:26–31	Matthew 13:44-46
Proverbs 31:13–22, 24–26	34 or 34:15-22	2 Corinthians 1:3–7	Matthew 25:1–13
Isaiah 40:27–31	111	Galatians 3:23–29	Matthew 25:31-40
Isaiah 43:16–21	130	Philippians 3:17–21	Mark 3:31-35
Lamentations 3:25–36	131	Philippians 4:4–9	Luke 6:17-23
Micah 6:6–8		Hebrews 12:1–2	Luke 6:27–36
Sirach (Ecclesiasticus) 2:7–11		1 Peter 1:3-9	John 10:25–30
Wisdom 3:1–9		Revelation 7:9–12	John 13:31–35
Wisdom 9:7–12		Revelation 19:4–9	John 14:8–14

Prefaces

Preface of a Saint Preface for All Saints Preface of Baptism

g. Common of Artists, Writers, and Composers

Of an Artist, Writer, or Composer

- Eternal God, light of the world and Creator of all that is good and lovely: We bless thy name for inspiring [N. and] all those who, with images and music and words, hath filled us with desire and love for thee; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- II Eternal God, light of the world and Creator of all that is good and lovely: We bless your name for inspiring [N. and] all those who with images and music and words have filled us with desire and love for you; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
Exodus 35:1-5a,24-29	45:1-7	2 Corinthians 3:1–3	Matthew 7:24-29
1 Kings 7:13–14, 40b–45	47	Ephesians 2:17–22	Luke 2:8–14
1 Chronicles 15:16,19–25,28	90 or 90:14-17	Colossians 2:1–7	John 21:15–17,24–25
1 Chronicles 29:14b–19	96 or 96:1-7	Revelation 15:1–4	
1 Chronicles 25:1a, 6–8	118:19-29		
2 Chronicles 7:1–6	150		

Preface of Artists, Writers, and Composers

- Because in the beauty of holiness thou hast called us to worship thee; and hast given faithful artists, writers, and composers to illumine our prayer from age to age.
- II Because in the beauty of holiness you call us to worship you, and you have given faithful artists, writers, and composers to illumine our prayer from age to age.

h. Common of the Blessed Virgin Mary, Godbearer

Of the Blessed Virgin Mary I

- Almighty God, by thy saving grace thou didst call Mary of Nazareth to be the mother of thine only Son: inspire us by the same grace to follow her example of bearing God to the world. We pray through Jesus Christ her Son, our Savior. Amen.
- Almighty God, of your saving grace you called Mary of Nazareth to be the mother of your only begotten Son: Inspire us by the same grace to follow her example of bearing God to the world. We pray through Jesus Christ her Son, our Savior. *Amen.*

Of the Blessed Virgin Mary II

- Holy God, we magnify thy Name for calling the blessed Virgin Mary to bear thy Word of hope to the poor, the hungry, and those who have no voice: Give unto us thy grace and strength, that we might proclaim thy Good News in every age, with every tongue; through Jesus Christ our Savior, in the power of thy Holy Spirit. *Amen.*
- Holy God, we magnify your Name for calling the blessed Virgin Mary to bear your Word of hope to the poor, the hungry, and those who have no voice: Give us grace and strength to proclaim your Good News in every age, with every tongue; through Jesus Christ our Savior, in the power of your Holy Spirit. Amen.

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
Isaiah 43:9–13,19a	34:1-8	1 Corinthians 1:26–31	Luke 1:42-45

Prefaces

Preface of the Blessed Virgin Mary

- I Because even as blessed Mary didst consent to become Godbearer for the world, thou hast called us to bear thy Word to all whom our lives touch.
- II Because as blessed Mary consented to become Godbearer for the world, you call us to bear your Word to all whom our lives touch.

i. Common of Prophetic Witnesses

Of a Prophetic Witness in the Church

- Gracious Father, we pray for thy holy Catholic Church. Fill it with all truth, in all truth with all peace. Where it is corrupt, purify it; where it is in error, direct it; where in anything it is amiss, reform it. Where it is right, strengthen it; where it is in want, provide for it; where it is divided, reunite it; for the sake of Jesus Christ thy Son our Savior, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, now and for ever. Amen.
- II Gracious Father, we pray for your holy Catholic Church. Fill it with all truth, in all truth with all peace. Where it is corrupt, purify it; where it is in error, direct it; where in anything it is amiss, reform it. Where it is right, strengthen it; where it is in want, provide for it; where it is divided, reunite it; for the sake of Jesus Christ your Son our Savior, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Of a Prophetic Witness in Society

- I Almighty God, whose prophets hath taught us righteousness in the care of thy poor: By the guidance of thy Holy Spirit, grant that we may do justice, love mercy, and walk humbly in thy sight; through Jesus Christ, our Judge and Redeemer, who liveth and reigneth with thee and the same Spirit, ever one God. Amen.
- II Almighty God, whose prophets taught us righteousness in the care of your poor: By the guidance of your Holy Spirit, grant that we may do justice, love mercy, and walk humbly in your sight; through Jesus Christ, our Judge and Redeemer, who lives and reigns with you and the same Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Old Testament	Psalm	New Testament	Gospel
Exodus 22:21–27	2:1-2,10-12	Acts 14:14-17,21-23	Matthew 10:40-42
Numbers 11:26–29	12:1-7	Acts 22:30-23:10	Matthew 11:2-6
2 Chronicles 28:8–15	72:1-4, 12-14	1 Corinthians 13:1–13	Matthew 21:12–16
Isaiah 55:11–56:1	103:6-14	Galatians 4:3-7	Mark 4:21–29
Jeremiah 22:1–4	113	Ephesians 6:10-20	Luke 4:14-21
Jeremiah 26:12–15	126	James 2:1–8	Luke 11:5-10
Ezekiel 22:23–30		James 2:14–17	Luke 13:10-17
Ezekiel 34:1–6,20–22		2 Peter 1:16-21	Luke 18:1-8
Amos 7:10-15		1 John 3:11–17	John 8:30-32
Wisdom 5:15–20		1 John 4:16b–21	John 17:1-5

Prefaces

Preface of a Prophetic Witness in the Church

- For thou dost cleanse and renew thy Church by the witness of thy saints, calling people in every age to holiness of life through the indwelling of thy Holy Spirit.
- If For you cleanse and renew your Church by the witness of your saints, calling people in every age to holiness of life through the indwelling of your Holy Spirit.

Preface of a Prophetic Witness in Society

- Because in every age thou hast called brave souls to proclaim righteousness for the transformation of the world, that all may welcome the coming of thy holy reign.
- II Because in every age you have called brave souls to proclaim righteousness for the transformation of the world, that all may welcome the coming of your holy reign.

Preface of God the Holy Spirit

j. Common of Scientists and Environmentalists

Of a Scientist or Environmentalist

- I God of grace and glory, thou didst create and sustain the universe in majesty and beauty: We thank you for [N. and] all in whom thou hast planted the desire to know thy creation and to explore thy work and wisdom. Lead us, like them, to understand better the wonder and mystery of creation; through Christ thy eternal Word, through whom all things were made. Amen.
- II God of grace and glory, you create and sustain the universe in majesty and beauty: We thank you for [N. and] all in whom you have planted the desire to know your creation and to explore your work and wisdom. Lead us, like them, to understand better the wonder and mystery of creation; through Christ your eternal Word, through whom all things were made. Amen.

2 Kings 2:19–22 19:1–6 Ephesians 1:17–23 John 20:24–27 Exodus 15:22–26 34:8–14 Revelation 1:7–8,12–16 Ezekiel 36:33–38 50:1–15 Sirach (Ecclesiasticus) 1:1–10 104 or 104:1–25 Job 26:1–14 Wisdom 7:15–22 1 Kings 4:29–34 Job 28:1–12 Job 38:1–11	Exodus 15:22–26 Ezekiel 36:33–38 Sirach (Ecclesiasticus) 1:1–10 Job 26:1–14 Wisdom 7:15–22 1 Kings 4:29–34 Job 28:1–12	34:8–14 50:1–15	•	Gospel John 15:1–8 John 20:24–27
--	--	--------------------	---	--

Prefaces

Preface of Scientists and Environmentalists

- Because thou dost inspire us to seek thy face in the wonders of thy creation, and revealest thy work, that thy people may rejoice in thy many gifts.
- II Because you inspire us to seek your face in the wonders of your creation, and you reveal your work, so that your people may rejoice in your many gifts.

Preface of God the Father Preface of the Epiphany

k. Various Occasions from The Book of Common Prayer

(BCP, pp. 199-210, 251-261, 927-931)

I. New Propers for Various Occasions

For the Care of God's Creation

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 731)

For the Goodness of God's Creation

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 732)

On the Occasion of a Disaster

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 733)

On the Anniversary of a Disaster

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 734)

For Reconciliation and Forgiveness

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 737)

For Scientists and Environmentalists

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 738)

For Space Exploration

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 739)

Weekday Eucharistic Propers 2015

Table of Contents

- 1. Introduction: Weekday Eucharists and the Calendar
- 2. The Temporal Cycle: Seasons of the Church Year
 - a. Weekdays of Advent and Christmas until the Baptism of Christ
 - b. Weekdays of Lent
 - c. Holy Week
 - d. Easter Week
 - e. Weekdays of Easter
 - f. Ordinary Time (the Seasons after Epiphany and Pentecost): A Two-Year Weekday Eucharistic Lectionary
 - g. Six-Week Lectionary with Themes and Collects
- 3. The Sanctoral Cycle: Commemorations of Saints
 - a. Common of Saints from the Book of Common Prayer
 - b. New Commons of Saints
- 4. Various Occasions
 - a. Various Occasions from the Book of Common Prayer
 - b. New Propers for Various Occasions

1. Introduction:

Weekday Eucharists and the Calendar

In the section entitled, "Concerning the Service of the Church," the Book of Common Prayer identifies the normative services of The Episcopal Church:

The Holy Eucharist, the principal act of Christian worship on the Lord's Day and other major Feasts, and Daily Morning and Evening Prayer, as set forth in this book, are the regular services appointed for public worship in the Church. (BCP, 13)

Eucharistic propers (collects, Scripture readings, and proper prefaces) are provided in the Book of Common Prayer for the days when the Eucharist is the principal service. The Calendar section at the front of the Prayer Book identifies these eucharistic feasts by placing them into three categories, ranked by priority: Principal Feasts, Sundays, and Holy Days. Normatively, on all other days, Morning and Evening Prayer are the Church's official public services. However, as celebration of the Eucharist has become more frequent, many congregations and other communities of faith now celebrate weekday Eucharists on days for which the Prayer Book does not assign propers.

The Prayer Book provides a range of possible options for the celebration of the Eucharist on these ferial or non-feast days. These options include the celebration of:

- a Major Feast that has fallen elsewhere in the week (BCP, 17);
- a commemoration listed in the Calendar (BCP, 18);
- a commemoration not appointed in the Church's Calendar by using the Common of Saints (BCP, 18);
- an Ember Day or Rogation Day (BCP, 18);
- the season, by using the propers of the preceding Sunday (BCP, 158);
- the weekdays of Holy Week and Easter, by using the propers appointed in the Book of Common Prayer;
- an occasion provided for in the propers for Various Occasions (BCP, 18).

In addition, since 1979 Lesser Feasts and Fasts has appointed weekday propers for seasons of the church year, and when Holy Women, Holy Men was authorized in 2009, it included those seasonal propers.

To facilitate the use of these authorized options, this resource contains weekday propers for the seasons of the Church Year (the temporal cycle), the Common of Saints (the sanctoral cycle), and Various Occasions from the Prayer Book and from resources authorized since the adoption of the Prayer Book. The propers in this resource are grouped into three sections by type for the temporal cycle, the sanctoral cycle, and various occasions.

Directions for the appropriate use of the various kinds of propers are provided at the head of each section. Here are some general guides for use:

- These propers are not intended for use on Principal Feasts, Sundays, and Holy Days (BCP, 15–17).
- If a Major Feast that falls in the week will not be celebrated with a Eucharist on its indicated day, it is most appropriate that a midweek service observe the Major Feast in order to retain the Prayer Book's emphasis on the significance of these occasions.
- "Feasts appointed on fixed days in the Calendar are not observed on the days of Holy Week or of Easter Week," nor are propers for Various Occasions used within this period (BCP, 18).
- In keeping with ancient tradition, the observance of Lenten weekdays ordinarily takes precedence over Lesser Feasts occurring during this season.
- Since the triumphs of the saints are a continuation and manifestation of the Paschal victory of Christ, the celebration of saints' days is particularly appropriate during the Easter season.

The Temporal Cycle:Seasons of the Church Year

Introduction

The mid-20th-century liturgical renewal movement made a great impact on the liturgical reforms of the Roman Catholic Second Vatican Council and on the subsequent revisions of many Western families of Christianity, including The Episcopal Church and our Book of Common Prayer. In reaching back to the ancient foundations of Christian liturgy, the liturgical renewal movement reminded the Church universal of the vital importance of Sundays as the primordial feast day and the weekly feast of Christ's resurrection.

As Sundays have become more central, the seasons of the Church year — the temporal cycle — have become correspondingly more important. The celebration of seasonal ferial days with weekday celebrations of the Eucharist is a way to reinforce the importance of Sundays and seasons within the local congregation.

It is appropriate to use the propers appointed for Sunday or a Principal Feast through the rest of the following week. However, in places where weekday eucharistic services are frequent, this practice can become repetitive. In order to retain the emphasis on the temporal cycle yet still provide rich fodder for spiritual reflection and growth, a weekday eucharistic lectionary with seasonally appropriate scriptural texts is provided here. The seasons of Lent and Easter are provided with a number of collects for the weekdays; in other seasons, the collect remains as appointed on the preceding Sunday or Principal Feast, as the Prayer Book directs.

The weekday eucharistic lectionary offered here is adapted from the weekday eucharistic lectionary used in the Roman Catholic Church and the Anglican Church of Canada. This scheme provides one set of readings for the seasons of Advent, Christmas, Lent, and Easter. Two sets of readings are provided for the seasons after Epiphany and after Pentecost (sometimes referred to as "Ordinary Time"), to be used in alternating years: Year 1 is used in odd-numbered years, and Year 2 in even-numbered years.

Additionally, a set of alternate six-week thematic readings suitable for use in Ordinary Time (first authorized by the 1994 General Convention) is located after the presentation of the sequential scheme.

The Daily Office and the Temporal Cycle

The Daily Office is rooted in the movement of the temporal cycle; this cycle is its natural habitat. In particular, the principle of the continuous reading of Scripture is only enacted when the temporal cycle is followed. Too many interruptions lose the thread of the sacred narratives and prevent the formative encounter with Scripture that has been an historic gift of this discipline.

Only Major Feasts are intended to alter the Daily Office lectionary cycle. The readings found in the Common of Saints and the Propers for Various Occasions are for use at the Eucharist or for devotional reading, and are not intended to displace the appointed daily reading.

Some worshiping communities regularly use the Sunday collect as the Collect of the Day in the Office through the subsequent week. The repetition helps secure the seasonal themes and perspectives in the mind of the Church. When a sanctoral collect is used in the Office as the Collect of the Day, the temporal

collect of the preceding Sunday or Principal Feast may be used after the Collect of the Day in order to maintain a connection with the Church's seasons.

a. Weekdays of Advent and Christmas until the Baptism of Christ

(from Lesser Feasts and Fasts 2006, pp. 19–26; Holy Women, Holy Men, pp. 23–30)

b. Weekdays of Lent

(from Lesser Feasts and Fasts 2006, pp. 27–61; Holy Women, Holy Men, pp. 31–65)

c. Holy Week

(from The Book of Common Prayer, pp. 168–169, 219, 892)

d. Easter Week

(from The Book of Common Prayer, pp. 171–172, 222–224, 894)

e. Weekdays of Easter

(from Lesser Feasts and Fasts 2006, pp. 63–81; Holy Women, Holy Men, pp. 67–85)

f. Ordinary Time (the Seasons after Epiphany and Pentecost): A Two-Year Weekday Eucharistic Lectionary

(from Lesser Feasts and Fasts 2006, pp. 503–528; Holy Women, Holy Men, pp.753–778)

g. Six-Week Lectionary with Themes and Collects

(from Lesser Feasts and Fasts 2006, pp. 497–503; Holy Women, Holy Men, pp. 747–752)

3. The Sanctoral Cycle: Commemorations of Saints

Introduction

The Baptismal Covenant grounds the theology of the Book of Common Prayer. All those baptized into Christ participate in the same risen life with him and together form the mystical Body of Christ that is the Church. In the Prayers of the People at each Eucharist, we lift up to God the whole state of Christ's Church; in addition to praying for those living, we pray for all who have died, and pray that we may share with all the saints in God's eternal kingdom. In baptism we are joined with Christ in bonds that cannot be broken — even by death. Those who sleep in Christ are not just part of the Church of the past, they are part of the Church of the present as well.

From its earliest days the Church has rejoiced to recognize and commemorate those faithful departed who were extraordinary or even heroic servants of God and of God's people for the sake, and after the example, of their Savior Jesus Christ. By this recognition and commemoration, their devoted service endures in the Spirit, even as their example and fellowship continue to nurture the pilgrim Church on its way to God.

There are a variety of views concerning who and what a saint is: some would identify a saint as any Christian who has struggled to lead a faithful life; others reserve the title for those who have demonstrated heroic virtue on account of their depth of union with Christ and who now participate in the nearer presence of God. There are also a variety of views concerning how the saints relate to the present Church: some see them as figures of the past who have left us good examples of leading the Christian life; others see them as present participants in the life of Church, still engaged in the Church's ministry of intercession for ourselves and the world.

When a local community decides to commemorate a particular historical individual, whether he or she is included in A Great Cloud of Witnesses: A Calendar of Commemorations or not, the materials here provide the propers necessary for the celebration. For individuals found in A Great Cloud of Witnesses, that resource offers a collect and indicates the proper preface to be used at the Eucharist. For individuals not found in A Great Cloud of Witnesses, an appropriate Common of Saints selected from this resource can provide a collect and indicate which proper preface to use. In either case, appropriate readings may be selected from among the Commons that most closely reflect the saint's life, work, and witness.

For some Episcopalians, an important part of the lively experience of the saints consists of praying alongside them. The principle of Christ as the sole mediator between humanity and God is a deep and important one within our tradition; prayer alongside the saints does not and should not compromise this principle in any way. Rather, praying alongside the saints grows out of the importance of baptism and taking seriously the implications of a baptismal ecclesiology.

The Daily Office and the Sanctoral Cycle

On the one hand, saints were historically honored in the pre-Reformation Church in the Office, providing centuries of precedent for continuing this custom. On the other hand, the number and type of sanctoral celebrations eventually obscured the praying of the full Psalter and continually interrupted the reading of

Scripture. Thomas Cranmer lamented this situation in the preface to the first Book of Common Prayer (1549; see BCP 1979, 866). Remembering the saints in the Office is certainly appropriate as long as it does not take away from the continuous reading of Scripture or obscure the rhythms of the temporal cycle.

The readings appointed within this resource are for use at the Eucharist and for devotional reading. They are not intended to displace the readings appointed for the Daily Office.

The collect provided for a Day of Optional Observance may be used as the Collect of the Day in the Office at the discretion of the officiant. When a sanctoral collect is used in the Office as the Collect of the Day, the collect of the preceding Sunday or Principal Feast may be used after the Collect of the Day in order to maintain a connection with the Church's seasons.

a. The Common of Saints from The Book of Common Prayer

(from Lesser Feasts and Fasts 2006, pp. 475–490; Holy Women, Holy Men, pp. 711–726)

b. New Commons of Saints

Common of Artists, Writers, and Composers

(Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 728, adapted)

- Eternal God, light of the world and Creator of all that is good and lovely: We bless thy name for inspiring [N. and] all those who, with images and music and words, hath filled us with desire and love for thee; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who with thee and the Holy Spirit liveth and reigneth, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.
- II Eternal God, light of the world and Creator of all that is good and lovely: We bless your name for inspiring [N. and] all those who with images and music and words have filled us with desire and love for you; through Jesus Christ our Savior, who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns, one God, for ever and ever. *Amen*.

Psalm 90: 14-17

Lessons

1 Chronicles 29:14b–19 2 Corinthians 3:1–3 John 21:15–17, 24–25

Preface of Artists, Writers, and Composers

- Because in the beauty of holiness thou hast called us to worship thee; and hast given faithful artists, writers, and composers to illumine our prayer from age to age.
- II Because in the beauty of holiness you call us to worship you, and you have given faithful artists, writers, and composers to illumine our prayer from age to age.

Common of the Blessed Virgin Mary, Godbearer

(Holy Women, Holy Men, pp. 729-730)

Of the Blessed Virgin Mary I

Almighty God, by thy saving grace thou didst call Mary of Nazareth to be the mother of thine only Son: inspire us by the same grace to follow her example of bearing God to the world. We pray through Jesus Christ her Son, our Savior. Amen.

Almighty God, of your saving grace you called Mary of Nazareth to be the mother of your only begotten Son: Inspire us by the same grace to follow her example of bearing God to the world. We pray through Jesus Christ her Son, our Savior. *Amen.*

Of the Blessed Virgin Mary II

- Holy God, we magnify thy Name for calling the blessed Virgin Mary to bear thy Word of hope to the poor, the hungry, and those who have no voice: Give unto us thy grace and strength, that we might proclaim thy Good News in every age, with every tongue; through Jesus Christ our Savior, in the power of thy Holy Spirit. Amen.
- Holy God, we magnify your Name for calling the blessed Virgin Mary to bear your Word of hope to the poor, the hungry, and those who have no voice: Give us grace and strength to proclaim your Good News in every age, with every tongue; through Jesus Christ our Savior, in the power of your Holy Spirit. Amen.

Psalm 34: 1-8

Lessons

Isaiah 43:9–13, 19a 1 Corinthians 1:26–31 Luke 1:42–45

Preface of the Blessed Virgin Mary

- I Because even as blessed Mary didst consent to become Godbearer for the world, thou hast called us to bear thy Word to all whom our lives touch.
- II Because as blessed Mary consented to become Godbearer for the world, you call us to bear your Word to all whom our lives touch.

Prophetic Witness in the Church (Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 735)

Prophetic Witness in Society (Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 736)

Scientists and Environmentalists (Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 738)

4. Various Occasions

Introduction

The original design for the 1979 Book of Common Prayer included a set of eucharistic propers for Special Occasions. Now referred to as propers for Various Occasions, they are the direct heirs of medieval votive propers and fill the need for special celebrations for either intercessory or devotional purposes. They reflect concerns or celebrations that are either particularly pertinent to the ongoing life of the Church or are recurrent enough in the life of the Church to be necessary.

Since these propers were composed for the 1979 Prayer Book, new occasions and concerns have been identified that connect to modern church life. This book continues the use of propers introduced in 2009 in Holy Women, Holy Men.

These propers for Various Occasions may be used on any weekday or on a Sunday outside of the principal service, "subject to the rules of precedence governing Principal Feasts, Sundays, and Holy Days" (BCP, 15–17) and provided "that none of Propers appointed for Various Occasions is used as a substitute for, or in addition to, the Proper appointed for the Principal Feasts" (BCP, 18).

During Lent, the propers For the Ministry I, II, and III may be used on the traditional Ember Days (Wednesday, Friday, and Saturday following the First Sunday in Lent). Other propers for Various Occasions are not ordinarily used during the season of Lent in order to preserve the distinctive character of the season.

In the Sarum liturgies before the time of the Reformation, certain votive propers were used regularly in a weekly cycle. The first seven propers of our Prayer Book recall this sequence, substituting the proper "For All Baptized Christians" in the position historically occupied by a votive in honor of the Blessed Virgin Mary.

The Daily Office and the Propers for Various Occasions

The collects for Various Occasions are appropriate for use in the time designated for "authorized intercessions and thanksgivings" following the prayer for mission in the Daily Office. The scriptural readings for Various Occasions are not intended to displace the regular cycle of readings appointed for the Daily Office.

a. Various Occasions from the Book of Common Prayer

(BCP, pp. 199-210, 251-261, 927-931)

b. New Propers for Various Occasions

For the Care of God's Creation (from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 731)

For the Goodness of God's Creation (from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 732)

On the Occasion of a Disaster (from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 733)

On the Anniversary of a Disaster

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 734)

For Reconciliation and Forgiveness

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 737)

For Scientists and Environmentalists

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 738)

For Space Exploration

(from Holy Women, Holy Men, p. 739)

Liturgical Materials for Honoring God in Creation

Contents

Introduction

How To Use These Materials

Propers for Honoring God in Creation

Prayers of the People Honoring God in Creation, Form 1

Prayers of the People Honoring God in Creation, Form 2

Prayers of the People Honoring God in Creation, Form 3 (on the theme of water)

A Confession of Sin against God's Creation

A Litany for the Planet

A Rogation Day Procession and Liturgy

Prayers for Rogation Days: A Rite for the Blessing of a Garden

A Liturgy in Thanksgiving for Creation and in Honor of the Feast of St. Francis, with the Blessing of Animals

Additional Readings and Resources for St. Francis Day

Introduction

When we see the great abundance, diversity, and intricacy of God's creatures, we are awestruck by life on our planet. We are amazed by the God who has created all that is, and who is the engineer or crafter of the cosmos, designing and assembling all the details. But we also know from science that the details of organisms change through time according to their situations – that is, they evolve through adaptation and natural selection.

Some people take this to mean that there is no role for God in the evolution of life on our planet, but they miss the point that it is through God's love and humility that the processes of nature operate, bringing growth and adaptive change. God's love grants creation the freedom to make and remake. Scripture is clear that divine mercy is over *all* God's works. The material world is not something to be simply disregarded and destroyed as unimportant to God, whose love is unwavering.

Just as we do not read Scripture literally, so we must resist reading nature literally, but instead search for the big themes and the evolving stories, exploring a deeper and more sweeping narrative. It is in Jesus Christ that we see God's humility most particularly and gain insight into what theologian John Haught has called the "extravagant generosity" of God. In the ancient hymn of Philippians 2 we gaze at Christ, who did not count equality with God a thing to be grasped, but emptied himself to take the form of a servant, not simply on behalf of humankind, but on behalf of the whole cosmos which is redeemed in him.

Just as we are called to consider the lost and the least among our human brothers and sisters, so we may say that we are called to consider the dignity of all God's creatures. Science currently is working on several fronts to discover more about kinship. There are both genetic/hereditary and ecological relationships among earth's creatures. We share much of our DNA with plants and animals we do not usually consider as having much in common with us, and the air we breathe requires the healthy function of organisms far less complex than we are. For many people honoring the dignity of every creature involves thinking about threatened species of birds and mammals and large fish, environmentalism's poster children, but for those who study life on earth, whether professional biologists or backyard naturalists, it means considering the insects and the plankton, the mushrooms and molds, the plants that bring us joy and the ones we call weeds, the algae and the bacteria. It means considering the dignity of even those species which bring humans disease, such as mosquitoes and viruses. It means pondering the relationships among creatures which are not always pretty: predation, parasitism, scavenging.

Each creature's uniqueness is neither individual nor fixed. Living things develop their characteristics in their contexts in relationship to other creatures, other members of their population, and other species in their community. As the resources in their habitats change, and pressures from their fellow creatures shift, living things change. Death and even extinction of populations and species are a natural part of this process of change. But that reality does not mean that humans should accelerate extinction through our activities.

Our understanding of God as One, yet three persons, is a divine picture of diversity in community. Each person of the Trinity, Father, Son, and Spirit, gives to and receives from the others, in a community of exchange we call love. What is true of God may then be seen to be true of the community of life which God has loved into being and sustains through love. While each creature has its dignity, in life and in death, in struggle and in beauty, all creatures in their diversity, including human beings, are held in community with one another.

There is no doubt that human beings have changed the earth's cycles, surface, and creatures by our activities. We have managed and bred for our use and enjoyment some plants and animals, and destroyed the habitats of others. We have extracted minerals, fossil fuels, and soils; and have been careless with our use of extracted water. We have preserved some biomes for their scenic beauty, but ignored the ecological services provided by others. We have trawled the bottom of the seas and used them as a trash repository. A growing and increasingly urban population's hunger for food, clothing, shelter, and fuel is taking its toll, despite ongoing efforts to slow the loss of traditional rural wisdom about conservation and creation care. Human migration has fostered the spread of invasive species that displace native species, just as human migrants have often displaced indigenous peoples.

Scientists and activists may disagree about what is the greatest threat to human survival on the planet. Should the scarcity of water for drinking and sanitation be our biggest concern, or the challenge to feed a hungry world in an ecologically sustainable way? And which of our excesses put the whole planet in the greatest peril? Is it climate change or the loss of biodiversity that poses the greatest threat to the resilience of life on earth?

Ecologists understand that while entry points for concern and action vary, all these issues are interrelated. In agriculture, to take an example from our managed environment, resilience in the face of climate change will depend on better stewardship of water and increased preservation of the diversity of seed stock available for developing improved crops, while those engaged in agriculture continue to assess their contribution to greenhouse gases, polluted waste water, and soil erosion, and how all these negative impacts on the environment can be decreased.

There have been and will continue to be unintended consequences for our environment due to our choices and behaviors, but study and prayer can help us to become more conscious of the human impact on our planet. As we consider the risen and ascended Christ drawing all things to their perfection in himself, indeed drawing the cosmos into the heart of God in that process the Eastern Church calls "deification," we find reason for hope and an impetus for the renewing and reconciling of our relationships within the creation of which we are a part.

How to Use These Materials

The Propers for Honoring God in Creation may be used for a variety of liturgical occasions (for example, a Lenten weekday series of worship services to accompany environmental education classes). They are not intended to supplant the Sunday eucharistic lectionary.

The Prayers of the People Honoring God in Creation, Forms 1, 2, and 3, accord with the rubrics for the Prayers of the People (BCP, 359) and may be used for any celebration of the Eucharist or among the intercessions at the Daily Office.

A Confession of Sin against God's Creation and A Litany for the Planet are especially suitable for use in liturgies focused on creation or environmental concerns.

A Rogation Day Procession and Liturgy and Prayers for Rogation Day: A Rite for the Blessing of a Garden may be used on the traditional Rogation Days (Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday before Ascension Day) or at some other time suitable for the local context.

A Liturgy in Thanksgiving for Creation and in Honor of the Feast of St. Francis, with the Blessing of Animals, as well as Additional Readings and Resources for St. Francis Day, may be used for the commemoration of Francis of Assisi (October 4) or on some other occasion when God's people gather to pray for the earth and its creatures.

Propers for Honoring God in Creation

1. God, the source and destiny of the cosmos

Author of creation:
In wisdom you brought forth all that is,
to participate in your divine being,
and to change, adapt, and grow in freedom.
You make holy the matter and energy of the universe
that it may delight you and give you praise.
We thank you for gathering all creation into your heart
by the energy of your Spirit
and bringing it through death to resurrection glory;
through the One in whom all things have their being,

Jesus Christ, your Wisdom and your Word. Amen.

Isaiah 40:21–28a Psalm 136:1–9, 25–26 Revelation 22:1–5 John 3:16–17

2. God of order and dynamic change

Mysterious God, whose imagination and desire embrace all: We seek to discern you in the interplay of forces, in the order and the chaos of the universe, and in the complexities of every living system. Give us grace to honor your goodness in what we know and in what we do not know, in the world's harmonies and turbulence, and in its promise and change. For you are in, through, and beyond all that is: one God, made known to us in Jesus Christ, through the Holy Spirit, our inspiration and guide. Amen.

Job 37:1–7 Psalm 102:25–28 Revelation 21:3–5a Luke 13:6–9

3. The justice of God and the dignity of all creatures

Holy God, your mercy is over all your works, and in the web of life each creature has its role and place. We praise you for ocelot and owl, cactus and kelp, lichen and whale; we honor you for whirlwind and lava, tide and topsoil, cliff and marsh. Give us hearts and minds eager to care for your planet, humility to recognize all creatures as your beloved ones, justice to share the resources of the earth with all its inhabitants, and love not limited by our ignorance. This we pray in the name of Jesus, who unifies what is far off and what is near, and in whom, by grace and the working of your Holy Spirit, all things hold together. Amen.

Jonah 3:4–10 Psalm 145:8–10, 16–18 Ephesians 1:8b–10 Luke 10:25–37

4. The kinship and unity of all creation in Christ

God, maker of marvels, you weave the planet and all its creatures together in kinship; your unifying love is revealed in the interdependence of relationships in the complex world that you have made. Save us from the illusion that humankind is separate and alone, and join us in communion with all inhabitants of the universe; through Jesus Christ, our Redeemer, who topples the dividing walls by the power of your Holy Spirit, and who lives and reigns with you, for ever and ever. Amen.

Genesis 9:8–16 Psalm 36:5–10 Colossians 1:15–20 John 1:1–5

5. Reading God's goodness in the diversity of life

Gracious God, you reveal your goodness in the beauty and diversity of creation; in the circle dance of earth and air and water; in a universe rich in processes that support growth and coherence, distinctiveness and community; and above all in the gift of Jesus Christ, who emptied himself to serve your world. And so we offer thanks and praise to you, one God in three persons: the Author and Source of all,

Christ the Incarnate Word, and the Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

> Genesis 1:11–12, 20–22 Psalm 104:25–32 Revelation 5:11–14 Matthew 13:31–32

6. Called to be God's partners in the care of the planet

Bountiful God, you call us to labor with you in tending the earth: Where we lack love, open our hearts to the world; where we waste, give us discipline to conserve; where we neglect, awaken our minds and wills to insight and care. May we with all your creatures honor and serve you in all things, for you live and reign with Christ, Redeemer of all, and with your Holy Spirit, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

Ezekiel 47:6–12 Psalm 33:3–9, 13–15 Romans 8:18–23 Mark 16:14–15

Prayers of the People Honoring God in Creation

Form 1

Deacon or other Leader

Blessed God, whose love calls the whole creation into covenant with you, and who puts in our hands responsibility for the care of the earth and its creatures: we pray for all to whom you have given life and being, saying, "Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace."

For the well-being of the earth; for its resources of water, air, light, and soil, that they may be tended for the good of all creatures, we pray:

Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace.

For the waters of the earth; for their careful use and conservation, that we may have the will and the ability to keep them clean and pure, we pray:

Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace.

For the mineral and energy resources of the planet, that we may learn sustainable consumption and sound care of the environment from which they come, we pray:

Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace.

For the animals of the earth, wild and domestic, large and very small, that they may know the harmony of relationship that sustains all life, we pray:

Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace.

For the creatures of the earth who do us harm and those whose place in your creation we do not understand or welcome, that we may see them as beloved creatures of God, we pray:

Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace.

For all who shape public pol our local leaders	0 1	and its creatures [especially], that they may consider wise	and
of all who come after us, we			ily the well beling
Merciful God, keep y	our planet and people in p	eace.	
industry, and in forestry and may be sustained alongside	I timber-harvesting, that t		<i>J</i> ,
For the creatures and the hu	ıman beings of your worl	d who are ill, or in danger, pain, or spec	ial need

[especially_____], and for all who suffer from the unjust, violent, or wasteful use of the

earth's resources or their devastation by war, that all may one day live in communities of justice and peace, we pray:

Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace.

For the gifts of science and technology and for those who practice these skills, that they may be wise, visionary, and compassionate in their work, we pray:

Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace.

For the creatures and the people of the earth whose lives and deaths have contributed to the fruitful abundance of this planet [giving thanks especially for______], we pray:

Merciful God, keep your planet and people in peace.

The Presider concludes the Prayers with this or another suitable collect.

Gracious God:

Grant that your people may have in them the same mind that was in Christ Jesus, and guide us into harmony of relationship through loving-kindness and the wise use of all that you have given; for you are drawing all things into communion with you and with each other by the power of the Holy Spirit. Amen.

Prayers of the People Honoring God in Creation

Form 2

During the silence after each bidding, the people offer their own prayers, either silently or aloud.

Intercessor

Let us pray for the revealing of the reign of God in the world, now and always.

Intercessor and People In the beginning, God was.

Here and now, God is.

In the future, God will be.

Intercessor

Creator of earth, sea, and sky, kindle the fire of your Spirit within us that we may be bold to heal and defend the earth, and pour your blessing upon all who work for the good of the planet.

Silence

God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer.

Breath of life, receive our thanks for the beauty of our local habitat and all who dwell in it, and grant us the wisdom and will to conserve it.

Silence

God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer.

Source of life, heal and redeem the wounds of your creation, and visit the places and people who suffer from our indifference, neglect, and greed.

Silence

God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer.

Lover of all you have made, we thank you for the wondrous diversity of your creatures, and we pray for their well-being.

Silence

God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer. Author of the book of nature, receive our gratitude for places of restoration and healing, and continue to bless those places that feed our lives and spirits. Silence God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer. Wise Creator, whose works are full of mystery, give us wonder and appreciation for your creatures with whom we find ourselves in conflict. Silence God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer. Giver of all good gifts, awaken us daily to our dependence upon your bounty, and make us always thankful for the abundance of your blessings. Silence God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer. Divine Physician, heal our communities, especially those where neglect, greed, or violence inflict suffering upon people and other creatures. Silence God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer. Comforter of all the earth, sustain the people of this congregation who desire or need your presence and help [especially _____ Silence God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer. Rock and refuge of all your creatures, receive into everlasting mercy all those who have died [especially _____].

The Presider concludes the Prayers with one of the following collects.

Silence

God, Giver of life, Hear our prayer.

Eternal God, the light of all who know you, come and fill our hearts with your love. Help us speak when many keep silent, help us stand for what is right when many sit in indifference. Increase our faith and charity,

until your kingdom comes and heaven and earth rejoice in everlasting glory; through your Son, our Savior Jesus Christ. Amen.

source: Anne Kelsey

or this

Holy God, you alone are unutterable, from the time you created all things that can be spoken of. You alone are unknowable, from the time you created all things that can be known. All things cry out about you: those that speak, and those that cannot speak. All things honor you: those that think, and those that cannot think. For there is one longing, one groaning, which all things have for you. All things that comprehend your plan pray to you and offer you a silent hymn. In you, the One, all things abide, and all things endlessly run to you who are the end of all. Amen.

source: Gregory of Nazianzus

or this

[Gichi Manidoo,] Great Spirit God, we give you thanks for another day on this earth. We give you thanks for this day to enjoy the compassionate goodness of you, our Creator. We acknowledge with one mind our respect and gratefulness to all the sacred cycle of life. Bind us together in the circle of compassion to embrace all living creatures and one another. Amen.

source: Native American/Alaska Native and Native Hawaiian Liturgies, prepared for the 76th General Convention of the Episcopal Church, Anaheim, California, July 2009

Prayers of the People Honoring God in Creation

Form 3 (on the theme of water)

The silence after each bidding may be followed by an appropriate response, such as "Lord, in your mercy, / Hear our prayer."

In the beginning, the Spirit of God hovered over the waters. The water that God called into being is at the heart of all that lives. Mindful of the many ways water affects our lives, let us pray for our waters and for the life of the world around us.

Silence

I ask your prayers for all people of faith, and for the transformations in their lives that are marked by the sacredness of water: at the Red Sea, in the Jordan River, in ritual baths, in the washing of feet, and in Holy Baptism.

Silence

I ask your prayers for the leaders of nations, corporations, and communities around the world, that they may exercise wise stewardship over the waters of their lands, so that all people may have clean water to drink and may live free from waterborne diseases.

Silence

I ask your prayers for the wisdom to shape creative solutions to conflicts over water in the dry places of our planet, and for justice and peace in desert lands.

Silence

I ask your prayers for all the waters of the earth: for oceans and seas, for rivers and streams, for lakes and ponds, for watersheds, marshes, and swamps, for the waters beneath the ground; and for all creatures that live in the waters of the earth.

Silence

I ask your prayers for all who travel or work at sea or on inland waterways.

Silence

I ask your prayers for all afflicted with too much water in flood or tsunami, storm or ice; and for those people and creatures who suffer as glaciers and ice floes melt and shrink.

Silence

I ask your prayers for all who have died and for all who mourn, that their tears of grief may be turned to wellsprings of joy.

Silence

The Presider concludes the Prayers with this or another suitable collect.

Blessed God, fountain of life: Grant that we may see all water as holy, and so protect and preserve the waters of the earth and the life they sustain. In the name of Christ, the living water, we pray. Amen.

A Confession of Sin against God's Creation

The Deacon or Presider may introduce the Confession with these words

Let us confess our sin against God and God's creation.

Silence may be kept

Minister and People

Holy and merciful God, we confess that we have failed to honor you by rightly claiming our kinship with all your creatures. We have walked heavily on your earth, overused and wasted its resources, taken for granted its beauty and abundance, and treated its inhabitants unjustly, holding future generations hostage to our greed. Have mercy on us and forgive us our sin. Renew in us the resolve to keep and conserve your earth as you desire and intend, with grateful and compassionate hearts, through your Son, our Savior Jesus Christ. Amen.

or this

Merciful and sustaining God,
we have sinned against you.
We confess our lack of gratitude
for the beauty and bounty of your creation:
teach us to see that your earth sustains us and all that lives.
We confess that we have misused your earth:
grant us amendment of life.
We confess that we have been intemperate in our appetites:
strengthen us in self-control.
We confess that we have taken the abundance of your world for granted:
make us urgent now for its protection.
Forgive and renew us now through our Savior Jesus Christ,
by the power of the Holy Spirit,
with whom you live and reign, one God, now and for ever. Amen.

or this

God of compassion, have mercy upon us.
Heal our relationship with all creation.
Forgive us for our mistreatment and neglect
of the creatures who share the earth with us.
We are truly sorry and we humbly repent
for what we have done to harm them,
and for what we have not done to help them.
Fill us with your Spirit,
that we may care for one another and for all creatures,
according to your will and in the fullness of your love;
through Jesus Christ our Redeemer. Amen.

The Priest alone says

Almighty God have mercy on you, forgive you all your sins through the grace of Jesus Christ, strengthen you in all goodness, and by the power of the Holy Spirit keep you in eternal life. *Amen.*

If no Priest is present, the Presider says the following

Almighty God have mercy on us, forgive us all our sins through the grace of Jesus Christ, strengthen us in all goodness, and by the power of the Holy Spirit keep us in eternal life. *Amen.*

A Litany for the Planet

The Deacon or other Leader may select apt portions of this litany, and add local examples to any category, as well as special concerns and occasions for prayer where appropriate.

With all our heart and with all our mind, let us pray to the Creator, saying, "Creator, have mercy."

On your earth, the garden of life,

Creator, have mercy.

On soil, that it may be fruitful in all seasons,

Creator, have mercy.

On rocks and minerals that form the foundations for life,

Creator, have mercy.

On volcanoes and lava flows that reveal the power of earth's core,

Creator, have mercy.

On hills and great mountains; on cliffs, caves, and valleys,

Creator, have mercy.

On deserts and their hardy creatures,

Creator, have mercy.

* * *

On your waters, which sustain a diverse community of life,

Creator, have mercy.

On coral reefs, and on the animals, plants, and fish that inhabit them,

Creator, have mercy.

On ocean deeps, teeming with life; on the open seas and all that travel upon them,

Creator, have mercy.

On rivers, bringing water to thirsty places,

Creator, have mercy.

On lakes and streams, home to a diversity of life,

Creator, have mercy.

On ponds and marshes, cradles of life,

Creator, have mercy.

On wetlands and estuaries; on rocky coasts and beaches,

Creator, have mercy.

On islands and atolls, oases and all harsh outposts of life,

Creator, have mercy.

On glaciers and ice fields, holding the delicate balance of waters,

Creator, have mercy.

On storms, floods, and tempests, and all fearsome forces of weather, *Creator, have mercy.*

On rains that water the earth, causing plants to sprout and grow, *Creator, have mercy.*

On snow and hail, sleet and winter cold, and on the dormant things that wait for spring, *Creator, have mercy.*

On mists and fog silently watering the ground, *Creator, have mercy.*

* * *

On the atmosphere of your planet earth, that it may sustain all that breathes, *Creator, have mercy.*

On winds that carry seeds and spores; on breezes that warm and cool the earth, *Creator, have mercy.*

On lightnings and fires that cleanse and destroy, and on all that lies in their path, *Creator, have mercy.*

* * *

On all the ecosystems of your earth and their intricate communities, *Creator, have mercy.*

On forests of many kinds; on trees and shrubs and vines, Creator, have mercy.

On grasslands, tundras, and plains, and on their varied plants, Creator, have mercy.

On ferns and fungi; on spore-bearing and seed-bearing plants, *Creator*, *have mercy*.

On micro-organisms of endless variety, the complex and the simple, *Creator*, *have mercy*.

On reptiles and amphibians; on	and	[local examples],
On four-legged creatures; onCreator, have mercy.	and	[local examples],
On two-legged and winged creatures; on Creator, have mercy.	and	d[local examples
On many-legged creatures and insects; on Creator, have mercy.	and	d[local examples

On mysterious creatures and places unknown to humankind, *Creator*, *have mercy*.

On the human family across the globe, of many colors and communities, in kinship with all creation, *Creator, have mercy.*

* * *

For a city, town, or village
On all who live and work and play in this city and this neighborhood, Creator, have mercy.
On those who work around us, whose labor builds up our community and our world; on and [local work examples], Creator, have mercy.
On the businesses and industries of this <i>city</i> , that they may profit the whole community; on and [local examples], Creator, have mercy.
On the parks and green spaces of this <i>city</i> ; on those who maintain them and those who enjoy them, <i>Creator, have mercy.</i>
On the plants and animals of our ecosystem; on and [local examples] Creator, have mercy.
On those who produce food and energy for this city's people and pets, Creator, have mercy.
On schools and all places of learning; on all who care for and teach children and adults, Creator, have mercy.
On the poor and homeless residents of this <i>city</i> , that there may be shelter and sustenance for them, <i>Creator, have mercy.</i>
On visitors and immigrants; on all who offer welcome and shelter here, Creator, have mercy.
On all places of reverence and prayer; on all who honor you and on those who do not yet know you, Creator, have mercy.
On our ancestors, and on those who will come after us, Creator, have mercy.

In time of widespread disease
On those stricken with, and those who suffer from any disease, Creator, have mercy.
On those who care for loved ones who are ill, Creator, have mercy.
On doctors and nurses, and all who render help and healing skill, Creator, have mercy.
On scientists and researchers, and all who search for treatments and cures, Creator, have mercy.
On all who work for public health, safety, and well-being, Creator, have mercy.
On all who are fearful for their health and life, and on those who are alone and in great need, Creator, have mercy.
On those who are dying and those who have died, and on all who mourn, Creator, have mercy.

A Rogation Day Procession and Liturgy

The Rogation Days are traditionally observed on the Monday, Tuesday, and Wednesday before Ascension Day. They may, however, be observed on other days, depending on local conditions and the convenience of the congregation. In ancient times, the observance consisted of an outdoor procession that culminated in a special celebration of the Eucharist. Prayers might be offered for the city and the neighborhood, for all who labor, for the fruitfulness of the land and waters; and for deliverance in time of war, disaster, or epidemic disease. The term from which this observance is drawn is the Latin rogare, meaning "to ask."

Stations suitable for the procession may be selected, adapted, and ordered according to local circumstances.

The Rogation Procession

The congregation gathers at a convenient place and may sing a hymn. During the movement from place to place, to preserve the solemnity of the procession, it is desirable for the people to refrain from conversation and to join in hymns, litanies said or sung, or silence, or for bells or instrumental music to be played. At the stations the Presider may cense or sprinkle the place.

Suitable psalms and canticles include Psalm 103 with the refrain "Bless the Lord, O my soul"; Psalm 104 with the refrain "Hallelujah!"; the Venite (Psalm 95:1–7); Canticle D, A Song of the Wilderness (Isaiah 35:1–7, 10); and Canticle O, A Song of the Heavenly City (Revelation 21:22–26, 22:1–4). The Great Litany or A Litany for the Planet might be used. Several of these may be found in contemporary language in Enriching Our Worship 1.

The Presider may assign lay people to read the prayers.

Presider Blessed be the one, holy, and living God.

People Glory to God for ever and ever.

Presider Bountiful God of heaven and earth: By your gracious providence give and preserve the

harvests of the land and sea for the good of all creatures, that those who receive good things from your hand may always give you thanks and praise; through Jesus Christ our Lord,

who lives and reigns with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

Deacon Let us go forth in peace.
People In the name of Christ. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: At a place of work

Reading Ecclesiasticus 38:27–32a

Presider Let us pray.

Almighty God, whose Son Jesus Christ in his earthly life shared our toil and hallowed our labor: Be present with your people where they work. Make those who carry on the industries and commerce of this land responsive to your will, and bring all workers satisfaction in what

they do and a just return for their labor; through Jesus Christ our Redeemer. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: At a garden or park

Reading Genesis 1:11–12

Presider Let us pray.

Gracious God, we give you thanks for the fruitfulness of the earth that nourishes our life and the life of all creatures. Bless those who work in fields and gardens. Send them seasonable and temperate weather, and grant that the fruits of the earth may be shared justly with all

having need of them; through Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: At agricultural land or a farmer's market

Reading Genesis 8:21b–9:1 or Leviticus 19:9–10

Presider Let us pray.

Holy God, we thank you for the land and its soil, and all those who bring forth food and necessities of life from it. Send an abundant harvest to the farmers and ranchers of the world, and make all your people just, loving, and generous in their life together and mindful of the needs of all who are poor, after the example of Jesus Christ. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: For scientists and explorers

Reading Genesis 1:1–5 or Ecclesiasticus 17:1–11

Presider Let us pray.

God of Mystery, you made the universe with its marvelous order and chaos, its atoms, worlds, and galaxies, and the infinite complexity of living creatures. We give you thanks for all who study the mysteries of creation and ask that their work may increase our curiosity, wonder, and joy, that we may come to know you more truly and serve you more humbly; in the name of Jesus Christ, your Wisdom and your Word. *Amen.*

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: At a place where food is served

Reading Mark 6:35–44

Presider Let us pray.

Generous God, your hand is open wide to satisfy the needs of every creature: We give you thanks for all who prepare and serve the food we eat. Bless them in their labor and bless all

who benefit from their service; through Jesus Christ, the Bread of Life. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: For the gift and care of water

Reading Isaiah 41:17-20

Presider Let us pray.

God, whose Spirit moved over the deep: We thank you for the gift of water — the waters on the earth, and under the earth, the water above us, and within us. Make us mindful of the care of all the planet's water, that it may richly sustain life for us and for those who come

after us; through Jesus Christ, source of living water. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: At a memorial garden or cemetery

Reading Matthew 27:57–61

Presider Let us pray.

God of the living and of the dead, renew the face of the ground by your life-giving Spirit, and grant that all who rest here may be renewed in the joy of your eternal presence; through

Jesus Christ, who is resurrection and life. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: For the air and all who work to keep it clean

Reading Ezekiel 37:9–10

Presider Let us pray.

Holy Spirit, breath of life: We give you thanks for the air and for all who work to keep it clean.

Teach us to cherish the air we breathe; in your power we pray. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: At a place of government

Reading 1 Timothy 2:1–4

Presider Let us pray.

Almighty God, we pray for all who serve and govern the people of this and every land. Send upon them the spirit of wisdom, charity, and justice, that they may foster the well-being of all

creation; for the sake of Jesus Christ, the way, the truth, and the life. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: For a place of healing

Reading Matthew 8:14–16

Presider Let us pray.

Merciful God, whose Son Jesus healed many who were sick: We commend to your care all who suffer, and those who care for them. By your grace lend compassion and skill to health and veterinary workers here and everywhere, and bring healing and comfort to those in need; that all may know your power and goodness and rise up to serve you, in the strength

of your Holy Spirit. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: For military workers

Reading Isaiah 2:2-4

Presider Let us pray.

God our strength and shield: Protect and defend all who offer their lives in military service for the sake of others. Beat our swords into plowshares and our spears into pruning hooks, that all may dwell in harmony with one another and with all creation; through Jesus Christ our

Redeemer. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: For public-safety workers

Reading Isaiah 21:6–8

Presider Let us pray.

God our rock and our refuge: Guard and bless all who work for the well-being and safety of our community. Grant courage, vigilance, and skill to those who rise up by night or by day at our urgent call, that they may always find your arm mighty to save; through Jesus Christ, who

died that all may live. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: At a place where trash, compost, or recycling is handled

Reading Luke 13:6–9

Presider Let us pray.

Renewing God: Bless all whose labor here supports the well-being of our community. Strengthen and encourage them in their service, and make us mindful of their contribution to the stewardship of the earth, that all may be ministers of your new creation; in the name of

Jesus our Redeemer. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

Station: At the door of the church building

Reading Acts 2:41–47 or Isaiah 56:6b–7

Presider Let us pray.

Holy God, you give your people a desire to know and to worship you: Bless all who gather here in your name, that they may find a welcome and lift their hearts and voices in praise of

you, who makes us a new creation in Jesus Christ, through whom we pray. Amen.

A hymn, psalm, canticle, or silence for the procession follows.

The procession enters the church, where a celebration of the Holy Eucharist may follow.

If the Eucharist is not to follow, the service may end with one of the following collects, a passing of the Peace, and a blessing and dismissal.

If a celebration of the Eucharist is to follow on a day other than Sunday, one of these collects may be used as a Collect of the Day, or as a Collect at the Prayers.

Collect of the Day

O God, from whom all good proceeds:

You established your covenant with all creation.

Guide us and all your people,

that we may walk upon the earth in righteousness and peace,

and honor you in our kinship with all your creatures;

through our Risen Lord, Jesus Christ,

who with you and the Holy Spirit lives and reigns,

one God, to the ages of ages. Amen.

or this

O heavenly Father, you have filled the world with beauty: Open our eyes to recognize your gracious hand in all your works, that, rejoicing in your whole creation, we may learn to serve you with gladness; for the sake of the One through whom all things were made, Jesus Christ our Redeemer. Amen.

or this

Creator, we give you thanks for all you are and all you bring to us for our visit within your creation. In Jesus, you place the gospel in the center of this Sacred Circle through which all of creation is related. You show us the way to live a generous and compassionate life. Give us your strength to live together with respect and commitment as we grow in your Spirit, for you are God, now and for ever. Amen.

source: A Gathering Prayer adapted from Native American/Alaska Native and Native Hawaiian Liturgies, prepared for the 76th General Convention of the Episcopal Church, Anaheim, California, July 2009

or this

Collect 19: For Rogation Days, I, II, or III

The Book of Common Prayer, pages 258–259, 207–208

At the Eucharist

The Readings for the Eucharist may be those of the day if on a Sunday, or a selection from the Propers for Rogation Days in The Book of Common Prayer, page 930.

A Proper Preface for Rogation Days

Because in the mystery of Christ's incarnation you have gathered into one things earthly and heavenly, calling your people to be ministers of reconciliation and to proclaim the Good News to all creation.

The following postcommunion prayer may be used.

Faithful God in the wonder of your wisdom and love you fed your people in the wilderness with the bread of angels, and you sent Jesus to be the bread of life. We thank you for feeding us with this bread. May it strengthen us that by the power of the Holy Spirit we may embody your desire and be renewed for your service through Jesus Christ our Savior. Amen.

source: Enriching Our Worship 2, page 41

Prayers for Rogation Days: A Rite for the Blessing of a Garden

Blessed be the God of all creation: Presider

For in your goodness you make all things new. People

Presider God be with you. or The Lord be with you.

People And also with you.

Presider Let us pray.

> Gracious God, you open wide your hand and give of your goodness to all things living: Renew the face of the earth and increase the sustainable harvests of the world, that the land may bring forth enough for all, and your people may share justly and give honor to you; through

Jesus Christ our Lord. Amen.

The Presider or other appointed leaders from the congregation may then lead the People in prayer, using one or more of the following collects, as appropriate.

> Lover of all you have made: Protect and sustain the creatures of our local habitat. Increase their well-being, watch over them with love, and give us wisdom to honor our kinship with them; through Jesus Christ, the first-born of all creation. Amen.

God, whose Spirit moved over the deep: We thank you for the gift of water. Bless the waters on the ground and under the ground, and the waters that fall from the sky, that this garden may flourish and bear good fruit; through Jesus Christ our Savior. Amen.

God, who alone provides seed for the sower and bread for the eater, you have taught us to ask of you our daily bread: Bless the sowing of the seed this year, grant fertility to the soil, and strengthen the hands of the gardeners who till it, that through their labor your people may be nourished; through Jesus Christ, the bread of life. Amen.

Holy God, you have blessed our plowing and preparing of the ground: Protect what we plant and bring it to maturity, that we and others may enjoy a fruitful harvest; through Jesus Christ our Sustainer, Amen.

The Presider and People then say together

Holy One:

Bless and protect this garden and all who keep it.

Strengthen and uphold them in their labor,

that these plants may bear good fruit

and our care for the earth may witness to your love and justice;

in the name of the Creator, Word, and Spirit. Amen.

The Deacon or Presider may dismiss the People with these words

Deacon Let us bless the Lord. Thanks be to God. People

A Liturgy in Thanksgiving for Creation and in Honor of the Feast of St. Francis, with the Blessing of Animals

An entrance hymn may be sung.

Presider Blessed be the God of all creation.

People And blessed be God's holy Name for ever and ever.

or this

Presider Blessed be God: Creator, Word, and Spirit,

People Who brings all things into being and calls them good.

Presider Bless your Creator, all animals of the land.
People Let us praise and exalt our Creator together.

Presider Bless your Creator, all birds of the air.

People Let us praise and exalt our Creator together.

Presider Bless your Creator, all creatures of the sea.

People Let us praise and exalt our Creator together.

Presider Bless your Creator, all children of God.

People Let us praise and exalt our Creator together.

Presider God be with you. or The Lord be with you.

People And also with you.

Presider Let us pray.

Most high, omnipotent, good Lord: Grant your people grace to renounce gladly the vanities of this world that, following the way of blessed Francis, we may for love of you delight in your whole creation with perfect joy; through Jesus Christ our Lord, who lives and reigns

with you and the Holy Spirit, one God, for ever and ever. Amen.

The Readings

First Reading Psalm 104:10-25

You, LORD God, send the springs into the valleys; *
they flow between the mountains.
All the beasts of the field drink their fill from them, *
and the wild asses quench their thirst.

Beside them the birds of the air make their nests *

and sing among the branches.

You water the mountains from your dwelling on high; *

the earth is fully satisfied by the fruit of your works.

You make grass grow for flocks and herds *

and plants to serve humankind;

That they may bring forth food from the earth, *

and wine to gladden our hearts,

Oil to make a cheerful countenance, *

and bread to strengthen the heart.

The trees of the LORD are full of sap, *

the cedars of Lebanon which God planted,

In which the birds build their nests, *

and in whose tops the stork makes a dwelling.

The high hills are a refuge for the mountain goats, *

and the stony cliffs for the rock badgers.

You appointed the moon to mark the seasons, *

and the sun knows the time of its setting.

You make darkness that it may be night, *

in which all the beasts of the forest prowl.

The lions roar after their prey *

and seek their food from God.

The sun rises, and they slip away *

and lay themselves down in their dens.

People go forth to their work *

and to their labor until the evening.

O LORD, how manifold are your works! *

in wisdom you have made them all;

the earth is full of your creatures.

A second Reading may be added here.

Litany for Creation and All Creatures

Presider Let us name with thanksgiving those animals for whom we care: ______.

Let us name with thanksgiving those animals who have been our companions over the years

and are no longer with us: ______.

And let us remember the unnamed, unknown animals whose lives have benefited our own.

Silence

The Prayers may be led by a Deacon or other Leader.

Deacon Holy God, Creator of heaven and earth,

People Have mercy on us.

Deacon Holy and Mighty, Redeemer of the world,

People Have mercy on us.

Deacon Holy Immortal One, Sanctifier of the faithful,

People Have mercy on us.

Deacon Holy, blessed and glorious Trinity, One God,

People Have mercy on us.

Deacon Grant that all your creatures may thank and serve you;

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Deacon Grant favorable weather, temperate rain, and fruitful seasons, providing food and drink for

all your creatures;

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Deacon Open our eyes to the joy and beauty of creation, that we may see your presence in all your

works;

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Deacon Look with favor upon all who care for the earth, the water, and the air, that the riches of

creation may abound for all your creatures;

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Deacon Make us faithful stewards of creation, wisely caring for the earth, the air, the seas, and all the

life they bear;

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Deacon Awaken us to our responsibility for the care of creation;

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Deacon Forgive us our waste and pollution of creation and strengthen us to heal wounds we have

inflicted:

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Deacon Remember all in captivity and those who are hunted, trapped, deserted, or abused, that they

may find safety in homes of loving care;

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Do not forget those animals who have died yet remain dear to us, that they may rejoice in

your new creation;

People Shower your blessing on earth, O God.

or We beseech you to hear us, good Lord.

Presider Holy God: No sparrow falls without your attention; nothing dies that is lost to you; nothing

comes into being without your love. Give us just and compassionate hearts, that we may serve the earth and all its creatures, holding fast to the vision of your peaceable reign in which all will live with you eternally; through the Risen One, Christ our Savior. Amen.

Confession of Sin

The Confession may be omitted on occasion.

The Deacon or Presider says

Let us confess to God our sins against our fellow creatures.

Silence may be kept.

Minister and People

God of compassion, have mercy upon us.
Heal our relationship with all creation.
Forgive us for our mistreatment and neglect
of the creatures who share the earth with us.
We are truly sorry and we humbly repent
for what we have done to harm them,
and for what we have not done to help them.
Fill us with your Spirit,
that we may care for one another and for all your creatures,
according to your will and in the fullness of your love;
through Jesus Christ our Redeemer. Amen.

The Priest alone says

Almighty God have mercy on you, forgive you all your sins through the grace of Jesus Christ, strengthen you in all goodness, and by the power of the Holy Spirit keep you in eternal life. *Amen.*

If no Priest is present, the Presider says the following

Almighty God have mercy on us, forgive us all our sins through the grace of Jesus Christ, strengthen us in all goodness, and by the power of the Holy Spirit keep us in eternal life. Amen.

The Blessing of the Animals

Presider

It is the priestly work of all God's people to give thanks for God's blessings, to ask for and lend assistance to all in need, and to stretch our hands to heal and cherish the creatures of God; this is our work of blessing. Recognizing God's love for these creatures, I invite you to bring forward the animals entrusted to your care, one by one, and to join me in the laying on of hands in prayer.

The animals are blessed individually by name by the Presider, using these or other words

Presider Fellow creature, friend and companion:

May God your creator and preserver bless, defend, heal, and keep you,

this day and always. Amen.

The Presider then invites the People to name aloud their animals at home and to pray together, using these words

All Fellow creatures, friends and companions:

May God your creator and preserver bless, defend, heal, and keep you, this day and always. Amen. Presider Let us pray.

God of manifold blessings, source of all that is good and true and holy: Raise us up to see the world through your eyes, so that with the eyes of our hearts enlightened, we may treasure each creature touched by your creative hand. May your bountiful blessing be upon us all, Creator, Redeemer, and Sanctifier, now and for ever. Amen.

Or the animals may be blessed collectively, using this prayer

Presider Almighty and everlasting God, Creator of all things and Giver of all life: Let your blessing be

upon these and all animals. May our relationships with them mirror your love, and may our care for them follow the example of your bountiful mercy. Grant these animals health and peace. Strengthen us to love and care for them as we strive, like Francis of Assisi, to imitate

the love of Jesus Christ. Amen.

The Lord's Prayer

Presider God be with you. or The Lord be with you.

People And also with you.

Presider Let us pray.

Presider and People

Our Father, who art in heaven,
hallowed be thy Name,
thy kingdom come,
thy will be done,
on earth as it is in heaven.
Give us this day our daily bread.
And forgive us our trespasses,

as we forgive those who trespass against us. And lead us not into temptation, but deliver us from evil.

For thine is the kingdom, and the power, and the glory, for ever and ever. Amen.

Or this

Holy One, our only Home,
hallowed be your name.
May your day dawn,
your will be done,
here as in heaven.
Feed us today,
and forgive us as we forgive each other.
Do not forsake us at the test,
but deliver us from evil.
For the glory, the power,
and the mercy are yours,
now and for ever. Amen.

Our Father in heaven,
hallowed be your Name,
your kingdom come,
your will be done,
on earth as in heaven.
Give us today our daily bread.
Forgive us our sins
as we forgive those
who sin against us.
Save us from the time of trial,
and deliver us from evil.
For the kingdom, the power,
and the glory are yours,
now and for ever. Amen.

source: Martha Blacklock, Mother Thunder Mission

The Presider and People may say together this Prayer attributed to St. Francis

Lord, make us instruments of your peace.
Where there is hatred, let us sow love;
where there is injury, pardon;
where there is discord, union;
where there is doubt, faith;
where there is despair, hope;
where there is darkness, light;
where there is sadness, joy.
Grant that we may not so much seek
to be consoled as to console;
to be understood as to understand;
to be loved as to love.
For it is in giving that we receive;
it is in pardoning that we are pardoned;
and it is in dying that we are born to eternal life. Amen.

Hymn 593, "Lord, Make Us Servants of Your Peace," or another suitable hymn may be sung.

The Deacon, or the Presider, dismisses the People with these words

Deacon Go in peace to love and serve God's creation.

People Thanks be to God.

Additional Readings and Resources for St. Francis Day

Additional Readings

Genesis 1:20-22a, 24-26a, 28, 31a

And God said, "Let the waters bring forth swarms of living creatures, and let birds fly above the earth across the dome of the sky." So God created the great sea monsters and every living creature that moves, of every kind, with which the waters swarm, and every winged bird of every kind. And God saw that it was good. God blessed them ...

And God said, "Let the earth bring forth living creatures of every kind: cattle and creeping things and wild animals of the earth of every kind." And it was so. God made the wild animals of the earth of every kind, and the cattle of every kind, and everything that creeps upon the ground of every kind. And God saw that it was good. Then God said, "Let us make humankind." ... God blessed them ...

God saw everything that God had made, and indeed, it was very good.

Wisdom 11:24-12:1

For you love all things that exist,
and detest none of the things that you have made,
for you would not have made anything if you had hated it.
How would anything have endured if you had not willed it?
Or how would anything not called forth by you have been preserved?
You spare all things, for they are yours, O Lord,
you who love the living.
For your immortal spirit is in all things.

Job 12:7-10a

But ask the animals, and they will teach you; the birds of the air, and they will tell you; ask the plants of the earth, and they will teach you; and the fish of the sea will declare to you. Who among all these does not know that the hand of the LORD has done this? In his hand is the life of every living thing.

Matthew 6:25-26

Therefore I tell you, do not worry about your life, what you will eat or what you will drink, or about your body, what you will wear. Is not life more than food, and the body more than clothing? Look at the birds of the air; they neither sow nor reap nor gather into barns, and yet your heavenly Father feeds them.

Matthew 11:25-30

At that time Jesus said, "I thank you, Father, Lord of heaven and earth, because you have hidden these things from the wise and the intelligent and have revealed them to infants; yes, Father, for such was your gracious will. All things have been handed over to me by my Father; and no one knows the Son except the Father, and no one knows the Father except the Son and anyone to whom the Son chooses to reveal him. Come to me, all you that are weary and are carrying heavy burdens, and I will give you rest. Take my yoke upon you, and learn from me; for I am gentle and humble in heart, and you will find rest for your souls. For my yoke is easy, and my burden is light."

Psalm 104:24-25, 27-28, 30-31

O LORD, how manifold are your works!
In wisdom you have made them all;
the earth is full of your creatures.
Yonder is the sea, great and wide,
creeping things innumerable are there,
living things both small and great ...

These all look to you to give them their food in due season; when you give to them, they gather it up; when you open your hand, they are filled with good things ...

When you send forth your spirit, they are created; and you renew the face of the ground.

May the glory of the LORD endure forever.

Canticle 12 A Song of Creation Benedicite, omnia opera Domini

source: Enriching Our Worship 1, page 26

Invocation

Glorify the Lord, all you works of the Lord, * sing praise and give honor for ever.

In the high vault of heaven, glorify the Lord, * sing praise and give honor for ever.

II. The Earth and Its Creatures

Let the earth glorify the Lord, *
sing praise and give honor for ever.
Glorify the Lord, O mountains
and hills, and all that grows upon the earth,*
sing praise and give honor for ever.

Glorify the Lord, O springs of water, seas, and streams, *
O whales and all that move in the waters.
All birds of the air, glorify the Lord, *
sing praise and give honor for ever.

Glorify the Lord, O beasts of the wild, * and all you flocks and herds.O men and women everywhere, glorify the Lord, * sing praise and give honor for ever.

Doxology

Let us glorify the Lord: Father, Son and Holy Spirit; * sing praise and give honor for ever.

In the high vault of heaven, glorify the Lord, * sing praise and give honor for ever.

Additional Materials

A Prayer by Walter Rauschenbusch

Enlarge within us the sense of fellowship with all living things, our brothers and sisters the animals to whom you gave this earth as their home in common with us.

We remember with shame that in the past we have exercised the high dominion of humans with ruthless cruelty, so that the voice of the Earth, which should have gone up to you in song, has been a groan of travail.

May we realize that they live, not for us alone, but for themselves and for you, and that they love the sweetness of life even as we, and serve you in their place better than we in ours. We pray through our Savior Jesus Christ, who lifts up and redeems us all. Amen.

source: "For This World" in Prayers of the Social Awakening (1910), adapted

A Reading attributed to Meister Eckhart

Apprehend God in all things, for God is in all things.
Every single creature is full of God, and is a book about God.
Every creature is a word of God.
If I spent enough time with the tiniest creature — even a caterpillar —
I would never have to prepare a sermon, so full of God is every creature.

A Reading adapted from St. Isaac the Syrian

This is a charitable heart: It is a heart burning with love for the whole creation, for humans, for the birds, for the beasts, for the demons — for all creatures. One who has such a heart cannot see or call to mind a creature without having eyes being filled with tears by reason of the immense compassion which seizes the heart; a heart which is softened and can no longer

bear to see or learn from others of any suffering, even the smallest pain, being inflicted on a creature. That is why such a person never ceases to pray also for the animals, that they may be preserved and purified. This person will even pray for the reptiles, moved by the infinite pity which reigns in the hearts of those who are becoming united with God.

A Reading from The Brothers Karamazov by Fyodor Dostoevsky

Love all God's creation, the whole and every grain of sand in it. Love every leaf, every ray of God's light. Love the animals, love the plants, love everything. If you love everything, you will perceive the divine mystery in things. Once you perceive it, you will begin to comprehend it better every day. And you will come at last to love the whole world with an all-embracing love. Love the animals: God has given them the rudiments of thought and joy untroubled. Do not trouble it, don't harass them, don't deprive them of their happiness, don't work against God's intent.